NOT FOR RELEASE, PUBLICATION, CIRCULATION OR DISTRIBUTION IN OR INTO THE UNITED STATES OF
AMERICA, AUSTRALIA, CANADA OR JAPAN OR OTHERWISE OTHER THAN TO PERSONS TO WHOM IT CAN
LAWFULLY BE DISTRIBUTED

IMPORTANT: You must read the following before continuing. The following disclaimer applies to the attached prospectus (the
"Prospectus") accessed via electronic transmission (including e-mail), internet or otherwise received as a result of such access
and you are therefore advised to read this disclaimer page carefully before reading, accessing or making any other use of the
attached Prospectus. In accessing the Prospectus, you agree to be bound by the following terms and conditions, including any
modifications to them from time to time, each time you receive any information from us as a result of such access. You
acknowledge that this electronic transmission and the delivery of the attached document is confidential and intended only for
you and you agree you will not forward, reproduce, copy, download or publish this electronic transmission or the attached
document (electronically or otherwise) to any other person.
Nothing in this electronic transmission constitutes an offer of securities for sale in any jurisdiction where it is
unlawful to do so. In particular, any securities to be listed have not been, and will not be, registered under the
U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "U.S. Securities Act"), or the securities laws of any state of the
United States of America or other jurisdiction and may not be offered or sold in the United States, Canada, Japan
and Australia or any other jurisdiction where to do so would constitute a violation of the relevant laws of such
jurisdiction.
You are not authorized to and you may not forward or deliver the attached Prospectus, electronically or
otherwise, to any other person or reproduce such Prospectus in any manner whatsoever. Any forwarding,
distribution or reproduction of this document and the attached Prospectus in whole or in part is unauthorized.
Failure to comply with this directive may result in a violation of the U.S. Securities Actor the securities laws of
any state of the United States of America or applicable laws of other jurisdictions.
Confirmation of your representation: By accessing the attached document you reconfirm your representation to IGEA
Pharma N.V. (the "Company") that (1) you and any customers you represent are outside the United States of America, as
defined in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act, not acting on behalf of a person within the United States of America and,
to the extent you purchase securities described in the attached Prospectus, you will be doing so pursuant to Regulation S under
the U.S. Securities Act; (2) the electronic mail (or e-mail) address to which the attached Prospectus has been delivered is not
located in the United States of America, its territories and possessions, any State of the United States or the District of Columbia
(where "possessions" include Puerto Rico, the US Virgin Islands, Guam, American Samoa, Wake Island and the Northern
Mariana Islands); and (3) you consent to delivery of the attached Prospectus and any amendments or supplements thereto by
electronic transmission.
The attached Prospectus has been made available to you in electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via
electronic means may be altered or changed during the process of transmission and consequently none of the Company, its
respective affiliates, directors, officers, employees, representatives and agents or any other person controlling the Company
accepts any liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any discrepancies between the document distributed to you in
electronic format and the hard copy version. If permitted by law, we will provide a hard copy version to you upon your request.
Nothing in this electronic transmission constitutes, and may be used in connection with, an offer or solicitation in any place
where offers or solicitations are not permitted by law. No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction by the Company
that would or is intended to, permit a public offering of the rights or securities described in the Prospectus, or possession or
distribution of the Prospectus or any other offering or publicity material relating to such rights or securities, in any country or
jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.
You are reminded that you have accessed the attached Prospectus on the basis that you are a person into whose possession
this Prospectus may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located and you may
not nor are you authorized to deliver this Prospectus, electronically or otherwise, to any other person. If you have gained access
to this Prospectus contrary to the foregoing restrictions, you will be unable to purchase any of the securities described therein.
If you receive this Prospectus by e-mail, you should not reply by e-mail to this announcement, and you may not purchase any
securities by doing so. Any reply e-mail communications, including those you generate by using the "reply" function on your email software, will be ignored or rejected. If you receive this Prospectus by e-mail, your use of this e-mail is at your own risk
and it is your responsibility to take precautions to ensure that it is free from viruses and other items of a destructive nature.

IGEA Pharma N.V.
(a public limited liability company (naamloze vennootschap) organized under the laws of Netherlands)

Listing of 307,700,514 Shares with a Nominal Value of EUR 0.01 each
This prospectus (the "Prospectus") relates to the listing of 307,700,514 newly issued ordinary shares with a nominal value of
EUR 0.01 each (the "New Shares") in IGEA Pharma N.V., with its corporate seat in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, ("IGEA" or
the "Company", and together with its subsidiaries, the "Group", "we" or "us"). The New Shares will be issued exclusively to
the shareholders of Blue Sky Natural Resources Ltd. ("Blue Sky") in exchange for the contribution in-kind of shares in Blue Sky
in connection with the proposed business combination between IGEA and Blue Sky (the "Business Combination"; references
in this Prospectus to the "Combined Group" are references to the Group, as enlarged by Blue Sky following the completion of
the Business Combination). The New Shares will be fully fungible and will rank pari passu in all respects with each other and
with all other issued shares of the Company (the "Existing Shares" and, together with the New Shares, the "Shares").
The New Shares will be issued exclusively to current shareholders of Blue Sky outside of the United States of America (the
"United States" or "U.S.") in reliance on Regulation S ("Regulation S") under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended
(the "U.S. Securities Act"), on the basis of exemptions provided by Regulation EU 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and
of the Council (the "EU Prospectus Regulation") and Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of
the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 (the "UK Prospectus Regulation"), and in each case in compliance with any
applicable securities laws.
Application has been made and approval has been given by SIX Exchange Regulation, subject to certain conditions, for the New
Shares to be listed in accordance with the International Reporting Standard of SIX Swiss Exchange Ltd. ("SIX Swiss
Exchange"). The New Shares are expected to be listed and trading in the New Shares is expected to commence on or about
September 27, 2021 (the "First Day of Trading") under the symbol IGPH, with International Securities Identification Number
("ISIN") NL0012768675 and Swiss Security Number 41217478.
The Existing Shares are and the New Shares will be held in book-entry form through the facilities of Nederland's Centraal
Instituut voor Giraal Effectenverkeer B.V. ("Euroclear Nederland"). Clearing and settlement with respect to the Shares occurs
typically through SIS x-clear Ltd., Zurich, Switzerland ("SIS x-clear") and SIX SIS Ltd, Olten, Switzerland ("SIS"), respectively.
No action has been or will be taken in any jurisdiction that would permit a public offering of the Shares. The
Shares are not and will not be registered under the U.S Securities Act or with any securities regulators of any
state or other jurisdiction of the United States and may not be offered, sold, resold, delivered, allotted, taken up,
transferred or renounced, directly or indirectly, in the United States.
This Prospectus constitutes a prospectus within the meaning of the Swiss Financial Services Act ("FinSA"). This Prospectus is
the only authoritative source of information with respect to the listing of the New Shares. This Prospectus may not be used for,
or in connection with, and does not constitute, an offer to sell, or a solicitation of an offer to buy, Shares. The distribution of
this Prospectus may be restricted by law in certain jurisdictions. Persons in possession of this Prospectus are required to inform
themselves of and observe such restrictions. The Company does not accept any responsibility for any violation by any person of
any such restrictions.
All recipients of this Prospectus should be aware that any investments in the Shares is highly speculative,
involves a high degree of risk and should be considered only by investors who are prepared to bear the
economic risk of such investment and are able to withstand a total loss of their investment. See "Risk Factors"
beginning on page 7.
This Prospectus has been prepared in accordance with the FinSA and has been approved by SIX Exchange Regulation Ltd.
("SER") in its capacity as review body pursuant to article 52 FinSA (in such capacity, the "Swiss Review Body") on
September 24, 2021.
The date of this Prospectus is September 24, 2021

IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THE LISTING
This Prospectus has been prepared in accordance with the FinSA and constitutes a prospectus within
the meaning of the FinSA. This Prospectus has been prepared in accordance with the FinSA and has
been approved by SER in its capacity as Swiss Review Body on September 24, 2021.
No action has been (or will be) taken by the Company that would permit a possession or distribution
of this Prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.
The delivery of this Prospectus shall, under no circumstances, create any implication that there has
been no change in the affairs of the Company since the date hereof or that the information contained
herein is correct as of any time subsequent to the date of this Prospectus.
No representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by Lenz & Staehelin, in its capacity as the
listing agent (the "Listing Agent") or any of its partners or employees as to the accuracy or
completeness of the information set forth herein, and nothing contained in this Prospectus is, or shall
be relied upon, as a representation, warranty or promise, whether as to the past, the present or the
future.
Information on the Company's website, any website directly or indirectly linked to the Company's
website or any website mentioned in this Prospectus does not constitute in any way part of this
Prospectus and is not incorporated by reference into this Prospectus, and investors should not rely on
it in making their decision to invest in the Shares.
In certain jurisdictions, the distribution of this Prospectus and the marketing of Shares may be
restricted by law and/or be subject to other restrictions, and the Prospectus may not be used for, or in
connection with, any offer or solicitation by any person in any jurisdiction in which such offer or
solicitation is not authorized, or to any persons to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or
solicitation. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer or an invitation to purchase or subscribe for
Shares in any jurisdiction. The Company and the Listing Agent require persons into whose possession
the Prospectus may come to inform themselves of and observe any such restrictions, including any tax
and currency restrictions that may be relevant in connection with the trading of Shares. All investors
should examine through their own advisers the tax consequences of an investment in Shares. Neither
the Company nor the Listing Agent accept any liability for any violation of such restrictions by any
person, irrespective of whether such person is a holder of Shares ("Shareholder") or an acquirer of
Shares.
The Shares are subject to transfer and reselling restrictions in certain jurisdictions. Any acquirer of
Shares must comply with all applicable laws and regulations in force in any country or region in which
it, he or she acquires or resells Shares or possesses or distributes this Prospectus and must obtain any
consent, approval or permission required for acquiring Shares.
Availability of Documents
Copies of this Prospectus and supplements thereto, if any, are and will be available free of charge for
a period of twelve months following the First Trading Day, from IGEA Pharma N.V., Siriusdreef 17,
2132 WT, Hoofddorp, the Netherlands, at +31 23 568 94 94 or by e-mail at info@igeapharma.nl and
from the Listing Agent by e-mail at prospectus@lenzstaehelin.com. For any such request, please
provide your full address and domicile.
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Responsibility Statement
The Company, which is organized as a public limited liability company (naamloze vennootschap) under
the laws of the Netherlands with its corporate seat in Amsterdam, the Netherlands, and its registered
office at Siriusdreef 17, 2132 WT, Hoofddorp, the Netherlands, assumes responsibility for the
information contained in this Prospectus and any supplement and has taken all reasonable care to
ensure that the information stated herein is true and accurate in all material respects and that there
are no material facts or circumstances, the omission of which would make any statement herein
misleading, whether of fact or opinion.

Hoofddorp, September 24, 2021
IGEA Pharma N.V.
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NOTICE TO INVESTORS
No person has been authorized to give any information or to make any representations other than
those contained in this Prospectus and, if given or made, such information or representations must
not be relied upon as having been authorized.
There is no issue, public offering or other placement of Shares in connection with the publication of
this Prospectus. This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell, or a solicitation by or on behalf of
the Company of an offer to purchase Shares. See "Important Information about the Listing".
The information contained in this Prospectus is accurate only as of its date. Neither the delivery of this
Prospectus nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that
there has been no change in the affairs of the Company since the date hereof or that the information
contained herein is correct as of any time subsequent to its date. Any notices containing or
announcing amendments or changes to the terms of the Listing or this Prospectus will be announced
through the electronic media. Notices required under the Listing Rules will be published on the
website
of
SER
(currently:
https://www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifications-marketparticipants/official-notices.html#/) in the form of an official notice. Changes so notified will be
deemed to constitute an amendment of or supplement to this Prospectus.
In making an investment decision, investors must rely on their own examination, analysis and
investigation of the Company, including the merits and risks involved. Any decision to buy the Shares
should be based solely on this Prospectus and any other supplement hereto, if any, taking into
account that any summary or description set forth in this Prospectus of legal provisions, accounting
principles or comparison of such principles, corporate structuring or contractual relationships is for
information purposes only and should not be considered to be legal, accounting or tax advice or be
otherwise relied on. This Prospectus does not contain all the information that would be included in a
prospectus relating to the Shares if such prospectus were registered under the Securities Act or
pursuant to the Prospectus Directive. The Shares have not been recommended by any U.S. federal or
state securities commission or regulator authority. Furthermore, such authorities have not confirmed
the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this document.
No action has been or will be taken by the Company in any jurisdiction that would permit a public
offering of Shares or the possession, circulation or distribution of the Prospectus or any other material
relating to the Company or the Shares in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.
Accordingly, the Shares may not be sold, directly or indirectly, and neither this Prospectus nor any
other offering material or advertisement in connection with the Shares may be distributed or
published, in any form or in any country or jurisdiction except under circumstances that will result in
compliance with any applicable laws, rules and regulations of any such country or jurisdiction.
Investors should consult their professional advisors as to whether they require any governmental or
other consent or need to observe any formalities to enable them to the Shares. Any failure to comply
with such restrictions may constitute a violation of the securities law of any such jurisdiction. Neither
the Company nor any of its representatives, affiliates or advisors accepts any legal responsibility for
any violation of applicable securities laws.
The Company has represented and agreed that it has not made and will not make any application for
the listing of the Shares on any trading venue outside Switzerland.
None of the Company or any of its representatives, affiliates or advisors is making any representation
to any purchaser of Shares regarding the legality of an investment in the Shares by such purchaser
under the laws applicable to such offeree or purchaser. Each investor should consult with his/her/its
own advisors as to the legal, tax, business, financial and related aspects of a purchase of the Shares.
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United States
The Shares have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act or with any securities
regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction in the United States and may not be offered or
sold in the United States except pursuant to an applicable exemption from the registration
requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and in compliance with any applicable securities laws. The
Shares may be offered and sold outside the United States to investors in offshore transactions in
reliance on Regulation S.
The Shares have not been approved or disapproved by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
or any state securities commission in the U.S. or any other U.S. regulatory authority, nor have any of
the foregoing authorities passed upon or endorsed the merits of an offering or the accuracy or
adequacy of this Prospectus. Any representation to the contrary may be a criminal offense in the U.S.
Each purchaser of the Shares will be deemed to have acknowledged, represented and warranted that
it understands and agrees to the foregoing.
United Kingdom
No Shares have been offered or will be offered pursuant to this offering to the public in the United
Kingdom prior to the publication of a prospectus in relation to the Shares, which has been approved
by the Financial Conduct Authority, except that the Shares may be offered to the public in the United
Kingdom at any time:
(i)

to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined under Article 2 of the UK Prospectus
Regulation;

(ii) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined under
Article 2 of the UK Prospectus Regulation); or
(iii) in any other circumstances falling within Section 86 of the Financial Services and Markets Act
2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amended (the "Order"),

provided that no such offer of the Shares shall require us or any underwriter to publish a prospectus
pursuant to section 85 of the FSMA or supplement a prospectus pursuant to article 23 of the UK
Prospectus Regulation. For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer to the public" in
relation to the Shares in the United Kingdom means the communication in any form and by any
means of sufficient information on the terms of the offer and any Shares to be offered so as to enable
an investor to decide to purchase or subscribe for any Shares.
In addition, this Prospectus is only being distributed to, and is directed only at: (a) persons who are
outside the United Kingdom, or (b) persons within the United Kingdom who are (i) persons having
professional experience in matters relating to investments who fall within the definition of "investment
professionals" in article 19(5) of the Order, (ii) high net worth bodies, corporate, unincorporated
associations, partnerships, trustees and other persons falling within article 49(2) (a) to (d) of the
Order; and (iii) persons to whom it would otherwise be lawful to distribute or direct this Prospectus
(all such persons together being referred to as "Relevant Persons"). This Prospectus or any of its
contents is directed only at Relevant Persons and must not be acted or relied on by persons who are
not Relevant Persons. Any investment or investment activity to which this Prospectus relates is
available only to Relevant Persons and will be engaged in only with Relevant Persons. As used herein,
"United Kingdom" and "UK" mean the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland.
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European Economic Area
In relation to each Member State of the European Economic Area (each a "Member State"), no
Shares have been offered or will be offered to the public in connection with the issuance and the
listing of the New Shares in that Member State, except that offers of Shares may be made to the
public in that Member State at any time under the following exemptions under the EU Prospectus
Regulation:
(i)

to any legal entity which is a qualified investor as defined under the Prospectus Regulation;

(ii) to fewer than 150 natural or legal persons (other than qualified investors as defined under the
Prospectus Regulation); or
(iii) in any other circumstances falling within Article 1(4) of the Prospectus Regulation,
provided that no such offer of Shares shall require the Company to publish a prospectus pursuant to
Article 3 of the Prospectus Regulation or supplement a prospectus pursuant to Article 23 of the
Prospectus Regulation.
For the purposes of this provision, the expression an "offer to the public" in relation to any Shares
in any Member State means the communication in any form and by any means of sufficient
information on the terms of the offer and any Shares to be offered so as to enable an investor to
decide to purchase or subscribe for any Shares.
Italy
This Prospectus has not been submitted to the Italian Commissione Nazionale per le Società e la Borsa
("Consob") for clearance and will not be subject to formal review or clearance by Consob. The Shares
may not be offered, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly in the Republic of Italy or to a resident of
the Republic of Italy, unless such offer, sale or delivery of shares or distribution of copies of this
Prospectus is:
(i)

pursuant to Legislative Decree n. 58 of February 24, 1998, as amended (the "Italian
Financial Services Act"), made only to "qualified investors" (investitori qualificati), as
defined pursuant to Article 34-ter, first paragraph, letter b), of Regulation No. 11971 but
excluding (i) natural persons who are professional clients upon request pursuant to Annex
3(II) of the Consob Regulation No. 16190 of October 29, 2007, as amended, (ii) management
companies and financial intermediaries authorized to manage individual portfolios on behalf of
third parties and (iii) fiduciary companies managing portfolio investments, including by means
of fiduciary endorsements, pursuant to Article 60, paragraph 4 of Legislative Decree No. 415
of July 23, 1996; or

(ii) in other circumstances which are exempt from the rules on public offers pursuant to Article
100 of the Italian Financial Services Act and its implementing Consob regulations, including
the Regulation No. 11971.
Any such offer, sale or delivery of the Shares or distribution of copies of this Prospectus in the
Republic of Italy must be in compliance with the selling restrictions under (i) and (ii) above and must
be:
a.

made by soggetti abilitati (including investment firms, banks or financial intermediaries, as
defined by Article 1, first paragraph, letter r), of the Italian Financial Services Act), to the
extent duly authorized to engage in the placement and/or underwriting and/or purchase of
financial instruments in the Republic of Italy in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
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Italian Financial Services Act, Consob Regulation 16190 of October 29, 2007, as amended,
Legislative Decree No. 385 of September 1, 1993, as amended, and any other applicable laws
and regulations; and
b.

in compliance with any other applicable Italian securities, tax and exchange control laws and
regulations and in compliance with any other applicable requirement or limitation which may
be imposed by Consob or the Bank of Italy or any other Italian regulatory authority.

Any investor purchasing the Shares is solely responsible for ensuring that any offer or resale of the
shares it purchases occurs in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
In accordance with Article 100-bis of the Italian Financial Services Act, the subsequent resale on the
secondary market in the Republic of Italy of the shares (which were part of an offer made pursuant to
an exemption from the obligation to publish a prospectus) constitutes a distinct and autonomous offer
that must be made in compliance with the public offer and prospectus requirement rules provided
under the Italian Financial Services Act and the Regulation No. 11971 unless an exemption applies.
Failure to comply with such rules may result in the subsequent resale of such shares being declared
null and void and in the liability of the intermediary transferring the shares for any damage suffered
by the investors.
Notice to Investors in Other Jurisdictions
Applicable laws may restrict an offer of Shares or distribution of this Prospectus in certain other
jurisdictions. No action has been taken by the Company that would permit any offer of Shares or
possession or distribution of this Prospectus or any other publicity material or documentation
recording an entitlement to the Shares in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required.
Persons into whose possession this Prospectus comes must inform themselves about and observe any
such restrictions. Any failure to comply with these restrictions may constitute a violation of the laws of
any such jurisdiction.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Prospectus contains statements under the captions "Summary", "Risk Factors", and "Business",
and in other sections that are, or may be deemed to be, forward-looking statements. In some cases,
these forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology,
including the words "aims", "believes", "estimates", "anticipates", "expects", "intends", "targets"
"may", "will", "plans", "projects", "continue" or "should" or, in each case, their negative or other
variations or comparable terminology or by discussions of strategies, plans, objectives, targets, goals,
assumptions, expectations, future events or intentions. These forward-looking statements include
matters that are not historical facts or which may not otherwise be provable by reference to past
events. They appear in a number of places throughout this Prospectus and include statements
regarding the Group's intentions, beliefs or current expectations concerning, among other things, the
Group's results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies and dividend
policy and also the industries and the economic environments in which the Group operates.
By their nature, forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties
because they relate to events, and/or depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the
future. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance. Investors should not
place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. In addition, even if the Group's results of
operations, financial condition and liquidity, the development of the industry in which it operates and
the effect of acquisitions on it are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this
Prospectus, those results or developments may not be indicative of results or developments in
subsequent periods.
Any forward-looking statements are only made as of the date of this Prospectus and the Group does
not intend or assume any obligation to update any forward-looking statements contained in this
Prospectus, except as required by Swiss law or applicable stock exchange regulations.
Many factors may cause the Group's results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, dividend policy
and the development of the markets in which the Group operates to differ materially from those
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus. These factors
include but are not limited to risks and others described under "Risk Factors".
Other sections of this Prospectus describe additional factors that may adversely affect the Group's
results of operations, financial condition, liquidity, dividend policy and the development of the markets
in which the Group operates. The Company urges each investor to read the sections of this
Prospectus entitled "Risk Factors" and "Business" for a more complete discussion of the factors that
could affect the Group's future performance and the markets in which the Group operates. New risks
may emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for the Group to predict all such risks, nor can
the Group assess the impact of all such risks on its business or the extent to which any risks, or
combination of risks and other factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statements.
The Company, in reliance on article 69(3) FinSA, hereby cautions you that any such
prospects, expectations, estimates, plans, strategic aims, vision statements, and
projections contained in this Prospectus are not historical in nature but are forwardlooking based on information and assumptions the Company considers to be reasonable.
Such statements are inherently uncertain and subject to a variety of circumstances, many
of which are beyond the Company's control and could cause actual results to differ
materially from what the Company anticipates. Due to the uncertainty of future
developments, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, neither the Company nor
the Listing Agent assume any liability in respect to or in connection with such prospects
or other forward-looking statements contained herein.
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Except as required by the FinSA or other applicable securities laws, neither the Company nor the
Listing Agent undertake an obligation to update any prospects or forward-looking statements after the
date hereof, even if new information, future events or other circumstances have made them incorrect
or misleading.
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND OTHER INFORMATION
General
The Company is a public limited liability company (naamloze vennootschap) organized under the laws
of the Netherlands, with corporate seat in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. The Company is registered in
the Dutch Chamber of Commerce (Kamer van Koophandel) under register number 70212821. The
Company was originally incorporated on December 1, 2017 for an unlimited duration as IGEA Pharma
B.V., a private limited liability company (besloten vennootschap) and was first entered into the Dutch
Chamber of Commerce's (Kamer van Koophandel) register on December 3, 2017. On March 16, 2018,
the Company changed its legal form from a Dutch B.V. to a Dutch N.V.
The following diagram provides an overview of the Group's corporate structure, including the Group's
subsidiaries, as of the completion of the Business Combination (as defined below). See "The Business
Combination" for further information on the combination between IGEA's and Blue Sky's businesses:

Historical Financial Information

The Company
This Prospectus contains:


audited consolidated financial statements of the Group together with the report of the
auditors as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, which includes comparative figures
for the year ended December 31, 2019 (the "IGEA Consolidated Financial Statements
2020");



audited consolidated financial statements of the Group together with the report of the
auditors as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, which includes comparative figures
for the year ended December 31, 2018 (the "IGEA Consolidated Financial Statements
2019", and together with the IGEA Consolidated Financial Statements 2020, the "IGEA
Consolidated Financial Statements");



audited company financial statements of the Company together with the report of the auditors
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020 (the "IGEA Statutory Financial
Statements 2020"); and



audited company financial statements of the Company together with the report of the auditors
as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019 (the "IGEA Statutory Financial
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Statements 2019", and together with the IGEA Statutory Financial Statements 2020, the
"IGEA Statutory Financial Statements") (the IGEA Consolidated Financial Statements
together with the IGEA Statutory Financial Statements, the "IGEA Financial Statements").
The IGEA Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Prospectus are prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) ("EUIFRS") and the IGEA Statutory Financial Statements included in this Prospectus are prepared in
accordance with the provisions of the Dutch Civil Code. The IGEA Financial Statements have been
audited by Mazars Accountants N.V., Rotterdam, the Netherlands.
The auditors' work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and
practices generally accepted in the United States of America and accordingly should not be relied
upon as if it had been carried out in accordance with those standards and practices.

Blue Sky
In addition to the IGEA Financial Statements, this Prospectus contains:


the audited consolidated financial statements of Blue Sky together with the report of the
auditors as of and for the year ended December 31, 2020, which includes comparative figures
for the year ended December 31, 2019 (the "Blue Sky Consolidated Financial
Statements 2020");



the audited consolidated financial statements of Blue Sky together with the report of the
auditors as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, which includes comparative figures
for the year ended December 31, 2018, and additionally for the balance sheet as of January 1,
2018 (the "Blue Sky Consolidated Financial Statements 2019" and together with the
Blue Sky Consolidated Financial Statements 2020, the "Blue Sky Consolidated Financial
Statements");

The Blue Sky Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Prospectus are prepared in
accordance with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting Standard Board (IASB) ("IASB-IFRS"
and together with the EU-IFRS, "IFRS"). The Blue Sky Consolidated Financial Statements have been
audited by Mazars Italia S.p.A., Rome, Italy.
The auditors' work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and
practices generally accepted in the United States of America and accordingly should not be relied
upon as if it had been carried out in accordance with those standards and practices.
Pro Forma Financial Information
In addition to the IGEA Financial Statements and the Blue Sky Consolidated Financial Statements,
referred to above, this Prospectus contains the unaudited pro forma financial information 2020 of the
Group, including Blue Sky, together with a pro forma assurance report of Mazars Italia S.p.A., Rome,
Italy, for the year ended December 31, 2020 (the "Pro Forma Financial Information"), derived
from the IGEA Consolidated Financial Statements 2020 and the Blue Sky Consolidated Financial
Statements 2020, subject to certain adjustments as set out in the notes to the Pro Forma Financial
Information.
The Pro Forma Financial Information was prepared in accordance with the requirements of the SER, in
particular the SER's Directive on Pro Forma Financial Information dated January 13, 2020 (the "DFI").
Neither the assumptions underlying the pro forma adjustments, nor the resulting Pro Forma Financial
Information have been audited in accordance with international auditing standards. The Pro Forma
Financial Information has been prepared for illustrative purposes only in order to give effect to the
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proposed business combination between IGEA and Blue Sky and the financing of such business
combination by way of the issuance of the New Shares, all as further described under "The Business
Combination".
The Pro Forma Financial Information illustrates the effect of the Business Combination (as defined
below) as if it had occurred on January 1, 2020. The historical financial information used to prepare
the Pro Forma Financial Information is derived from (i) the IGEA Consolidated Financial Statements
2020, and (ii) the Blue Sky Consolidated Financial Statements 2020. At completion, the Business
Combination will be treated as a reverse merger pursuant to IFRS, the consolidated financial
statements 2021 of IGEA being the continuation of the Blue Sky consolidated financial statements
2021 including IGEA from the date of the Business Combination onward. The Pro Forma Financial
Information reflects this treatment consequently and is presented in GBP. Conversions from other
currencies have been treated as further set out in note 3.2 'Currency Translation' to the Pro Forma
Financial Information.
The pro forma adjustments are described in the notes to the Pro Forma Financial Information. The Pro
Forma Financial Information may not give a true and fair picture of the financial position or results of
operations of the Group (including Blue Sky) that would have been achieved had the Business
Combination (as defined below) occurred on January 1, 2020. Further, the Pro Forma Financial
Information is not indicative of the financial position or results of operations of the Group (including
Blue Sky) for any future date or period. You are advised to consider the Group's and Blue Sky's
historical financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this Prospectus.
Rounding
Certain figures in this Prospectus are presented in units and/or thousands, as specified, and could
have been subject to rounding adjustments. Accordingly, amounts shown as totals in tables or
elsewhere may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures which precede them. In addition,
certain percentages presented in the tables in this Prospectus reflect calculations based upon the
underlying information prior to rounding and, accordingly, may not exactly conform to the
percentages that would be derived if the relevant calculations were based upon the rounded numbers.
Currency Definitions
References to "CHF" are to Swiss francs, the currency of Switzerland, references to "EUR" are to the
currency of the member states of the European Union ("EU") participating in the third stage of the
Economic and Monetary Union, references to "USD" are to United States dollars, the currency of the
United States of America, and references to "GDP" are to pound sterling, the currency of the United
Kingdom.
Exchange Rate Information
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (functional currency). The
consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in USD, which is IGEA's presentation
currency.
Transactions conducted in foreign currencies are converted into the functional currency at the
exchange rate applicable on the transaction date. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in other currencies are recognized in the statement of profit or loss.
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Assets and liabilities of Group entities using a functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation currency using year-end rates of exchange. Income and
expenses and cash flows are translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case they are translated at the dates of the transactions). All resulting translation differences
are recognized directly in other comprehensive income. On the divestment of a foreign entity, the
identified cumulative currency translation difference relating to that foreign entity is recognized in
income as part of the gain or loss on divestment. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.
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SUMMARY
The following summary is to be understood as an introduction to this Prospectus and is qualified in its
entirety by, and should be read in conjunction with, the more detailed information appearing
elsewhere in this Prospectus. In particular, investors should carefully consider the discussion of certain
risks affecting the Company and the Group under the section headed "Risk Factors" and the financial
information included in this Prospectus before making an investment decision. Prospective investors
have to base their investment decision on the information as set out in this Prospectus in its entirety
and not merely on this summary.
Prospective investors should be aware that pursuant to article 69 FinSA the liability for
the information contained in this summary is limited to instances where such information
is misleading, inaccurate or inconsistent when read together with the other parts of the
Prospectus.
Capitalized terms, which are being used in this summary, but are not defined, have the meaning given
to them elsewhere in this Prospectus.
Summary of the Listing
Issuer

IGEA Pharma N.V.
The Company is a public limited liability company (naamloze
vennootschap) organized under the laws of the Netherlands, with
corporate seat in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. The Company is
registered in the Dutch Chamber of Commerce (Kamer van
Koophandel) under register number 70212821.
The registered office of the Company is at Siriusdreef 17, 2132 WT,
Hoofddorp, the Netherlands.

No Public Offering

There will be no public offering of the Shares. The New Shares will be
issued exclusively to current shareholders of Blue Sky in connection
with the Business Combination (as defined and described herein). The
New Shares will be issued to shareholders outside of the United States
in reliance on Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act, and on the
basis of exemptions provided by the EU Prospectus Regulation and the
UK Prospectus Regulation, and in each case in compliance with any
applicable securities laws.

Business Combination

On August 8, 2020, IGEA announced the entry in a letter of intents,
binding in terms, with Blue Sky to combine the two businesses (the
"Business Combination"). The transaction has been structured as a
contribution in-kind by the Blue Sky's shareholders of at least 75 % of
the Blue Sky shares into IGEA against newly issued shares in a
dedicated share capital increase of IGEA. For this purpose, on April 28,
2021, the extraordinary general meeting of IGEA approved the
Business Combination as required by Dutch law and resolved to
appoint the Board to issue new IGEA's shares at par, reserved for
issuance to the shareholders of Blue Sky only. On June 30, 2021, IGEA
launched an all equity offer to the Blue Sky shareholders and on July
26, 2021, IGEA disclosed the unconditional acceptance of the offer
with reference to the minimum threshold of 75% of the shares and
the votes required to definitively combine the two businesses.
References in this Prospectus to the "Combined Group" are
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references to the Group, as enlarged by Blue Sky following the
completion of the Business Combination.
Issued Share Capital

As of the completion of the Business Combination the issued share
capital amounts to EUR 3,329,193.97 and is divided into 332,919,397
ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.01 per share. The
issued share capital has been fully paid-up.
Immediately prior to the Business Combination, the issued share
capital of the Company was EUR 252,188.83 and was divided into
25,218,883 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.01 each.

Shares and New Shares

The Shares are fully paid-in ordinary shares with a nominal value of
EUR 0.01 each. See "Share Capital, Shares and Certain Corporate Law
Considerations—Share Capital and Changes to the Share Capital".
All Shares, including the New Shares, rank pari passu in all respects
with all other Shares. See "Share Capital, Shares and Certain
Corporate Law Considerations".

Treasury Shares

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company holds 35,405 treasury
shares.

Dividends and Dividend
Policy

See "Dividends and Dividend Policy".

Voting Rights

Each Share carries one vote. There are no voting rights restrictions that
apply to registered shareholders. See "Share Capital, Shares and
Certain Corporate Law Considerations—Voting Rights".

Form of the Shares

The Shares are and the New Shares will be held in book-entry form
through the facilities of Euroclear Nederland. Clearing and settlement
with respect to the Shares occurs typically through SIS x-clear and SIX,
respectively.
No share certificates will be issued with respect to the Shares and
holders of the Shares cannot request the printing of share certificates.

Selling and Transfer
Restrictions

The New Shares are subject to certain selling and transfer restrictions
as described in "Notice to Investors".

Listing and Trading

Application has been made and approval has been given by SER,
subject to certain conditions, to list the New Shares on SIX Swiss
Exchange in accordance with the International Reporting Standard.
The Company expects that the New Shares will be listed, and that
trading in the New Shares will commence, on SIX Swiss Exchange in
accordance with the International Reporting Standard on or around
September 27, 2021 (i.e., the First Day of Trading).

SIX Swiss Exchange Ticker
Symbol

IGPH

Swiss Security Number
(Valorennummer) of the
Shares

41217478
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International Security
Identification Number (ISIN)
for the Shares

NL0012768675

Trading currency

The Company's Shares are listed in Swiss francs (CHF).

Listing Agent

Lenz & Staehelin, acting as recognized representative pursuant to
article 58a of the Listing Rules, has filed on behalf of the Company the
application for the listing of the New Shares in accordance with the
International Reporting Standard of SIX Swiss Exchange.

Paying, Transfer and
Settlement Agent

Van Lanschot Kempen N.V. is acting as the Company's issuing, transfer,
paying, proxy and settlement agent.

Swiss Paying Agent

For as long as the Shares are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, the
Company will maintain a paying agent in Switzerland. The Swiss paying
agent for the Shares is Banque Cramer & Cie SA.

Law/Jurisdiction

Swiss law/City of Zurich, Switzerland.

Approval of Prospectus

This Prospectus has been prepared in accordance with the FinSA and
has been approved by SIX Exchange Regulation Ltd. in its capacity as
review body pursuant to article 52 FinSA on September 24, 2021.

Notices and Amendments

Any notices containing or announcing amendments or changes to this
Prospectus will be announced via electronic media. Notices required
under the Listing Rules will be published in electronic form on the
website
of
the
SER
(currently:
https://www.serag.com/en/resources/notifications-market-participants/officialnotices.html#/). Changes so notified will be deemed to constitute an
amendment or supplement of this Prospectus.

Risk Factors
All recipients of this Prospectus should be aware that any investment in the Shares and the Company
are subject to a number of risks. Investors should carefully consider information contained in this
Prospectus, including the information presented in "Risk Factors". The following are among the risks
and other factors that investors should consider in connection with an investment in the Shares:

Risks relating to our Industry and the Combined Group's Business


There can be no assurance that the Business Combination will yield the desired results.



IGEA has a limited operating history, has incurred net operating losses during all fiscal periods
since it began operations and expects that it will continue to incur operating losses for the
foreseeable future. IGEA's business with Diabetes Type II and Alzheimer's disease prevention
products may not achieve or sustain profitability.



Blue Sky has a limited operating history, has incurred net operating losses during all fiscal
periods since it began operations and expects that it will continue to incur operating losses for
the foreseeable future. The Blue Sky's business with CBD and other valuable vegetable-based
extracted products and functional food and food supplements distribution may not achieve or
sustain profitability.



The Combined Group's short operating history and the fact that the Group is in a start-up
phase make it difficult to evaluate the Combined Group's prospects and future financial results
and increase the risk that the Combined Group will not be successful.
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The Combined Group is a start-up and must raise customer awareness for its services,
products and brands.



The Combined Group holds its assets in the Industrial Processing Segment through a noncontrolling joint venture.



If the Combined Group is unable to successfully strengthen and expand its distribution
channels and adequately address its customers' needs, this could negatively impact sales and
market acceptance of the Combined Group's products and the Combined Group may never
generate sufficient revenues to achieve or sustain profitability.



The Combined Group's e-commerce sales are subject to numerous risks associated with
trading over the internet.



The CBD industry is extremely competitive, and the Combined Group may have difficulties in
effectively competing with other competitors.



The Combined Group's long-term growth depends on its ability to commercialize its product
portfolio and to develop and commercialize additional products through its research and
development efforts. If the Combined Group fails to do so, it may be unable to compete
effectively.



A potential discovery of an effective treatment for either or both of Alzheimer's disease and
Diabetes Type II could adversely affect the Combined Group's results of operations and
profits.



A potential discovery of new CBD extraction methods that could outperform, in both economic
and technical efficiency, Blue Sky's CO2-based supercritical extraction method, could adversely
affect the Combined Group's results of operations and profits.



The Combined Group will be dependent upon its key personnel for its growth and failure to
employ and retain qualified employees could result in disruptions to the Combined Group's
business.



Raising additional capital may restrict the Combined Group's operations or require the
Combined Group to relinquish rights to its technologies or products on terms unfavorable to it.



The Combined Group's business is affected by the health of the economy in general and in
the markets the Combined Group serves.



Health epidemics, pandemics, hazardous climate and weather or other conditions may
negatively impact or result in the shutdown of the Combined Group's - or of any other third
party the Combined Group relies on - operating processes.



The Combined Group faces risks associated with the international nature of its business.



The Combined Group products in the Distribution Segment could become subject to medicinal
products and devices regulations and it can be costly to comply with these regulations and to
develop compliant products and processes.



The Combined Group's products expected to be commercialized in the Industrial Extraction
Segment are subject to regulation at each single country level.
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The marketability of CBD derived products globally, and most notably within the EU, could be
restricted or prohibited by enforcements of the EU Regulation 2015/2283 (Novel Food
legislation).



If the Combined Group fails to comply with labelling laws, its financial condition and operating
results may be harmed and it may incur substantial judgments, fines, legal fees and other
costs.



If coverage or reimbursement from third-party payors for using the Combined Group's
products is unavailable, potential customers may be reluctant to use the Combined Group's
products.



Legal and regulatory changes in the jurisdictions in which the Combined Group operates and
trades may have an adverse effect on the Combined Group.



If the Combined Group is unable to obtain and maintain intellectual property rights for its
technologies or products, its ability to successfully commercialize its technology and products
may be adversely affected.



IGEA has in the past acquired intellectual property rights from a third party. In the event the
transfer of intellectual property rights is challenged or if a condition to the transfer of
intellectual property rights is no longer met or not met retroactively, respectively, this may
result in a loss of intellectual property rights without compensation.



The Combined Group may become exposed to costly and damaging product liability claims
and may not be able to maintain sufficient product liability insurance to cover these claims.
Also, product liability, product recall or personal injury issues could damage the Combined
Group's reputation and business.



A recall of the Combined Group's products, either voluntarily or at the direction of a
governmental authority, or the discovery of serious safety issues with the Combined Group's
products, could have a significant adverse impact on the Combined Group and its business.



The Combined Group collects and processes customer data as part of its business operations
and the leakage of such data may violate laws and regulations which could result in fines and
loss of reputation and customers.



Security and privacy breaches may expose the Combined Group to liability and harm its
reputation and business.



The Combined Group relies on the proper functioning of its computer and data processing
systems, and a large-scale malfunction or potential unauthorized access to critical and
sensitive information could result in disruptions to the Combined Group's business.



The Combined Group may be unable to successfully integrate any potential future acquisitions
and there can be no assurance that any future acquisitions will yield the desired result.

Risks relating to the Structure of the Combined Group


Following the Business Combination and the issuance of the New Shares, certain previous
shareholders of Blue Sky will be in a position to exert substantial influence over the Combined
Group and such shareholders' interests may differ from the interests of the Combined Group's
other shareholders.
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The Company is a holding company with no direct cash generating operations and relies on
operating subsidiaries to provide it with funds necessary to meet its financial obligations.



The rights and responsibilities of Shareholders are governed by Dutch law and will differ in
some respects from the rights and obligations of shareholders under the laws of other
jurisdictions and the shareholder rights under Dutch law may not be as clearly established as
the shareholder rights established under the laws of some other jurisdictions.

Risks relating to the Shares


Future issuances of Shares or debt or equity securities convertible into Shares by the
Company or the perception thereof, may adversely affect the market price of the Shares, and
any future issuance of Shares may dilute investors' shareholdings.



Shareholders outside of the Netherlands and outside of Switzerland may suffer dilution if they
are unable to exercise pre-emptive rights in future offerings.



An active trading market for the Shares may fail to develop and continue after the completion
of the Business Combination and the issuance of the New Shares and the market price for the
Shares may continue to be volatile.



There is only a limited free float of the Shares and this may have a negative impact on the
liquidity of, and the market price for, the Shares.



Future sales or distributions of the Shares by the Company or its Shareholders, or the
possibility of such sales, could depress the market price of the Shares.



Market conditions may cause the market price of the Shares to fluctuate substantially.



If securities or industry analysts do not initiate or maintain coverage of the Company and its
Shares, publish negative research or reports about the Company's business or downgrade
their recommendation with regard to the Shares, the price of the Shares and/or trading
volume could decline.



The payment of future dividends, if any, will depend on the Combined Group's financial
condition and results of operations, as well as on the Company's operating subsidiaries'
distributions to the Company.



Shareholders may face additional investment risk from currency exchange rate fluctuations in
connection with their holding of Shares in the Company.
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RISK FACTORS

Any investment in the Shares and the Company are subject to a number of risks. Prospective investors
should carefully consider the risks and uncertainties described below, together with other information
contained elsewhere in this Prospectus.
The risks and uncertainties described below represent those the Group considers to be material as of
the date of this Prospectus. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones the Group is facing or
will face in the future. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to the Group, or that the
Group currently considers not to be significant, could also materially and adversely affect the Group's
business, results of operations, financial condition and/or prospects. If any or a combination of these
risks actually occur, the Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and/or prospects
could be materially and adversely affected. In such case or cases, the price of the Shares could
decline and investors may lose all or part of their investment.
This Prospectus also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. The
actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements as a
result of certain factors, including the risks the Group faces which are described below or elsewhere in
this Prospectus. The selected sequence of the risk factors mentioned below represents neither a
statement about the probability of the risks' realization nor an assessment of the extent of the
economic effects or the importance of the risks.
Investment decisions should not be made solely on the basis of the risk warnings set out in the
Prospectus since such information cannot serve as a substitute for individual advice and information
which is tailored to the requirements, objectives, experience, knowledge and circumstances of each
investor individually.
Only prospective investors who are fully aware of the risks associated with the investment in the
Shares and who are financially able to bear any losses that may arise, should consider investing in the
Shares.
Risks relating to our Industry and the Combined Group's Business

There can be no assurance that the Business Combination will yield the desired results.
On August 8, 2020, IGEA announced the entry into a letter of intent, binding in terms, with Blue Sky
to combine the two businesses. The transaction is structured as a contribution in-kind by the Blue
Sky's shareholders of their respective Blue Sky shares into IGEA against newly issued shares in a
dedicated share capital increase of IGEA. On April 28, 2021 the extraordinary general meeting of IGEA
approved the Business Combination as required by Dutch law and resolved to appoint the Board to
issue new IGEA's shares at par, reserved for issuance to the shareholders of Blue Sky only. Prior to
the date of this Prospectus, the Board of IGEA has approved and resolved on a capital increase from
EUR 252,188.83 to EUR 3,329,193.97 by issuing 307,700,514 ordinary shares with a nominal value of
EUR 0.01. See "The Business Combination". Many of the risks described below under "—The

Combined Group may be unable to successfully integrate any potential future acquisitions and there
can be no assurance that any future acquisitions will yield the desired result." may materialize in
connection with the Business Combination. In particular, there is a possibility that the two businesses
cannot be successfully integrated, that key customers and distributors will be lost as a result of the
Business Combination, or that any goodwill emerging from the treatment of the Business Combination
pursuant to IFRS will need to be impaired. Any of the foregoing could have material adverse effects
on the Combined Group's business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
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Furthermore, the Group (including Blue Sky) may not have identified all of the risks related to the
Business Combination in advance or may not have been able to adequately protect itself against such
risks through indemnities, representations and warranties, or otherwise. In addition, preparing for the
Business Combination and integration of the two previously independent companies may result in the
diversion of management attention and resources. In addition, the Group may not succeed in
retaining, maintaining and integrating the key employees and business relationships in both IGEA and
Blue Sky.
The occurrence of any of these risks, the incorrect assessment of risks by the Group, or any other
failure in relation to the Business Combination may have material adverse effects on the Group's
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.

IGEA has a limited operating history, has incurred net operating losses during all fiscal
periods since it began operations and expects that it will continue to incur operating
losses for the foreseeable future. IGEA's business with Diabetes Type II and Alzheimer's
disease prevention products may not achieve or sustain profitability.
IGEA has incurred losses in all fiscal periods since its incorporation. For the year ended December 31,
2020 the loss amounted to TUSD 1,140.2 (of which TUSD 9.6 attributable to non-controlling interests)
and total accumulated losses amount to TUSD 5,683.0 as of December 31, 2020. The Group's losses
to date have resulted primarily from the costs incurred in setting-up its business and further losses will
be incurred in the future in pursuing ongoing efforts to establish and strengthen both market
acceptance and position for its health prevention portfolio.
To become and remain profitable, the Group must successfully commercialize its Alz1 prevention kit
(including Alz1 Tab) and integrate its non-bound copper detection-based pipeline with a diabetes
type II prevention kit (Dbt2) in 2021 as well as further develop new products and services. Even
where the Group continues its Alz1 products and begins marketing of further product and services,
the Group may never generate sufficient revenue to achieve profitability. If the Group does achieve
profitability in a future fiscal period, it may be unable to sustain it in subsequent periods. Failure to
achieve and sustain profitability would reduce the value of the Company. It could also impair the
Group's ability to raise capital, to expand its business, or to develop additional products and services
and, ultimately, could result in a discontinuation of the Group's operation.

Blue Sky has a limited operating history, has incurred net operating losses during all fiscal
periods since it began operations and expects that it will continue to incur operating
losses for the foreseeable future. The Blue Sky's business with CBD and other valuable
vegetable-based extracted products and functional food and food supplements
distribution may not achieve or sustain profitability.
Blue Sky has incurred losses in all fiscal periods since its incorporation. For the year ended
December 31, 2020 the loss amounted to TGBP 887.7 (without any non-controlling interests) and total
accumulated losses amount to TGBP 3,734.3 as of December 31, 2020. The Blue Sky's losses to date
have resulted primarily from the costs incurred in setting-up its business and for general corporate
purposes and further losses will be incurred in the future mainly in setting-up the required industrial
infrastructures and establish market acceptance and position for its product's portfolio.
To become and remain profitable, Blue Sky must successfully start transforming and commercializing
its CBD and other valuable vegetable matrices extracts, relaunch the functional food and food
supplement distribution business and as well as further develop its business to new products and
services. Even where Blue Sky will succeed, if ever, and begins marketing of further product and
services, Blue Sky may never generate sufficient revenue to achieve profitability. If Blue Sky does
achieve profitability in a future fiscal period, it may be unable to sustain it in subsequent periods.
Failure to achieve and sustain profitability could impair Blue-Sky's ability to expand its business, or to
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develop additional products and services and, ultimately, could result in a discontinuation of Blue Sky's
operation.

The Combined Group's short operating history and the fact that the Combined Group is in
a start-up phase make it difficult to evaluate the Combined Group's prospects and future
financial results and increase the risk that the Combined Group will not be successful.
The Combined Group's limited operating history makes it difficult to effectively assess its future
prospects. Accordingly, the Group believes that investors' future perceptions and expectations, which
can be idiosyncratic and vary widely, and which the Group does not control, will affect the Group's
stock price. The Combined Group's business and prospects should be considered in light of the
challenges the Combined Group faces, including the ones discussed in this section.

The Combined Group is a start-up and must raise customer awareness for its services,
products and brands.
As the Combined Group is still in a start-up phase, customer awareness for the Combined Group's
products and brands is still developing. The Combined Group has to face expenditures in relation to
marketing measures in order to place its products on the market and raise costumer awareness.
However, special and/or additional marketing and sales campaigns cannot guarantee an increased
awareness of the Combined Group's costumers or of the markets the Combined Group serves in
general. Failure to increase customer awareness for its services, products and brands may adversely
affect the Combined Group's results of operations and prospects.

The Combined Group hold its assets in the Industrial Processing Segment through a noncontrolling joint venture.
The Combined Group does not exercise control on its investments in the Industrial Processing
Segment, where operations are carried out by the joint venture Blue Sky Swisse SA, a company
incorporated and existing under the laws of Switzerland. Although arrangements are in place which
seek to protect the Combined Group's position where it does not exercise control, the board, the
general meeting or the further joint ventures of Blue Sky Swisse SA may:


have economic or business interests or goals that are inconsistent with or are opposed to
those of the Group;



exercise veto rights or take shareholders' decisions so as to block actions that the Group
believes to be in its best interests and/or in the best interests of the joint venture;



take actions contrary to the Group's policies with respect to its strategies and objectives; or



as a result of financial or other difficulties, be unable or unwilling to fulfil its obligations under
the joint venture arrangement, such as contributing capital to sustain investments, operations
and expansion.

Where control is shared on an equal basis, the Combined Group may provide expertise and advice,
but has limited or restricted ability to mandate compliance with its policies and/or strategic objectives.
Improper management or ineffective policies, procedures or controls of the non-controlled entity may
adversely affect its business, results of operations and financial condition of the relevant investment in
and, therefore, of the Combined Group.
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If the Combined Group is unable to successfully strengthen and expand its distribution
channels and adequately address its customers' needs, this could negatively impact sales
and market acceptance of the Combined Group's products and the Combined Group may
never generate sufficient revenues to achieve or sustain profitability.
The Combined Group's operating results are directly dependent upon its sales and marketing success
through its distribution channels. The future sales of the Combined Group will largely depend on its
ability to increase marketing efforts and adequately address customers' needs. The Combined Group's
marketing and advertising activities are being carried out internally with the support of service
providers based on a strategy focused on e-commerce distribution together with partnerships for a
wholesale-based distribution in selected markets. For example, the Group has entered into a
distribution partnership with Acalis, an internationally active healthcare group with over 40 hospitals
and support facilities, with respect to the distribution of the Alz1 products and services into the Middle
East, certain European and South American markets and the U.S. If the Group's e-commerce
distribution channel, its service providers or Acalis fail to adequately promote, market and sell the
Group's products, the Group's sales could significantly decrease or not reach the desired level.
As the Combined Group launches new products, expands its product offerings and increases its
marketing efforts with respect to existing products, the Combined Group will need to expand the
reach of its marketing and sales networks. The Combined Group's future success will depend largely
on its ability to continue to hire, train, retain and motivate skilled employees. New hires require
training and take time to achieve full productivity. If the Combined Group fails to train new hires
adequately, or if it experiences high turnover in its sales force or its customer support teams in the
future, new hires may not become as productive as may be necessary to maintain or increase the
Combined Group's sales or to provide excellent customer support service. If the Combined Group is
unable to expand its sales and marketing capabilities domestically and internationally, it may be
unable to effectively commercialize its products.

The Combined Group's e-commerce sales are subject to numerous risks associated with
trading over the internet.
The Combined Group's primary sale channel is e-commerce based. More specifically, as of the date of
this Prospectus, IGEA's products as well as Blue Sky's Distribution Segment products are available
online via own e-commerce platforms. Even if the Group expects synergies from aligning its ecommerce platforms and aims to further sell its products via e-commerce networks operated by major
global players, the Combined Group's e-commerce operations are and will remain subject to numerous
risks, including but not limited to:


reliance on third parties for computer hardware/software (including website development,
maintenance and hosting), the need to keep up with rapid technological change and the
implementation of new systems and platforms;



the risk that the Group's website may become unstable or unavailable due to necessary
upgrades or the failure of its computer systems or the related IT support systems as a result
of computer viruses, telecommunication failures, security breaches and break-ins and similar
disruptions, or disruption of internet service, whether for technical reasons or as a result of
state-sponsored censorship or other causes;



customers finding the website difficult to use, being less willing to use the site than the Group
expects or not being confident that it is secure;



difficulty integrating the Group's e-commerce platforms, which may result in complications for
customers;
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logistical difficulties in delivering products to customers in a satisfactory and timely manner;
liability for online content, security breaches and consumer privacy concerns (see "—Security

and privacy breaches may expose the Group to liability and harm its reputation and
business.");


inability to honor the Combined Group's usual delivery terms in case of unexpected or higher
than expected spikes in customer orders;



ramp up of volumes could take longer and generate marketing costs;



adverse publicity or negative reviews from dissatisfied customers spreading online or through
social networks, which may deter potential customers from using the Combined Group's
online or mobile sales channels;



violations of U.S., foreign or international laws and regulations, including those relating to
online privacy and data protection; and



liability for online credit card fraud and problems in connection with adequately securing the
Combined Group's payment systems.

The Combined Group's failure to respond appropriately to these risks and uncertainties could reduce
its e-commerce revenue, as well as damage its reputation, brands and products sale.

The CBD industry is extremely competitive, and the Combined Group may have difficulties
in effectively competing with other competitors.
CBD is a new industry characterized by players with large capital resources. The Group believes that
most of its competitors tend to focus on vertical integration neglecting the relevance that the
industrial extraction processes and formulations have on the final product quality. Some of these
competitors may, in the future, use their resources to broaden their activities by entering into the
market in which the Combined Group operates and therefore compete further with the Combined
Group. These competitors may also expand and diversify their sourcing, processing or marketing
operations, or engage in pricing or other financial or operational practices that could increase
competitive pressure on the Combined Group in the segment. Increased competition may result in
losses of market share for the Combined Group and could materially adverse its expectations,
business, results of operations and financial condition.

The Combined Group's long-term growth depends on its ability to commercialize its
product portfolio and to develop and commercialize additional products through its
research and development efforts. If the Combined Group fails to do so, it may be unable
to compete effectively.
The Combined Group must successfully enhance its existing product offerings and introduce new
products in response to customer demands and competitive pressures and technologies in order to
increase its future revenues.
The Combined Group's industry is characterized by intense competition, including from lower cost
competitors, rapid technological changes, new product introductions and enhancements and evolving
industry standards. The Combined Group also faces competition from large life sciences companies
with better access to capital resources than the Group. The Combined Group's business prospects
depend in part on its ability to develop and commercialize new products and applications for its
existing technology, including in new markets that develop as a result of both technological and
scientific advances and consumers' behaviors and habits, while improving the performance and costeffectiveness of its existing products. New life sciences products, technologies, techniques or other
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products could emerge that might offer better combinations of price and performance than the
Combined Group's products. It is important that the Combined Group anticipates changes in
technology and market demand to successfully develop, obtain clearance or approval, if required, and
successfully introduce new, enhanced and competitive products that meet the Combined Group's
prospective customers' needs on a timely and cost-effective basis. If the Combined Group fails to do
so, it may be unable to compete effectively.

A potential discovery of an effective treatment for either or both of Alzheimer's disease
and Diabetes Type II could adversely affect the Combined Group's results of operations
and profits.
The research for a treatment for Alzheimer's disease and/or Diabetes Type II is carried out by
pharmaceutical companies with large capital resources. In the event of discovery of an effective
treatment for either or both of Alzheimer's disease and Diabetes Type II, the demand for the
Combined Group's products (see "Business—IGEA's Alzheimer's and Diabetes Type II Prevention
Business") could decline. As a result, the Group could face difficulties selling its prevention products,
which eventually would adversely affect the Combined Group's results of operations, profits and
prospects.

A potential discovery of new CBD extraction methods that could outperform, in both
economic and technical efficiency, Blue Sky's CO2-based supercritical extraction method,
could adversely affect the Combined Group's results of operations and profits.
The CBD business is carried out by companies with large capital resources. In the event of discovery
of new CBD extraction methods, which would outperform in both economic and technical efficiency
Blue Sky's CO2-based extraction method, Blue Sky will no longer be able, if ever, to offer price and
quality competitive products (see "Business— Blue Sky's Activities relating to Industrial Extraction of
Substances from Plant-based Resources") and the demand could decline. As a result, the Combined
Group could face difficulties selling its CBD based products, which would adversely affect the Group's
results of operations, profits and prospects.

The Combined Group will be dependent upon its key personnel for its growth and failure
to employ and retain qualified employees could result in disruptions to the Combined
Group's business.
The Combined Group's economic success will depend in part on its ability to retain or employ highly
qualified executives, scientists, technicians and other specialists and experts. The Combined Group will
compete for qualified employees with companies both in and outside its target markets and industries.
Accordingly, the termination of the employment or the loss of the services of any key personnel
without a timely and suitable replacement or the inability to attract and retain qualified personnel may
have a material and adverse effect on the Combined Group's business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects.

Raising additional capital may restrict the Combined Group's operations or require the
Combined Group to relinquish rights to its technologies or products on terms
unfavourable to it.
In the future, the Company may decide to seek additional capital through a variety of means,
including through partnership agreements, private and public equity offerings and debt financings. If
the Combined Group raises additional funds through strategic or other partnerships with third parties,
it may have to relinquish valuable rights to its technologies or products, or grant licenses on terms
that are not favourable to the Combined Group. In addition, the terms of any financing may adversely
affect the holdings or rights of the shareholders of the Company. Debt financing, if available, may
involve agreements that include covenants limiting or restricting the Company’s or the Combined
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Group’s ability to take certain actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures
or declaring dividends. If the Combined Group is unable to raise additional funds through equity or
debt financing when needed, the Combined Group may be required to delay, limit, reduce or
terminate its product development or any commercialization efforts for its products, or grant rights to
develop and market products that the Combined Group would otherwise prefer to develop and market
itself. Any such event could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial
condition, results of operations and prospects, as well as the price of the Shares.

The Combined Group’s business is affected by the health of the economy in general and in
the markets the Combined Group serves.
The Combined Group's business is affected by the economy and consumer confidence in general,
including various economic factors (inflation, changes in consumer purchasing power, preferences
and/or spending patterns). It is possible that an unfavorable, uncertain or volatile economic
environment will cause a decline in health care and wellness consumption and dampen demand for
derived products and services, including for the products and services sold by the Combined Group.
Further economic conditions including interest rate fluctuations, changes in capital market conditions
and regulatory changes may affect the Combined Group's ability to obtain necessary financing on
acceptable terms. In the U.S., apart from the general concern surrounding rising healthcare costs,
there is also growing pressure on pharmaceutical and medical technology companies to justify and
limit prices and annual price increases on their products. These pressures may lead to price capping,
deeper discounts, lower price increases or other legislation that reduces the ability of the Combined
Group to make a return on investment and to cover inflation. Any of these afore-mentioned changes
in conditions could result in an adverse effect on the Combined Group's business, financial results and
prospects. This could be further exacerbated by the increasing prevalence of high deductible health
plans and health plan designs favoring co-insurance over co-payments.

Health epidemics, pandemics, hazardous climate and weather or other conditions may
negatively impact or result in the shutdown of the Combined Group's - or of any other
third party the Combined Group relies on - operating processes.
The outbreak or suspected outbreak of health epidemics or pandemics may result in the Combined
Group's facilities or any other facilities the Combined Group's relay on to be temporally shutdown due
to travel restrictions or the establishment of quarantine zones. For example, as a result of the
outbreak of COVID-19 (coronavirus) developing in a global pandemic, local authorities may impose
quarantine zones on certain cities and regions or they may impose shutdowns of activities and
restrictions of personal freedom.
Hazardous climate and weather conditions are statistically more and more frequent. Strong winds,
floods and/or hurricanes, earthquakes, drought, and wildfires can result in extreme damage, not only
to environment and infrastructure but also to people. Other risky and hazardous conditions could
include technical failure or accidental damage.
Any future health crisis or pandemic and related activities of government authorities, such as
quarantine zones, shutdowns or other restrictions as well as any hazardous climate and weather
conditions or other risky and hazardous condition may result in a temporary shutdown of the
Combined Group's (or any other third party the Combined Group relies on) operations or in the loss of
inventories or other valuable assets, which may adversely affect the Group's business and financial
results.

The Combined Group faces risks associated with the international nature of its business.
In the future, the Combined Group contemplates to market and sell its products in various countries.
The sale and shipment of the Combined Group's products across international borders, as well as the
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purchase of components and products from international sources, subjects the Combined Group to
extensive national and international trade, import, export and customs regulations and laws.
Compliance with these regulations and laws is costly and exposes the Group to penalties for noncompliance. The Combined Group expects its international activities to develop dynamically over the
foreseeable future as the Combined Group continues to pursue opportunities in international markets.
The Combined Group's contemplated international business operations are subject to a variety of
risks, including:


difficulties in staffing and managing foreign and geographically dispersed operations;



differing and multiple payor reimbursement regimes, government payors or patient self-pay
systems;



difficulties in determining and creating the proper sales pathway in new, international
markets;



compliance with various international laws, including import and export control laws, and antimoney laundering laws;



differing regulatory requirements for obtaining clearances or approvals to market the Group's
products;



changes in, or uncertainties relating to, foreign rules and regulations that may impact the
Group's ability to sell its products or perform services;



tariffs and trade barriers, export regulations, sanctions and other regulatory and contractual
limitations on the Group's ability to sell its products in certain foreign markets;



imposition of differing labor laws and standards;



armed conflicts or economic, political or social instability in foreign countries and regions;



fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; and



availability of government subsidies or other incentives that benefit competitors in their local
markets that are not available to the Group.

The Group expects each market to have its particular regulatory hurdles to overcome, and future
developments in these markets, including the uncertainty relating to governmental policies and
regulations, could harm the Group's business.

The Combined Group products in the Distribution Segment could become subject to
medicinal products and devices regulations and it can be costly to comply with these
regulations and to develop compliant products and processes.
The Combined Group's products and services of preventative nature (Alz1 and Alz1 Tab) marketed in
the Distribution Segment do not require an authorization by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration
("FDA") and other federal and state authorities or by the European Medicinal Agency ("EMA"). The
same is applicable for the functional food and the food supplements marketed under the segment.
However, the Combined Group could choose to offer its products and services in geographical markets
where authorizations are required, or FDA and EMA authorizations could become mandatory because
of regulatory changes.
The process of obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing authorizations to market a product, to
the extent such approvals and authorizations are required, and/or ensuring compliance with relevant
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marketing, labelling and product claims regulations can be costly and time-consuming, and approvals
might not be granted for future products, or additional indications or uses of existing products, on a
timely basis, if at all. Delays in the receipt of, or failure to obtain, approvals for future products, or
new indications and uses, could result in delayed realization of product revenues, reduction in
revenues, and in substantial additional costs. Marketing authorization, if granted, may not include all
indications for which the Combined Group may seek to market a product, or it may limit the circle of
potential patients or require extensive warnings, thereby limiting the potential market for any of these
products.
In addition, no assurance can be given that the Combined Group will remain in compliance with
applicable FDA and other regulatory requirements once approval or marketing authorization, to the
extent required for the Combined Group's products and services, has been obtained. These
requirements include, among other things, regulations regarding manufacturing practices, product
labeling and product claims, and advertising and post-marketing reporting, including adverse event
reports and field alerts. In some cases, the marketing authorization, if any, may require the Combined
Group to monitor products after sale. In addition, the Combined Group's facilities and procedures are
subject to ongoing regulation, including periodic inspection by the FDA and other regulatory
authorities. The Combined Group must incur expense and spend time and effort to ensure compliance
with these complex regulations.
Possible regulatory actions for non-compliance could include warning letters, fines, damages,
injunctions, civil penalties, recalls (see "—A recall of the Combined Group's products, either voluntarily

or at the direction of a governmental authority, or the discovery of serious safety issues with the
Group's products, could have a significant adverse impact on the Group and its business."), seizures of
the Combined Group's products, and criminal prosecution. Further, any such action could result in,
among other things, substantial modifications to the Combined Group's business practices and
operations, a total or partial shutdown of production while the Combined Group remedies the alleged
violation, the inability to obtain future pre-market approvals or marketing authorizations as well as
withdrawals or suspensions of current products from the market. Any of these events could disrupt
the Combined Group's business and have a material adverse effect on the Combined Group's
revenues, profitability and financial condition.

The Combined Group's products expected to be commercialized in the Industrial
Extraction Segment are subject to regulation at each single country level.
Each country has its own regulation on CBD derived products. Although the Combined Group expects
and believe that its business operations are currently and in the future will be carried out in
accordance with all such applicable state and local rules and regulations, no assurance can be given
that new rules and regulations will not be enacted or that existing rules and regulations will not be
applied in such a manner that could limit or curtail the ability of the Combined Group to manufacture
and commercialize CBD related products or that it can become costly to comply with these regulations
and to develop compliant products and processes. Amendments or restrictions to current laws and
regulations governing the import, distribution, transportation and/or production of hemp or derived
CBD extraction could have a substantial adverse effect on the Combined Group's revenues,
profitability and financial condition.

The marketability of CBD derived products globally, and most notably within the EU, could
be restricted or prohibited by enforcements of the EU Regulation 2015/2283 (Novel Food
legislation).
The European Union's Novel Foods catalogue has been updated for CBD, other cannabinoids and
hemp-derived products. Even if the Novel Food catalogue is not exhaustive and not mandatorily, an
update process with input from the various member states of the European Union is always ongoing
and the member states themselves uses the Novel Food catalogue to set-up enforcement.
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Based on the European Union's Novel Foods regulation, products based on the CBD rich oil
formulation, which the Combined Group intends to extract from hemp (See "Business—Blue Sky's
Activities relating to Industrial Extraction of Substances from Plant-based Resources"), rank as "Novel
Food" and as such these products require premarket approval. This regulation defines "Novel Food" as
any food that was not used for human consumption to a significant degree within the EU before
May 15, 1997, when the first regulation on Novel Foods came into force. Only Novel Foods that are
authorized and included in the EU positive list of authorized Novel Foods may be placed on the EU
market as such, or used in or on foods, in accordance with the conditions of use and the labelling
requirements specified therein. For a decision to take place on whether to authorize a novel food or
ingredient, it is required that the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) carries out a safety
assessment. There is no assurance that relevant authorities in EU will grant the required
authorizations. If no authorizations are granted, the Combined Group may be forced to shift its
marketing focus to other jurisdictions.

If the Combined Group fails to comply with labelling laws, its financial condition and
operating results may be harmed and it may incur substantial judgments, fines, legal fees
and other costs.
The Combined Group's functional food products and dietary supplements are subject to laws and
regulations limiting the types of therapeutic claims that can be made for. See "Business—Product
Portfolio". The treatment or cure of a disease, for example, is not a permitted claim for these
products. Further, the Combined Group's advertising is subject to regulation by the Federal Trade
Commission (the "FTC") under the Federal Trade Commission Act. In recent years, the FTC has
initiated numerous investigations of dietary supplement products and companies. The same is
observable in the EU, under the control of European Food Safety Authority ("EFSA"). Additionally,
some states also permit advertising and labelling laws to be enforced by private attorney generals,
who may seek relief for consumers, class action certifications, class wide damages and product recalls.
Any of these types of actions could have a material adverse effect on the Combined Group's business,
financial condition, and results of operations. While the Combined Group attempts to monitor its
marketing materials, it cannot ensure that all such materials comply with applicable regulations,
including bans on therapeutic claims. If the Combined Group fails to comply with these restrictions, it
could be subjected to claims, financial penalties, mandatory product recalls or relabeling
requirements, which could harm the Combined Group's financial condition and operating result.

If coverage or reimbursement from third-party payors for using the Combined Group's
products is unavailable, potential customers may be reluctant to use the Combined
Group's products.
In the U.S. and in other countries, sales of the Combined Group's products could depend, in part, on
the extent to which the products are reimbursed by third-party payors, including private insurers and
government healthcare services. Even if a third-party payor covers the use of the Combined Group's
products, the resulting reimbursement rate may not be adequate to cover a provider's cost to
purchase the Combined Group's products or ensure such purchase is profitable for the provider.
Further, persons who are treated in-office for a medical condition generally rely on third-party payors
to reimburse all or part of the costs associated with the treatment and may be unwilling to undergo
new solutions in the absence of coverage and adequate reimbursement.
Reimbursement by a third-party payor may depend upon a number of factors, including the thirdparty payor's determination that a treatment is neither experimental nor investigational, safe,
effective, and medically necessary, appropriate for the specific patient, cost-effective, supported by
peer-reviewed medical journals and included in clinical practice guidelines.
In the U.S., there is no uniform policy of coverage and reimbursement among third-party payors.
Third-party payors often rely upon Medicare coverage policies and payment limitations in setting their
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own reimbursement policies, but also have their own methods and approval process apart from
Medicare coverage and reimbursement determinations. Therefore, coverage and reimbursement can
differ significantly from payor to payor. Decisions regarding the extent of coverage and amount of
reimbursement to be provided for an in-office treatment is made on a plan-by-plan basis. One payor's
determination to provide coverage for a specific treatment does not assure that other payors will also
provide coverage and adequate reimbursement.
In addition, the U.S. federal government and state legislatures have continued to implement cost
containment programs, including price controls and restrictions on coverage and reimbursement. To
contain costs, governmental healthcare programs and third-party payors are increasingly challenging
the price, scrutinizing the medical necessity and reviewing the cost-effectiveness of medical
treatments.
Overall, seeking third party reimbursement is a time-consuming and costly process, which will require
the Group to provide scientific, clinical and health economics rationales for the use of each of its
products to each third-party payor and significant uncertainty exists as to the payment status of new
products or devices generally.
Outside of the U.S., reimbursement systems vary significantly by country. If adequate levels of
reimbursement from third-party payors are not obtained, sales of the Combined Group's products may
not materialize or grow significantly. Even if favorable coverage and reimbursement status is attained,
less favorable coverage policies and reimbursement rates may be implemented in the future.

Legal and regulatory changes in the jurisdictions in which the Combined Group operates
and trades may have an adverse effect on the Combined Group.
Due to the international nature of its business and group structure, the Combined Group must comply
with, and is affected by, a large number of different legal and regulatory frameworks, including tax
laws. There is a risk that changes in these frameworks may materially adversely affect the Combined
Group's legal and regulatory environment. The risks faced by the Combined Group include, but are not
limited to:


foreign currency control regulations and other regulations related to exchange rates and
foreign currencies (such as the abandonment of exchange rate pegs, caps or floors);



increased regulatory burdens, including product safety approval processes, in order to sell the
Combined Group's products;



difficulties finding qualified managers and employees;



taxes;



increasingly protectionist sentiment in many countries leading to embargoes, trade
restrictions, tariffs and other trade barriers; and



the imposition of withholding taxes and transfer pricing regulations.

Changes in the regulatory environment may prevent the Combined Group from advertising certain
products or may negatively affect demand for its products, which could in turn have material adverse
effects on its business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. In addition, to the
extent laws and regulations applicable to the Combined Group are uncertain and evolving, it may be
difficult for the Combined Group to determine the exact requirements applicable to it, or to structure
its transactions in such a way that the results it expects to achieve are legally enforceable in all cases.
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If the Combined Group is unable to obtain and maintain intellectual property rights for its
technologies or products, its ability to successfully commercialize its technology and
products may be adversely affected.
The Combined Group's future success depends, among other things, on its ability to obtain and
maintain patent protection, trademarks and trade secret protection with respect to its proprietary
technology and products. The Combined Group will seek to protect its proprietary position by filing
patent applications in the U.S., the EU and in additional jurisdictions related to the technologies and
pipeline products that are important to its business. This process is expensive and time-consuming,
and the Combined Group may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent
applications at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. It is also possible that the Combined Group
will fail to identify patentable aspects of its research and development output until it is too late to
obtain patent protection.
Certain parts of the Combined Group's product portfolio and services may not be patentable or
patentable only at a high cost. The Combined Group's trade secrets and other confidential proprietary
information and those of the Combined Group's partners and suppliers could be disclosed or
competitors could otherwise gain access to the Combined Group's trade secrets or independently
develop substantially equivalent information and techniques. If the Combined Group or any of its
current or future partners and suppliers or future licensors are unable to prevent material disclosure of
the non-patented intellectual property related to the Combined Group's products to third parties, the
Combined Group may not be able to establish or maintain a competitive advantage in the market,
which could adversely affect the Group's business.
The patent position of life science companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and
factual questions and has in recent years been the subject of much litigation. As a result, the grant,
scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of the Combined Group's patent rights will be
highly uncertain. The Combined Group's pending and future patent applications may not result in
patents being issued which protect its technology or products, in whole or in part, or which effectively
prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and products. Changes in the applicable
patent laws or interpretation of those laws may diminish the value of the Combined Group's patents or
narrow the scope of the Combined Group's patent protection.
In addition, different countries' patent laws may not provide the same level of protection of the
Combined Group's patent rights. The Combined Group may also not pursue or obtain patent
protection in all of its potential future markets or may not obtain protection that enables it to prevent
the entry of third parties into the market. Further, the Combined Group will not seek to protect its
intellectual property rights in all jurisdictions throughout the world, and the Combined Group may not
be able to adequately enforce its intellectual property rights, including even in the jurisdictions where
it seeks protection.
Filing, prosecuting and defending patents relating to its technology and its products in all countries
and jurisdictions throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and the Combined Group's
intellectual property rights in some countries outside the U.S. and the EU could be less extensive than
those in the U.S. and the EU, assuming that rights are obtained in those and other selected
jurisdictions. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights
to the same extent as laws in, for example, the U.S. and the EU. Specifically, the legal systems of
some countries, particularly developing countries, limit the protection or enforcement of patents and
other intellectual property protection, especially those relating to pharmaceuticals or biotechnologies.
This could make it difficult for the Combined Group to obtain patents and/or prevent the infringement
of its patents, if obtained, or the misappropriation of its other intellectual property rights.
Consequently, the Combined Group may not be able to prevent third parties from infringing its
intellectual property rights in all jurisdictions throughout the world.
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Even if the Combined Group's patent applications result in granted patents, they may not be granted
in a form that will provide the Combined Group with any meaningful protection, prevent competitors
from competing with it or otherwise provide it with any competitive advantage. The Combined Group's
competitors may be able to circumvent the Combined Group's owned or licensed patents by
developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner. In addition,
other companies may attempt to circumvent any regulatory data protection or market exclusivity that
the Combined Group obtains under applicable legislation, which may require the Combined Group to
allocate significant resources to preventing such circumvention.
The Combined Group may also decide to abandon patent applications before the patents are granted.
The prosecution of each patent is an independent process that may lead to situations in which
applications in some jurisdictions might be refused by the relevant registration authorities, while
granted by others. It is also common that depending on the country, the scope of patent protection
may vary for the same drug candidate.
Competitors may use the Combined Group's intellectual property in jurisdictions where it does not
pursue and obtain patent protection to develop their own products and further, may export infringing
products to territories where the Combined Group has patent protection, but its ability to enforce
those patents is not as strong as that in the U.S. or in the EU. These products may compete with the
Combined Group's products and the Combined Group's patents or other intellectual property rights
may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing. Even if the Combined Group
pursues and obtains granted patents in particular jurisdictions, the scope of the Combined Group's
patent claims may not be effective or sufficient to prevent third parties from so competing. If any of
the above described events occurs, the Combined Group's business, financial condition and results of
operations could be materially adversely affected.
Obtaining and maintaining intellectual property protection depends on compliance with various
procedural, documentary, fee payment and other requirements imposed by governmental patent
registries, and the Combined Group's intellectual property protection could be reduced or eliminated
as a result of non-compliance with these requirements.
Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees and various other governmental fees on patents
and/or patent applications are due to the relevant patent and intellectual property registries at several
stages over the lifetime of the patents, patent applications and other intellectual property owned by
the Combined Group. The relevant patent registries require compliance with a number of procedural,
documentary, fee payment and other similar provisions during the patent application process. In many
cases, an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance
with the applicable rules. However, there are situations in which non-compliance can result in
abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of
patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In the event of a partial or complete loss of patent rights in a
jurisdiction, the Combined Group's competitors might be able to use its technologies and develop
products similar to the Combined Group's existing and pipeline products, which could materially
adversely affect the Combined Group's business, financial condition and results of operation.

IGEA has in the past acquired intellectual property rights from a third party. In the event
the transfer of intellectual property rights is challenged or if a condition to the transfer of
intellectual property rights is no longer met or not met retroactively, respectively, this
may result in a loss of intellectual property rights without compensation.
IGEA has acquired its intellectual property rights from a third party. Although IGEA believes that it has
respected and satisfied all its contractual obligations, the transfer of such rights may be challenged by
the contractual counterparty or by a third party under applicable law, which could result in claims for
damages or in loss of intellectual property rights. Further, even though a due diligence prior to
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acquiring intellectual property rights has been conducted, there are several examples of matters that
may encumber or limit the Group's ability to exploit its acquired intellectual property rights, such as:


claims by third parties that patents are invalid (as a result of the existence of "prior art" or
otherwise);



liens on the intellectual property in favor of banks or other lending institutions;



claims by third parties that the intellectual property right infringes their patents or other
intellectual property rights;



inadequate evidence that the employees or contractors who contributed to the creation of the
intellectual property assigned their rights in the intellectual property to the seller;



rights of first refusal, exclusivity or similar rights in favor of third parties with respect to the
intellectual property rights;



failure to have obtained any third-party consents necessary for the intellectual property rights
to have been transferred to the seller (if not originally developed by the Company);



broad licenses to the intellectual property rights in favor of third parties that compete or may
compete with the Group; and



failure of the seller to have appropriately registered the intellectual property with the
applicable governmental body.

The Combined Group may become exposed to costly and damaging product liability claims
and may not be able to maintain sufficient product liability insurance to cover these
claims. Also, product liability, product recall or personal injury issues could damage the
Combined Group's reputation and business.
The products that the Combined Group sells or expects to sell could become subject to contamination,
product tampering, mislabeling, recall or other damage. Further, the Combined Group's business with
health products entails potential risk for substantial liability claims, for example in the event of product
failure or adverse side effects. Even claims without merit could subject the Company to adverse
publicity and require the Company to incur significant legal fees. In addition, the Combined Group is
exposed to risks inherent in the packaging and distribution of pharmaceuticals and other healthcare
products, such as with respect to improper execution of prescriptions or adequacy of warnings.
Moreover, with respect to federal and state laws that require providing guidance to the Combined
Group's customers about medications (including combinations of medications), dosage, delivery
systems, side effects and other information, mistakes by pharmacists and physicians as well as by
employees of the Combined Group can significantly impact the Combined Group's business.
As a result of any such event, product liability or personal injury claims may be asserted against the
Combined Group with respect to any of the Combined Group's products or services. Should a product
or other liability issue arise, the coverage limits under the Combined Group's insurance programs and
the indemnification amounts available to the Combined Group may not be adequate to protect it
against claims. The Combined Group also may not be able to maintain this insurance on acceptable
terms in the future. Damage to the Group's reputation in the event of a product liability or personal
injury issue or judgment against the Combined Group or a product recall could have a significant
adverse effect the Combined Group's business, financial condition and results of operations.
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A recall of the Combined Group's products, either voluntarily or at the direction of a
governmental authority, or the discovery of serious safety issues with the Combined
Group's products, could have a significant adverse impact on the Combined Group and its
business.
Under certain laws and regulations, governmental authorities have the authority to require the recall
of commercialized products in the event of material deficiencies or in the event that a product poses
an unacceptable risk to health. The Combined Group may, under its own initiative, recall a product if
any material deficiency in such a product is found. A government-mandated or voluntary recall by the
Combined Group or one of its distributors could occur as a result of an unacceptable risk to health,
production errors, labeling defects or other deficiencies and issues. Recalls of any of the Combined
Group's products would divert managerial and financial resources and have an adverse effect on the
Combined Group's reputation, results of operations and financial condition, which could impair the
Combined Group's ability to produce its products in a cost-effective and timely manner in order to
meet the customers' demands. Further, the Combined Group may also be required to bear other costs
or take other actions that may have a negative impact on the Combined Group's future sales and the
Combined Group's ability to generate profits.
Further, jurisdictions in which the Combined Group operates may require to report to the relevant
authorities any incident which the Combined Group's product may have caused or contributed to or
which has led or contributed to death or serious injury. Any of these events may result in a voluntary
or involuntary product recall or other corrective actions, all of which could divert managerial and
financial resources, impair the Combined Group's ability to produce its products in a cost-effective and
timely manner and have an adverse effect on the Combined Group's reputation, results of operations
and financial condition.
Any adverse event involving the Combined Group's products could result in future voluntary corrective
actions, such as recalls or customer notifications, or government agency action, such as inspection,
mandatory recall or other enforcement action. Any corrective action, whether voluntary or involuntary,
as well as defending the Combined Group in a lawsuit, will require the dedication of time and capital,
distract management from operating the business and may harm the Combined Group's reputation
and financial results.

The Combined Group collects and processes customer data as part of its business
operations and the leakage of such data may violate laws and regulations which could
result in fines and loss of reputation and customers.
In the ordinary course of business the Combined Group collects, stores and uses data which is
protected by data protection and data privacy laws. Further, such data, particularly results from blood
tests as well as data of purchaser of functional food products, may be shared with third parties with
the customer's consent and the Combined Group cannot exclude that leakage of costumers' data
occurs in such third party's sphere. Although the Group takes precautions to protect customer data in
accordance with the privacy requirements provided for under applicable laws, it may fail to do so and
certain customer data may be leaked as a result of human error, cyber and malware attacks or
technological failure or otherwise be used or disclosed inappropriately. Further, the Combined Group
also works with independent and third-party service providers, and it cannot be excluded that such
third-party service providers could also experience system failures involving the storage or leakage of
costumers' data or of proprietary information.
In the EU, the Regulation (EU) 2016/679 on the protection of natural persons with regard to the
processing of personal data and on the free movement of such data (the "GDPR") imposes strict
regulations and establishes a series of requirements regarding the storage of personally identifiable
information on computers or recorded on other electronic media. The GDPR provides for specific
regulations requiring all non-European Union countries doing business with European Union member
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states to provide adequate data privacy protection when receiving personal data from persons in any
of the European Union member states. In addition, the use and disclosure of personal health and
other private information is subject to regulation in other jurisdictions in which the Company does
business or expects to do business in the future and such regulations are expected to become more
stringent. Switzerland, for example, is currently in the course of amending its data protection laws
with a view of aligning such laws to the standards set by the European GDPR. Those jurisdictions may
attempt to apply such laws extraterritorially or through treaties or other arrangements with European
governmental entities.
Efforts to ensure that the Combined Group's business arrangements will comply with applicable data
protection and data privacy laws may involve substantial costs. Violation of data protection and data
privacy laws by the Combined Group or one of its third-party service providers may result in fines,
reputational harm, exclusion from government funded healthcare programs and subventions, and
customer losses and could have a material and adverse effect on the Combined Group's business,
results of operations and financial condition. The Company cannot assure you that its privacy and
security policies and practices will be found sufficient to protect the Company from liability or adverse
publicity relating to the privacy and security of personal information.

Security and privacy breaches may expose the Combined Group to liability and harm its
reputation and business.
As part of the Combined Group's business, the Combined Group may receive and process information
about its customers, partners and their patients, including protected health information ("PHI"), and
the Combined Group may store or contract with third parties to store its customers' data, including
PHI. PHI, a subset of individually identifiable information, is regulated in the United States at the
federal level by the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA"), as amended by the
Health Information and Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009, and by various laws
at the state level, as more fully described below. The Group is required to safeguard PHI in
accordance with HIPAA and is also directly liable for compliance with HIPAA. While the Combined
Group implemented security measures relating to its database, specifically, and its operations,
generally, those measures may not prevent security breaches that could harm the Combined Group's
business. Advances in computer capabilities, inadequate technology or facility security measures or
other factors may result in a compromise or breach of the Combined Group's systems and the data
and PHI the Combined Group stores and processes.
Any compromise of the Combined Group's systems or the data the Combined Group stores or
processes could implicate reporting requirements under HIPAA, result in a loss of confidence in the
security of the Combined Group's software, damage its reputation, disrupt its business, lead to legal
liability and adversely affect the Combined Group's results of operations. Moreover, a compromise of
the Combined Group's systems could remain undetected for an extended period of time, exacerbating
the impact of that compromise. Actual or perceived vulnerabilities may lead to claims against the
Combined Group by its customers, physicians, their patients or third parties, including the federal and
state governments. While the Combined Group's customer agreements typically contain provisions
that seek to limit the Combined Group's liability, there is no assurance that these provisions will be
enforceable and effective under applicable law. In addition, the cost and operational consequences of
implementing further data protection measures could be significant.

The Combined Group relies on the proper functioning of its computer and data processing
systems, and a large-scale malfunction or potential unauthorized access to critical and
sensitive information could result in disruptions to the Combined Group's business.
The Combined Group's ability to keep its businesses operating depends on the functional and efficient
operation of its computer and data processing and telecommunications systems. Computer and data
processing systems are susceptible to malfunctions and interruptions (including due to equipment
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damage, power outages, fire, natural disasters, breakdowns, malicious attacks, computer viruses, and
a range of other hardware, software and network problems), and the Combined Group may be unable
to prevent malfunctions or interruptions. A significant or large scale malfunction or interruption of its
computer or data processing systems could disrupt the Combined Group's operations, for example by
causing impediment to the manufacturing or shipment of products, the processing of transactions and
the reporting of financial results, or could damage the Combined Group's reputation.
The Combined Group has outsourced the operation and maintenance of its IT systems to an external
service provider. Therefore, the Combined Group's ability to keep its businesses operating also
depends on services provided by external parties and any interruption of these services could disrupt
the Combined Group's operations.
In addition, the Combined Group faces the risk of potential unauthorized access to, and the loss of,
critical and sensitive information, for example as a result of industrial espionage activities or hacking
attacks. A leak of confidential information or the loss of critical and sensitive information could reveal
trade secrets or know-how of the Combined Group or its customers to competitors and harm the
Combined Group's business, competitive position and reputation. The Combined Group's insurance
may not adequately compensate it for all losses or failures that may occur. Any of the foregoing could
have material adverse effects on the Combined Group's business, results of operations, financial
condition and prospects.

The Combined Group may be unable to successfully integrate any potential future
acquisitions and there can be no assurance that any future acquisitions will yield the
desired result.
The Combined Group's strategic and operational initiatives comprise mainly of organic growth through
the development of products and target markets. However, subject to available capital resources, as
we expand our business operations, we may consider acquisition activities to bolster our operational
footprint in our targeted market segments or to expand our product and services offering. However,
we may not be able to identify and successfully negotiate suitable acquisitions, obtain financing for
future acquisitions on satisfactory terms or otherwise complete acquisitions in the future. Corporate
acquisitions further typically involve significant investments and risks, including but not limited to tax
liabilities and legal claims, such as third-party liability claims and tort claims, regulatory compliance
issues for past violations of legal requirements, claims for breach of contract, employment-related
claims, environmental liabilities, conditions or damage or other liability, or claims relating to potential
illegal activity by the acquired company. If we are able to complete acquisitions in the future, we will
need to integrate any acquired businesses with our existing operations. We cannot assure you that we
will effectively assimilate the business of the acquired companies into our business or realize
anticipated operational synergies. Integrating the operations and personnel of acquired businesses
into our existing operations may result in difficulties, significant expense, and disruption to the
Combined Group's existing businesses or the diversion of our management's time and attention.
Failure to effectively consummate or manage future acquisitions may adversely harm our existing
businesses due to large write-offs, contingent liabilities, substantial depreciation, adverse tax or other
consequences.
The occurrence of any of these risks, the incorrect assessment of risks by the Combined Group, or any
other failure in relation to acquisitions and investments by the Combined Group may have material
adverse effects on its business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.
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Risks relating to the Structure of the Combined Group

Following the Business Combination and the issuance of the New Shares, certain previous
shareholders of Blue Sky will be in a position to exert substantial influence over the
Combined Group and such shareholders' interests may differ from the interests of the
Combined Group's other shareholders.
Following completion of the Business Combination, several current shareholders of Blue Sky will have
acquired substantial stakes in IGEA (see "Significant Shareholders"), giving such shareholders, each
individually, the ability to exert substantial influence over the Company's general meeting (the
"General Meeting") and, consequently, on matters decided by the General Meeting when a simple
majority of votes is required to adopt resolutions, which includes also second convened General
Meetings necessary to overrule binding proposals for which the required two-thirds vote majority
representing at least 50% of the issued share capital was not ensured in a previous General Meeting,
in particular for the appointment, suspension or dismissal of Directors. Moreover, certain of our
principal shareholders have the ability to effectively block certain matters that must be decided by the
General Meeting. In addition, one or more shareholders of the Company (including any of the principal
shareholders) holding at least one-tenth of the issued share capital of the Company has/have the
statutory right to request to convene a General Meeting and to set agenda items (see also "Share
Capital, Shares and Certain Corporate Law Considerations").
Under certain circumstances, one or several of our principal shareholders will also be in a position to
generally prevent the adoption of resolutions by the General Meeting they do not favor. Consequently,
minority shareholders will not be able to affect the outcome of shareholder votes requiring the simple
majority of the voting rights represented. Further, under certain circumstances, one or several of our
principal shareholders also have the power to prevent or cause a change in control of the Combined
Group and could take other actions that might not be to the benefit of all other Shareholders. In
addition, to the extent that the interests of the principal shareholders may differ from the interests of
the other Shareholders, the other Shareholders may be disadvantaged by any actions that any of the
principal shareholders may seek to pursue.

The Company is a holding company with no direct cash generating operations and relies
on operating subsidiaries to provide it with funds necessary to meet its financial
obligations.
The Company is a holding company. Accordingly, the principal assets of the Company are the equity
interests, loans or other advances it directly or indirectly holds in or extended to operating
subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures and the ability of IGEA to meet and satisfy its obligations
in respect of its stakeholders will depend upon payments made to it by other members of the
Combined Group, associates and joint ventures in respect of future dividends, loans and advances
made. The ability of IGEA's subsidiaries, associates, and joint ventures to make such distributions and
other payments depends on their earnings and may be subject to contractual or statutory limitations
or the legal requirement of having distributable profit or distributable reserves. In addition, in the
event of liquidation and reorganization, IGEA's right to receive assets upon such liquidation or
reorganization will be effectively subordinated to the claims of creditors of the relevant subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures.
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The rights and responsibilities of Shareholders are governed by Dutch law and will differ
in some respects from the rights and obligations of shareholders under the laws of other
jurisdictions and the shareholder rights under Dutch law may not be as clearly
established as the shareholder rights established under the laws of some other
jurisdictions.
The Company is incorporated and exists under the laws of the Netherlands. Accordingly, the
Company's corporate structure as well as the rights and obligations of shareholders may be different
from the rights and obligations of shareholders of companies under the laws of other jurisdictions.
The exercise of certain shareholders' rights by Shareholders outside of the Netherlands may be more
difficult and costlier than the exercise of rights in a company organized under the laws of other
jurisdictions. Resolutions of the General Meeting may be taken with majorities different from the
majorities required for adoption of equivalent resolutions in companies organized under the laws of
other jurisdictions. Any action to challenge any of the Company's corporate actions must be filed with
and will be reviewed by, a Dutch court, in accordance with Dutch law.
Risks relating to the Shares

Future issuances of Shares or debt or equity securities convertible into Shares by the
Company or the perception thereof, may adversely affect the market price of the Shares,
and any future issuance of Shares may dilute investors' shareholdings.
The Board has been granted the authority to issue up to 94,878,654 Shares or rights to subscribe for
Shares in the capital of the Company and to limit or exclude the pre-emptive rights pertaining to such
Shares, of which 12,254,384 within December 14, 2023, 12,524,384 within March 26, 2025 and
69’829’886 within April 28, 2026. Pursuant to this authorization, the Board may resolve to issue
Shares or grant rights to subscribe for Shares for a period of five years effective as of the execution
date of the relevant deed of amendment and to limit or exclude pre-emptive rights in relation thereto
The Company may in the future seek to raise capital through public or private debt or equity
financings by issuing additional Shares, debt or equity securities convertible into Shares or rights to
acquire these securities and exclude the pre-emptive rights pertaining to the then outstanding Shares.
In addition, the Company may in the future seek to issue additional Shares as consideration for or
otherwise in connection with the acquisition of new businesses. Furthermore, the Combined Group
may issue new Shares in the context of any employee or other person-related arrangement for
involving persons in the capital of the Company. The issuance of any additional Shares may dilute an
investor's shareholding in the Company.
Furthermore, any additional debt or equity financing the Company may not be available on terms
favorable to the Company or at all, which could adversely affect the Group's future plans and the
market price of the Shares. Any additional offering or issuance of Shares by the Company or the
perception that an offering or issuance may occur could also have a negative impact on the market
price of the Shares and could increase the volatility in the trading price of the Shares.

Shareholders outside of the Netherlands and outside of Switzerland may suffer dilution if
they are unable to exercise pre-emptive rights in future offerings.
In the event of an increase in the Company's share capital, holders of Shares are generally entitled to
full pre-emptive rights unless these rights are limited or excluded either by virtue of Dutch law, a
resolution of the General Meeting on a proposal of the Board, or by a resolution of the Board (if the
Board has been authorized by the General Meeting or the Company's articles of association (the
"Articles of Association") for this purpose).
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Due to laws and regulations in their respective jurisdictions, however, Shareholders outside of the
Netherlands and outside of Switzerland may not be able to exercise such rights unless the Company
takes action to register or otherwise qualify the rights offering under the laws of that jurisdiction.
There can be no assurance that the Company would take any such action and the Company will have
the discretion to decide not to take such action in one or more jurisdictions, including the EEA and
U.S. If Shareholders in such jurisdictions were unable to exercise their subscription rights, their
shareholding in the Company would be diluted.
In particular, U.S. Shareholders may not be able to exercise their pre-emptive rights or participate in a
rights offering, as the case may be, unless a registration statement under the U.S. Securities Act is
effective with respect to such rights or an exemption from the registration requirements is available.
The Company could evaluate at the time of any issue of Shares subject to pre-emptive rights or in a
rights offering, as the case may be, the costs and potential liabilities associated with any such
registration statement, as well as the indirect benefits to it of enabling the exercise of U.S.
Shareholders of their pre-emptive rights to Shares or participation in a rights offering, as the case may
be, and any other factors considered appropriate at the time and then to make a decision as to
whether to file such a registration statement. The Company cannot assure investors that any
registration statement will be filed to enable the exercise of such holders' pre-emptive rights or
participation in a rights offering.

An active trading market for the Shares may fail to develop and continue after the
completion of the Business Combination and the issuance of the New Shares and the
market price for the Shares may continue to be volatile.
Since the Shares have been listed at SIX for the first time on December 20, 2018, the liquidity and
market price of the Shares have been volatile. If no active trading in the Shares develops or continues
after the Business Combination and the issuance of the New Shares, there could be a material adverse
effect on the liquidity and market price of the Shares. Furthermore, the Company does not operate
actively with the aim to support an adequately liquid market for the Shares during regular trading
hours at SIX.
If a market for the Shares does not develop or is not sustained, it may be difficult for investors to sell
their Shares at an attractive price, or at all. Further, an inactive market may also impair the
Company's ability to raise capital by selling Shares and may impair the Group's ability to enter into
partnerships or acquire products or technologies by using Shares as consideration.
The Company cannot predict the prices at which the Shares will trade. The market price of the Shares
could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to many risk factors listed in this section, and other
risk factors beyond the Company's control, and it is possible that in one or more future periods the
Company's results of operations may be below the expectations of public market analysts and
investors. The market price for the Shares could also be negatively influenced by adverse
developments affecting the general economic or investment climate. In addition, geopolitical factors
such as war or acts of terrorism may indirectly adversely affect the market price of the Shares. As a
result of these and other factors, the price of the Shares may fall.

There is only a limited free float of the Shares and this may have a negative impact on the
liquidity of, and the market price for, the Shares.
After completion of the Business Combination and the issuance of the New Shares, only a limited
amount of the Company's issued share capital will be freely tradable. The remainder will be held by
major shareholders and the management of the Company. This may have a negative impact on the
liquidity of the Shares and result in a low trading volume of Shares, which could adversely affect their
prevailing market prices, liquidity and marketability.
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Future sales or distributions of the Shares by the Company or its Shareholders, or the
possibility of such sales, could depress the market price of the Shares.
Following the Business Combination and the issuance of the New Shares, the existing Shareholders
may sell all or part of the Shares they own. Sales by the existing Shareholders of substantial amounts
of the Shares in the public market or the market perception that such sale is imminent, could
adversely affect prevailing market prices for the Shares. In addition, future sales of Shares by the
Company's major Shareholders and/or the management of the Company, or the market perception
that such sale is imminent, may be interpreted by the market as a negative signal with respect to such
Shareholders' beliefs in the future prospects of the Company's business. That interpretation, whether
accurate or not, may adversely affect the trading price of the Shares.

Market conditions may cause the market price of the Shares to fluctuate substantially.
In the past, our share price has been volatile and since the first day of trading of the Existing Shares
on the SIX on December 20, 2018, the price of the Existing Shares on SIX has decreased by approx.
90 %. Such volatility in our share price is due in part to the high volatility in the securities markets
generally, as well as developments which affects our financial results. The market price of the Shares
may going forward continue to experience high volatility. The interim and year-end operating results
of the Company, changes in general conditions in the economy or the financial markets and other
developments affecting the Company or its competitors could cause the market price of the Shares to
fluctuate substantially. The capital markets have experienced extreme volatility and disruption over
the past few years. In some cases, the markets have produced downward pressure on stock prices for
certain issuers seemingly without regard to those issuers' underlying financial strength. Several factors
could cause the market price for the Shares to fluctuate substantially in the future, including, without
limitation:


announcements of developments related to the Company's business;



fluctuations in the Company's results of operations;



sales of substantial amounts of the Company's securities;



general or perceived conditions in the markets in which the Company operates;



a shortfall in the Company's operating profit or earnings compared to securities analysts'
expectations;



changes in securities analysts' recommendations or projections;



general adverse market sentiment;



extraneous geopolitical factors;



adverse perception of the announcement of new acquisitions or other projects of the
Company; and



changes in the regulatory environment within which the Company operates.

Damage to the Company's reputation or increased regulation could materially and adversely affect the
Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and/or the market price of the Shares.
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If securities or industry analysts do not initiate or maintain coverage of the Company and
its Shares, publish negative research or reports about the Company's business or
downgrade their recommendation with regard to the Shares, the price of the Shares
and/or trading volume could decline.
The price and trading volume of the Shares will be influenced by the equity research and reports that
industry or securities analysts may publish about the Group or its business. The Company has no
analyst coverage and therefore has a limited visibility in the market, as a result of which the trading
volume or the share price may be lower than otherwise. There is no guarantee that analysts start to
cover the Company or, if coverage has been initiated, continues and in a meaningful and regular
manner. Should analysts cover the Company in the future, the Company would not be able to control
these analysts. If, once coverage has started, one or more of the analysts covering the Company
decide to downgrade the Shares, the trading volume in the Shares and/or the price of the Shares
could decline.

The payment of future dividends, if any, will depend on the Combined Group's financial
condition and results of operations, as well as on the Company's operating subsidiaries'
distributions to the Company.
The Company intends to retain any profits to expand the growth and development of the Company's
business and, therefore, does not anticipate paying dividends to its Shareholders in the foreseeable
future. See "Dividends and Dividend Policy".
Distribution of dividends may take place after the adoption of the Annual Accounts (as defined below)
by the General Meeting which show that the distribution is allowed. The Company may only make
distributions to its Shareholders insofar as the Company's equity exceeds the sum of the paid-in and
called-up share capital plus the reserves as required to be maintained by Dutch law or the Articles of
Association. The Board determines whether the Company is able to make the distributions. Because
the Company is a holding company that conducts its business mainly through its subsidiaries, the
Company's ability to pay dividends will depend directly on the Company's subsidiaries' distributions to
the Company. The amount and timing of such distributions will depend on the laws of such
subsidiaries' respective jurisdictions. The distribution by the Company of an interim dividend and the
distribution of dividends in the form of Shares are subject to the prior approval of the Board. See
"Dividends and Dividend Policy". Any of these factors, individually or in combination, could restrict the
Company's ability to pay dividends.

Shareholders may face additional investment risk from currency exchange rate
fluctuations in connection with their holding of Shares in the Company.
The Shares are quoted in Swiss francs (CHF). Any future dividends that the Company may pay to its
Shareholders are expected to be denominated in EUR and the Company's future revenues, if any, are
likely to be predominately in GBP, EUR, CHF and USD as well. As a result, fluctuations in the relative
values of these currencies may adversely affect the Company and its ability, if any, to pay dividends to
its Shareholders. In addition, such investors could incur additional transaction costs in converting EUR
into another currency.
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THE BUSINESS COMBINATION
Overview of the Business Combination
On August 8, 2020, IGEA announced the entry in a letter of intents, binding in terms, with Blue Sky
Natural Resources Ltd. ("Blue Sky") to combine the two businesses (the "Business Combination").
The transaction has been structured as a contribution in-kind by the Blue Sky's shareholders of at
least 75 % of the Blue Sky shares into IGEA against newly issued shares in a dedicated share capital
increase of IGEA. For this purpose, on April 28, 2021, the extraordinary general meeting of IGEA
approved the Business Combination as required by Dutch law and resolved to appoint the Board to
issue new IGEA's shares at par, reserved for issuance to the shareholders of Blue Sky only. On June
30, 2021, IGEA launched an all equity offer to the Blue Sky shareholders and on July 26, 2021, IGEA
disclosed the unconditional acceptance of the offer with reference to the minimum threshold of 75%
of the shares and the votes required to definitively combine the two businesses. Prior to the date of
this Prospectus, the Board of IGEA has resolved on a capital increase from EUR 252,188,83.00 to up
to EUR 3,329,193.97 by issuing up to 307,700,514 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.01.
The New Shares will rank pari passu in all respects with all other Shares, i.e. they have the same
rights attached to them as the Existing Shares, see "Share Capital, Shares and Certain Corporate Law
Consideration" for a detailed description of the rights attached to the Shares, including the New
Shares, and in particular the voting rights and rights to dividends and other distributions.
Due to the fact that the New Shares will be issued to the current shareholders of Blue Sky against
contribution of kind of their shares in Blue Sky, the Company will not receive any proceeds from the
issuance of the New Shares.
Blue Sky and its Business
Blue Sky Natural Resources Ltd. is organized as a private limited company in England, with its
headquarters at 10 Philpot Lane EC3M 8AA, London.
Blue Sky is an early-stage business. With know-how in the fields of agrotechnology, plant chemistry
and extraction processes, Blue Sky started activities by exploring opportunities on vegetable matrices
and progressively implemented activities leading to: (i) agricultural campaigns with creation of a stock
of frozen and dried hemp ready for further industrial treatment; (ii) the development of own concepts
to be applied in the industrial extraction of high valuable products for the health, pharma and other
selected industries; and (iii) the diversification to distribution of nutrition-oriented health prevention
and wellness products to take advantage from and create synergies with the industrial extraction.
The company focuses on:


highly controlled vegetable matrices and their industrial processing to extract cannabidiol
("CBD"), terpenes, polycosanol, and other valuable components with high purity standards
("Industrial Processing Segment"); and



dietary supplements and functional food based on artisanal processing methods, traceability
and transparency of the supply chain, absence of induced genetic manipulation, and control
over pollutants ("Distribution Segment").
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Product Portfolio
Blue Sky's product offering includes a full pallet of CBD derived products, lycopene derived products,
and other valuable products from vegetable-based extraction in the Industrial Processing Segment
and functional food products and dietary supplements in the Distribution Segment.
While the products in the Distribution Segment are still commercialized, the Industrial Processing
Segment is still in its set-up phase, expected to be completed not before the first half of 2022, with
full production capacities expected to be reached not before end of 2022. The activities of the
Industrial Processing Segment are still and will be performed in joint venture. To adequately support
the start of the industrial extraction activities, Blue Sky still ensured, directly and indirectly by way of
the joint venture, an inventory of approx. 64,700 kg of frozen and 9,600 kg of dried hemp with an
average CBD title of approx. 5 to 6%.
The following chart shows both the existing and the expected Blue Sky's product portfolio. See
"Business—Blue Sky's Activities relating to Industrial Extraction of Substances from Plant-based
Resources" and "Business—Blue Sky's Functional Foods Business" for further information on Blue Sky's
business operations.

Results of Operations and Financial Conditions 2020, 2019 and 2018
In 2020, Blue Sky generated revenues in the Distribution Segment only for TGBP 107.0 (2019:
TGBP 21.6; 2018: none). The activities in this segment started in October 2019 with the acquisition of
Equilibrium Food Sagl, a Swiss company specialized in the distribution on a wholesale and ecommerce basis of functional food products. The Industrial Processing Segment did not generate any
revenue to date.
Cost of sales were TGBP 141.8 (2019: TGBP 81.2; 2018: none), derived exclusively from the
Distribution Segment and representing mainly expenses for products and services and employee
benefit expenses, with a gross negative result of TGBP 34.8 (2019: TGBP 59.6; 2018: none).
Other operating expenses were TGBP 593.1 (2019: TGBP 1,745.2; 2018: TGBP 702.9), mainly
represented (approx. 80% in both 2020 and 2019 and 60% in 2018) by general and administration
expenses for TGBP 463.4 (2019: TGBP 1,400.1; 2018: TGBP 429.6) essentially attributable to general
corporate expenses for TGBP 270 (2019: TGBP 290.7 and 2018: TGBP 55.4) as well as to impairments
mainly on goodwill derived from business combinations in the amount of TGBP 91.5 in 2020 (2019:
TGBP 740.8 and 2018: TGBP 127.4). Furthermore, Blue Sky generated other income for TGBP 120.4
in 2020 (2019: other income and other expenses for TGBP 243.4 and TGBP 198.2 respectively: 2018:
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other expenses for TGBP 60.1 only) from transactions of a casual nature in 2020 and 2019 and from
the impairment of certain financial assets in 2018.
The net finance result was of no material impact except for 2020, were mainly interests on financial
liabilities and net exchange losses on foreign currencies of TGBP 41.0 and TGBP 47.1 respectively
were recognized, for net finance costs of TGBP 95.2 (2019: TGBP 19.7; 2018: TGBP 6.8).
The share of net results derived from interests in other entities (accounted for using the equity
method) generated a further loss in 2020 of TGBP 285.0 from interests in a joint venture initiated in
2019 (2019: a loss of TGBP 260.1; 2018: a loss of TGBP 27.5 from interests in associates only).
Income tax recognized did not generate any material impact and are negligible.
Blue Sky generated a net loss for 2020 of TGBP 887.7 (and further net losses of TGBP 2,041.0 and
TGBP 797.3 in 2019 and 2018 respectively), representing a basic and diluted loss per classes of shares
as follows (in GBP):
Basic and diluted loss/share
2020
2019
2018

Classes of shares
Class
Class
Class
Class
Class
Class
Class
Class
Class
Class
Class
Class

(0.009)
(0.008)
(0.008)
(0.009)
(0.005)
(0.521)
(0.523)
(0.543)
(0.604)
(0.624)
(1.099)
(0.884)

'Ordinary'
'A'
'B'
'C'
'D'
'E'
'F'
'G'
'H'
'I'
'J'
'K'

(0.028)
(0.023)
(0.033)
(0.026)
(0.024)
(9.157)
(9.188)
(9.554)
(10.616)
(10.962)
n/a
n/a

(0.047)
(0.027)
(1.121)
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

As of December 31, 2020, Blue Sky held total assets of TGBP 2,259.3 (2019: TGBP 2,344.8; 2018:
TGBP 998.1), of which TGBP 906.1 in non-current assets (2019: TGBP 398.5; 2018: TGBP 98.6) and
TGBP 1,353.2 in current assets (2019: TGBP 1,946.3; 2018: TGBP 899.5).
Non-current assets in 2020 are represented exclusively by interests in other entities (2019: to the
extent of 56% and 44% by interests in other entities and rights-of-use assets respectively; 2018:
right-of-use assets only). The variations over the years are attributable to the initial and subsequent
investments in a joint venture started in 2019 and to the early termination of lease contracts activated
from 2018 onward and then progressively considered no more strategic to the business. Current
assets in 2020 are represented to the extent of 61% and 26% by inventories and not paid-in capital
(2019: 41% inventories and 47% not paid-in capital; 2018: 85% not paid-in capital only). The
variations over the years are attributable to the progressive calls of not paid-in capital (issued in
December 2018 and October 2019) and to the hemp inventories generated in a first agricultural
campaign in 2019.
As of December 31, 2020, liabilities were TGBP 1,840.8 (2019: TGBP 1,601.5; 2018: TGBP 111.9), of
which TGBP 934.6 of non-current and TGBP 906.2 of current nature (2019: TGBP 1,076.0 non-current
and TGBP 525.5 current; 2018: TGBP 81.3 non-current and TGBP 30.6 current). Non-current liabilities
in 2020 are represented exclusively by financial debts (2019: to the extent of 86% of financial debts
and 14% by lease liabilities; 2018: lease liabilities only). The variations over the years are mainly
attributable to the early termination of lease contracts mentioned above (which include both a current
and non-current part of the liabilities) and to the liabilities incurred by Blue Sky in performing certain
business combinations and in ensuring the funds required to continue operations. The increase in the
current liabilities over the period is due to an overall delay between incoming funds and their need
deriving from the continued activities.
The equity of Blue Sky as of December 31, 2020 is TGBP 418.5 (2019: TGBP 743.3; 2018: TGBP
886.2). Since 2020, there is no more non-controlling interests.
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The net cash decrease in 2020 (net of currency translation effect) was TGBP 46.6 (2019: cash
increase of TGBP 36.1; 2018: cash increase of TGBP 6.4), of which TGBP 177.2 (2019: TGBP 1,339.2;
2018: TGBP 238.1) used for operating activities, TGBP 976.2 (2019: TGBP 696.3; 2018: TGBP 215.0)
used for investing activities and TGBP 1,106.8 (2019: TGBP 2,071.6; 2018: TGBP 459.5) inflowing
from financing activities. Cash and cash equivalents at year's end 2020 is TGBP 79.6. With the
Business Combination, Blue Sky will get the additional funds still ensured by IGEA through the
extension of up to EUR 8 million of the convertible notes facility committed by Negma necessary to
finance the level of activities for at least twelve months.
For further information on the Blue Sky's results of operations and financial position, see the Blue Sky
Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Prospectus.
Rationale for the Business Combination
Key elements of the Combined Group's strategy include:


leverage commercial capabilities, partnerships, and portfolios to establish market acceptance
and gain market position for the offered solutions; and



capitalize on the financial leverage and operational synergies to improve return on capital and
achieve profitability.

The Business Combination will create:


an EU headquartered and SIX-listed Combined Group with an innovative early-stage
commercial and a highly diversifiable pipeline focusing on health prevention, pharma, and
other selected industries; and



a center of excellence on highly controlled vegetable matrices and their industrial carbon
dioxide (CO2) supercritical-based extraction technology to highly valuable components mainly
focused on CBD.

Financing of the Business Combination
Pursuant to the terms of the Business Combination, the reference value of the Blue Sky shares have
been set by the Board of IGEA at CHF 186 million (on a fully diluted and post-money basis). IGEA will
pay for the Blue Sky shares exclusively by way of issuance of the New Shares. For each Blue Sky
share, independently of their classes, IGEA offered and will be issuing 9 New Shares. The closing of
the Business Combination and the issuance of the New Shares to the shareholders of Blue Sky is
currently expected to take place on or the business day immediately prior to the First Day of Trading,
i.e. on September 27, 2021.
Beginning of 2021, IGEA entered negotiations with Negma Group Ltd., Craigmuir chambers, Road
Town, Tortola, VG 1110, British Virgin Islands ("Negma") for ensuring new funds necessary to
finance its activities as planned. In April 2021, the negotiations led to a convertible notes facility
ensuring IGEA proceeds for up to EUR 2 million, with an option to increase up to EUR 10 million
following completion of the Business Combination. The Combined Group will drawdown, subject to
terms, and use the funds to have its industrial activities on CBD and other vegetable matrices extracts
started within the first half of 2022 as well as for the further developments of its efforts to establish
and strengthen market acceptance and position for its early-stage combined portfolio of health
prevention, pharma, and other selected industries dedicated solutions. See "Share Capital, Shares and
Certain Corporate Law Considerations—Options, Warrants and Convertible Instruments" for additional
information on the convertible notes' facility.
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DIVIDENDS AND DIVIDEND POLICY
Dividend Policy and Distribution History
Since its incorporation, the Company has not paid out any dividends. The Company currently does not
expect to pay out any dividends in the foreseeable future. Rather, the Company intends to use profits,
if any, for the further development and commercialization of its product portfolio.
Entitlement to Dividends and other Distributions
With respect to entitlement to dividends and other distributions, all Shares will rank pari passu with
each other. Dividends and other distributions of the Company are expected to be made in USD, the
Company's functional currency.
Certain Dutch Law Considerations
Under Dutch corporate law, the Company may only make distributions to its Shareholders insofar as
the Company's equity exceeds the sum of the paid-up and called-up part of the share capital plus the
reserves as required to be maintained by Dutch law or the Articles of Association.
The Board may resolve to reserve the profits or part of the profits. The profits remaining after the
reservation will be at the disposal of the General Meeting. The General Meeting may, on a proposal
made by the Board, and subject to Dutch law and the Articles of Association, resolve to make
distributions to Shareholders to the debit of one or several reserves which the Company is not
prohibited from distributing by virtue of Dutch law or the Articles of Association.
Under the Articles of Association, distribution of profits, meaning the net earnings after taxes shown
by the adopted annual accounts referred to in Section 2:391 of the Dutch Civil Code ("DCC") (the
"Annual Accounts"), will be made after the adoption of the Annual Accounts from which it appears
that they are permitted for the respective financial year, entirely without prejudice to any of the other
provisions of the Articles of Association.
The General Meeting may resolve to distribute to the Shareholders a dividend in the form of Shares at
a proposal of the Board.
Subject to Dutch law and the Articles of Association, the Board may resolve to distribute an interim
dividend to the Shareholders insofar as the Company's equity exceeds the amount of the paid-up and
called-up part of the capital plus the reserves as required to be maintained by Dutch law or the
Articles of Association. For this purpose, the Board must prepare an interim statement of assets and
liabilities evidencing sufficient distributable equity.
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CAPITALIZATION AND INDEBTEDNESS
The table below sets forth the Company's consolidated capitalization and indebtedness based on
historical audited figures of IGEA Pharma N.V. as of December 31, 2020, and adjusted for material
developments since December 31, 2020, including the issuance of the New Shares (and issuance
costs related thereto), the entry into a convertible notes facility, and the issuance of shares following
conversion under the afore-mentioned notes facility.
The capitalization table should be read together with the IGEA Consolidated Financial Statements
2020 (including the notes thereto) which are included elsewhere in this Prospectus.
as of
December 31, 2020
audited,
consolidated

adjustments
(see notes below)

as adjusted

in TUSD
unaudited
Cash and cash equivalents

134.5

710.3

(3)

844.8

Current liabilities
of which guaranteed/secured
of which subordinated

522.2
-

347.5

(2)

869.7
-

Non-current liabilities
of which guaranteed/secured
of which subordinated

24.4
-

651.1

(3)

675.5
-

546.6

998.5

296.5
5’619.8
(5’698.8)
(33.0)

3’644.4
57.2
(347.5)

Total Shareholder's equity

184.5

3’354.2

3’538.7

Total capitalization

731.1

4’352.7

5’083.8

Total liabilities
Share capital
Reserves
Accumulated loss
Non-controlling interests

1’545.1
(1)/(3)
(3)
(2)

3’940.9
5’677.0
(6’046.3)
(33.0)

Notes:
(1) Adjustment includes (i) TUSD 3,642.4 resulting from the issuance of the 307,700,514 New Shares at par against
contribution in-kind of 34,188,946 shares of Blue Sky to complete the Business Combination, and (ii) TUSD 2.0 increase in
share capital resulting from the issuance of new shares upon conversion of the convertible notes facility with Negma.
(2) TUSD 347.5 is an adjustment for the issuance costs of the New Shares and the Business Combination.
(3) Refers to adjustment in connection with an initial draw down under the convertible notes facility with Negma in the
amount of TEUR 600 (being the equivalent of TUSD 710.3). With respect to this initial draw down, Negma has requested
partial conversion of the outstanding loan resulting in the issuance of 170,114 ordinary shares with a nominal value of
EUR 0.01 each in IGEA. Such share issuance lead to additional share capital of TUSD 2.0 (adjusted under Note 1 above)
and additional share capital reserves of TUSD 57.2. The remaining outstanding and drawn amount under the Negma
convertible notes facility, i.e. TUSD 651.1 is shown as an adjustment to IGEA's non-current liabilities.

As of the date of this Prospectus, there have been no changes to the information set forth in the table
above, other than (i) as a result of ongoing normal operating activities, such as changes in the cash
and cash equivalents and results of operations of the Group, (ii) as otherwise discussed in the
Prospectus, and (iii) any changes that would not have a material adverse effect on the Group.
Conversion Rights, Contingent Liabilities
As of December 31, 2020, the Group had the following outstanding conversion and option rights,
bonds or loans:
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Convertible loan with C.H.I. B.V. ("CHI"). CHI has the right to convert, at any time and at
its discretion, but in whole only, a non-interest-bearing, unsecured and non-redeemable loan
of TEUR 400 into 571,428 newly issued shares in the share capital of the Company;



Convertible loan with Pharma Tech Holding SA ("Pharma Tech"). Pharma Tech has
the right to convert, at any time after April 28, 2021 at its discretion, but in whole only, a noninterest-bearing, unsecured and non-redeemable loan of TEUR 100 into 184,247 newly issued
shares in the share capital of the Company.

From January 1, 2021 and until the date of this Prospectus, the following conversion and option
rights, bonds or loans were issued and outstanding:


Convertible notes facility with Negma. Negma committed to subscribe, within a period of
two years from April 15, 2021, subject to Company's drawdowns and terms, non-interestbearing, convertible notes for up to EUR 2 million, then extendable up to EUR 10 million
following completion of the Business Combination. See "Share Capital, Shares and Certain
Corporate Law Considerations—Options, Warrants and Convertible Instruments" for additional
information on the convertible notes facility. As of the date of this prospectus, IGEA has
drawn a total amount of EUR 600,000 under this convertible notes facility.

The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as of December 31, 2020.
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BUSINESS
Overview of the Combined Group
The Combined Group operates two major business lines, namely:


the Industrial Processing Segment, focused on highly controlled vegetable matrices and their
industrial processing to extract CBD, terpenes, polycosanol, and other valuable components
with high purity standards (see "—Blue Sky's Activities relating to Industrial Extraction of
Substances from Plant-based Resources"); and



the Distribution Segment, focused on health prevention and wellness solutions and including
dietary supplements and functional food sold under the 'Equilibrium Intelligent Food' brand
(see "—Blue Sky's Distribution Business") and following the Business Combination - IGEA's
health-tech solutions relating to Alzheimer's disease and Diabetes Type II prevention ("—
IGEA's Alzheimer's and Diabetes Prevention Business")

On an unaudited pro-forma basis and assuming the Business Combination would have taken place
with effect as of January 1, 2020, the Group and Blue Sky combined (the "Combined Group") would
have generated:


revenues for TGBP 166.3 in the Distribution Segment only. The Industrial Processing Segment
did not generate any revenue to date;



cost of sales of TGBP 359.4, with a gross negative result of TGBP 193.1;



other operating expenses of TGBP 1,447.1, mainly represented (approx. 80%) by general and
administration expenses for TGBP 1,141.1;



other income for TGBP 360.9 and other expenses for TGBP 200.1 from transactions of a
casual nature or not related to the segments' scope;



net finance costs of TGBP 224.8, a loss from the share of net results derived from interest in
joint ventures of TGBP 285.0 and income tax expenses of TGBP 1.4;



a net loss of TGBP 1,983.4 (excluding non-controlling interests), representing a basic loss per
shares of GBP 0.00596 and a diluted loss per share of GBP 0.00594.

As described in the notes to the Pro Forma Financial Information and elsewhere in this Prospectus, the
afore mentioned numbers illustrate the effect of the Business Combination as if it had occurred on
January 1, 2020, and are based on the historical financial information of IGEA and Blue Sky as
follows:


the historical financial information of IGEA is derived from IGEA's audited consolidated
financial statements 2020 prepared in accordance with IFRS and included elsewhere in this
Prospectus;



the historical financial information of Blue Sky is derived from Blue Sky's audited consolidated
financial statements 2020 prepared in accordance with IFRS and included elsewhere in this
Prospectus;



adjustments have been made to: (i) reclassify certain line items of the consolidated financial
statements to conform presentations and to have IGEA's consolidated financial statements,
which are presented in UDS, translated under the pro forma presentation into GBP. These
adjustments are detailed in the related note 3 to the Pro Forma Financial Information; and (ii)
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consider the main effects of the Business Combination for pro forma presentation purposes
including the purchase price allocation and other minor items. These adjustments are detailed
in the related note 4 to the Pro Forma Financial Information.
Blue Sky's Activities relating to Industrial Extraction of Substances from Plant-based
Resources
Blue Sky's Industrial Processing Segment's activities are aimed to include the full spectrum of products
deriving from the CBD extraction such as CBD rich oils with various purity degrees, cosmetics and
essential oils, terpenes, and other CBP extraction related products, lycopene deriving from industrial
tomato waste as well as additional products deriving from other vegetable matrices extractions such
as resveratrol (from grape waste), macerated oils, bergamots, Bulgarian rose and vanilla. The
industrial extraction process is based on the generally known carbon dioxide (CO2) supercritical
modality.
The Industrial Processing Segment is still in its set-up phase, expected to be completed not before the
first half of 2022, with full production capacities expected to be reached not before end of 2022. The
activities of the Industrial Processing Segment are still and will be performed in joint venture.
To adequately support the start of the industrial extraction activities, Blue Sky still ensured, directly
and indirectly by way of the joint venture, an inventory of approx. 64,700 kg of frozen and 9,600 kg
of dried hemp with an average CBD title of approx. 5 to 6%.
The industrial treatment of hemp generates by-products (then refinable into paper, textiles, clothing,
biodegradable plastics, paint, insulation, biofuel, food and animal feed) is not a core business of Blue
Sky.

Product Portfolio

CBD Extraction
What is generally called 'CBD' is extracted from raw hemp or cannabis (both used as synonyms). The
result is a concentrate saturated with cannabinoids and other principles. The most common extraction
methods used are CO2, hydrocarbon, and ethanol-based extraction. Today the use of CO2 for hemp
extraction is quickly positioning itself to be one of the leading technologies in the industry. The
extraction principle relies on pressure and temperature of CO2 used to pull the phytochemicals from
their vegetable matrix. The method is generally divided into supercritical and subcritical, depending on
the level of pressure and temperature used for CO2. The choice substantially depends on the
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characteristics of the raw material used and of the extracted products. Supercritical extraction, with
greater yield and less time, produce a substance with the consistency similar to that of peanut butter.
Higher temperatures and pressures used in supercritical systems can extract much larger molecules
such as omega 3 and 6 lipids, chlorophyll and waxes which can then be removed through a process
called winterization, leaving behind just CBD oil. Subcritical extraction, longer, less efficient and with
smaller yield, produces a substance with a consistency closer to molasses, which preserves additional
cannabinoids besides CBD due to the lower pressure and temperature used. The extraction process is
substantially the same for any other targeted vegetable matrices.
The industrial plant for the extraction of CBD is in realization. As mentioned elsewhere in this
Prospectus, the Industrial Extraction Segment activities are carried out in a joint venture. The
completion of the industrial plant is expected within the first half of 2022, with full production
capacities expected to be reached not before end of 2022.

The CBD Market Landscape
There is a countless number of estimations about the actual and future CBD market. Based on
management estimates, by 2028, the European Union's legal cannabis industry is estimated to be
EUR 123 billion worth, of which EUR 58 billion related to medicinal CBD and EUR 65 billion to
recreational CBD, which is definitively an interesting health and wellness market.
Consumers becoming more and more versed in how to improve their health through changes in
lifestyle and food habits, taking greater responsibility for their physical and mental wellbeing is a
trend. Figures published by the WHO1 estimate that some 25% of the EU population suffers from
depression or anxiety, and given the mood-enhancing benefits of CBD, demand for CBD-based
products that can boost mental and physical wellness are expected to growth strongly. The overall
performance will be further propelled by growing availability of CBD through development in
mainstream consumer goods markets. Furthermore, as food and drinks trends often filter into other
consumer goods markets, it is predicted that sales could also be bolstered by rising demand for CBD
in beauty products and likely even in household products.
The European CBD market is expected to account for about 5% of the wellness market value by 2028.
The growth of the CBD market in EU is currently hampered by lack of official categorization. CBD can
be categorized as a medicinal product but is also available as well in other industries, falling then
under a different jurisdiction. With debate over product licensing, regulated supply and distribution
channels, availability of qualified CBD products in EU is limited.
The European Union's cultivation and processing capacity is expected to get the U.S. and Canadian
levels. However, the battle for an increased control and/or regulation is expected to intensify as
further major pharmaceutical companies will enter the market. Extraction capacity is in short supply in
both the U.S. and Europe. This relates to the fact that industrial extractors do not always specialize in
CBD but serve also other industries and extraction come under pressure during key harvesting times.
There is a rapidly growing supply of raw hemp, but far fewer extraction capacities, and all this amid
increasing demand at both manufacturing and consumption level for cannabinoid-containing products.

Distribution Channels and Targeted Market
Blue Sky will focus on wholesale distribution only, due to the concentration in the purchasers' market
and the optimization of marketing and sales expenses against net margins. The targeted market is the
consumer market for CBD rich oil with an overall 60-70% of CBD content.

1

Depression and Other Common Mental Disorders: Global Health Estimates. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2017.
License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
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Other Industrial Processing Segment Related Products
The set-up of manufacture and commercialization of expected pipeline products other than CBD rich
oil, including other CBD-extraction related products, the extraction of lycopene from tomato industrial
waste as well as the extraction of resveratrol, macerated oils, Bergamot, Bulgarian Rose and vanilla, is
in its planning phase and Blue Sky does not expect to start working on those products before
beginning of 2023.

Blue Sky Distribution Business
In October 2019, Blue Sky acquired Swiss-based Equilibrium Food Sagl. The rationale behind the
acquisition was:


to penetrate the functional food market; and



to take advantages from and create synergies with the Industrial Processing Segment.

The Distribution Segment is focused on functional food and dietary supplements based on artisanal
processing methods and raw materials, traceability and transparency of the supply chain, absence of
induced genetic manipulation, and control over pollutants. The actual product portfolio of functional
food raises from olive oil, vine, pasta lines based on various grains, flax seed, crackers and biscuits
and chocolate. Dietary supplements (generally formulated in soft gel capsules) include a range of
products based on selected active ingredients of vegetal origin exclusively.
Following the acquisition of Equilibrium Food Sagl in October 2019, Blue Sky experimented delays in
implementing the initially planned sales and marketing activities considered necessary to launch the
operations of the segment, mainly due to the concentration of financial resources into the Industrial
Extraction Segment. Blue Sky will continue managing the Distribution Segment under the current
regime, which corresponds to the level of activities acquired in 2019, at the latest until end of 2022,
when the industrial activities will reach the planned full capacity.

Distribution Channels and Targeted Markets
Distribution Channels
Blue Sky focuses on e-commerce distribution only, both to end-consumers and retailers. The chosen
channel allows the full outsourcing of any operations related to supply, storage, and logistics of the
proposed product, holding the marketing, portfolio selection and quality control activities under the
control of Blue Sky.

Target Markets
Blue Sky focuses on food culture and health-prevention oriented consumers willing to approach a daily
valid alternative to conventional food. Core geographic market are for the time being Switzerland and
Italy.
IGEA's Alzheimer's and Diabetes Type II Prevention Business
IGEA's activities related to Alzheimer's and Diabetes include prevention solutions exclusively. With
respect to these two diseases, IGEA has developed a method that establishes an individual's
propensity to develop the diseases. The method is based on the presence of Free Copper II in the
blood. Free Copper II is expected to be one of the major modifiable Alzheimer's disease and Diabetes
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Type II risk factors. Scientific studies have shown that excess Free Copper II increases about 3 times
the risk of having Alzheimer's disease and more than 9 times the risk of having Diabetes Type II.2

Alzheimer's Disease
Alzheimer's is a neurodegenerative disease, in which neurons in the brain are damaged or destroyed,
including those that enable a person to carry out basic bodily functions. Common signs of the disease
include memory loss, difficulty in completing familiar tasks, confusion with time or place, and changes
in mood and personality. Alzheimer's disease is the most common form of dementia, accounting for
about 60–70% of all dementia cases.3 Dementia generally refers to a group of symptoms including
difficulties with memory, language and problem solving.
Alzheimer's disease is complex, and it is therefore unlikely that any single drug or other intervention
will ever successfully treat it in all people living with this disease. Several prescription drugs are
already approved to help manage symptoms and on June 7, 2021 the FDA provided accelerated
approval for the newest medication, Aducanumab, which helps to reduce amyloid deposits in the brain
and may help slow the progression of Alzheimer's, although it has not yet been showed to affect
clinical symptomes or outcomes, such as progression of cognitive decline or dementia. Most medicines
work best for people in early or middle stages of the disease. However, none of the drugs available at
this time will cure Alzheimer's.
Referred to the U.S. alone, estimated 6.2 million people over the age of 65 are living with Alzheimer's
dementia in 2021. More than 1 in 9 people over the age of 65 has Alzheimer's dementia. As the size
of the population over the age of 65 continues to increase, the number of people with Alzheimer's or
other dementias will grow. By 2050, the number of people over the age of 65 with Alzheimer's
dementia is projected to reach 12.7 million. Alzheimer's diasease is officially listed as the sixth-leading
cause of death and is the fifth-leading cause of death for those over the age of 65. Alzheimer's is also
a leading cause of disability and poor health (mordidity) in older adults. Before a person with
Alzheimer's dies, he or she lives though years of morbidity as the disease progresses. More than 11
million people provide unpaid care for people with Alzheimer's or other dementias, which corresponds
to estimated 15.3 billion hours quantified in USD 256.7 billion in 2020. The health care costs for
individuals with Alzheimer's or other dementias are estimated in USD 355 billion in 2021 (not including
the previously disclosed unpaid care figures)4. The Group's preventing solution is to be seen in the
context of this environment.

Diabetes Type II
Diabetes is a chronic disease that results from a body dysfunction that causes blood glucose (sugar)
levels to rise higher than normal (Hyperglycemia). Diabetes Type II is the most common form of
diabetes. Diabetes Type II can result from several factors, such as the interaction between a genetic
predisposition and behavioral and environmental risk factors. The body of Diabetes Type II patients
cannot effectively use the insulin it produces, which is called "insulin resistance". Because insulin is a
hormon that regulates the blood glucose levels, the ineffective use of insulin in Diabetes Type II
patients leads to higher than normal blood glucose levels. Such increase blood glucose levels can over
time result in serious damage to various systems of the body, in particular nerves and bloods vessels.
More specifically, common consequences of diabetes are increased risk of heart attacks and strokes,
nerve damage, blindness resulting from damage to small blood vessels in the retina and increased risk
of kidney failure.

2

3
4

Source: SQUITTI ET AL., Metal-score as a potential non-invasive diagnostic test for Alzheimer's disease, Current Alzheimer
Research, 2013, 10, p. 191–198; SQUITTI ET AL., Diabetes and Alzheimer's Disease: Can Elevated Free Copper Predict the
Risk of the Disease?, Journal of Alzheimer's Disease 56 (2017), p. 1055–1064.
Source: http://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia.
Source: https://www.alz.org/media/Documents/alzheimers-facts-and-figures.pdf, p. 19, 29, 36 and 52.
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In the U.S. only, almost 34 million (2018) across all age groups suffer from Diabetes Type II (of which
79% diagnosed and 21% undiagnosed). 88 million people over the age of 18 have prediabetes and
are at risk for developing Diabetes Type II. The medical costs (including lost of work and wages) for
people with diagnosed diabetes were estimated in USD 327 billion5. A growing number of scientific
publications show that patients affected by Diabetes Type II have a higher prevalence or an increased
risk for the development of cognitive impairment with and without dementia. Moreover, research
shows that Alzheimer's disease and Diabetes Type II share common pathological pathways including
signaling and second messenger abnormalities, mitochondrial dysfunction and inflammation. Further,
Alzheimer's disease and Diabetes Type II share similarities in a tendency for protein aggregation and
amyloid formation. Both diseases exhibit abnormalities in copper homeostasis, as confirmed by metaanalyses that demonstrated high copper in both Diabetes Type II and Alzheimer's disease patients.
Persons with Free Copper II levels higher than the normal level, i.e. higher than 1.6 micromolar, have
an increased relative risk of having Diabetes Type II by a factor of 9.64. According to IGEA's research,
by reducing the level of Free Copper II, the risk of having Diabetes Type II can be reduced up to 9.64
times.

Target Markets and Distribution Channels
Distribution Channels
The Group focuses on a mix of e-commerce and wholesale distribution to optimize marketing and
sales expenses against net margins. The mix depends mainly from the characteristics of the regional
market involved and the partnership IGEA was able to set-up for distribution on a wholesale basis.
The e-commerce focuses on the creation and management of online customer acquisition. The Group
aims at: (i) use performance-based advertising tools that provide immediate feedback on penetration
rates, conversion, and acquisition costs; and (ii) targeting customer acquisition activities by using
accurate targeting and segmentation tools. The wholesale distribution is focused on the identification
of potential distribution partners in niche markets.

Target Markets
The Group focuses its marketing activity on caregivers, family members and friends of Alzheimer's
patients who have a clear perception of the devastating emotional impact of the disease, and on
population groups and regions in which the prevalence and incidence of Diabetes Type II is above
standards. Its geographic core market for the time being is the U.S., where the Group's distribution
efforts are being currently focused.
The Group expects to continue to enter into partnerships with authorized laboratories to outsource lab
analysis and to focus on customer data. This will contribute to cover ever larger market areas,
optimize logistic costs with the damage on samples deriving from long-distance transportation (with a
target of less than 72 hours) and to concentrate on operations with high added value (see "—Product
Portfolio—ALZ-1 and DBT-1 (Laboratory Tests)").
The Group has entered into a whole sale distribution partnership with Acalis, an internationally active
healthcare group with over 40 hospitals and support facilities, with respect to the distribution of Alz1
into the Middle East and certain European and South American markets including Belgium, Chile,
Colombia, Uruguay and Peru. On May 2020, the Group announced a further extension of the
partnership for the wholesale distribution of Alz1 in the U.S. to strengthen the market position of Alz1,
but the U.S. market is for the time being unserved by Acalis. On December 2020, the Group
announced that it has entered into an agreement with CSM Europe for the 'CE' compliant supply of

5

Sources: https://www.diabetes.org/resources/statistics/statistics-about-diabetes;
https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pdfs/library/socialmedia/diabetes-infographic.pdf.
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Alz1. The distribution of Alz1 on a wholesale basis in selected EU markets is expected to start within
end of 2021.

Product Portfolio
The prevention program relating to Alzheimer's disease, consisting of the measurement kit (Alz1) and
dietary supplements (Alz1 Tab) then made available, is currently already being marketed. In addition,
the Group is working towards the completion of its Free Copper II detection-based pipeline and
intends to launch its Diabetes Type II prevention program (Dbt2 and Dbt2 Tab) within the end of
2021.

Alzheimer's Prevention Program (Alz1 and Alz1 Tabs)
IGEA's Alzheimer's prevention program is a home-based test kit that everyone can buy and use
anonymously in their own privacy environment. The kit is designed to measure Free Copper II, a
specific type of copper in the human blood which is expected to be a modifiable risk factor that can
contribute to the onset and progression of Alzheimer's disease. By testing the levels of Free Copper II
in the bloodstream, IGEA identifies the person's propensity to develop the disease.
If a customer chooses to submit the Alz1 collected blood sample to IGEA, he or she may do so by
submitting such blood sample to one of IGEA's associated laboratories. The lab test methodology is
protected by proprietary rights.
The results of the laboratory tests will be made available to IGEA's customers by way of a fast and
reliable online access, allowing the customer to immediately understand his or her Free Copper II
levels and consequent expected propensity to develop the disease in the future. Based on the results,
IGEA will then be able to suggest its customers the use of the dietary supplements generally branded
under 'Alz1 Tab'.
The Alz1 Tab brand groups a variety of dietary supplements based on selected molecules
(Glutathione, Oleuropein, vitamin 3D and E) with generally known synergistic effects such as raising of
glutathione levels supporting phase II liver detoxification, chelating free heavy metals (including
copper) in tissue, counteracting pre-fibrillary aggregates of beta-amyloid, normalize oxidative stress,
and an overall neuro-protection.
IGEA's Alz1 prevention program is available in the U.S. market on an e-commerce platform and
through Acalis. Because of applicable local laws and regulations, the kit and the then following Alz1
Tab are not available to residents of the state of Maryland, New Hampshire, New Jersey, New York, or
Rhode Island. Outside of the U.S. market, Alz1 will not be available, if ever, before end of 2021.

Diabetes Type II Prevention Program
On the rationale that excess Free Copper II also may increase the risk of developing Diabetes Type II,
IGEA is currently working on the completion of its free copper detection-based pipeline with a
Diabetes Type II prevention program.
Similarly, the Group will also offer dietary supplements branded 'Dbt2 Tab' for individuals with a
propensity to develop Diabetes Type II. Such dietary supplements will contain Oleuropein, bioavailable
Glutathione, Berberine, Vitamin E and Vitamin D as key ingredients, the effects of which are expected
to regulate blood glucose levels and the normalization of the amount of lipids in the blood
(dyslipidaemia).
The Group expects to launch its Diabetes Type II prevention program by end of 2021 using the same
distribution strategy of Alz1.
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Innovation, Research, and Intellectual Property

IGEA
Innovation and Research
In the past and up to the date of this prospectus, the innovation and research activities of IGEA, led
by Dr. Rosanna Squitti, have focused on the relation between Free Copper II levels in the blood
stream and Alzheimer's disease as well as Diabetes Type II, and will continue to do so in order to
generate further scientific support and evidence of the rationale.
IGEA's innovation and research processes are accompanied by a selected scientific advisory board. As
of the date of this Prospectus, the scientific advisory board consists of:


Barth A. Green: MD; FACS (Fellow, American College of Surgeons); Professor Chairman of
Neurological Surgery, University of Miami, Florida, U.S.



Barry Sears: PhD; President at Inflammation Research Foundation, Marblehead,
Massachusetts, USA; President at Eico Labs, Inc., Surfactant Technologies, Inc., Zone Labs,
Inc. and MedWell Foods, Inc.



Camillo Ricordi: MD; Professor of Surgery; Distinguished Professor of Medicine and Stacy
Joy Goodman Endowed Chair in Diabetes Research; Professor of Microbiology and
Immunology; Professor of Biomedical Engineering; Chief, Division of Cellular Transplantation,
Department of Surgery; Director, Diabetes Research Institute and Cell Transplant Center,
University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, USA.



Aldo F. Berti: MD; Board-Certified (American Board of Neurological Surgery – ABNS)
Neurosurgeon Miami Neurosurgical Center.

Intellectual Property
IGEA's intellectual property strategy has moved from an active to a much less expensive passive
protection concept that ensures freedom to operate, nullifying as far as possible the probability of a
third-party claim touching the products portfolio. As of the date of this Prospectus, patents ensuring
freedom to operate in methods for determining Free Copper II were granted to IGEA in the U.S.
Freedom to operate in other markets is under review by IGEA as of the date of this Prospectus (see
"IGEA's Diabetes Type II and Alzheimer's Prevention Business—Product Portfolio—Alzheimer's
Prevention Program").
IGEA does not protect its product names and brands by way of a registration as trademarks because
of its distribution strategy based on e-commerce channels with solution-dedicated websites.

Blue Sky
Innovation and Research
The innovation and research activities of Blue Sky up to the date of this Prospectus focused
exclusively on: (i) agro-technology, plant chemistry and extraction processes; and (ii) concepts for the
industrial extraction of high valuable products from their vegetable matrices, and were carried out at
such level of activity required to allow the launch of a first hemp agricultural campaign and to design
and set up the infrastructure required for the launch of industrial CO2-based supercritical extraction of
CBD rich oil.
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Blue Sky's innovation and research processes are accompanied by a selected technical-scientific
committee. As of the date of this Prospectus, the technical-scientific committee consists of:


Dr. Antonello Sannia: Born in 1953, Antonello holds a Degree in medicine and surgery at
the University of Genoa in 1978 and a specialization in Endocrinology at the University of
Genoa in 1981. He started his career at the Salus Clinical Institute as an assistant in the
Clinical Medicine department and over the years has worked for primary multinational
companies as Bayer Italia, Angelini Farmaceutici and Mediolanum Group. From 2014 to 2017,
Antonello worked for Italfarmaco as a scientific consultant for a health project with global
focus on phytotherapy. Antonello has been carrying out scientific training for doctors and
pharmacists on phytotherapy throughout Italy, and he is currently a professor in the
phytotherapy course at the University of Siena. Since 2004, he is the President of the Italian
Society of Natural Medicine (SIMN) and currently serves the Blue Sky Group as the scientific
director.



Dr. Carla Travisan: Graduate in Medicine and Surgery University of Padua, Post graduate in
Phoniatry, Post graduate in Hygiene and Preventive Medicine, Advance course in Healthcare
Management - Corgesan Bocconi, Advance course in Business and Administration
(Fondazione CUOA), Multiple experience in management of healthcare structure.



PhD Michele Müller: PhD in Biochemistry at ETH Zurich, founder and managing director of
companies in the pharmaceutical and Med Tech fields, with ongoing activities in the R&D
field.



Dr. Marco Amoroso: Master degree in Chemistry 1993 - University of Genova; 1993-2005
Technical and Sales Manager PALL Corporation (Filtration and separation Technologies);
2005-2014 Managing Director of small new enterprise for Oil & Gas and Water treatment
sector (Europe, Middle East, North Africa); 2014-to date Senior independent advisor. 26 years
of working experience in industrial process optimization, application of new technologies and
business development for different industrial sectors related to Chemical processing.



Dr. Mark Steele: Graduated in plant physiology and soil chemistry at the Colorado State
University. Graduated in Doctor of Chiropractic at the Palmer College of Chiropractic in
Davenport (USA).



Dr. Riccardo Benzi Cipelli: Degree in Medicine and Surgery (MD) at the University of
Pavia. Specialized in Odontostomatology (DDS) at the University of Pavia. Post-Graduate in
Periodontology. Experimental and Clinical Researcher currently working on stem cells,
nanotechnologies and the use of epigenetic factors.



Dr. Andrea F.G. Gargano: Professor of Analytical Chemistry at the University of
Amsterdam. Researcher with international and industry experience in the field of liquid
chromatography (HPLC and supercritical fluid chromatography) and mass spectrometry. He
obtained his PhD in Analytical Chemistry from the University of Vienna.



Ing. Giuseppe Guerra: Degree in Mechanical Engineering at Politecnico di Milano, with an
additional specialization in Industrial Measurement and Automation, he runs an independent
company in Milan with more than a decade of working experience in research and
development for industry, ranging from electro mobility to automation and process data
management.

Intellectual Property
Blue Sky did not file any patent application nor did Blue Sky protect its products names and brands by
way of registration as trademarks as of the date of this Prospectus because of its distribution strategy
based on e-commerce channels with solution-dedicated websites. With the set-up and start of the
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activities in the Industrial Extraction Segment, Blue Sky expects to generate data and know-how in
such a way of being able to start an adequate intellectual property strategy.
Properties and Production Sites

IGEA
The Group is headquartered in Hoofddorp, the Netherlands, with a commercial facility in Miami, USA.
The operations of the Group are mainly outsourced.
Location

Group Company

Key Activities

Owned/Leased

Size (m2)

Siriusdreef, 17
2132 WT,
Hoofddorp
The Netherlands

IGEA Pharma
N.V.

Group headquarters.
General and
administration

Leased

30 m2

990 Biscayne Blvd,
Suite 501,
Miami, FL 33132
United States of
America

IGEA Research
Corp.

Coordination of
commercial operations

Leased

15 m2

Blue Sky
Blue Sky is headquartered in London, with facilities in Italy and Switzerland. The operations of Blue
Sky in the Industrial Processing Segment are carried out in a joint venture. Operations in the
Distribution Segment are mainly outsourced.
Location
10 Philpot Lane
London
England, EC3M 8AA

Group Company
Blue Sky Natural
Resources LTD

Key Activities
Group headquarters.
General and
administration

Owned/Leased
Leased

Size (m2)
25 m2

10, Philpot Lane
London,
England, EC3M 8AA

Universal Trade
Elite LTD

General and
administration

Leased

25m2

Via Ulrico Hoepli 3
20121 Milan

Universal Trade
Elite LTD

Supply chain coordination

Leased

15m2

c/o Revigeco SA
Piazzetta San Carlo 2
6900 Lugano

Universal Trade
Elite LTD

Coordination of all other
operations

Leased

15 m2

Via Savoia 82
00198 Rome

Blue Sky
Lycopene S.r.l.

Administration

Leased

15 m2

c/o Global Control
Servizi Fiduciari SA
Via Balestra 12
6900 Lugano
Switzerland

Equilibrium
Food Sagl

Coordination of
commercial operations

Leased

15 m2

Employees

IGEA
In addition to the Executive Directors, who provide their services pursuant to separate management
agreements and are thus not considered employees of the Group, as of the date of this Prospectus,
the Group employed a total of 2 employees (full time equivalent). The table below sets out the
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Group's (i.e. without taking into account the addition of Blue Sky and its business) average number of
employees (in full time equivalent) for the financial years 2020, 2019 and 2018.
2020
Average number of employees (full time equivalent) .............................. 2.0

2019

2018

2.0

3.0

Blue Sky
As of the date of this Prospectus, Blue Sky employed a total of 0.5 employees (full time equivalent).
The table below sets out the average number of employees of Blue Sky and its subsidiaries (in full
time equivalent) for the financial years 2020, 2019 and 2018.
2020
Average number of employees (full time equivalent) .............................. 0.5

2019

2018

1.0

--

The Business Combination will lead to an increase in the Combined Group's workforce.
Investments

IGEA
The table below sets forth the Group's principal investments and divestitures in the disclosed periods:
In TUSD

2020

2019

2018

Investments in property, plant and equipment .......................................

-

-

-

Investments in intangible assets ...........................................................

-

175.2(1)

-

Total ................................................................................................

-

175.2

-

Note:
(1) During 2017, the Group started negotiations to purchase certain intellectual property rights. In June 2018, the previously
agreed terms were reviewed, and the existing agreement mutually withdrawn. The new 2018 terms foresaw an option of
the Group to definitively acquire the rights against full settlement of the agreed price at listing of the IGEA's shares, but
not later than November 30, 2018. Then, between end of 2018 and beginning of 2019, a further new agreement was
negotiated substituting the former one, mutually withdrawn. The rights were definitively acquired by IGEA beginning of
2019 from Innbiotec Pharma S.r.l. (formerly Solosale S.r.l.), a privately held company dealing in the cosmetic and
nutraceutical industry. By end of 2019, the Group anticipated its intention to discontinue the contract, no more considered
strategic, which would have implied the return of the purchased assets, then definitively disposed during 2020. The
intangible assets were fully impaired during 2019 and consequently the disposal in 2020 happened at a nil net amount.

There are no other ongoing material investments and no approved material investments for which
legally binding commitments are already in place at the date of this Prospectus.

Blue Sky
The table below sets forth the Group's principal investments and divestitures in the disclosed periods:
In TGBP

2020

Investments in property, plant and equipment .......................................

-

Investments in intangible assets ........................................................... 91.5
Investments in associates and joint ventures .........................................962.4

0
(2)
(4)

Total ................................................................................................ 1,053.9
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2019
(1)

2018
-

740.8

(2)

486.5

(4)

1,227.3

127.4
27.5

(3)

154.9

Notes:
(1) In September 2019, Blue Sky acquired certain assets for TGBP 217.8, then almost immediately resold (December 2019) for
the same amount, with a nil net effect.
(2) The acquisition of Equilibrium Food Sagl in 2019 and Blue Sky Lycopene S.r.l. in 2020 generated a goodwill recognized as
intangible asset of TGBP 740.8 and 91.5 respectively.
(3) During 2018, Blue Sky invested TGBP 4.1 and TGBP 23.4 respectively in associates.
(4) Starting from 2019 onward, Blue Sky invested globally TGBP 1,448.9 in the joint venture Blue Sky Swisse SA.

In 2020, Blue Sky has made domestic investments in the amount of TGBP 962.4 and foreign
investments in the amount of TGBP 91.5.
Blue Sky's industrial processing activities are carried-out in the joint venture 'Blue Sky Swisse SA' in
which the Group has an ownership interest of 50%. For 2021, the joint venture activities are expected
to generate a cash need of GBP 10 million. GBP 3.1 million will be financed by way of borrowings,
including a mortgage loan for GBP 2.7 million, and the remaining GBP 6.9 million will be covered by
the two joint ventures to the extent of 50% each. The principal ongoing investment of Blue Sky up to
the date of this Prospectus relates to the commitment to provide funding for the joint venture's capital
of GBP 3.5 million and therefore represents a domestic investment.
Other than as described above, there are currently no other ongoing material investments and no
approved material investments for which legally binding commitments are already in place.
Legal Proceedings
The Group (including Blue Sky and its subsidiaries) is currently not involved in any legal,
administrative or arbitral proceedings, the outcome of which, if adversely determined against the
group, would be material to the business, financial condition or results of operations, taken as a
whole.
Insurance
The Combined Group maintains insurance in such amounts and with such coverage and deductibles as
it believes to be reasonable and prudent. Particularly, the Group maintains general liability insurance
and product liability insurance. It is the Group's policy to maintain insurance if and to the extent that
the insurance coverage is available on reasonable market terms and conditions. Therefore, selected
risks are not covered by insurance or insurance coverage is significantly limited in terms of covered
risks and/or covered amounts.
No Interruption of Business
There have been no interruptions in the business of the Group (including Blue Sky and its subsidiaries)
in the last three years that had materially affected the Group's customer base or net sales.
Recent Developments
Since the date of the IGEA Consolidated Financial Statements 2020, there have been the following
developments:


With a view on the completion of the Business Combination, all existing agreements and
understandings of IGEA about any other previously disclosed transactions of similar nature
(acquisitions of the med-tech activities of Meditalia S.r.l. and acquisition of the majority stake
in Medical Jet S.r.l., as previously disclosed in November 2019 and February 2020,
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respectively), have been mutually terminated between the involved parties without any
consequence for or impact on the Group operations and financial conditions.


Over the course of 2021, IGEA has no longer invested in renewing its own laboratory facility,
starting instead discussions with potential partners to definitively outsource all lab activities
related to its product portfolio.

Outlook
Certain statements in this section, including in particular the financial targets described
immediately below, constitute forward-looking statements. These forward-looking
statements are not guarantees of future financial performance and our actual results
could differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking
statements as a result of many factors, including but not limited to those described under
"Forward-Looking Statements" and "Risk Factors".
Following completion of the Business Combination, the Combined Group will continue to develop and
further commercialize its product portfolio. More specifically, the Combined Group expects that its key
business activities in the second half of 2021 will include the following:


Substance Extraction from Plant-based Materials: the set-up of the industrial activities
continues as planned. Extraction is expected to start within the first half of 2022 and to get
full capacity by end of 2022. The Group expects to invest further TGBP 3.5 million in the
Industrial Extraction Segment until end of 2021.



Functional Foods: the business in the Distribution Segment will continues under the current
regime, which is below the expectations and forecasts of Blue Sky when acquiring Equilibrium
Food Sagl in October 2019. The Group does not expect an increase in revenues resulting from
this segment without any relaunch of marketing and sales activities, which the Group has not
yet budgeted until end of 2022.



Alzheimer's and Diabetes Type II Prevention: the Group will pursue ongoing efforts to
establish and strengthen both market acceptance and position for its health prevention kit
Alz1 with e-commerce driven sales in the U.S. expected to start within the last quarter of
2021. The distribution on a wholesale basis of the Alz1 kit in selected EU markets is expected
to start by end of 2021. The Group furthermore expects to integrate its non-bound copper
detection-based portfolio by having the Dbt2 kit ready for commercialization by end of 2021.

No Material Change
Since the publication date of the IGEA Consolidated Financial Statements 2020 which are included
elsewhere in this Prospectus, and except as disclosed herein (including the Business Combination, see
also "Capitalization and Indebtedness"), there has been no material change in the assets and
liabilities, financial position and profits and losses of IGEA and the Combined Group (i.e. IGEA and
Blue Sky, including their respective subsidiaries) as a whole.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
This section summarizes certain information concerning the Company's board of directors (the
"Board") and the Group's corporate governance. It is based on relevant provisions of Dutch law as in
effect on the date of this Prospectus and the Articles of Association and the Board Rules (as defined
below) as these will be in effect ultimately on the Settlement Date.
The Articles of Association in the governing Dutch language and in an unofficial English translation
thereof are available on the Company's website (https://www.igeapharma.nl/corporate-governance).
The Board Rules in the governing English language (only) are also available on the Company's
website.
Board Structure
The Company has a one-tier board structure with executive directors (the "Executive Directors")
and non-executive directors (the "Non-Executive Directors", and together with the Executive
Directors, the "Directors"). Previously, the Company had a two-tier board structure consisting of a
Management Board and a Supervisory Board. At the extraordinary general meeting on January 8,
2020 such previous two-tier structure was changed to a one-tier board structure and the Articles of
Association have been amended accordingly with effect as of March 26, 2020.
As at the date of this Prospectus, the provisions in the DCC that are commonly referred to as the
"large company regime" (structuurregime) do not apply to the Company.
Appointment, terms of office and removal
Directors are appointed as such by a resolution of the General Meeting on a binding nomination by the
Board. The General Meeting may at any time overrule binding nominations and appoint on a free basis
by a two-thirds majority of the votes cast representing more than 50% of the issued share capital. If
binding nominations are overruled, the General Meeting may appoint on a free basis in a second
convened General Meeting on simple majority of the vote cast.
Directors are appointed for a term of four years (a year being normally the period from the
appointment to the annual General Meeting held in the year after the year of appointment), unless
specified otherwise in the nomination for their appointment. Reappointment is allowed.
The General Meeting may at any time suspend or dismiss a Director. A resolution to suspend or
dismiss a Director other than at the proposal of the Board requires a two-thirds majority of the votes
cast representing more than 50% of the issued share capital and if no such resolution can be
adopted, by simple majority of the vote cast in a second convened General Meeting. The Board may
always suspend but not dismiss a Director. A General Meeting must be held within three months after
the suspension of a Director has taken effect, in which meeting a resolution must be adopted to either
dismiss the Director or to terminate or continue the suspension. If no such resolution is adopted, the
suspension will cease after the period of suspension has expired. The suspended Director is entitled to
be heard at the General Meeting. A suspension of a Director may, at any time, be discontinued by
either the Board or the General Meeting with a two-thirds majority of the votes cast representing
more than 50% of the issued share capital.
Organisation and functioning
The Board is the ultimate governing body of the Company. It is responsible for the management of
the Company's operations as well as the operations of the Group. This includes, among other things,
setting the Company's management agenda, enhancing the Group's performance, developing a
general strategy, identifying, analysing and managing the risks associated with the Company's
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strategy and risks connected to the Group's business activities, determining and pursuing operational
and financial objectives, structuring and managing internal business control systems, overseeing the
Group's financial reporting processes, preparing the Company's management report, the annual
budget and significant capital expenditures and monitoring corporate social responsibility issues. The
Board attends to all matters which are necessary or useful for achieving the Company's objectives,
except for those acts that are prohibited or are expressly attributed by law or by the Articles of
Association to others. In performing their duties, the Directors are guided by the interests of the
Company and its business enterprise, taking into consideration the interests of all the Group's
stakeholders.
The Board appoints a chairperson among its Non-Executive Directors and the Chief Executive Officer
(CEO) among its Executive Directors. The Board may grant other titles to its Executive Directors as it
may deem fit. The day-to-day management of the Company shall be entrusted to the Executive
Directors. The task to supervise the performance by the Directors of their duties cannot be taken
away from the Non-Executive Directors. The chairperson shall ensure the proper and independent
functioning of the Board and of the other bodies of the Company.
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Board may adopt written rules (the "Board Rules")
governing, among other things, its decision-making process including specification of how duties are
divided between the Directors. The Board Rules shall not conflict with the law and the Articles of
Association. Furthermore, the Board may designate one or more of its Directors to exercise one or
more of its powers or activities. The Board Rules as adopted are published on the Company's website
under https://www.igeapharma.nl/corporate-governance/.
The Board must obtain the approval of the General Meeting for resolutions entailing a significant
change in the identity or character of the Company or its associated business enterprise, including in
any event: (i) the transfer of the business enterprise, or practically the entire business enterprise of
the Company, to a third party; (ii) concluding or cancelling a long-lasting cooperation of the Company
or a subsidiary with another legal person or company or as fully liable general partner in a
partnership, provided that the cooperation or cancellation is of material significance to the Company;
and (iii) acquiring or disposing of a participating interest in the capital of a company with a value of at
least one-third of the Company's assets, as shown in the consolidated balance sheet with explanatory
notes according to the last adopted annual accounts by the Company or one of its subsidiaries.
The Board as a whole or two Executive Director acting jointly are authorized to represent the
Company. The Board may authorize one or more persons to represent the Company on a continuing
basis whether or not employed by the Company and may grant these persons a title.
The Board meets at least four times pursuant to an annually set schedule or at any Director's request.
Resolutions may only be adopted when at least the majority of the Directors is present or represented
at the meeting, provided that any Director with a direct or indirect personal conflict of interest (as
specified in the Board Rules) with the Company, is not taken into account when establishing this
quorum. Each Director has one vote. An Executive Director may grant another Executive Director a
written proxy to represent him at a Board meeting. Non-Executive Directors cannot be represented in
this manner. Resolutions may also be adopted without holding a meeting, provided that such
resolutions are adopted in writing or by reproducible electronic communication, and all Directors
entitled to vote have consented to adopting the resolutions without holding a meeting. Where the law,
the Articles of Association or the Board Rules do not prescribe otherwise, resolutions are adopted by a
majority of votes cast. In the event of a tie vote, the resolution is rejected.
Conflict of interest
Dutch law provides that a director of a Dutch public limited liability company, such as the Company,
may not participate in the adoption of resolutions (including deliberations in respect of these) if he or
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she has a direct or indirect personal interest conflicting with the interests of the company. Such a
conflict of interest only exists if in the situation at hand the Director is deemed to be unable to serve
the interests of the Company and the business connected with it with the required level of integrity
and objectivity.
Pursuant to the Board Rules, each Director, other than the chairperson or vice-chairperson, shall
without delay report any (potential) personal conflict of interest to the chairperson of the Board, or in
his absence the vice-chairperson, and must provide all relevant information. If the chairperson of the
Board of Directors has a (potential) personal conflict of interest he shall without delay report such
(potential) personal conflict of interest to the vice-chairperson of the Board or, in his absence, to the
other Directors and must provide all relevant information. If the vice-chairperson of the Board has a
(potential) personal conflict of interest he shall without delay report such (potential) personal conflict
of interest to the chairperson of the Board or, in his absence, to the other Directors and must provide
all relevant information. The information to be provided includes any relevant information concerning
the spouse, registered partner or other life companion, foster child and relatives by blood or marriage
up to the second degree of the Director.
If no resolution can be adopted by the Board as a consequence of such a personal conflict of interest,
the resolution concerned may nevertheless be adopted by the Board. All transactions in which there
are conflicts of interests with Directors will be agreed on terms that are customary in the sector
concerned and must be disclosed in the Company's management report. If a Director does not comply
with the provisions on conflicts of interest, the resolution concerned is subject to nullification
(vernietigbaar) and this Director may be held liable towards the Company.
The existence of a (potential) personal conflict of interest does not affect the authority of a Director to
represent the Company. Furthermore, as a general rule, agreements and transactions entered into by
a company based on a decision of its board of directors that are adopted with the participation of a
board member who had a conflict of interest with respect to the matter cannot be annulled. However,
under certain circumstances, a company may annul such an agreement or transaction if the
counterparty misused the relevant conflict of interest.
Executive Directors
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has one Executive Director:

Notes:
(1) The year refers to the appointment of Mr. Moccia as member of the previously existing Management Board.
(2) In October 2019, Mr. Moccia was appointed as CEO of the Company.
(3) In April 2021, the former CFO, Mr. Patrick Pozzorini, resigned. The role functions have been assigned ad interim to Mr.
Moccia.

The business address of Mr. Moccia is the registered office of the Company, i.e. Siriusdreef 17, 2132
WT, Hoofddorp, the Netherlands.
Vincenzo Moccia (1960) is a business manager and holds a degree in business administration from
the Sapienza University of Rome, Italy. Former activities and functions (main stages) were in MV
Yachting S.r.l., President and Owner; Leopard Yachts S.r.l., CEO; Azimut Benetti S.p.A., Sales &
Marketing Director; Camuzzi Nautica S.p.A., Sales & Marketing Director; Christian Dior Italia S.r.l.,
General Manager; Gucci Italia S.p.A., District Manager North Italy; Bulgari Italia S.p.A, Retail Senior
Director; Bulgari S.p.A, various positions; American Express Co. S.p.A. and Mercedes Benz Finanziaria
S.p.A., various positions.
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Currently, Mr. Moccia is not engaged in other activities outside of IGEA.

Convictions and Proceedings
Mr. Moccia is not or has not been during the past five years subject to any convictions for finance or
business-related crimes or to legal proceedings (excluding traffic violations) by statutory or regulatory
authorities (including designated professional organizations and associations) that are continuing or
have been concluded with a sanction.
Non-Executive Directors
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has five Non-Executive Directors. All Non-Executive
Directors are independent and have no material business interest with the Group. Set out below are
the names, year of birth, position, committee memberships and year of initial appointment of the
Non-Executive Directors:

The business address for each of the above Non-Executive Directors is the registered office of the
Company, i.e. Siriusdreef 17, 2132 WT, Hoofddorp, the Netherlands.
Set out below is a short description of each Non-Executive Director's business experience, education
and activities:


Giovanna Puppo della Gherardesca (1973) is a lawyer in corporate law with a degree in
law from the Cattolica del Sacro Cuore University of Milan, Italy. Former activities and
functions (main stages) were at Gianni & Origoni law firm, Partner; Visiting professor at the
Politecnico of Milano, Italy and at the Scuola Superiore della Pubblica Amministrazione,
Roma, Italy.
Currently, Mrs. Puppo della Gherardesca is engaged outside IGEA as Partner at Studio Legale
Grimaldi.



Francesco Mario Patrocollo (1942) is a business consultant. Mr. Patrocollo's career spans
the full range from Rx pharmaceuticals, through OTC medication to FMCG. His career began
in advertising with McCann Eriksson, progressing through to hands-on marketing with
companies and brands that are household names: Colgate, Wilkinson, Mars and Vicks. He has
held many senior positions, including member of the executive committee at Nobel Consumer
Goods (Stockholm), senior vice president at Nordbanken (Stockholm), divisional president at
Hackman (Helsinki), regional president at Pharmacia (Milan) and director (Europe) at Boots
Healthcare International. Mario led many successful reorganisations and acquisitions projects.
Currently, Mr. Patrocollo is engaged in following activities outside IGEA (main stages):
Walgreens Alliance Boots group, various positions as advisor to the co COO, chairman,
managing director and strategic leadership team member; InterPharma Investments LTD,
chairman; Marbea International, partner.



Massimiliano Colella (1968) is a business executive with a strong and successful
international background in healthcare. Former activities were at Smith & Nephew, Executive
Vice President and President Europe, Middle East and Africa; Johnson & Johnson Medical,
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Regional Managing Director; DePUY Synthes (Johnson & Johnson), Managing Director South
Europe.
Currently, Mr. Colella is engaged outside IGEA as CEO of Evercare Group Management Ltd.


Raffaele Bertoni (1965) is a Portfolio Manager with a degree in economics from the
University of Ancona, Italy. Former activities were (main stages): Banca Monte dei Paschi di
Siena, Head of Credit Trading; Pioneer Investment Management Ltd., Head of Fixed Income
Europe and Asia; INA Asset Management SGR (now part of Generali Group), Portfolio
Manager.
Currently, Mr. Bertoni's engaged outside IGEA as Head of Debt Capital Market and Senior
Portfolio Manager at Gulf Investment Corporation.



Lieven Baten (1981) is a healthcare professional with a degree in Gerontology from the
Free University of Brussels, Belgium and a degree in occupational therapy and healthcare
management from the College of Ghent, Belgium. Former activities were in Bona Dea
International Hospital, COO; Nursing home Ziverlinde, Board Member; Nursing home De
KleineKasteeltjes, director; Hict, business development consultant; College of Ghent, Lector.
Currently, Mr. Baten is engaged in following activities outside of IGEA (main stages): Acalis
EMEIA (Riyadh), partner; ZAMR (Belgium), CEO and founder.

Convictions and Proceedings
None of the Non-Executive Directors is or has been during the past five years subject to any
convictions for finance or business-related crimes or to legal proceedings (excluding traffic violations)
by statutory or regulatory authorities (including designated professional organizations and
associations) that are continuing or have been concluded with a sanction.

Committees of the Board of Directors
The Board has an Audit Committee and a Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Each of the
committees has a preparatory and/or advisory role to the Board. In accordance with the Board Rules,
the Board has drawn up rules on each committee's role, responsibilities and functioning. They report
their findings to the Board, which is ultimately responsible for all decision-making.

Audit Committee
The duties of the Audit Committee include the supervision and monitoring as well as advising the
Board and each Executive Director regarding the operation of the Company's internal risk
management and control systems. The Audit Committee advises the Board on the exercise of certain
of its duties and prepares nominations and reviews for the Board in this regard. The Audit Committee
also supervises the submission of financial information by the Company, the compliance with
recommendations of internal and external accountants, the Company's policy on tax planning, the
Company's financing arrangements, assists the Board with the Company's information and
communications technology. It furthermore maintains regular contact with and supervises the external
accountant and it prepares the nomination of an external accountant for appointment by the General
Meeting. The Audit Committee also issues preliminary advice to the Board regarding the approval of
the Annual Accounts and the annual budget and major capital expenditures.
The Audit Committee consists of at least two members to be selected from the Directors. The current
members of the Audit Committee are Mr. Colella (chairperson) and Mrs. Puppo della Gherardesca.
The rules for the Audit Committee are annexed to the Board Rules and published on the Company's
website under https://www.igeapharma.nl/corporate-governance/.
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Nomination and Remuneration Committee
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee advises the Board on the exercise of its duties
regarding the remuneration policy of the Directors. The duties of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee include the preparation of proposals of the Board on the remuneration policy for the
Directors to be adopted by the General Meeting, and on the remuneration of the individual Directors
to be determined by the Board. The Nomination and Remuneration Committee will take note of the
views of individual Directors with regard to the amount and structure of their own remuneration.
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee furthermore advises the Board on its duties regarding
the selection and appointment of Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors. The duties of the
Nomination and Remuneration Committee include preparing the selection criteria and appointment
procedures for Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors, and proposing the composition profile
of the Board. It also periodically assesses the size and composition of the Board, and the performance
of the individual Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors. The Nomination and Remuneration
Committee also proposes on appointments and reappointments. It supervises the Board's policy on
selection criteria and appointment procedures for the Board.
The Nomination and Remuneration Committee consists of at least two members to be selected from
the Directors. Currently, the members of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are Mr.
Patrocollo (chairperson) and Mr. Bertoni.
The rules for the Nomination and Remuneration Committee are annexed to the Board Rules and
published on the Company's website under https://www.igeapharma.nl/corporate-governance/.
Compensation of the Board

Overview
The Company is subject to the Directive on Information relating to Corporate Governance and its
annex and commentary issued by SIX Exchange Regulation (the "Corporate Governance
Directive"). As a Dutch company, the Company is not subject to the Swiss Ordinance against
Excessive Compensation in Public Companies.
Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Directive, the Company is required to disclose basic principles
and elements of compensation and shareholding programs for both serving and former Directors and
the senior management, as well as the authority and procedures for determining such compensation,
in a separate section of the annual report.
The Company is subject to provisions in the DCC and Dutch Corporate Governance Code regarding
adjustments to remuneration as further set out below.

The Remuneration Policy
The Board determines the remuneration of the Directors under due observance of the Company
remuneration policy (the "Remuneration Policy"). The remuneration policy is adopted by the
General Meeting at the proposal of the Board. The remuneration policy of the Company in place was
adopted by the General Meeting on July 3, 2020 and is available at the Company website under
https://www.igeapharma.nl/corporate-governance/.
The remuneration policy determines that the remuneration should be in line with standard market
conditions as observable in listed companies and considering size, scale and complexity of the Group
activities. Publicly disclosed data are generally used. The Nomination and remuneration committee
may consult professional independent remuneration advisors to tabulate the remuneration data of
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peer group companies. The remuneration should be settled in a mix of cash and equity instruments of
the Company, allowing persons to share in the profits. For the base fixe remuneration and other
benefits, the equity instruments to remuneration ratio should not exceed 50%.
The remuneration of Non-Executive Directors shall be in line with the overall policy, including the
remuneration for acting as Chairperson of the Board or being part of the Committees. Consistent with
the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors should not
depend on the Company's results. Consequently, no performance bonuses are to be granted to the
Non-Executive Directors as part of their remuneration.
The remuneration of Executive Directors, officers and other senior management shall consist of a mix
between fixed, variable, and other benefits remuneration components. The base fixe remuneration
shall be in line with the overall policy. The variable remuneration is based on performance criteria
aimed at value creation in both the short and long term.
Executive Directors, officers or other senior management may be employed under employment
agreements or engaged under service agreements with the Company or the Group that comply with
the law and the relevant jurisdiction. Contracts do not contain golden parachute clauses, and none
automatically trigger a restraint payment and contains a three months' notice period.
Pursuant to Dutch law, the remuneration of Directors may be reduced, or Directors may be obliged to
repay (part of) their variable remuneration to the Company if certain circumstances apply. The Board
will have the authority under Dutch law to recover from a Director any variable remuneration awarded
on the basis of incorrect financial or other data in respect of underlying targets or other circumstances
of which the variable remuneration is dependent (claw back). The Board may furthermore adjust the
variable remuneration (to the extent that it is subject to reaching certain targets and the occurrence
of certain events) to an appropriate level if payment of the variable remuneration were to be
unacceptable according to the requirements of reasonableness and fairness.
In 2019 and 2020, none of the Non-Executive Directors (and former Supervisory Directors), except
Mr. De Simone receiving a remuneration of TUSD 7.6 in 2019 only, have received any compensation.
The compensation of the Executive Directors (and former Managing Directors) was TUSD 86.4 and
TUSD 202.1 in 2020 and 2019 respectively (see note 28.1 in the IGEA Consolidated Financial
Statements 2020 and 2019). With respect to related parties' transactions and services paid to
Directors, see "Related Party Transactions".
On July 29, 2021, the Board resolved for a fix remuneration of Non-Executive Directors consisting in
EUR 20,000 for the Chairperson and of EUR 10,000 each for the other Non-Executive Directors
Messrs. Patrocollo, Colella, Bertoni and Baten. The Board has reserved the right to furthermore decide
whether to settle the fix remuneration in cash or in equity instruments of the Company under due
observance of the Remuneration Policy.

Ownership of Shares and Options
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has not issued and/or granted any options with
respect to its Shares.

Executive Directors (and former Managing Directors)
The Executive Directors', respectively the former Managing Directors', number of Shares and
percentage of voting right as of the date of this Prospectus, December 31, 2020, and December 31,
2019, are outlined in the table above. The former Managing Directors did not hold any Shares as of
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2020, respectively.
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Name
Vincenzo Moccia
Rosanna Squitti (1)
Marco Seniga (2)
Diego Mortillaro (3)

Number of Shares/Percentage of Voting Rights
As of 31 December,
2019
As per date of
As of 31 December, (former supervisory
this Prospectus
2020
directors)
10,000
0.04%
10,000
0.04%
10,000
0.04%
n/a
n/a
600,000
2.40%
600,000
2.40%
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a

Notes:
(1) Mrs. Squitti resigned as Executive Director in June 3, 2021.
(2) Mr. Seniga resigned as Executive Director in August 7, 2020.
(3) Mr. Mortillaro resigned as CEO and member of the Management Board on October 2, 2019.

Non-Executive Directors (and former Supervisory Directors)
The Non-Executive Directors', respectively the former Supervisory Directors', number of Shares and
percentage of voting right as of the date of this Prospectus, December 31, 2020, and December 31,
2019, are outlined in the table above. The former Supervisory Directors did not hold any Shares as of
December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2020, respectively.

Name
Giovanna Puppo della Gherardesca (1)
Francesco Mario Patrocollo (2)
Massimiliano Colella (1)
Raffaele Bruto Bertoni (1)
Lieven Baten (3)
Giovanni Ferrario (4)
Barth Armand Green (2)
Camillo Ricordi (2)
Mark De Simone (5)
Flavio Peralda (6)
Federico Bazzoni (6)

Number of Shares/Percentage of Voting Rights
As of 31 December,
2019
As per date of
As of 31 December, (former supervisory
this Prospectus
2020
directors)
0.00%
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
200,000
0.79%
200,000
0.80%
n/a
n/a
0.00%
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
0.00%
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
0.00%
0.00%
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
160,000
0.64%
160,000
0.64%
n/a
n/a
200,000
0.80%
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
614,000
2.45%
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
0.00%
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
50,000
0.20%
n/a
n/a
n/a
n/a
100,000
0.40%

Notes:
(1) Mrs. Puppo and Messrs. Colella and Bertoni were first elected as Non-Executive Directors on April 28, 2021.
(2) Messrs. Patrocollo, Ricordi and Green were first elected as Non-Executive Directors on January 8, 2020. Messrs. Ricordi
and Green resigned as Non-Executive Directors on March 4, 2021.
(3) Mr. Baten was first elected as Non-Executive Director on July 3, 2020.
(4) Mr. Ferrario resigned as a Non-Executive Director in June 3, 2021.
(5) Mr. De Simone resigned as a Non-Executive Director in October 21, 2020.
(6) Messrs. Peralda and Bazzoni resigned as members of the Supervisory Board in December 3, 2019.

Loans granted to Directors
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company has no outstanding loan, advance, credit or guarantee
commitments to the Directors.
Pursuant to the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, a company should not grant its Directors any
personal loans, guarantees or the like unless in the normal course of business and on terms applicable
to the personnel as a whole. No remission of loans should be granted. The remuneration policy
generally prohibits to provide loans, guarantee or the like to Directors, officers, and other senior
management except with the approval of the Non-Executive Directors.

Transactions with Directors
For information regarding related party transactions, see "Related Party Transactions".
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Other Corporate Governance Considerations

Management Agreements
The Executive Director has a management agreement with the Company. The management
agreement contains, among other provisions, severance provisions which provide for compensation
for the loss of income resulting from a termination of the agreement after the first year of up to one
time the annual gross fixed salary, in addition to a notice period of three months. The Non-Executive
Directors do not have an employment or management agreement with the Company. The term of
their engagement depends on the Non-Executive Directors term of election. The Non-Executive
Directors will not be entitled to any contractual severance in the event their appointment as NonExecutive Director ends.

Liability of Directors
Under Dutch law, the Directors may be liable towards the Company for damages in the event of
improper or negligent performance of their duties. They may be jointly and severally liable for
damages towards the Company for infringement of the Articles of Association or of certain provisions
of the DCC. In addition, they may be liable towards third parties for infringement of certain provisions
of the DCC. In certain circumstances, they may also incur additional specific civil and criminal
liabilities.

Insurance
The Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Directors are not insured against damages resulting
from their conduct when acting in their capacities as directors or officers.

Indemnification
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, and unless Dutch law provides otherwise, the following will be
reimbursed to current and former Directors and former Supervisory Directors: (i) the reasonable costs
of conducting a defense against claims resulting from an act or omission in performing their duties or
in performing other duties the Company has asked them to fulfil; (ii) any compensation or financial
penalties they owe as a result of an act or omission as referred to in (i); (iii) any amounts they owe
under settlements they have reasonably entered into in connection with an act or omission as referred
to in (i); (iv) the reasonable costs of other proceedings in which they are involved as a current or
former Director or former Supervisory Director, except for proceedings in which they primarily assert
their own claims; and (v) tax damage due to reimbursements in accordance with the foregoing.
There shall be, however, no entitlement to reimbursement if and to the extent that: (i) it has been
established in a final and non-appealable decision of the competent court or, in the event of
arbitration, of an arbitrator, that the act or omission of the indemnified person can be described as
deliberate (opzettelijk), willfully reckless (bewust roekeloos) or seriously culpable (ernstig verwijtbaar).
In that case, the indemnified person must immediately repay the sums reimbursed by the Company,
unless Dutch law provides otherwise or this would, in the given circumstances, be unacceptable
according to standards of reasonableness and fairness; (ii) the costs or the capital losses of the
indemnified person are covered by an insurance policy and the insurer has paid out these costs or
capital losses; or (iii) the indemnified person failed to notify the Company in writing as soon as
reasonably possible of the costs or the capital losses or of the circumstances that could lead to the
costs or capital losses.
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Dutch Corporate Governance Code
For a description of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code and the Company's compliance with and
deviations from the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, see "Share Capital, Shares and Certain
Corporate Law Considerations—Dutch Corporate Governance Code".
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SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDERS
Article 120 of the Federal Act on Financial Market Infrastructures and Market Conduct in Securities
and Derivatives Trading ("FMIA") requires anyone who directly or indirectly or acting in concert with
third parties acquires or disposes of shares or acquisition or sale rights relating to Shares and thereby
reaches, falls below or exceeds the thresholds of 3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 33⅓%, 50% or
66⅔% of the voting rights, whether exercisable or not, to notify this to the Company and to the
Disclosure Office of SIX Exchange Regulation.
Information on notifications received by the Company may be found on the website of the SIX
Exchange
Regulation
website:
https://www.ser-ag.com/en/resources/notifications-marketparticipants/official-notices.html#/.
The table below sets forth those Shareholders who, according to information available to the
Company, directly or indirectly hold more than 3% of the Shares and voting rights in the Company or
who have the discretionary power to exercise more than 3% of the voting rights associated to the
Shares, respectively.
Following completion of
the Business
Combination and the
Issuance of the New
Shares

Prior to the Business
Combination and the
Issuance of the New
Shares
Shareholder / Person subject to the
reporting obligation

Voting
rights (*)

% of voting
rights

Voting
rights (*)

% of voting
rights

Mr. Pierpaolo Cerani, Estoril, Portugal(1) ...............

6,973,421

27.65%

6,973,421

<3%

Ms. Cristina Canepa, Milan, Italy .........................

1,700,000

6.97%

1,700,000

<3%

Negma Group Ltd., Tortola,
British Virgin Islands(2) ..................................

170,114

0.67

170,114

<3%

Mr. Gerardo Caradonna, Lugano,
Switzerland(3) ...............................................

14,000

0.06% 101,944,500

30.62%

Messrs. Andrea Ivancevich; Lecce Italy, and
Simone Ivancevich, Monza, Italy(4) ...................

0

0%

53,649,900

16.11%

Ms. Anna Loraschi, Milan, Italy(5) ...........................

0

0%

45,000,000

13.52%

0

0%

30,690,000

9.22%

(6)

Blue Sky Angel Lab Srl., Verona, Italy ................

Notes:
(*) The table above shows only voting rights which can be exercised. For information on additional positions,
in particular potentially additional voting rights upon conversion of financial instruments, of certain
shareholders, please refer to notes (1) and (2) below with respect to the positions held by Mr. Cerani and
Negma Group Ltd., respectively.
(1)

Mr. Pierpaolo Cerani, Estoril, Portugal (see "General Information—Founder of the Company") is the beneficial owner of
the Shares held through C.H.I. B.V., Hoofddorp, the Netherlands. C.H.I. B.V. is directly holding the 7,544,849 Shares
(within the meaning of article 22 para 3 of the Ordinance of the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority on Financial
Market Infrastructures and Market Conduct in Securities and Derivatives Trading ("FMIO-FINMA")). In addition to the
Shares held by Mr. Cerani (indirectly through C.H.I. B.V.), Mr. Cerani has granted a non-interest bearing, and nonredeemable loan to the Company, which is convertible into ordinary shares of the Company at a strike price of EUR 0.70
(subject to adjustments pursuant to the terms of the loan), being the equivalent of 571,428 voting rights in the Company
(see also "Share Capital, Shares and Certain Corporate Law Considerations—Options, Warrants, Convertible Instruments
and Bonds"). Together with the position from such loan, Mr. Cerani's total position amount to 7,544,849 voting rights or
30.12% of the voting rights prior to the Business Combination and the issuance of New Shares. Following completion of
the Business Combination and the issuance of New Shares, Mr. Cerani falls under the 3% threshold.

(2)

On April 15, 2021, IGEA entered in to a convertible loan facility with Negma. Pursuant to the terms of this convertible
notes facility, IGEA may draw within a period of two years from April 15, 2021 onward, a maximum amount of up to EUR
2 million, extendable to up to EUR 10 following completion of the Business Combination. For amounts drawn under the
convertible notes facility, IGEA will issue to Negma convertible notes with a duration of 12 months. At Negma's discretion,
such notes may convert to Shares in IGEA until expiry. The conversion price will be equal to 93% of the lowest daily
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volume-weighted average price of IGEA's Share over the ten (10) trading days before (and including) the trading day
immediately preceding the conversion date, multiplied by the last exchange rate CHF/EUR on the day preceding the
conversion as seen on Bloomberg. As of the date of this prospectus, Negma has requested conversion of certain
outstanding notes and was subsequently issued 170,114 shares in IGEA. According to disclosures filed by Negma (which
is calculated based on the information available on the day the notification obligation of Negma arose), Negma's has a
maximum purchase position of 6,298,549 (being the equivalent of 24.98% of the Company's share capital prior to the
business combination). Following completion of the Business Combination and the issuance of New Shares, Negma falls
under the 3% threshold.
(3)

Mr. Gerardo Caradonna, Lugano, Switzerland, holds shares directly as well as indirectly through controlling stakes in All
Asset Management SA, Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg and Pharma Tech Holding SA, Lugano, Switzerland. In
addition, Pharma Tech Holding SA holds certain conversion rights equivalent to 184,247 shares in IGEA (being the
equivalent to 0.73% of the voting rights prior to the issuance of New Shares, or 0.06% of the voting rights following the
issuance of the New Shares).

(4)

Group of shareholders consisting of Messrs. Andrea Ivancevich, Lecce, Italy, and Simone Ivancevich, Monza, Italy. Shares
are held directly as well as indirectly through controlling stakes in Novenero Srl, Milan, Italy and Step You SA, Lugano,
Switzerland. Mr. Andrea Ivancevich acts as representative of this group of shareholders.

(5)

Ms. Anna Loraschi, Milan, Italy holds shares indirectly through Wealthpro Ltd, London, United Kingdom.

(6)

Blue Sky Angel Lab SRL, Verona, Italy holds shares directly as well as indirectly through a controlling stake in ATI
Biotech SRL, Napoli, Italy. According to information available to the Company, Blue Sky Angel Lab SRL has a broad
shareholder base without any controlling shareholder or controlling group of shareholders.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
For a description of products and services purchased from related parties, see note 28 of the IGEA
Consolidated Financial Statements which is included elsewhere in this Prospectus.
Other than as disclosed in the IGEA Consolidated Financial Statements, as of the date of this
Prospectus, there are no material transactions between the Company and/or other Group companies
on the one hand and related parties on the other hand. Intra-group transactions among the Group
companies are not discussed.

61

SHARE CAPITAL, SHARES AND CERTAIN CORPORATE LAW CONSIDERATIONS
Set forth below is certain information regarding the share capital of the Company and brief summaries
of certain provisions of the Company's Articles of Association and applicable Dutch Law. This
description does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
Company's Articles of Association, the DCC and such other Dutch and Swiss statutes as in effect on
the date of this Prospectus.
Share Capital and Changes to the Share Capital

Share Capital following Completion of Business Combination
As of the completion of the Business Combination and the related amendments of the Company's
articles of association, the Company's share capital amounts to EUR 3,329,193.97 and is divided into
332,919,397 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.01 per share. The issued share capital has
been fully paid-up.
In connection with the Business Combination and the issuance of the New Shares, the Company's
articles of association have been amended pursuant to a deed of amendment dated September 23,
2021 in order to increase the Company's maximum authorized share capital. Following the execution
of such deed of amendment, the Company's total authorized share capital amounts to
EUR 5,000,000.00.

Share Capital prior to Completion of Business Combination
Immediately prior to the Business Combination and the effectiveness of the related amendments to
the Company's articles of association, the issued share capital of the Company was EUR 252,188.83
and is divided into 25,218,883 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.01 each. The Company's
total authorized share capital amounted to EUR 1,000,000.00.

Other Changes to Share Capital
In connection with the convertible notes facility with Negma Group (see "—Options, Warrants and
Convertible Instruments"), on July 20, 2021 the Company's board of directors has resolved to issue
170,114 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.01 each in IGEA, for covering IGEA's
obligation to issue and deliver shares pursuant to the terms and conditions of convertible bonds
issued to Negma Group. Through this issuance of shares to Negma Group, the Company's issued
share capital has increased from EUR 250,487.69 to EUR 252,188.83.
Issuance of Shares and Capital Authorizations
The Swiss law concept of conditional share capital is not known under Dutch law and accordingly,
there is no and there will be no conditional share capital.
The Swiss law concept of authorized capital deviates from the applicable Dutch law. The articles of
association of a Dutch company provide more a maximum authorized share capital (see "—Share
Capital and Changes to the Share Capital"). Within such maximum authorized share capital, the
General Meeting, following to a proposal of the Board, or the corporate body so authorized by the
General Meeting, may resolve to issue shares. This also applies to the granting of rights to subscribe
for shares, such as options, but is not required for an issue of shares pursuant to the exercise of a
previously granted right to subscribe for shares. An authorization as referred to above is valid for a
fixed term of no more than five years and may each time only be extended for a maximum period of
five years.
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At the date of this Prospectus, following authorizations (cumulative and non-substitutive) to issue
shares are outstanding:


with resolution dated October 10, 2018 (then becoming effective as per the date of the
executed deed on December 14, 2018), the General Meeting authorized the Board, within
December 14, 2023, to issue up to 12,524,384 new shares with a par value of EUR 0.01 and
to limit or exclude pre-emptive rights in respect thereof.;



with resolution dated January 8, 2020 (then becoming effective as per the executed deed on
March 26, 2020), the General Meeting authorized the Board, within March 26, 2025, to issue
up to 12,524,384 new shares with a par value of EUR 0.01 and to limit or exclude pre-emptive
rights in respect thereof;



with resolution dated April 28, 2021 (then becoming effective as per April 28, 2021) the
General Meeting authorized the Board, within April 28, 2026, to issue up to 70,000,000 new
shares with a par value of EUR 0.01 and to limit or exclude pre-emptive rights in respect
thereof. Based on this authorization IGEA has in the meantime issued 170,114 shares in
connection with the exercise of conversion rights under the convertible notes facility with
Negma (see "—Options, Warrants and Convertible Instruments");



with resolution dated April 28, 2021 the General Meeting authorized the Board, within April
28, 2022, to issue, at par, up to 309,600,000 new shares with a par value of EUR 0.01,
reserved for issuance to the shareholders of Blue Sky only, against contribution in-kind of
their shares and votes in Blue Sky, subject to the execution of a deed of amendment
increasing the maximum authorized share capital of IGEA from EUR 1,000,000 to
EUR 5,000,000;

Treasury Shares
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company holds 35,405 treasury shares as a result of
transactions performed during 2019. Since then, the Company did no more trade in own shares.
The Company may acquire fully paid-up Shares at any time for no consideration or, subject to Dutch
law and the Articles of Association if: (i) the Company's equity, less the payment required to make the
acquisition, does not fall below the sum of the paid-up and called-up and share capital plus the
reserves as required to be maintained by Dutch law or the Articles of Association; (ii) the aggregate
nominal value of the Shares which the Company acquires, holds or holds as pledge or which are held
by a subsidiary does not exceed 50% of the issued share capital; and (iii) the Board has been
authorized by the General Meeting to repurchase Shares. The General Meeting's authorization is valid
for a specific period not exceeding 18 months. As part of the authorization, the General Meeting must
specify the number of Shares that may be acquired, the manner in which the Shares may be acquired
and the price range within which the Shares may be acquired.
No authorization from the General Meeting is required for the acquisition of fully paid-up Shares for
the purpose of transferring these Shares to employees of the Company or of a Group Company under
any applicable equity compensation plan, provided that the Shares are quoted on an official list of a
stock exchange.
The Company may not cast votes on, and is not entitled to dividends paid on, Shares held by it nor
will such Shares be counted for the purpose of calculating a voting quorum. Votes may be cast on
Shares held by the Company if the Shares are encumbered with a right of usufruct that benefits a
party other than the Company or a subsidiary, the voting right attached to those Shares accrues to
another party and the right of usufruct was established by a party other than the Company or a
subsidiary before the Shares belonged to the Company or the subsidiary.
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No dividend shall be paid to the Shares held by the Company in its own capital, unless such Shares
are subject to a right of usufruct or pledge. For the computation of the profit distribution, the Shares
held by the Company in its own capital shall not be included. The Board is authorized to dispose of the
Company's own Shares held by it.
The Board has been authorized by the General Meeting to resolve to repurchase fully paid-up Shares.
This authorization is limited to a period of 18 months effective as of the extraordinary general meeting
in 2018 and to a maximum of 20% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the time of the
extraordinary general meeting in 2018 for valuable consideration on the stock exchange or otherwise,
at a price between, on the one hand, an amount equal to the nominal value of the Shares and, on the
other hand, an amount equal to 110% of the market price of these Shares on SIX, the market price
being the average of the highest price on each of the five days of trading prior to the day of
acquisition.
Participation Certificates, Profit Sharing Certificates and Preference Shares
The Company has not issued any non-voting securities, such as participation certificates or profitsharing certificates, nor has it issued any preference shares, or any similar instruments under Dutch
law.
Options, Warrants, Convertible Instruments and Bonds
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Company had the Company's convertible instruments
outstanding:


right to convert, at any time and at the discretion of C.H.I. B.V., Hoofddorp, The Netherlands,
but in whole only, a non-interest-bearing, unsecured and non-redeemable loan into 571'428
newly issued shares in the share capital of the Company;



right to convert, at any time after April 28, 2021 at the discretion of Pharma Tech, but in
whole only, a non-interest-bearing, unsecured and non-redeemable loan into 184'247 newly
issued shares in the share capital of the Company;



on April 15, 2021, IGEA entered in to a convertible loan facility with Negma. Pursuant to the
terms of this convertible notes facility, IGEA may draw within a period of two years from
April 15, 2021 onward, a maximum amount of up to EUR 2 million, extendable to up to
EUR 10 following completion of the Business Combination. For amounts drawn under the
convertible notes facility, IGEA will issue to Negma convertible notes with a duration of 12
months. At Negma's discretion, such notes may convert to Shares in IGEA until expiry. The
conversion price will be equal to 93% of the lowest daily volume-weighted average price of
IGEA's Share over the ten (10) trading days before (and including) the trading day
immediately preceding the conversion date, multiplied by the last exchange rate CHF/EUR on
the day preceding the conversion as seen on Bloomberg. The result is rounded down to the
nearest unit. The notes provide for physical settlement, i.e. issuance and delivery of Shares to
Negma. As of the date of this Prospectus, Negma has requested conversion of notes for an
amount of EUR 50,000, for which 170,114 shares were issued subsequently.

Other than listed above, the Company did not have any outstanding options, warrants, convertible
instruments or bonds.
Cross-Shareholdings
As of the date of this Prospectus, there are no outstanding cross-shareholdings.
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Form of Shares
The Shares are in registered form (op naam). No share certificates (aandeelbewijzen) are or shall be
issued. If requested, the Board will provide a Shareholder, usufructuary or pledgee of such Shares
with an extract from the shareholders register relating to his or her title to a Share free of charge. If
the Shares are encumbered with a right of usufruct, the extract will state to whom such rights will fall
to. The shareholders register is kept by the Board.
The Company's shareholders register records the names and addresses of the holders of the Shares in
registered form, the number of Shares held, the amount paid on each Share and the date of
registration in the shareholders register. In addition, each transfer or passing of ownership is
registered in the shareholders register. The shareholders register also includes the names and
addresses of persons and legal entities with a right of pledge or a right of usufruct on those Shares,
the date on which they acquired such a right and the date of acknowledgement or service upon the
Company of the instrument of transfer.
For shares as referred to in the Dutch Act on Securities Transactions by Giro (Wet giraal
effectenverkeer), including the Shares, which belong to (i) a collective depot as referred to in the
Dutch Act on Securities Transactions by Giro, of which shares form part kept by an intermediary, as
referred to in the Dutch Act on Securities Transactions by Giro or (ii) a giro depot as referred to in
that Act of which shares form part, as being kept by a central institute as referred to in the Act, the
name and address of the intermediary or the central institute shall be entered in the shareholders
register, stating the date on which those shares became part of such collective depot or giro depot,
the date of acknowledgement by or giving of notice to, as well as the paid-up amount on each share.
As at the date of this Prospectus, Euroclear Nederland as the central institute which keeps the Shares
in its collective depot is the only Shareholder registered in the Company's shareholders register (see
also "—Transfer of Shares").
Pre-emptive Rights and Advance Subscription Rights
Upon issue of Shares, each Shareholder has a pre-emptive right in proportion to the aggregate
nominal amount of its Shares. Shareholders do not have pre-emptive rights in respect of Shares
issued (i) to employees of the Company or a Group Company, (ii) against payment other than in cash
or (iii) to persons exercising a previously granted right to subscribe for Shares. These pre-emptive
rights and non-applicability of pre-emptive rights also apply in case of the granting of rights to
subscribe for Shares.
Pre-emptive rights may be limited or excluded by the Board if the Board is authorized by the General
Meeting to do so. If the Board has not been authorized to resolve to issue Shares, the General
Meeting has the power, at the proposal of the Board to limit or exclude the pre-emptive rights. The
designation will only be valid for a specific period and may from time to time be extended by the
General Meeting, in each case not exceeding five years. Unless provided otherwise in the
authorization, the authorization cannot be cancelled.
A resolution of the General Meeting to limit or exclude pre-emptive rights and a resolution to authorize
the Board to do so requires a majority of at least two-thirds of the votes cast, if less than half of the
issued and outstanding share capital is present or represented at the General Meeting.
Transfer of Shares
A transfer of a Share or a restricted right thereto (beperkt recht) requires a deed of transfer and the
acknowledgment by the Company of the transfer in writing. Such acknowledgement is not required if
the Company itself is a party to the transfer.
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A Share becomes a deposit share by transfer or issuance to Euroclear Nederland or to an
intermediary, recording in writing that it is a deposit Share. The deposit share shall be recorded in the
shareholders register of the Company in the name of Euroclear Nederland or the relevant
intermediary, stating in writing that it is a deposit share. Deposit shareholders are not recorded in the
shareholders register of the Company. Deposit shares can only be delivered from a collective depot or
giro depot with due observance of the related provisions of the Dutch Securities Giro Transactions Act
and with the approval of the Board. The transfer by a deposit Shareholder of its book-entry rights
representing deposit shares shall be effected in accordance with the provisions of the Dutch Act on
Securities Transactions by Giro. The same applies to the establishment of a right of pledge and the
establishment or transfer of a right of usufruct on these book-entry rights.
General Meeting
General Meetings can be held in Amsterdam, Hoofddorp and Haarlemmermeer (Schiphol Airport), the
Netherlands. The annual General Meeting must be held at least once a year, within six months after
the end of the financial year. Extraordinary General Meetings may be held, as often as the Board
deems desirable. In addition, one or more Shareholders, who solely or jointly represent at least onetenth of the issued capital, may request that a General Meeting be convened, the request setting out
in detail matters to be considered. If no General Meeting has been held within six weeks of the
Shareholder(s) making such request, those Shareholder(s) may be authorized to request in summary
proceedings a District Court to convene a General Meeting. Within three months of it becoming
apparent to the Board that the equity of the Company has decreased to an amount equal to or lower
than one-half of the paid-up part of the capital, a General Meeting will be held to discuss any requisite
measures.
The convocation of the General Meeting must be published through an announcement in a Dutch
national newspaper. The notice must state the subjects to be considered at the meeting, time and
place of the meeting, the record date if determined by the Board, the manner in which persons
entitled to attend the General Meeting may register and exercise their rights, the time on which
registration for the meeting must have occurred ultimately, as well as the place where the meeting
documents may be obtained. The notice must be given by at least such number of days prior to the
day of the meeting as required by law and in accordance with the law and the regulations of any
stock exchange where Shares are quoted on the official list.
The agenda for the annual General Meeting must contain certain subjects, including, among other
things, the adoption of the Annual Accounts, the discussion of any substantial change in the corporate
governance structure of the Company and the allocation of profits, insofar as this is at the disposal of
the General Meeting. In addition, the agenda shall include such items as have been included therein
by the Board or Shareholders (with due observance of Dutch law as described below). If the agenda
of the General Meeting contains the item of granting discharge to the Directors concerning the
performance of their duties in the financial year in question, the matter of the discharge shall be
mentioned on the agenda as separate item. The agenda shall also include such items as one or more
Shareholders and others entitled to attend General Meetings, representing, pursuant to the Articles of
Association, at least the percentage of the issued and outstanding share capital as required by law
(which as of the date of this Prospectus is 3%), have requested the Company by a motivated request
to include in the agenda, at least 60 days before the day of the General Meeting. The Board does not
place such proposals on the agenda if the Board judges them to be evidently not in the interest of the
Company. No resolutions may be adopted on items other than those which have been included in the
agenda.
The General Meeting is chaired by the chairperson of the Board. The chairperson may charge another
person with chairing the General Meeting even if the chairperson is present at the meeting. If the
chairperson of the Board is absent and has not charged another person with chairing the meeting
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instead, the Directors present at the meeting shall appoint one of them as chairperson. The
chairperson will have all powers necessary to ensure the proper and orderly functioning of the General
Meeting. Directors may attend a General Meeting. In these General Meetings, they have an advisory
role. The chairperson of the General Meeting may decide at its discretion to admit other persons to
the General Meeting.
Each Shareholder (as well as other persons with voting rights or meeting rights) may attend the
General Meeting, address the General Meeting and exercise voting rights pro rata to his or her
shareholding, either in person or by proxy. The Board may determine that those Shareholders may
exercise these rights, that are the holders of Shares on the record date, which, as required by Dutch
law, as at the date of this Prospectus is the 28th day before the day of the General Meeting, and they
or their proxy have notified the Company of their intention to attend the General Meeting in writing or
by any other electronic means that can be reproduced on paper at the address and by the date
specified in the notice of the General Meeting.
Voting Rights
Each Share confers the right to cast one vote in the General Meeting. Subject to certain exceptions
provided by Dutch law or the Articles of Association, resolutions of the General Meeting are passed by
a simple majority of votes cast. Pursuant to Dutch law, no votes may be cast at a General Meeting in
respect of Shares which are held by the Company.
Capital Reduction
Subject to the provisions of Dutch law and the Articles of Association, the General Meeting may
resolve at the proposal of the Board to reduce the issued share capital by (i) reducing the nominal
value of the Shares by amending the Articles of Association, or (ii) cancelling Shares held by the
Company itself. In addition, Dutch law contains detailed provisions regarding the reduction of capital.
A resolution to reduce the issued share capital shall not take effect as long as creditors have legal
recourse against the resolution.
Listing of the Shares, Trading Currency
The Company's Existing Shares are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange under the symbol IGPH, with
ISIN NL0012768675 and Swiss Security Number 41217478.
The Company's Shares are listed and traded in Swiss francs (CHF).
Application has been made and approval has been given by SER, subject to certain conditions, to list
the New Shares on SIX Swiss Exchange in accordance with the International Reporting Standard.
The Company expects that the New Shares will be listed, and that trading in the New Shares will
commence, on SIX Swiss Exchange in accordance with the International Reporting Standard on or
around September 27, 2021 (i.e., the First Day of Trading).
Dividends and Distributions
Distribution of profits only takes place following the adoption of the Annual Accounts from which it
appears that the distribution is allowed. The Company may only make distributions, whether a
distribution of profits or of freely distributable reserves, to its Shareholders if its shareholders' equity
exceeds the sum of the paid-up and called-up share capital plus the reserves as required to be
maintained by Dutch law or the Articles of Association. See "Dividends and Dividend Policy—Certain
Dutch Law Considerations" for a more detailed description regarding dividends.
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The New Shares will be entitled for dividends and other distributions upon issuance, i.e. for the first
time for the financial year 2021.
The Board may resolve to reserve the profits or part of the profits. As explained in "Dividends and
Dividend Policy", the Company currently does not intend to pay any dividends in the foreseeable
future.
Mandatory Takeover Offers
Pursuant to the applicable provisions of the FMIA, any person that acquires shares of a company
(either a Swiss issuer with at least one class of securities listed on a Swiss stock exchange or a nonSwiss issuer with a primary listing on a Swiss stock exchange with of at least one class of securities),
whether directly or indirectly or acting in concert with third parties, which shares, when taken
together with any other shares of such company held by such person, exceed the threshold of 33⅓%
of the voting rights (whether exercisable or not) of such company, must make a takeover bid to
acquire all the other listed shares of such company. The company's Articles of Association may either
raise the relevant threshold to 49% ("opting-up") or may eliminate this provision of the FMIA to
make a takeover bid ("opting-out"). IGEA's Articles of Association do not contain an opting-up or
opting-out provision.
A waiver of the mandatory rules may be granted by the Swiss Takeover Board or the Swiss Federal
Market Supervisory Authority FINMA under certain circumstances. If no waiver is granted, the
mandatory takeover bid must be made pursuant to the procedural rules set forth in the FMIA and the
implementing ordinances thereunder.
There is no obligation to make a takeover bid under the FMIA if the voting rights in question are
acquired as a result of a gift, succession or partition of an estate, a transfer based upon matrimonial
property law, or execution proceedings.
These rules apply to the Company and the Shareholders despite the Company being incorporated in
the Netherlands. Given the fact that the Company is not listed in the Netherlands or in any other
member state of the EEA, the Dutch regulations (and the respective EU regulation) regarding the
prevention of market abuse and public takeover offers do not apply, and no exception will apply to the
application of Swiss takeover rules.
Dutch Corporate Governance Code
The Dutch Corporate Governance Code applies to all Dutch companies listed on a governmentrecognized stock exchange, whether in the Netherlands or elsewhere. As the Company is incorporated
under Dutch law and is listed on SIX, the Dutch Corporate Governance Code applies to it. The Dutch
Corporate Governance Code contains a number of principles and best practice provisions in respect of
boards, shareholders and the general meeting, financial reporting, auditors, disclosure, compliance
and enforcement standards.
The Company is required to disclose in its management report whether or not it applies the provisions
of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code and, if it does not apply those provisions, to explain the
reasons why ("comply or explain").
The Company fully endorses the underlying principles of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code, and
is committed to adhering to the best practices of the Dutch Corporate Governance Code as much as
possible. With the exception of those aspects of the Company's governance which can only be
amended following approval at a General Meeting, the Board may make adjustments to how the
Dutch Corporate Governance Code is applied, if this is considered to be in the interest of the
Company. In the event of a hostile takeover bid, or other action which the Board considers to be
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adverse to the Company's interests, the Board reserves the right to use all available powers (including
the right to invoke a response time in accordance with best practice provision 4.1.7 of the Dutch
Corporate Governance Code), while taking into account the relevant interests of the Company and its
affiliate enterprise and stakeholders.
At this stage, the Group does not comply with all the provisions of the Dutch Corporate Governance
Code for specific reasons. The main deviations are listed below:


Given its small size, the Group does not maintain an internal audit department pursuant to
best practice rules 1.3.1 through 1.3.6;



In relation to best practice provision 2.1.5, it is noted that a diversity policy exists but given its
small size, the Group expects not to be in the condition to comply with this best practice
provision within at least the next years;



The Non-Executive Directors did not render account on the supervision exercised in the 2019
financial year because of the adoption of a one-tier governance structure (with abolishment of
the previous existing supervisory board) in January 2020. Given the ongoing Business
Combination and the impact the former was expected to have on the corporate governance,
the task in accordance with best practice 2.2.8 has been postponed to 2021;



The Board maintains a nomination and remuneration committee which is a combined
committee and not separated in two committees as required by the best practice 2.3.2;



By end of 2020 and before the date of disclosure of this Annual Report, the composition of
the Board committees changed due to the resignation of Non-Executive directors. Given the
ongoing Combination and the impact the former was expected to have on the corporate
governance, the Board postponed a reorganisation of the roles within the committees;



The Group does not announce, for practical reasons, meeting with analysts and presentations
to analysts and (institutional) investors, nor does the Group provide for shareholders to follow
these meetings in real time. As such, best practice provision 4.2.3 is not applied. IGEA believe
that enabling shareholders to follow in real time all the meetings with analysts, presentations
to analysts and presentations to (institutional) investors would create an excessive burden on
its resources and therefore, the Company does not intend to comply with the above
requirements. However, presentations used by the Group are posted on its website and
regularly updated;



Best practice provision 4.3.3 provides that the general meeting may pass a resolution to
cancel the binding nature of a nomination to appoint or remove a director by an absolute
majority of the votes cast. The Articles of Association provided that such a resolution not in
conformity with or without a proposal of the Board can only be adopted in a first general
meeting with at least a two/third majority which must represent more than 50% of the issued
share capital because IGEA believe that the decision to overrule binding nominations should
be widely supported by its shareholders;



In view of best practice provision 4.2.6, it is noted that the Group has no outstanding or
potential protection measures against a takeover of control.
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SIX SWISS EXCHANGE
General Information
For as long as the Shares are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange in accordance with the International
Reporting Standard, and for so long as any Shares remain listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, the
Company has and will be subject to the Listing Rules and any additional regulations enacted by the
SIX Swiss Exchange.
A listing in accordance with the International Reporting Standard requires, inter alia, that (i) the
articles of incorporation of the issuer comply with applicable law, (ii) the operating and financial track
record of the issuer extends over a period of at least three years, (iii) the issuer's consolidated equity
capital amounts to at least CHF 2.5 million, (iv) at the time of the listing, at least 20% of the issuer's
outstanding securities in the same category are in public ownership and the capitalization of those
securities in public ownership amounts to a minimum of CHF 25 million, (v) the issuer reports
according to IFRS or U.S. GAAP and (vi) the securities must have been validly issued at the time of
listing.
General Rules on Securities Trading
Trading on SIX Swiss Exchange occurs through a fully integrated trading system covering the entire
process from trade order through settlement. Trading in equity securities begins each business day at
9:00 am (Central European Time ("CET") or Central European Summer Time ("CEST") (as
applicable)) and continues until 5:20 pm CET or CEST (as applicable), at which time the closing
auction starts and continues until 5:30 pm CET or CEST (as applicable), with a random close of
trading within two minutes). Following the closing auction, "Trading-At-Last" (TAL) provides investors
with on book trading at the official closing price until 5:40 CET or CEST (as applicable). After the close
of exchange trading, new orders can be entered or deleted until 10:00 pm CET or CEST (as
applicable). From 6:00 am CET or CEST (as applicable) new entries and enquiries can be made until
9:00 am CET or CEST (as applicable). The system is not available between 10:00 pm and 6:00 am
CET or CEST (as applicable). For the opening phase (starting at 9:00 am CET or CEST (as applicable)),
the system closes the order book and starts opening procedures, it establishes the opening prices and
determines orders to be executed according to the matching rules. Closing auctions are held to
determine the daily closing price for all equity securities traded on SIX Swiss Exchange. At the start of
the closing auction, the status of all equity order books changes from permanent trading to auction.
The auction itself consists of a pre-opening period and the actual auction according to rules that are
similar to the opening procedure.
Transactions take place through the automatic matching of orders. Each valid order of at least a round
lot is entered and listed according to the price limit. A round lot of the shares is expected to consist of
one share. In general, market orders (orders placed at best price) are executed first, followed by limit
orders (orders placed at a price limit), provided that, if several orders are listed at the same price,
they are executed according to the time of entry. SIX Swiss Exchange may provide for a duty to trade
on SIX Swiss Exchange in individual market segments. There is no duty to trade on the order book
with SIX Swiss Exchange for equity securities trade in the Blue Chip Shares or Mid-/Small-Cap Shares
segment. Members of SIX Swiss Exchange must observe the principle of best execution for any offexchange transaction during the trading period. Transactions in shares effected by or through
members of SIX Swiss Exchange are subject to a stock exchange levy. This levy includes the reporting
fee and is payable per trade and participant. The fee is defined individually for each trading segment.
Banks and broker-dealers doing business in Switzerland are required to report all transactions in listed
securities traded on SIX Swiss Exchange. For transactions effected via the exchange system reporting,
reporting occurs automatically. Off-order book transactions during trading hours must be reported to
70

SIX Swiss Exchange within one minute. Transaction information is collected, processed and
immediately distributed by SIX Swiss Exchange. Transactions outside trading hours must be reported
no later than the next opening. SIX Swiss Exchange distributes a comprehensive range of information
through various publications, including in particular the Swiss Market Feed. The Swiss Market Feed
supplies SIX Swiss Exchange data in real time to all subscribers, as well as to other information
providers such as SIX Financial Information Ltd. and Reuters.
A quotation may be suspended by SIX Swiss Exchange if large price fluctuations are observed, or if
important, price-sensitive information is about to be disclosed, or in other situations that might
endanger fair and orderly trading. Surveillance and monitoring is the responsibility of SIX Swiss
Exchange as the organizer of the market. The aim of such self-regulation is to ensure transparency,
fair trading and an orderly market.
Clearing, Payment and Settlement
Clearing and settlement of securities listed on SIX Swiss Exchange is made through SIS. Delivery
against payment of exchange transactions usually occurs two trading days after the trade date.
Corporate Governance Directive
In Switzerland, two sets of rules are relevant with respect to corporate governance, specifically the
SIX Directive on Information Relating to Corporate Governance of December 13, 2016, as amended
(the "DCG"), and the Swiss Code of Best Practice for Corporate Governance of 2014, published by
economiesuisse (the "Swiss Code").
The DCG is binding on all companies whose equity securities have their primary or main listing on the
SIX Swiss Exchange, and thus, following the Listing, IGEA will be subject to the DCG. The DCG
requires issuers to disclose important information on the management and control mechanisms at the
highest corporate level or to give specific reasons why this information is not disclosed.
The Swiss Code was established by economiesuisse, the largest umbrella organization representing
Swiss businesses. The Swiss Code is non-binding and provides recommendations for good corporate
standards in line with international business practices on a comply-or-explain basis. As described in
more detail in "Share Capital, Shares And Certain Corporate Law Considerations—Dutch Corporate
Governance Code", instead of the Swiss Code, IGEA, as a Dutch company, follows the Dutch
Corporate Governance Code and the principles set out therein.
Directive on the Disclosure of Management Transactions
The Directive on the Disclosure of Management Transactions of March 20, 2018 of SIX Exchange
Regulation (the "DMT") entered into force on May 1, 2018. It requires issuers whose equity securities
have their primary listing on the SIX Swiss Exchange to ensure that members of their board of
directors and senior management disclose transactions they have made in the securities of their own
company. Under the DMT, the relevant individuals must disclose any such transaction to the issuer,
and the issuer must forward such information to the SIX Exchange Regulation. Such transactions are
subsequently published on a "no names basis" on the SIX Exchange Regulation's website.
Ad-hoc Publicity
Under the Listing Rules, the Company is required to publish facts that are, with respect to the price of
the Shares or other securities issued by the Company, potentially price-sensitive and that have arisen
in the sphere of the Company's business activities. Facts that are not known publicly and that, from an
ex-ante perspective, are capable of leading to a significant price change are classified as potentially
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price-sensitive. Potentially price-sensitive facts include, but are not limited to, financial figures and
reports, changes in key employee positions including changes affecting the composition of the Board
of Directors or the Executive Board, mergers, takeovers, spin-offs, restructuring operations, changes
in capital, takeover bids, changes in business operations (e.g., new sales partners, new and significant
products, withdrawal or recall of a significant product, etc.), information on trading results (e.g.,
significant changes in earnings such as profit decrease/increase or profit warning, cessation of
dividends, etc.), significant changes to the shareholder structure and financial restructuring. As a rule,
the Company will be required to disclose any potentially price-sensitive fact immediately as soon as it
has become aware of its material elements. Disclosure needs to be made to SIX Exchange Regulation
(90 minutes ahead of time if published during trading hours), to no less than two electronic
information systems widely used by professional market participants (such as Bloomberg, Reuters or
SIX Financial Information), to no less than two Swiss newspapers of national importance and, upon
request, to all interested parties.
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TAXATION
The following is a general summary of certain tax consequences of acquiring, owning and disposing of
the Shares based on the Swiss and Dutch tax laws and regulations in force on the date of this
Prospectus. Tax consequences are subject to changes in applicable law, including changes that could
have a retroactive effect. The below is neither a complete summary of the potential Swiss and Dutch
tax effects relevant to the Shares nor does the summary take into account or discuss the tax laws of
any jurisdiction other than Switzerland and the Netherlands. It also does not take into account
investors' individual circumstances. The below summary does not purport to be a legal opinion or to
address all tax aspects that may be relevant to any particular investor. Investors are urged to consult
their own tax advisors as to the tax consequences of acquiring, owning and disposing of Shares.
Swiss Taxation
The description of the Swiss tax treatment of the Shares summarized below is based on the laws as
currently in force. Such laws may be modified by subsequent amendments brought to the applicable
Swiss tax rules (potentially with retrospective effect) and their interpretation by the Swiss tax
authorities.
The statements below are a summary provided for general information purposes only and should by
no means be considered as a comprehensive analysis of all tax consequences that may apply to
holders of Shares. Holders of such Shares should contact their personal tax advisor in order to
determine the tax regime applicable to their own situation.
Shareholders not resident in Switzerland for tax purposes should primarily consult the applicable tax
laws, including applicable double taxation treaties, of their country of residence.

Swiss Federal Withholding Tax (Verrechnungssteuer)
Dividend payments and similar cash or in-kind distributions on the Shares are currently not subject to
the Swiss Federal Withholding Tax (Verrechnungssteuer), since the Company was duly incorporated
and is validly existing under Dutch laws and domiciled in the Netherlands and provided that the
Company is neither managed in nor controlled out of Switzerland (tatsächliche Leitung).

Individual and Corporate Income Tax on Dividends
Non-Resident Shareholders
Shareholders not resident in Switzerland for tax purposes who, during the relevant tax year, have not
engaged in a trade or business carried out through a permanent establishment or a fixed place of
business located in Switzerland for tax purposes, will not be subject to Swiss federal, cantonal and
communal income tax on dividends and similar distributions on the Shares (including dividends on
liquidation proceeds and stock dividends) or on capital gains realized on the sale or other disposal of
the Shares.

Resident Individuals
Individuals resident in Switzerland for tax purposes holding the Shares as part of their private assets
(Privatvermögen) and receiving dividends and similar distributions (including liquidation proceeds and
stock dividends) from the Company must include these distributions in their personal tax return. Such
individuals will be subject to federal, cantonal and communal income tax on any net taxable income
for the relevant tax period.
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Individuals resident in Switzerland for tax purposes holding the Shares as part of their business assets
(Geschäftsvermögen), including individuals qualifying as professional securities dealers
(gewerbsmässige Wertschriftenhändler), and non-resident individuals holding the Shares as part of a
permanent establishment or a fixed place of business located in Switzerland are required to include all
taxable distributions received on the Shares in their income statements. Such individuals will be
subject to federal, cantonal and communal income tax on any net taxable income for the relevant tax
period.
Under certain circumstances, resident individuals may benefit from a participation relief with respect
to dividend distributions (Teilbesteuerungsverfahren), provided their investment in Shares represents
at the time of the distribution at least 10% of the share capital of the Company.

Resident Corporations
Corporations resident in Switzerland for tax purposes and non-resident corporations holding the
Shares as part of a Swiss permanent establishment are required to include all taxable distributions
received on the Shares in their profit and loss statement relevant for tax purposes. Such corporations
will be subject to federal, cantonal and communal corporate income tax on any net taxable profits for
the relevant tax period. Under certain circumstances, such corporations may benefit from participation
exemption with respect to dividend distributions (Beteiligungsabzug), provided their investment in
Shares represents at the time of the distribution at least 10% of the share capital of the Company or
gives entitlement to at least 10% of the profits and reserves of the Company, respectively, or the fair
market value of the investment in Shares amounts to at least CHF 1 million.

Wealth and Capital Tax on Holding of Shares
Non-Resident Shareholders
Shareholders not resident in Switzerland for tax purposes who, during the relevant tax year, have not
engaged in a trade or business carried out through a permanent establishment or a fixed place of
business situated in Switzerland for tax purposes are not subject to Swiss cantonal and communal net
wealth tax or capital tax.

Resident Individuals
Individuals resident in Switzerland for tax purposes and non-resident individuals holding the Shares as
part of a Swiss permanent establishment or a fixed place of business located in Switzerland are
required to report their Shares in their tax return as part of their overall assets. Such assets are
subject to net wealth tax at cantonal and communal level, but not at federal level.

Resident Corporations
Corporations resident in Switzerland or non-resident corporations with a Swiss permanent
establishment are subject to cantonal and communal capital tax, levied on their taxable equity.

Capital Gains on Disposal of Shares
Non-Resident Shareholders
Shareholders not resident in Switzerland for tax purposes who, during the relevant tax year, have not
engaged in a trade or business carried out through a permanent establishment or a fixed place of
business situated in Switzerland for tax purposes are not subject to any Swiss federal, cantonal and
communal income tax on capital gains realized on the sale or other disposition of the Shares.
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Resident Individuals
Individuals resident in Switzerland for tax purposes holding the Shares as part of their private assets
(Privatvermögen) are, in principle, exempt from Swiss federal, cantonal and communal tax on capital
gains realized on the sale or other disposal of the Shares. Under certain circumstances, however, such
income may be requalified into taxable investment income. In particular in the event of a repurchase
of the Shares by the Company, any difference between the nominal value (and capital contribution
reserves) of the Shares and the repurchase price qualifies as taxable investment income insofar as the
Shares are repurchased for the purpose of a capital reduction or if such Shares are not resold by the
Company within a period of six years.
Individuals resident in Switzerland for tax purposes holding the Shares as part of their business assets
(Geschäftsvermögen), including individuals qualifying as professional securities dealers
(gewerbsmässige Wertschriftenhändler), and non-resident individuals holding the Shares as part of a
permanent establishment or a fixed place of business located in Switzerland are subject to income tax
on capital gains realized on the sale or other disposal of the Shares. Under certain circumstances,
such individuals may benefit from a participation relief with respect to capital gains realized on the
sale or other disposal of the Shares (Teilbesteuerungsverfahren), provided such Shares were held for
at least one year at the time of the disposal and represent at least 10% of the share capital of the
Company.

Resident Corporations
Corporations resident in Switzerland for tax purposes and non-resident corporations holding the
Shares as part of a Swiss permanent establishment are subject to corporate income tax on capital
gains realized on the sale or other disposal of the Shares. Under certain circumstances, such
corporations may benefit from participation exemption with respect to capital gains realized on the
sale or other disposal of the Shares (Beteiligungsabzug), provided such Shares were held for at least
one year at the time of the disposal and represent at least 10% of the share capital of the Company
or give entitlement to at least 10% of the profits and reserves of the Company, respectively.

Swiss Securities Transfer Tax and SIX Swiss Exchange Turnover Fee
The purchase or sale of the Shares may be subject to Swiss securities transfer tax (Umsatzabgabe) at
a current rate of up to 0.30% (full rate for foreign shares) calculated on the transaction price, if (i) a
Swiss securities dealer as defined in the Swiss Federal Stamp Duty Act (e.g. a Swiss bank) is involved
and (ii) no exemption applies. Further, such transactions may be subject to the SIX Swiss Exchange
turnover fee.
The following categories of institutional investors are, in principle, exempt from their part of the Swiss
securities transfer tax: foreign states and foreign central banks, domestic and foreign collective
investment schemes, foreign social security institutions and pension funds, certain foreign life
insurance companies and foreign companies not listed on a Swiss stock exchange.

International Automatic Exchange of Information in Tax Matters
Switzerland has concluded an agreement with the EU on the automatic exchange of information
("AEOI") in tax matters (the "AEOI Agreement"). This AEOI Agreement entered into force as of
January 1, 2017 and applies to all member states. Furthermore, on January 1, 2017, the multilateral
competent authority agreement on the automatic exchange of financial account information and,
based on such agreement, a number of bilateral AEOI agreements with other jurisdictions entered into
force. Based on the AEOI Agreement and other bilateral AEOI agreements and the implementing laws
of Switzerland, Switzerland collects data in respect of financial assets, which may include Shares, held
in, and income derived thereon and credited to, accounts or deposits with a paying agent in
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Switzerland for the benefit of individuals resident in a EU member state or in a treaty state since
2017, and exchanges it since 2018. Switzerland has signed and is expected to sign AEOI agreements
with other countries. A list of such agreements of Switzerland in effect or signed and becoming
effective can be found on the website of the State Secretariat for International Finance (SIF).

Swiss Facilitation of the Implementation of the U.S. Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act
Switzerland has concluded an intergovernmental agreement with the U.S. to facilitate the
implementation of the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA). The agreement ensures that the
accounts held by U.S. persons with Swiss financial institutions are disclosed to the U.S. tax authorities
either with the consent of the account holder or by means of group requests within the scope of
administrative assistance. Information will not be transferred automatically in the absence of consent,
and instead will be exchanged only within the scope of administrative assistance on the basis of the
double taxation agreement between the U.S. and Switzerland. On October 8, 2014, the Swiss Federal
Council approved a mandate for negotiations with the U.S. on changing the current direct-notificationbased regime to a regime where the relevant information is sent to the Swiss Federal Tax
Administration, which in turn provides the information to the U.S. tax authorities.
Dutch Taxation
This section outlines the principal Dutch tax consequences of the acquisition, holding, settlement,
redemption and disposal of the Shares. It does not present a comprehensive or complete description
of all aspects of Dutch tax law which could be relevant to a Shareholder. For Dutch tax purposes, a
Shareholder may include an individual or entity not holding the legal title to the Shares, but to whom,
or to which, the Shares are, or the income from the Shares is, nevertheless attributed based either on
this individual or entity owning a beneficial interest in the Shares or on specific statutory provisions.
These include statutory provisions attributing Shares to an individual who is, or who has directly or
indirectly inherited from a person who was, the settlor, grantor or similar originator of a trust,
foundation or similar entity that holds the Shares.
This section is intended as general information only. Shareholders should consult their own tax advisor
regarding the tax consequences of any acquisition, holding or disposal of Shares.
This section is based on Dutch tax law as applied and interpreted by Dutch tax courts and as
published and in effect on the date of the Prospectus, including the tax rates applicable on that date,
without prejudice to any amendments introduced at a later date and implemented with or without
retroactive effect.
Any reference in this section to Dutch taxes, Dutch tax or Dutch tax law should be construed as a
reference to any taxes of any nature levied by or on behalf of the Netherlands or any of its
subdivisions or taxing authorities or to the law governing such taxes, respectively. The Netherlands
means the part of the Kingdom of the Netherlands located in Europe.
Any reference made to a treaty for the avoidance of double taxation concluded by the Netherlands
includes the Tax Regulation for the Kingdom of the Netherlands (Belastingregeling voor het
Koninkrijk), the Tax Regulation for the State of the Netherlands (Belastingregeling voor het land
Nederland), the Tax Regulations for the Netherlands and Curacao (Belastingregeling Nederland
Curacao), the Tax Regulations for the Netherlands and St. Maarten (Belastingregeling Nederland Sint
Maarten) and the Agreement between the Taipei Representative Office in the Netherlands and the
Netherlands Trade and Investment Office in Taipei for the avoidance of double taxation. This section
only provides a general outline of the Dutch tax consequences regarding the Shares on the basis of
Dutch tax law, without taking into consideration any provisions that might be applicable in treaties for
the avoidance of double taxation, unless stated otherwise.
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This section does not describe any Dutch tax considerations or consequences that may be relevant
where a Shareholder:
(i)

is an individual and the Shareholder's income or capital gains derived from the Shares are
attributable to employment activities, the income from which is taxable in the Netherlands;

(ii) has a substantial interest (aanmerkelijk belang) or a fictitious substantial interest
(fictiefaanmerkelijkbelang) in the Company within the meaning of chapter 4 of the Dutch
Income Tax Act 2001 (Wet inkomstenbelasting 2001). Generally, a Shareholder has a
substantial interest in the Company if the Shareholder, alone or – in case of an individual –
together with a partner for Dutch tax purposes, or any relative by blood or by marriage in the
ascending or descending line (including foster-children) of either of them, owns or holds, or is
deemed to own or hold, certain rights to shares, including rights to directly or indirectly
acquire shares, directly or indirectly representing 5% or more of the Company's issued capital
as a whole or of any class of Shares or profit participating certificates (winstbewijzen) relating
to 5%;
(iii) is an entity which under the Dutch Corporate Income Tax Act 1969 (Wet op de
vennootschapsbelasting 1969) (the "CITA") is not subject to Dutch corporate income tax
(such as, but not limited to, a foundation that does not conduct a business) or is fully or partly
exempt from Dutch corporate income tax (such as a qualifying pension fund);
(iv) is an investment institution (beleggingsinstelling) as described in Section 6a (vrijgestelde
beleggingsinstelling) or 28 (fiscale beleggingsinstelling) CITA; or
(v) is required to apply the participation exemption (deelnemingsvrijstelling) with respect to the
Shares (as defined in Section 13 CITA). Generally, a Shareholder is required to apply the
participation exemption if it is subject to Dutch corporate income tax and it, or a related
entity, holds an interest of 5% or more of the nominal paid-up share capital in the Company.

Withholding Tax
A Shareholder is generally subject to Dutch dividend withholding tax at a rate of 15% on dividends
distributed by the Company. Generally, the Company is responsible for the withholding of such
dividend withholding tax at source.
Dividends distributed by the Company include, but are not limited to:
(i)

distributions of profits in cash or in kind, whatever they be named or in whatever form;

(ii) proceeds from the liquidation of the Company or proceeds from the repurchase of Shares by
the Company, other than as a temporary portfolio investment (tijdelijke belegging), in excess
of the average paid-in capital recognized for Dutch dividend withholding tax purposes;
(iii) the par value of the Shares issued to a Shareholder or an increase in the par value of the
Shares, to the extent that no related contribution, recognized for Dutch dividend withholding
tax purposes, has been made or will be made; and
(iv) partial repayment of paid-in capital, that is
-

not recognized for Dutch dividend withholding tax purposes, or

-

recognized for Dutch dividend withholding tax purposes, to the extent that the Company
has "net profits" (zuivere winst), unless (a) the general meeting of shareholders has
resolved in advance to make this repayment, and (b) the par value of the Shares
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concerned has been reduced by an equal amount by way of an amendment to the
Articles of Association of the Company. The term "net profits" includes anticipated profits
that have yet to be realized.
If a Shareholder is resident or deemed to be resident in the Netherlands, he or she is generally
entitled to a credit for any Dutch dividend withholding tax against the Dutch tax liability of such
Shareholder and to a refund of any residual Dutch dividend withholding tax.
Depending on specific circumstances, a Shareholder resident in a country other than the Netherlands
may be entitled to exemptions from, reduction of, or full or partial refund of, Dutch dividend
withholding tax under Dutch law, EU law or treaties for the avoidance of double taxation.
A Shareholder that is resident (i) in an EU member state, or (ii) in a state that is a party to the
Agreement on the EEA (Iceland, Liechtenstein or Norway), or (iii) in a designated third state with
which the Netherlands has agreed to an arrangement for the exchange of information on tax matters,
is entitled to a full or partial refund of Dutch dividend withholding tax incurred in respect of the Shares
if the final tax burden in respect of the dividends distributed by the Company of a comparable Dutch
resident shareholder is lower than the withholding tax incurred by the non-Dutch resident
Shareholder. The refund is granted upon request, and is subject to conditions and limitations. No
entitlement to a refund exists if the disadvantage for the non-Dutch resident Shareholder is entirely
compensated in the state of residence of such Shareholder under the provisions of a treaty for the
avoidance of double taxation concluded between this state of residence and the Netherlands.
According to Dutch domestic anti-dividend stripping rules, no credit against Dutch tax, exemption
from, reduction, or refund of Dutch dividend withholding tax will be granted if the recipient of the
dividends paid by the Company is not considered to be the beneficial owner (uiteindelijk gerechtigde)
of those dividends.
The Dutch Dividend Withholding Tax Act 1965 (Wet op de dividendbelasting 1965) ("DWTA")
provides for a non-exhaustive negative description of a beneficial owner. According to the DWTA, a
Shareholder will not be considered the beneficial owner of the dividends for this purpose if as a
consequence of a combination of transactions:
(i)

a person other than the Shareholder wholly or partly, directly or indirectly, benefits from the
dividends;

(ii) whereby this other person retains or acquires, directly or indirectly, an interest similar to that
in the Shares on which the dividends were paid; and
(iii) that other person is entitled to a credit, reduction or refund of Dutch dividend withholding tax
that is less than that of the Shareholder.

Taxes on Income and Capital Gains
Residents of the Netherlands
The description of certain Dutch tax consequences in this section is only intended for the following
Shareholders:
(i)

individuals who are resident or deemed to be resident in the Netherlands ("Dutch Resident
Individual"); and

(ii) entities or enterprises that are subject to the CITA and are resident or deemed to be resident
in the Netherlands ("Dutch Resident Corporate Entities").
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Dutch Resident Individuals engaged or deemed to be engaged in an enterprise or in miscellaneous
activities
Dutch Resident Individuals engaged or deemed to be engaged in an enterprise or in miscellaneous
activities (resultaat uit overige werkzaamheden) are generally subject to income tax at statutory
progressive rates with a maximum of 49.5% on any benefits derived or deemed to be derived from
the Shares, including any capital gains realized on any disposal of the Shares, where those benefits
are attributable to:
(i)

an enterprise from which a Dutch Resident Individual derives profits, whether as an
entrepreneur (ondernemer) or by being co-entitled (medegerechtigde) to the net worth of this
enterprise other than as an entrepreneur or shareholder; or

(ii) miscellaneous activities, including activities which are beyond the scope of active portfolio
investment activities (meer dan normaal vermogensbeheer).

Dutch Resident Individuals not engaged or deemed to be engaged in an enterprise or in miscellaneous
activities
Generally, the Shares held by a Dutch Resident Individual who is not engaged or deemed to be
engaged in an enterprise or in miscellaneous activities, or who is so engaged or deemed to be
engaged but whose Shares are not attributable to that enterprise or miscellaneous activities, will be
subject to annual income tax imposed on a fictitious yield on the Shares. The Shares held by this
Dutch Individual will be taxed under the regime for savings and investments (inkomen uit sparen en
beleggen). Irrespective of the actual income or capital gains realized, the annual taxable benefit from
a Dutch Resident Individual's assets and liabilities taxed under this regime, including the Shares, is set
at a percentage of the positive balance of the fair market value of these assets, including the Shares,
and the fair market value of these liabilities on January 1 of every calendar year. The percentage,
which is subject to an annual indexation, increases. Below the applicable percentages have been
mentioned, assuming that the Shareholder does not have a fiscal partner:
(i)

from 1.898% over the first EUR 50,000;

(ii) to 4.501% over EUR 50,001 up to and including EUR 950,000; and
(iii) to a maximum of 5.69% over EUR 950,001 or higher.
No taxation occurs if this positive balance does not exceed a certain threshold (heffingvrij vermogen).
The threshold amounts to EUR 50,000 (no fiscal partner) or EUR 100,000 (with a fiscal partner). The
fair market value of assets, including the Shares, and liabilities that are taxed under this regime is
measured exclusively on January 1 of every calendar year. The tax rate under the regime for savings
and investments is a flat rate of 31%.

Dutch Resident Corporate Entities
Dutch Resident Corporate Entities are generally subject to corporate income tax at statutory rates up
to 25% on any benefits derived or deemed to be derived from the Shares, including any capital gains
realized on their disposal, unless the participation exemption applies (see above under (v)).

Non-Residents of the Netherlands
The description of certain Dutch tax consequences in this section is only intended for the following
Shareholders:
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(i)

individuals who are not resident and not deemed to be resident in the Netherlands ("NonDutch Resident Individuals"); and

(ii) entities that are not resident and not deemed to be resident in the Netherlands ("Non-Dutch
Resident Corporate Entities").

Non-Dutch Resident Individuals
A Non-Dutch Resident Individual will not be subject to any Dutch taxes on income or capital gains
derived from the purchase, ownership and disposal or transfer of the Shares, other than withholding
tax as described above, unless:
(i)

the Non-Dutch Resident Individual derives profits from an enterprise, whether as entrepreneur
or by being co-entitled to the net worth of this enterprise other than as an entrepreneur or
shareholder and this enterprise is fully or partly carried on through a permanent establishment
(vaste inrichting) or a permanent representative (vaste vertegenwoordiger) in the
Netherlands, to which the Shares are attributable;

(ii) the Non-Dutch Resident Individual derives benefits from miscellaneous activities carried on in
the Netherlands in respect of the Shares, including activities which are beyond the scope of
active portfolio investment activities; or
(iii) the Non-Dutch Individual is entitled to a share - other than by way of securities - in the profits
of an enterprise, which is effectively managed in the Netherlands and to which enterprise the
Shares are attributable.

Non-Dutch Resident Corporate Entities
A Non-Dutch Resident Corporate Entity will not be subject to any Dutch taxes on income or capital
gains derived from the purchase, ownership and disposal or transfer of the Shares, other than
withholding tax as described above, unless:
(i)

the Non-Dutch Resident Corporate Entity derives profits from an enterprise, which is fully or
partly carried on through a permanent establishment or a permanent representative in the
Netherlands to which the Shares are attributable; or

(ii) the Non-Dutch Resident Corporate Entity is entitled to a share in the profits - other than by
way of securities - of an enterprise or a co-entitlement to the net worth of an enterprise,
which is effectively managed in the Netherlands and to which enterprise the Shares are
attributable.
Under certain specific circumstances, Dutch taxation rights may be restricted for Non-Dutch Resident
Individuals and Non-Dutch Resident Corporate Entities pursuant to treaties for the avoidance of
double taxation.

Dutch Gift Tax or Inheritance Tax
No Dutch gift tax or inheritance tax is due in respect of any gift of the Shares by, or inheritance of the
Shares on the death of, a Shareholder, unless:
(i)

the Shareholder is resident, or is deemed to be resident, in the Netherlands at the time of the
gift or death of the Shareholder;
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(ii) the Shareholder dies within 180 days after the date of the gift of the Shares and was, or was
deemed to be, resident in the Netherlands at the time of the Shareholder's death but not at
the time of the gift; or
(iii) the gift of the Shares is made under a condition precedent and the Shareholder is resident, or
is deemed to be resident, in the Netherlands at the time the condition is fulfilled.

Other Taxes and Duties
No other Dutch taxes, including taxes of a documentary nature, such as capital tax, stamp or
registration tax or duty, are payable by, or on behalf of, the Shareholder by reason only of the
purchase, ownership and disposal of the Shares.

Residency
A Shareholder will not become a resident or deemed resident of the Netherlands by reason only of
holding the Shares.
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GENERAL INFORMATION
Information on Legal Form, Jurisdiction of Incorporation, Date of Incorporation, Duration,
Registered Office and Chamber of Commerce
The Company is a public limited liability company (naamloze vennootschap) organized under the laws
of the Netherlands, with corporate seat in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. The Company is registered in
the Dutch Chamber of Commerce (Kamer van Koophandel) under register number 70212821. The
Company was originally incorporated on December 1, 2017 for an unlimited duration as IGEA Pharma
B.V., a private limited liability company (beslotenvennootschap) and was first entered into the Dutch
Chamber of Commerce's (Kamer van Koophandel) register on December 3, 2017. On March 16, 2018,
the Company changed its legal form from a Dutch B.V. to a Dutch N.V.
The Articles of Association of the Company in effect at the date of this Prospectus are dated
September 23, 2021.
The registered office of the Company is at Siriusdreef 17, 2132 WT, Hoofddorp, the Netherlands.
Founder of the Company
The Company was founded by Pierpaolo Cerani resident at Avenida General Carmona 1 3' j, 2765-207
Estoril, Portugal. Other than being a shareholder of the Company (indirectly through C.H.I. B.V.; see
"Significant Shareholders"), Mr. Cerani does not hold any other function within the Company.
Mr. Cerani was the subject of a criminal proceeding before the courts in Trieste, Italy. This proceeding
related to the filing of inaccurate financial statements with the tax authorities. The proceeding has
been concluded with a sanction in the amount of EUR 30,000. Other than the afore-mentioned
proceeding, Mr. Cerani is not or has not been during the past five years subject to any convictions for
finance or business-related crimes or to legal proceedings (excluding traffic violations) by statutory or
regulatory authorities (including designated professional organizations and associations) that are
continuing or have been concluded with a sanction.
Purpose and Financial Year
According to Article 2.2 of the Articles of Association, the principal purpose of the Company is:
(a)

to perform research and industrial, financial or commercial activities in the areas of
chemistry, pharmaceutics and diagnostics;

(b)

to incorporate, to participate in any way whatsoever, to manage and supervise businesses
and companies;

(c)

to finance businesses and companies;

(d)

to borrow, to lend and to raise funds, including the issue of bonds, promissory notes or
other securities or evidence of indebtedness as well as to enter into any related agreements;

(e)

to provide security or in any other way to bind itself joint or severally for any third parties;

(f)

to render advice and services to businesses and companies with which the company forms a
group and to third parties;

(g)

to grant guarantees, to bind the company and to encumber its assets for obligations of
companies and businesses with which it forms a group and for obligations of third parties;
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(h)

to acquire, manage, encumber, exploit and alienate registered property and any assets in
general;

(i)

to trade in currencies, securities and asset value in general;

(j)

to develop, exploit and trade in patents, trademarks, licenses, know-how and other
intellectual and industrial property rights;

(k)

to perform any and all activities of an industrial, financial or commercial nature;

and finally all activities which in the broadest sense relate to or promote the objects of the
Company as set out above.
The first financial year of the Company started on December 1, 2017 and will end on December 31,
2018, after which each year the Company's financial year will start on January 1 and end on
December 31.
Duration, Liquidation and Right to Liquidation Proceeds
The Articles of Association do not limit the Company's duration.
The Company may only be dissolved by a resolution of the General Meeting at the proposal of the
Management Board, subject to approval of the Supervisory Board. If the General Meeting has resolved
to dissolve the Company, the Management Board must carry out the liquidation of the Company under
the Supervisory Board's supervision, unless otherwise resolved by the General Meeting. During
liquidation, the provisions of the Articles of Association will remain in force as far as possible.
The balance of the assets of the Company remaining after all liabilities and the costs of liquidation
have been paid, shall be distributed among the Shareholders in proportion of their number of Shares.
Listing and Trading, Applicable Law and Jurisdiction
Application has been made and approval has been given by the SIX Swiss Exchange, subject to
customary conditions, for all of the New Shares to be listed according to the International Reporting
Standard and traded on the SIX Swiss Exchange. The first day of trading is expected to be on or
about September 27, 2021.
Applicable law is Swiss law and jurisdiction is the city of Zurich, Switzerland.
Liquidity Provider
The Company does no longer maintain any liquidity agreement with any third party nor does the
Company actively trade in own shares on the market.
Securities Numbers, Trading Currency of the Shares
SIX Swiss Exchange Ticker Symbol for the Shares ..........................................

IGPH

Swiss Security Number (Valorennummmer) for the Shares ..............................

41217478

International Security Identification Number (ISIN) for the Shares ..................

NL0012768675

The Company's Shares are listed and traded in Swiss francs (CHF).
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Employee Participation
As of the date of this Prospectus, the Group does not have any employee participation plans in place.
Auditors
Currently and for the financial years of the Company ended on December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018,
respectively, the independent auditors of the Company are Mazars N.V., 3067 GG, Rotterdam, the
Netherlands. Mazars N.V. is subject to supervision of the Dutch Authority for the Financial Markets
(AFM), which is a recognized foreign supervisory authority within the meaning of the Swiss Audit
Oversight Ordinance.
Under Dutch law and pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, the auditors are, to the extent
required by law, instructed by the General Meeting to audit the Annual Accounts in accordance with
article 2:393(3) DCC. The instruction may be given to a firm in which chartered accountants work
together. The Board of Directors shall nominate an auditor for instruction.
If the General Meeting fails to issue the instructions to the auditor, the Board of Directors will be
authorized to do so. The instructions issued to the auditor may be revoked by the General Meeting
and, if the Board of Directors issued the instructions, by the Board of Directors. The instructions may
only be revoked for valid reasons and in accordance with article 2:393(2) DCC.
The Blue Sky Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by Mazars Italia S.p.A., Via
Toscana 1, 00187 Rome, Italy. Mazars Italia is subject to supervision of the Commissione Nazionale
per le Società e la Borsa (CONSOB), which is a recognized foreign supervisory authority within the
meaning of the Swiss Audit Oversight Ordinance.
Information policy
The Company releases its annual financial results in the form of an annual report. Its annual report is
published in electronic form within four months of the December 31 balance sheet date. In addition,
results for the first half of each financial year are released in electronic form within three months of
the June 30 balance sheet date. The Company's annual report and half-year results will be announced
via press releases and media and investor conferences in person or via telephone.
Copies of all information and documents pertaining to press releases, media conferences, investor
updates, and similar documents can be downloaded from the Company's website (see "—Weblinks"
below).
Weblinks
The Company's website: .................... <http://www.igeapharma.nl>
E-mail distribution list (push
<https://www.igeapharma.nl/corporate-information>
system): ...........................................
Ad-hoc messages (pull system): ......... <https://www.igeapharma.nl/category/ad-hocannouncement-pursuant-to-article-53-lr/>
Financial reports: .............................. <https://www.igeapharma.nl/category/financial-reports/>
Corporate calendar: ........................... <https://www.igeapharma.nl/corporate-calendar/>
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Listing Agent
Lenz & Staehelin, acting as recognized representative pursuant to article 58a of the Listing Rules, has
filed on behalf of the Company the application for the listing of the New Shares in accordance with the
International Reporting Standard of SIX Swiss Exchange.
Paying, Transfer and Settlement Agent
Van Lanschot Kempen N.V. is acting as the Company's issuing, transfer, paying, proxy and settlement
agent.
Swiss Paying Agent
For as long as the Shares are listed on the SIX Swiss Exchange, the Company will maintain a paying
agent in Switzerland. The Swiss paying agent for the Shares is Banque Cramer & Cie SA.
Notices
Notices to the Shareholders are generally validly made by way of publication of such notices on the
Company's website. With respect to the convocation of General Meetings, see "Share Capital, Shares
and Certain Corporate Law Considerations—General Meeting".
Any notices containing or announcing or amendments or changes to the Listing or to this Prospectus
will be announced through electronic media. Notices required under the Listing Rules will be published
in
electronic
form
on
the
website
of
SER
(currently
at
<https://www.serag.com/en/resources/notifications-market-participants/official-notices.html#/l>).
Amendments
or
changes so notified will be deemed to constitute an amendment or supplement of this Prospectus.
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Audited consolidated and company financial statements of IGEA Pharma N.V.
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Section III – Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated balance sheet (*)
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)
Notes

2020

2019

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Non current assets

7
8
9

23.9
417.7
441.6

59.5
25.9
410.8
496.2

Inventories
Trade receivables
Other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

11
12
13
14

22.7
43.8
88.5
134.5
289.5

13.6
110.7
446.4
570.7

731.1

1,066.9

ASSETS

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Reserves
Accumulated loss
Equity attributable to owners of IGEA Pharma N.V.
Non-controlling interests
Total shareholders' equity

15
16

296.5
5,619.8
(5,698.8)
217.5
(33.0)
184.5

296.5
4,838.9
(4,568.2)
567.2
(23.4)
543.8

Financial debts
Non-current liabilities

17

24.4
24.4

-

Trade and other payables
Financial debts
Lease liabilities
Accruals
Current liabilities

18
17
8
19

219.5
144.0
158.7
522.2

257.0
45.2
27.2
193.7
523.1

731.1

1,066.9

Total equity and liabilities
(*)

After appropriation of result

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)
Notes
Revenue
Cost of sales
Gross result

20

2020

2019

79.2
(290.9)
(211.7)

1.4
(439.9)
(438.5)

Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Other income
Other expenses
Operating result

20
20
20
21
21

(59.3)
(176.3)
(571.7)
321.4
(267.5)
(965.1)

(122.1)
(528.7)
(841.1)
0.6
(1,929.8)

Finance income
Finance costs
Result before income tax

22
22

14.8
(188.0)
(1,138.3)

34.6
(12.7)
(1,907.9)

Income tax expense
Result of the period

23

(1.9)
(1,140.2)

(1,907.9)

(1,130.6)
(9.6)
(1,140.2)

(1,907.1)
(0.8)
(1,907.9)

(0.045)
(0.044)

(0.076)
(0.076)

Attributable to:
Owners of IGEA Pharma N.V.
Non-controlling interests

24
24

Basic loss per share (in USD)
Diluted loss per share (in USD)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)

Result of the period
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Other comprehensive result for the period, net of tax
Total comprehensive result for the period
Attributable to:
Owners of IGEA Pharma N.V.
Non-controlling interests

2020

2019

(1,140.2)

(1,907.9)

222.9
222.9

(60.9)
(60.9)

(917.3)

(1,968.8)

(907.7)
(9.6)
(917.3)

(1,968.0)
(0.8)
(1,968.8)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)

Notes
Balance at 31 December 2018

Attributable to owners of
IGEA Pharma N.V.
Share
Retained
capital
Reserves earnings

Non
controll.
interest

Total

296.5

4,938.6

(2,661.1)

(22.6)

2,551.4

Result of the period
Other comprehensive result for the period
Total comprehensive result for the period

-

(60.9)
(60.9)

(1,907.1)
(1,907.1)

(0.8)
(0.8)

(1,907.9)
(60.9)
(1,968.8)

Purchase (net of sales) of treasury shares
Discontinued subsidiary
Total transactions with owners

-

(39.4)
0.6
(38.8)

-

-

(39.4)
0.6
(38.8)

Balance at 31 December 2019

296.5

4,838.9

(4,568.2)

(23.4)

543.8

Balance at 1 Janaury 2020

296.5

4,838.9

(4,568.2)

(23.4)

543.8

-

222.9
222.9

(1,130.6)
(1,130.6)

(9.6)
(9.6)

(1,140.2)
222.9
(917.3)

-

558.0
558.0

-

-

558.0
558.0

296.5

5,619.8

(5,698.8)

(33.0)

184.5

Result of the period
Other comprehensive result for the period
Total comprehensive result for the period
Non-redeemable loans
convertible into IGEA shares only
Total transactions with owners

16

Balance at 31 December 2020

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)
Notes
Cash generated from operations
Interest and income tax paid
Net cash flow from operating activities

25.1

Purchase of intangible assets
Cash flow from investing activities
Purchase (net of sale) of treasury shares
Proceeds from financial debts
Proceeds from issuance of non-redeemable loans, convertible into IGEA shares only
Repayments of financial debts, including lease liabilities
Finance cost
Cash flow from financing activities

17
17
8

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Net effect of currency translation
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

2020

2019

(901.0)
(901.0)

(1,436.4)
(1,436.4)

-

(175.2)
(175.2)

30.8
558.0
(27.2)
(2.6)
559.0

(39.4)
45.2
(60.6)
(6.8)
(61.6)

(342.0)
446.4
30.1
134.5

(1,673.2)
2,152.0
(32.4)
446.4

25.2

Non-cash transactions

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2020
1

General information

IGEA Pharma N.V. is incorporated under Dutch law (naamloze vennootschap) and registered with the trade register of the
Dutch Chamber of Commerce of Amsterdam (Kamer van Koophandel) under number 70212821. The Company
headquarter and registered office is in Siriusdreef 17, 2123 WT Hoofddorp, the Netherlands. The principal place of business
is in the US. The consolidated financial statements 2020 of the Company include the Company and its subsidiaries. Unless
the context indicates otherwise, all reference to ‘IGEA’ or the ‘Company’ or the ‘Group’ refer to IGEA Pharma N.V and
its consolidated subsidiaries.
IGEA focuses on health-tech and med-tech products and devices. Health-tech products are exclusively preventative. IGEA
commercializes an Alzheimer’s prevention set (which includes ’Alz1’, an at-home lab test kit to measure non-bound copper
in the blood and a natural dietary supplement branded ‘Alz1 Tab’ designed to reduce blood heavy metals content) and
expects to integrate the non-bound copper detection-based pipeline with a diabetes type II prevention set (‘Dbt2’) in 2021.
Non-bound copper is an expected Alzheimer’s and diabetes type II associated biomarker. Controlling non-bound copper
can contribute to reduce the risk of Alzheimer’s and diabetes type II. IGEA furthermore commercializes a COVID19 rapid
test for the detection of IgM and IgG SARS-CoV-2 related antibodies. Med-tech products focuses on selected solutions
and specialties. IGEA commercializes dry aerosol generators for air and inanimate environmental surfaces sanitization and
sterilization and air purification devices.
These Group consolidated financial statements have been approved for disclosure on 31 May 2021 and are subject to
approval of the general meeting.

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

2.1

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS EU) and Title 9 Chapter 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. The presentation currency is USD.
All figures included in these consolidated financial statements and notes are rounded to the USD thousands, except when
otherwise indicated.
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS EU requires the use of estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ
from those estimates. It also requires management to make judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4 ‘Critical estimates and judgements’ of these consolidated
financial statements.
2.2

Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has direct or indirect control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.
The following legal entities are subsidiaries of IGEA and together form the Group:
Name
IGEA Pharma NV
IGEA Research Corporation

Country
Hoofddorp, the Netherlands
Miami, United States

Consolid.
full

Ownership interest
2020
2019
parent
parent
98.67%
98.67%
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The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the group. The difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value
of net assets of the subsidiary is recognized in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
2.3

Segment reporting

The Group operates in one segment, which is the commercialization of health-tech and med-tech solutions. A small
management team that reports to the Chief Executive Officer comprehensively manages the entire business. The operating
decision-maker is the Chief Executive Officer who reviews the Group operations and makes decisions in the segment. The
activities of the Group are not affected by any significant seasonal effect. The Group is focused on the US market and
operates on other markets with an opportunistic approach, but the Group does not consider geographies to be separate
segments.
2.4

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in USD, which is IGEA’s presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are recognized in the statement of profit or
loss.
Group companies
Assets and liabilities of Group entities using a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency using year-end rates of exchange. Income and expenses and cash flows are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case they are translated at the dates of the transactions). All resulting translation
differences are recognized directly in other comprehensive income. On the divestment of a foreign entity, the identified
cumulative currency translation difference relating to that foreign entity is recognized in income as part of the gain or loss
on divestment. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
2.5

Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical costs include
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the assets’
carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. Gains and
losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the statement of profit
or loss. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate costs to residual values over each asset’s
estimated useful lives as follows:
−
−
−

Leasehold improvements: over life of lease (at present: less than 1 year)
Lab equipment: 5 years
Furniture and fixtures: 7 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. Where the
carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount.
2.6

Leases

From 1 January 2019, nearly all contracts that convey the right to use an underlying physical asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration are recognized as a right-of-use asset together with a corresponding liability at the date at which
the leased asset is available for use, except for leases with a term of twelve months or less (short-term leases) and low value
leases. For these short-term and low value leases, the Group recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. In determining the lease term, management consider all facts and circumstances
that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option. Extension option
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are only considered if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised
if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances, that is within the control of the lessees, occurs.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The lease liabilities include the
net present value of the future payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily
determinable, an incremental borrowing rate, being the rate that the Group would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset, in a similar economic environment. Lease payments are allocated
between principal and finance cost. The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the amount of
the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, adjusted for any lease payments made at or prior to the
commencement date of the lease, any lease incentive received, and any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, and
expected costs for obligations to dismantle and remove right-of-use assets when they are no longer used.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
Right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the balance sheet carrying amount may
not be recoverable using cash flow projections for the useful life.
2.7

Intangible assets

Separately acquired intangible assets are shown at cost. Intangible assets acquired through a business combination are
recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised
on a straight-line basis over the useful economic life, which for patent and similar rights is 12 years as at 31 December
2020 (previous period: 13 years), and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may
be impaired:
Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized.
2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
2.9

Financial instruments

2.9.1

Financial assets

The classification of financial assets depends on the Group’s business model for holding the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. The Group has only one category of financial assets which is ‘Financial assets at
amortized cost’. Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly related transaction costs if applicable
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. See
note 3 for more information.
Trade receivables
Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method. Due to their short-term nature, their carrying amount generally correspond to their fair value.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value. They only include deposits held at call with financial institutions
immediately available for use by the Group.
2.9.2

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. They are
subsequently stated at amortized cost.
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Financial debts
Financial debts are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently stated at amortized
cost. Any difference between the proceeds received (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the debt period using the effective interest method. Financial debts are removed from the balance sheet
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of a financial debt that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income.
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized costs. Due to their
short-term nature, their carrying amount generally correspond to their fair value.
Lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities were included in financial debts until 31 December 2018. In adopting the new standard, liabilities
deriving from lease arrangements are classified separately.
2.10

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated market price less
applicable variable selling expenses. Inventories consist of health-tech products and devices in finished form ready for sale.
2.11

Share capital

Shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds and accounted for within equity. In cases where the costs of issuing new shares goes to the
benefit of all existing shares (listing), the issuance costs are reduced proportionally with a correction based on the issuance
parameters that occurred previously.
2.12

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments reacquired are recognized at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in the
statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference
between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized directly in share premium. Voting rights
related to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them.
2.13

Non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a change of control as transactions with
equity owners of the group. The difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiary is recognized in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are
also recorded in equity.
2.14

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
2.15

Current versus non-current classification

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/non-current classification. An asset is current
when the following is given. All other assets are classified as non-current:
−
−

It is expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle or to be realized within
twelve months after the reporting period;
Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period.

A liability is current when the following is given. All other liabilities are classified as non-current:
−

It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle or it is due to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period;
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−

2.16

There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period.
Income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
The current income tax charge is calculated based on the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Deferred
income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognised
only if it is probable that future taxable income will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases
of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
Tax is recognized in the statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it releases to items recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
2.17

Employee benefits

Short-term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service
are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Pension and other post-employment cost
The Group did not operate pension and other post-employment benefits schemes during the reporting period.
Share-based compensation
The Group did not operate equity incentive plans during the reporting period.
2.18

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for
products sold, stated net of discounts, cancellations and value added taxes, based in the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer. The Group recognizes revenue when it transfers control of the product
to a customer, which is generally when the goods have left the warehouse for shipment to the customer.
2.19

Earnings per share

Basic earnings or losses per shares are calculated by dividing the net result of the period attributable to the equity holders
of IGEA by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. The number of shares outstanding varied
as a result of different operations on the share capital structure of the Company. Diluted losses per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic losses per share to take into account the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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2.20

Related party transactions

Transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. Please
refer to note 28 for additional details.

3

Changes in accounting policies

3.1.1

Changes

There were no changes in the accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements in
respect of those adopted in the previous year.
3.1.2

New standards and interpretations

The following new, revised or amended standards and interpretations which are mandatory for the financial periods
beginning on 1 January 2020 did not have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements:
−
−
−
−

IAS 1 and IAS 8: definition of material
IFRS 3: definition of a business
IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 17: interest rate benchmark reform
Revised conceptual framework for financial reporting.

Certain new, revised or amended standards and interpretations have been published but are not yet mandatory and have not
been adopted by the Group. They are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

4

Critical estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions concerning the future that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses, and related disclosures. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making the judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities or may have a significant impact on the reported results are described below:
−

−

−

Uncertainty and ability to continue operations. On 15 April 2021, the Company entered into an agreement with
Negma Group Ltd that will make available, within the next 24 months, up to EUR 2 million to IGEA, to be use at its
discretion and which IGEA will use in pursuing ongoing efforts to establish and strengthen both acceptance and market
position for its health prevention portfolio. With this commitment, in zero coupon note tranches convertible into newly
issued shares of IGEA at a strike price of 93% of the stock price, the Group gets granted the funds management
requires essential to operate the business as expected in a scenario that does not consider the Combination and to meet
its obligations as they fall due at least through 31 May 2022, and hence these consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis. The commitment of Negma Group Ltd extends up to EUR 10 million once
the Combination is finalized, which will contribute to further strengthen the Group’s position in relation to the funds
available for the continuation of operations in 2021. However, the ability of the Group to start generating revenues
and consistent cash flows to adequately support its operations remains still uncertain, and this exposes the Group to
all the risks inherent in establishing a business;
Impairment on intangible assets. The e-commerce distribution of ‘Alz1’ in the US in the second half of 2019, for
which the Group owns certain rights to ensure protection and freedom to operate, did not grow up as expected.
Beginning of 2020, the Group diversified to the wholesale distribution, entering an exclusive partnership with Belgian
based Acalis group while maintaining own distribution right. In 2021 the Group has ensured the necessary funds to
relaunch the ‘Alz1’ e-commerce distribution and further integrate the non-bound copper detection-based pipeline with
the diabetes type II prevention set (‘Dbt2’). This strategic adjustment for 2021 could include elements triggering for
impairment. The results of the test, as further indicated under note 0, reasonably evidence that the Group strategy
continues to support the carrying value of the intangible assets concerned. This would also be confirmed by the
reference value of IGEA of approx. USD 16 million resulting from the Combination. However, it cannot be excluded
that the assumptions made will continue to exist also in the future and that the outcome of the strategies implemented
will contribute to adequately support the carrying value of intangible assets, and this exposes the Group to impairment
risks;
Deferred tax assets and liabilities. The assessment as to whether deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carry-forwards
and temporary differences have to be recognized requires significant judgment, in particular on the future availability
of taxable profits. At 31 December 2020 the Group did not capitalize any deferred tax assets because the capitalization
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criteria are not met. Deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carry-forwards and temporary differences that have not
been recognized are reported in note 23.

5

Segment information

5.1

Reportable segments

The Group has identified one single segment, related to the commercialization of health-tech and med-tech products and
devices.
5.2

Entity wide information

The geographical information about revenue, cost of sales, operating expenses and assets is as follow. Revenues for the
year ended 31 December 2020 (same as in the previous year) continues to be immaterial and of casual nature only, and
accordingly, the Group renounce to a major customers analysis:

Revenue:
Netherlands
United States
Cost of sales:
Netherlands
United States
Operating costs:
Netherlands
research and development
sales and marketing
general and administration
United States
research and development
sales and marketing
general and administration
Assets:
Netherlands
non-current
current
United States
non-current
current

6

2020

2019

78.4
0.8
79.2

1.4
1.4

(129.3)
(161.6)
(290.9)

(178.2)
(261.7)
(439.9)

(48.4)
(120.6)
(445.2)

(80.2)
(447.1)
(716.0)

(10.9)
(55.7)
(126.5)
(807.3)

(41.8)
(81.7)
(125.1)
(1,491.9)

417.7
233.0

526.0

23.9
56.5
731.1

496.2
44.7
1,066.9

Business combinations

The Group did not perform any business combination during 2020. The transactions with Meditalia Industriale SRL and
Medical Jet SRL, as announced by end of 2019 and beginning of 2020 respectively, were put on stand-by due to the sudden
shutdown in the capital markets and the various government-ordered lockdown following the global spread of COVID-19
beginning of 2020. Those announced transactions have then been progressively postponed and abandoned following to the
decision of the Group to accomplish the Combination.
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7

Property, plant, and equipment
Leasehold
Furniture
improveLab
and
ments
equipment fixtures

Total

Year ended 31 December 2019:
Cost value
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

51.4
(47.0)
4.4

156.1
(106.9)
49.2

14.4
(8.5)
5.9

221.9
(162.4)
59.5

Year ended 31 December 2020:
Opening net book amount
Depreciation charges
Closing net book amount

4.4
(4.4)
-

49.2
(29.1)
20.1

5.9
(2.1)
3.8

59.5
(35.6)
23.9

51.4
(51.4)
-

156.1
(136.0)
20.1

14.4
(10.6)
3.8

221.9
(198.0)
23.9

2020

2019

Buildings
Right-of-use assets

-

25.9
25.9

Current lease liabilities
Lease liabilities

-

27.2
27.2

Cost value
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

Depreciation charges of TUSD 35.5 (2019: TUSD 44.0) is included in ‘Cost of sales’.

8

Leases

During 2020 the Group terminated all agreement containing a lease and there is no more carrying value for right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities as at 31 December 2020 (previous period: TUSD 25.9 and TUSD 27.2 due within 1 year
respectively). The right-of-use assets is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the duration of the lease. Depreciation
charges for TUSD 25.9 (previous period: TUSD 61.9) are included in ‘Cost of sales’ for TUSD 12.9 and in ‘Sales and
marketing’ and ‘General and administration’ for TUSD 6.5 each. The interest expense for lease and the proceeds used for
repaying the lease liability during 2020 amounts to TUSD 0.6 and 27.2 respectively (2019: TUSD 4.6 and TUSD 60.6).
The Group accounts for the expenses of short-term leases of twelve months or less and low value leases on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. The expense for the year ended 31 December 2020 related to these leases amounted to TUSD 53
(2019: TUSD 26.1).
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9

Intangible assets
Patent
and similar
rights

Year ended 31 December 2019:
Cost value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

728.1
(317.3)
410.8

Year ended 31 December 2020:
Opening net book amount
Disposals*
Amortization charges
Currency translation effects
Closing net book amount

410.8
(33.6)
40.5
417.7

Cost value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

603.9
(186.2)
417.7

* Diposals include assets with cost value and accumulated amortization and impairment of TUSD 154.8 each, for a nil net amount disclosed.

Amortization expenses of TUSD 33.6 (2019: TUSD 40.3) is included in ‘Cost of sales’. The 2019 fully impaired rights
following the decision of the Group to discontinue the agreement entered in 2018 with Innbiotec Pharma SRL (formerly
Solosale SRL) were definitively disposed during the second half of 2020.
As anticipated under note 4 - subsection ‘Impairment on intangible assets’, management performed an impairment analysis
on the rights the Group hold to ensure protection and freedom to operate in the US with ‘Alz1’ and ‘Dbt2’ using a riskadjusted net present value model which contains several assumptions in order to verify the recoverable amount. Five years
of cash flow were considered from 2021 onward with no further long-term appraisal on future outcomes or terminal value
calculation. Key assumptions used are a risk adjustment factor on revenues from the e-commerce distribution in the US
(10%) and a discount rate in the form of a pre-tax weighted average cost of capital (13.5%). Other input elements for the
calculation of the net present value are based on individual arrangements together with management estimates such as
expected revenues based on kits to be sold and product-related costs considering externally available data where relevant.
The impairment test preformed, including sensitivity analysis considering reasonable changes in the risk factors, did not
result in the requirement to recognize an impairment as at the reporting date.

10

Financial instruments
2020

2019

Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets

43.8
134.5
178.3

446.4
446.4

Financial liabilities at amortized costs:
Financial debts
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Lease liabilities
Total financial liabilities

168.4
216.0
158.7
543.1

45.2
253.6
147.0
27.2
473.0

No fair value disclosure is presented for the financial instruments as their fair values approximate their carrying amounts.
The Group’s exposure to risks associated with the financial instruments is disclosed under note 26.

11

Inventories

Finished goods - at cost
Write-downs

2020

2019

53.9
(31.2)
22.7

45.1
(31.5)
13.6
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12

Trade receivables

Trade receivables
Trade receivables towards related parties
Provision for doubtful accounts
Trade receivables

13

2019

33.7
10.1
43.8

-

2020

2019

68.7
3.5
16.3
88.5

89.8
20.9
110.7

Other assets

Receivables towards tax authorities (for items not related to income tax)
Advance payments
Caution deposits and grants
Trade and other receivables

14

2020

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents refer to cash at banks exclusively and amount to TUSD 134.5 and TUDS 446.4 as at 31 December
2020 and 2019 respectively.

15

Share capital

As at 31 December 2020, the Company has an issued share capital of USD 296’542, consisting of 25’048’769 fully paidup shares with a par value of EUR 0.01 each (same as previous period) and 25’048’769 unissued authorized shares (2019:
12’524’384) the so empowered corporate body is authorized to issue within 14 December 2023 (12’524’384) and 23 March
2025 (12’524’385).

16

Reserves
Share
premium

Balance at 1 January 2019

Other Translation
reserves* reserve

Total

4,458.5

496.3

(16.2)

4,938.6
(60.9)
(39.4)
0.6
4,838.9
222.9
558.0
5,619.8

Currency translation differences
Purchase (net of sales) of treasury shares
Discontinued subsidiary
Balance at 31 December 2019

(39.4)

-

4,419.1

496.3

(60.9)
0.6
(76.5)

Currency translation differences
Issuance of non-redeemable loans, convertible into IGEA shares only
Balance at 31 December 2020

4,419.1

558.0
1,054.3

222.9
146.4

* ‘Other reserves’ as at 1 January 2019 includes any difference deriving from the capital restructuring transaction between entities under common control
performed in 2017, any difference deriving from transactions with non-controlling interests then followed during 2018 and an amount deriving from the
unconditional waiver of certain loans of shareholders towards IGEA Research Corporation without issuance of any related equity instruments as a result of
the Company’s strategy to reduce the overall Group indebtedness.

During 2020, the Company entered and converted borrowings respectively into non-interest bearing, unsecured and nonredeemable loans. Those contracts will be settled by the Company delivering 755’675 newly issued shares in exchange for
an overall cash amount received of TUSD 558.0 and have been consequently recognized as equity components.
As of 31 December 2020, the Company held 35’405 treasury shares (same as previous year). The Company does not
actively trade in own shares.
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17

Financial debts
2020

2019

Borrowings
Total

168.4
168.4

45.2
45.2

Reported as:
non-current
current
Total

24.4
144.0
168.4

45.2
45.2

2020

2019

45.2
24.4
92.5
1.9
4.4
168.4

43.0
2.2
45.2

The movement during the periods of the financial debts is as follow:

At beginning of period
Increase in borrowings
Reclassification of trade payables into financial debts
Capitalized interests on financial debts
Exchange differences
At end of the period

The increase in borrowings of TUSD 24.4 refers to a CARES Act based loan received by the Group in the US. The loan
has a maturity date of 5 year and bears an interest of 1% per year. A loan forgiveness application as ruled by the CARES
Act the has been filed on April 2021. Furthermore, trade payables for TUSD 92.5 have been reclassified into financial debts
which will be converted into unsecured, non-interest bearing and non-redeemable borrowings in 2021.

18

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Trade payables towards related parties
Tax authorities (for items not related to income tax)
Other
Trade and other payables

19

2020

2019

199.9
16.4
3.2
219.5

245.7
7.9
3.4
257.0

2020

2019

5.3
141.4
12.0
158.7

147.0
3.0
43.7
193.7

Accruals

Services
Corporate services
Facilities, rent and other occupancy cost
Other
Total
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20

Expenses

20.1

Breakdown by nature
2020

2019

Products and services
Travel expenses
Corpoprate services
Facilities, rent and other occupancy expenses
General and administration
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairment charges on intangible assets
Employee benefit expenses
Total

(293.1)
(83.5)
(427.8)
(54.0)
(11.7)
(61.4)
(33.6)
(133.1)
(1,098.2)

(844.8)
(63.9)
(542.8)
(27.6)
(14.1)
(105.9)
(40.3)
(166.8)
(125.6)
(1,931.8)

Reported as:
Cost of sales
Research and development
Sales and Marketing
General and administration
Total

(290.9)
(59.3)
(176.3)
(571.7)
(1,098.2)

(439.8)
(122.1)
(528.8)
(841.1)
(1,931.8)

The Group discloses all costs directly related to the revenue generation - regardless of the actual activity level - as ‘Cost of
sales’. They mainly include the costs for having an authorized laboratory in the US ready to operate, the cost of maintaining
freedom to operate from third party rights and the costs of the products and services sold and are relevant because of their
fixed character in respect of the actual reduced revenue level.
20.2

Employee benefit expenses

Wages and salaries
Social security charges
Total

2020

2019

(123.6)
(9.5)
(133.1)

(116.6)
(9.0)
(125.6)

As of 31 December 2020, the Group employed a total of 2 persons (full time equivalent) and the average number of
employees was 2 (previous year: 2). All employees work outside of the Netherlands.

21

Other income and expenses

Other income for TUSD 321.4 deriving from casual commercial transactions outside of the scope of the Group was
recognized during the current year as other income, against cost generated by such transactions for TUSD 267.5
consequently recognized as other expenses.

22

Finance income and costs
2020

2019

14.8
14.8

34.6
34.6

Interest on financial debts
Interest on lease
Foreign exchange losses
Finance costs

(2.0)
(0.6)
(185.4)
(188.0)

(2.2)
(4.6)
(5.9)
(12.7)

Finance result, net

(173.2)

21.9

Foreign exchange gains
Finance income
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23

Taxes

23.1

Income taxes

Current tax
Deferred tax
Total income tax

2020

2019

(1.9)
(1.9)

-

The average applicable tax rate of the Group is 26.6% (2019: 25.2%) and was determined using the domestic tax rates
applicable to results in the countries concerned including the Netherlands (25%), the US (27%) and Italy (35%). The
reconciliation of the Group’s income tax is as follow:

Net loss before income taxes
Tax income at the domestic rates applicable in the country concerned
Utilization of previous not recognized deferred tax losses
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognized
Total income tax charged to statement of profit or loss

23.2

2020

2019

(1,138.3)

(1,907.9)

295.0
11.9
(308.8)
(1.9)

484.1
(484.1)
-

Deferred taxes

The Group did not capitalize any deferred tax asset relating to tax losses carry-forwards since the criteria for recognition
are unmet. The gross value of unused tax losses which have not been capitalized as deferred tax asset amount to USD 6.5
million (2019: 5.3 million) and will expire between 2 and 5 years for USD 3.1 million (2019: 1.8 million) and in more than
5 years for USD 3.4 million (2019: 3.4 million). The Group did not recognize deferred tax liabilities on temporary
differences (2020: 2.4 million; 2019: USD 1.64 million) associated with investments in subsidiaries. Other temporary
differences do not have any material impact on these consolidated financial statements (same as previous year).

24

Losses per share

Basic loss per share is as follow:

Net loss attributable to owners of IGEA
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Basic loss per share

2020

2019

(1,130.6)
25,013,364

(1,907.1)
25,017,123

(0.045)

(0.076)

2020

2019

(1,130.6)
25,013,364
755,675
25,769,039

(1,907.1)
25,017,123
25,017,123

(0.044)

(0.076)

Diluted loss per share is as follow:

Net loss attributable to owners of IGEA
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
adjusted by potential future option rights*
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Diluted loss per share

* In 2021, the Company furthermore entered following contracts to be settled in equity instruments of the company only, impacting the weighted average
number of shares then outstanding:
−
−

right to convert, at any time after 1 July 2021 and at the discretion of C.H.I. B.V., a non-interest-bearing, unsecured and non-redeemable loan into
150’935 newly issued shares in the share capital of the Company;
commitment of Negma Group Ltd. to subscribe within a period of two years from 15 April 2021 onward and subject to Company’s drawdowns, noninterest-bearing, convertible notes for up to EUR 2 million, extendable up to EUR 10 million in case of completion of the Combination. Based on
information available on 15 April 2021, for EUR 2 million commitment, Negma Group Ltd owns rights to convert up to 6’298’549 newly issued shares
in the share capital of the Company.
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25

Cash flow information

25.1

Net cash flow from operations

Result before income tax, including discontinued operations
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of intangible assets
Exchange gain on sale of subsidiaries
Unrealized foreign currency gains
Items with cash effects of financing nature
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other assets
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Cash flow from operations

25.2

2020

2019

(1,138.3)

(1,907.9)

95.0
171.4
2.6

146.2
166.9
(0.6)
(27.3)
6.8

(9.1)
(43.7)
31.2
40.9
(51.0)
(901.0)

(4.4)
653.8
(353.8)
(116.1)
(1,436.4)

2020

2019

92.5
92.5

-

Non-cash transactions

Following non cash transactions were not included in the cash-flow statement:

Payables converted into non-redemable bonds, convertible into shares of IGEA only

26

Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to following financial risks, controlled pursuant to the Group’s risk management rules. The Group
does not hold derivative financial instruments.
26.1

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will face difficulties to meet obligations when due. Liquidity risk management
implies maintaining enough liquidity in adequate form to meet financial obligations when due. The liquidity sources of the
Group are represented by its cash and cash equivalents position of TUSD 134.5 (2019: TUSD 446.4) and the additional
funds the Group was able to ensure as further described in note 4 ‘Critical estimates and judgements’, granting herewith
the necessary liquidity reserve until revenues will reach - if ever - such an adequate level to generate cash in the manner
necessary to sustain the Group operation. Consequently, the Group is exposed to significant liquidity risk. The management
maintain detailed financial forecasts and monitors actual results on a regular basis so that measures can be taken to ensure
the Group remains solvent. The tables below show the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities at reporting
date:
0-6
months

6-12
months

1-2
years

3-5
years

over
5 years

Financial debts
Trade and other payables
Accruals
As at 31 December 2020

209.7
129.2
338.9

144.0
29.5
173.5

24.4
24.4

-

-

Financial debts
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Lease liabilities
As at 31 December 2019

165.1
147.0
27.2
339.3

45.2
88.5

-

-

-

133.7

-

-

-

26.2

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial losses to the Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations and arises mainly from the Group’s bank receivables. The creditworthiness of the bank institution is reviewed
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periodically. The maximum credit risk exposure of the Group is limited to the carrying amounts of its financial assets,
amounting at the reporting date to TUSD 134.5 (previous year: TUSD 446.4).
26.3

Capital risk

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to grant the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to get
return for shareholders and to maintain a capital structure that optimize cost of capital. The instruments for achieving an
optimal capital structure depends for the time being on external factors not entirely under the Group’s control. The Group
explore constantly the market conditions for opportunities to raise funds and optimally structure its capital. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
26.4

Market risk

Foreign exchange
Foreign exchange risk arises from future transactions and recognized financial assets and liabilities not denominated in the
Group’s functional currency. The actual level of the Group activities does not require an active management of the foreign
exchange risks different from maintaining currency correlation between financial asset and liabilities and the Group does
not considers relevant shifts in the exchange rates of all involved currencies as a realistic scenario. The Group net exposure
to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period was as follow:
2020
USD
Total financial assets
Total financial liabilities
Net

23.3
68.5
(45.2)

EUR

2019
GBP

126.0
327.6
(201.6)

43.1
(43.1)

CHF
8.9
(8.9)

USD
14.8
73.4
(58.6)

EUR
415.3
316.3
99.0

GBP

CHF

20.8
(20.8)

15.8
(15.8)

Variations in all Group currencies in respect of the USD would have an immaterial impact (same as in 2019).

27

Commitments

27.1

Capital commitments

The Group does not have capital expenditures contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognized as
liabilities (same as previous period).
27.2

Non-cancellable operating leases

The expenses deriving from short-term and low value leases during 2020 - see note 8 for further information – amounted
to TUSD 53.0 (2019: TUSD 26.1).

28

Related party transactions

Related parties also include Directors as well as key management. The following transactions were carried out with related
parties:
28.1

Board and key management compensation

Compensation of non-executive directors (formerly supervisory board members)
Compensation of executive directors (former management board members)
Compensation of other key management
Total

2020

2019

(102.0)
(70.7)
(172.7)

(7.6)
(202.1)
(39.1)
(248.8)

The detailed compensation disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 12 to 13 of this Annual Report.
None of the Non-executive Directors, the Executive Directors as well as other key management is an employee of the
Group. Services are delivered under consulting contracts with the involved person or with entities of which the involved
person is a related party. Vincenzo Moccia as well as Patrick Pozzorini deliver their consulting services through MVY Ltd
and nbp AG respectively. The Group has a net liability towards the key management of TUSD 16.4 as at 31 December
2020 (2019: TUSD 7.9), as disclosed hereunder (section 28.3).

Page 38 of 53
IGEA Pharma N.V.

www.igeapharma.nl

F-23

28.2

Transactions with other related parties

There were no transactions with other related parties during 2020 (previous period: purchase of intellectual property rights
and purchase of services in IGEA Pharma N.V. for TUSD 171.1 and TUSD 39.2 respectively) except for a convertible loan
agreement entered in April 2020 with C.H.I. B.V., a major shareholders of the Company (as further disclosed in note 1.2
‘Significant shareholders’ of Section II of this Annual Report). The loan of TEUR 400 is unsecured, non-interest-bearing
and not redeemable and grants C.H.I. B.V., at any time (starting from 1 October 2020) the option to convert the loan in full
only into 571’428 shares in the capital of IGEA, corresponding to a strike of EUR 0.70 per share. Given the suspension,
beginning of 2020, of any fundraising initiative due to the sudden shutdown in the capital market, the general downturn in
market sentiment and the various government-ordered lockdown following the first global spread of COVID-19, the
Company succeeded in negotiating alternative financing measures with its major shareholders at conditions that
management has deemed acceptable for having granted the funds considered essential to continue operate the business as
planned.
28.3

Year-end balances towards related parties

The Group has trade receivables from related parties in IGEA Pharma N.V. for TUSD 10.0 (previous year: none) and trade
and other payables toward related parties in IGEA Pharma N.V. of TUSD 16.4 (2019: TUSD 7.9).

29

Group companies

IGEA Pharma N.V. as a holding company for the Group owns the following companies:

Name
IGEA Pharma NV
IGEA Research Corporation

30

Country
Hoofddorp, the Netherlands
Miami, United States

Consolid.
full

Ownership interest
2020
2019
parent
parent
98.67%
98.67%

Auditor’s fees

Mazars's Accountsnts N.V.
audit
tax advisory services
Other Mazers member firms and affiliaites
audit
tax advisory services

Audit
Tax advisory services
Total services

2020

2019

73.8
4.3

67.9
20.4

20.0
4.0
102.1

25.0
5.0
118.3

93.8
8.3
102.1

92.9
25.4
118.3

The total of the auditing fees for the year 2020 amounts to TUSD 93.8 (2019: TUSD 92.9), of which Mazars, including
network firms, in their capacity as Group auditors, receive the full amount. Additional fee for TUSD 8.3 (2019: 25.4) were
charged by Mazars for tax matters related services.

31
−
−

−

−

Events after the balance sheet date
See note 4 - ‘Uncertainty and ability to continue operations’;
As mentioned in note 4 - ‘Uncertainty and ability to continue operations’ and elsewhere in this Annual Report, the
Group entered on April 2021 into a convertible bond commitment with Negma Group Ltd that will make available,
within the next 2 years, up to EUR 2 million, already extendable up to EUR 10 million once the Combination will be
performed, for IGEA to use at its discretion in pursuing its business programs. The commitment is structured in zero
coupon note tranches subject to Company’s drawdown, convertible into newly issued shares of IGEA at a strike of
93% of the stock market;
As mentioned in note 17 – ‘Financial debts’, trade payables for TUSD 92.5 have been reclassified into a financial debt
during 2020. In April 2021, the debt has been converted into an unsecured, non-interest bearing and non-redeemable
loan to be converted, at any time after 1 July 2021 and at the discretion of the owner, into 150’935 newly issued shares
in the share capital of the Company;
In March 2021, the Group gets granted a further CARES Act based loan of TUSD 25 with its US-based subsidiary.
The loan has a maturity date of 5 year and bears an interest of 1% per year;
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−

−

As mentioned in section 1 – ‘Outlook 2021’ and elsewhere in this Annual Report, the Group entered a business
combination process. The Combination has been structured through a contribution in-kind by the BSNR shareholders
of their ownership in BSNR into IGEA by subscribing IGEA’s newly issued shares. The reference value of BSNR has
been set by the Board in CHF 186 million (on a fully diluted and post-money basis). The extraordinary General
Meeting of IGEA approved the resolution of the Board to enter the Combination as required by Dutch law and the
Articles and resolved to appoint the Board to issue up to a maximum of 309,600,000 new shares at par, reserved for
issuance to the shareholders of BSNR only, to finalize the Combination, expected within the first half of 2021. The
Combination will qualify as a reverse acquisition, with the consolidated financial statements of IGEA after 1 January
2021 being the continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD including
IGEA from the executed Combination onward;
Given the gradual easing of the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions as well as the programs of several governments to
return economic activities to normal levels, at the date of publication of these financial statements, the Group is not
aware of any potentially adverse effect COVID-19 could have on the Group’s activities during 2021. The Group
concluded that there is no material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.
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Section IV – Company-only financial statements
Balance sheet (*)
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)
Notes

2020

2019

3
4

394.5
61.8
456.3

397.7
397.7

9.3
43.8
68.8
111.1
233.0

94.4
431.5
525.9

689.3

923.6

296.5
5,604.0
(5,683.0)
217.5

296.5
4,979.3
(4,708.6)
567.2

193.1
144.0
134.7
471.8

151.0
45.2
160.2
356.4

689.3

923.6

ASSETS
Intangible assets
Financial assets
Non current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

5
6
7

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Reserves
Accumulated loss
Total shareholders' equity

8

Trade and other payables
Financial debts
Accruals
Current liabilities

9
10
11

Total equity and liabilities

(*)

After appropriation of result
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Income statement
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)

Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross profit

Notes

2020

2019

12

78.4
(127.4)
(49.0)

2.4
(178.1)
(175.7)

Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Other income
Other expenses
Operating result

12
12
12
13
13

(48.4)
(120.6)
(445.3)
321.4
(267.5)
(609.4)

(80.2)
(447.1)
(718.4)
(1,421.4)

Finance result, net
Result before income tax

14

168.1
(441.3)

140.3
(1,281.1)

Income tax
Share in result of investments
Result of the period

15
4

(1.9)
(531.2)
(974.4)

(654.0)
(1,935.1)
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
1

General Information

Please refer to note 1 and 29 of the consolidated financial statements.

2

Basis of preparation

The company’s financial statements of IGEA have been prepared in accordance with Part 9, Book 2 of the DCC with the
application of sub 8 of article 362 allowing the use of the same accounting principles as applied for the consolidated
financial statements. These accounting principles are described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern and on a historical cost basis. The presentation currency
is USD. All figures included in these financial statements and notes are rounded (to the first decimal) to the nearest thousand
USD unit except when otherwise indicated.
In these company-only financial statements, consolidated subsidiaries are valued using the equity method. However,
goodwill on subsidiaries is presented separately under intangible assets. The carrying values of investments with a negative
equity are deducted from any long-term loan towards the related subsidiary. Provisions are formed for subsidiaries with
negative net asset value in the amount the negative net asset value exceed the value of the financial assets.
In case no other policies are mentioned, please refer to the accounting policies as described in the summary of significant
accounting policies in the consolidated financial statements of IGEA presented elsewhere in this Annual Report. For an
appropriate interpretation, the Company financial statements should be read in conjunction with these consolidated
financial statements.

3

Intangible assets
Patent
and similar
rights

Year ended 31 December 2019:
Cost value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

173.4
(173.4)
-

Year ended 31 December 2020:
Opening net book amount
Additions
Disposals*
Amortization charges
Currency translation effects
Closing net book amount

408.7
(31.3)
17.1
394.5

Cost value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

427.8
(33.3)
394.5

* Diposals include assets with cost value and accumulated amortization and impairment of TUSD 154.8 each, for a nil net amount disclosed.

The Company acquired certain intellectual property rights beginning of 2020 from its US based subsidiary IGEA Research
Corp. Amortization expenses of TUSD 31.3 (2019: TUSD 8.4) is included in ‘Cost of sales’. Please refer to note 0 of the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for any additional information.

4

Financial assets

IGEA Research Corporation, Miami, Florida, US
Movement in net asset value of investments

2020

2019

2,415.2
(2,353.3)
61.9

2,035.4
(1,637.7)
397.7
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Movement in financial assets is as follows:

At beginning of period
Borrowings to subsidiaries, net
Capitalized interests
Share in result of investments
Exchange differences
At end of the period

5

397.7
6.6
166.5
(531.2)
22.3
61.9

482.8
437.0
141.1
(654.0)
(9.2)
397.7

2020

2019

33.7
10.1
43.8

-

2020

2019

68.8
68.8

89.8
4.6
94.4

-

Other assets

Receivables towards tax authorities (for items not related to income tax)
Other

7

2019

Trade receivables

Trade receivables
Trade receivables toward related parties
Trade receivables - net

6

2020

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents refer to cash at banks exclusively, amounting to TUSD 111.1 (2019: TUSD 431.5).

8

Shareholder’s equity
Share
capital

Reserves

Accum.
loss

Total

Balance 1 Janaury 2019
Result of the period
Currency translation differences
Repurchase of treasury shares
Balance at 31 December 2019

296.5
296.5

5,051.0
(32.2)
(39.5)
4,979.3

(2,773.5)
(1,935.1)
(4,708.6)

2,574.0
(1,935.1)
(32.2)
(39.5)
567.2

Result of the period
Currency translation differences
Non-redeemable loans, convertible in shares only
Balance at 31 December 2020

296.5

66.7
558.0
5,604.0

(974.4)
(5,683.0)

(974.4)
66.7
558.0
217.5

Please refer to note 15 and 16 of the consolidated financial statements of the Company. Certain equity components in the
consolidated financial statements are not recognized in equity at company-only level, reason why the results of the period
differ slightly.

9

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Trade payables toward related parties
Total

2020

2019

176.7
16.4
193.1

143.1
7.9
151.0

Page 44 of 53
IGEA Pharma N.V.

www.igeapharma.nl

F-29

10

Financial debts

The movement in financial debts is as follow:

At beginning of period
Increase in borrowings
Reclassification of trade payables into financial debts
Capitalized interests on financial debts
Exchange differences
At end of the period

2020

2019

45.2
92.5
1.9
4.4
144.0

43.0
2.2
45.2

The increase in borrowings of TUSD 92.5 is due to the reclassification into financial debts of trade payables which will be
then converted into unsecured, non-interest bearing and non-redeemable borrowings in 2021.

11

Accruals
2020

2019

5.3
117.4
12.0
134.7

120.8
39.4
160.2

2020

2019

Products and services
Travel expenses
Corporate services
Facilities, rent and other occupancy expenses
General & administraiton
Amortisation
Impairment charges on intangible assets
Total

(227.6)
(83.0)
(388.8)
(3.4)
(7.1)
(31.8)
(741.7)

(653.3)
(61.9)
(507.0)
(26.1)
(0.3)
(8.4)
(166.8)
(1,423.8)

Reported as:
Cost of revenues
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Total

(127.4)
(48.4)
(120.6)
(445.3)
(741.7)

(178.1)
(80.2)
(447.1)
(718.4)
(1,423.8)

Services
Corporate services
Other
Total

12

13

Breakdown of expenses by nature

Other income and expenses

Please refer to note 21 of the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

14

Finance result, net
2020

2019

Interest income
Foreign exchange gains
Finance income

166.5
5.3
171.8

141.2
4.9
146.1

Interest expense
Foreign exchange losses
Finance cost

(1.9)
(1.8)
(3.7)

(2.2)
(3.6)
(5.8)

168.1

140.3

Finance result, net
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15

Income tax

Please refer to note 23.1 of the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

16

Auditor’s fee

Please refer to note 30 of the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

17

Related party transactions

Related parties include members of the Board as well as key management of the Company. The following transactions
were carried out with related parties:
17.1

Board and key management compensation

Compensation of non-executive directors (formerly supervisory board members)
Compensation of executive directors (former management board members)
Compensation of other key management
Total

2020

2019

(102.2)
(70.7)
(172.9)

(7.6)
(197.1)
(39.1)
(243.8)

Please refer to note 28.1 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and to the detailed compensation disclosures
provided in the remuneration report on pages 12 to 13 of this Annual Report for additional details.
17.2

Transactions with other related parties

No transactions with other related parties occurred during 2020 (previous year: purchase of intellectual property rights and
purchase of services for TUSD 171.1 and TUSD 39.2 respectively) except for a convertible loan agreement entered in April
2020 with C.H.I. B.V., a major shareholders of the Company (as further disclosed in note 1.2 ‘Significant shareholders’ of
Section II of this Annual Report). The loan of TEUR 400 is unsecured, non-interest-bearing and not redeemable and grants
C.H.I. B.V., at any time (starting from 1 October 2020) the option to convert the loan in full only into 571’428 shares in
the capital of IGEA, corresponding to a strike of EUR 0.70 per share. Given the suspension, beginning of 2020, of any
fundraising initiative due to the sudden shutdown in the capital market, the general downturn in market sentiment and the
various government-ordered lockdown following the first global spread of COVID-19, the Company succeeded in
negotiating alternative financing measures with its major shareholders at conditions that management has deemed
acceptable for having granted the funds considered essential to continue operate the business as planned.
17.3

Year-end balances arising from purchase of products and services

The Company has trade receivables for TUSD 10.1 (previous year: none) and trade and other payables toward related
parties of TUSD 16.4 (previous period: TUSD 7.9).
17.4

Transactions with subsidiaries

The Company acquired beginning of 2020 certain intellectual property rights form its US-based subsidiary IGEA Research
Corp. for TUSD 408.7.

18

Events after the balance sheet date

Please refer to note 30 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

19

Proposed appropriation of result for the year

The Board proposes to carry forward the loss of the year.

20

Signing of the financial statements

These financial statements have been signed by the members of the Board of Directors on 31 May 2020.
Francesco Mario Patrocollo
Chairman of the Board, non-executive director

Giovanni Ferraio
Non-executive director

Lieven Baten
Non-executive director

Vincenzo Moccia
CEO, executive director
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Rosanna Squitti
CSO, executive director
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Section V – Other information
1

Other disclosures in accordance with Dutch law requirements

1.1

Profit appropriation according to the Articles

The Board of Directors proposes to carry forward the loss of the year.
Distribution of dividends pursuant to article 10.1 will take place after the adoption of the Annual Accounts which shows
that the distribution is allowed.
The company may make distribution on Shares only to the extent that its shareholder’s equity exceeds the sum of the paidup and called-up part of the capital and the reserves which must be maintained by law or the Articles.
The Board may resolve to reserve the profits or part of the profits.
The profit remaining after application of article 10.1.3 will be at the disposal of the General Meeting.
1.2

Branch establishments

The Company has a branch establishment registered under Italian law with trade name ‘IGEA Pharma BV’.

2

Independent auditor’s report
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Watermanweg 80
P.O. Box 23123
3001 KC Rotterdam
The Netherlands
T: +31 88 277 13 92
onno.opzitter@mazars.nl

Independent auditor's report

To: The shareholders and the board of directors of IGEA Pharma N.V.

Report on the audit of the financial statements 2020 included in the annual report
Our opinion
We have audited the financial statements 2020 of IGEA Pharma N.V. based in Amsterdam. The financial
statements comprise the consolidated and company financial statements.

In our opinion:
•

the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of IGEA Pharma N.V. as at 31 December 2020 and of its result and its cash flows for 2020
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union
(EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

•

the accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
IGEA Pharma N.V. as at 31 December 2020 and of its result for 2020 in accordance with Part 9 of
Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

The consolidated financial statements comprise:
1.

the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020;

2.

the following statements for 2020: the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statements
of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows; and

3.

the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Mazars Accountants N.V. with its registered office in Rotterdam (Trade register Rotterdam nr. 24402415)
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The company financial statements comprise:
1.

the company balance sheet as at 31 December 2020;

2.

the company profit and loss account for 2020; and

3.

the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Basis for our opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards of Auditing. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 'Our responsibilities for the audit of the
financial statements' section of our report.

We are independent of IGEA Pharma N.V. in accordance with the Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties
(Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij
assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, a regulation with respect to
independence) and other relevant independence regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have
complied with the Verordening gedrags- en beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).

We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Materiality
Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the financial statements as a
whole at USD 11,000. The materiality is based on 1.5% of total assets. We have also taken into account
misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion are material for the users of the
financial statements for qualitative reasons.
We agreed with the board of directors that misstatements in excess of EUR 330, which are identified
during the audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that in our view must be
reported on qualitative grounds.
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Scope of the group audit
IGEA Pharma N.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The financial information of this group is included
in the consolidated financial statements of IGEA Pharma N.V.
Our group audit mainly focused on significant group entities We have:
•

performed audit procedures ourselves at group entity IGEA Pharma N.V.;

•

used the work of Mazars USA when auditing entity IGEA Research Corporation;

•

performed review procedures or specific audit procedures at other group entities.

By performing the procedures mentioned above at group entities, together with additional procedures at
group level, we have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence about the group's
financial information to provide an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

Our key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit matters to the board of directors.
The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection of all matters discussed.

These matters were addressed in the context of the audit of the financial statements as a whole and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Valuation of intangible assets
The intangible assets consist of patents, which has been valued at cost and are amortized over the
lifetime period. The book value of the intangible assets amounts to USD 417,700. The valuation of the
intangible assets is important since the patents will be used to set-up the business activities of the Group
in the next coming years. The revenues and profitability of the future patents related business activities
are still uncertain since no revenues are generated until now. The valuation is therefor subject to
significant judgements and contains various assumptions.
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The board of directors performed an impairment test using a high level DCF model which contains
inherent uncertainties regarding commercialising of the activities and to start generating revenues.
Furthermore the board of directors used the reference value from the external valuation report resulting
from the intended business combination to determine if there is a need for an impairment. The board of
directors decided to not account for an impairment on the intangible assets.
We have performed the following audit procedures:
•

review of the reasonability of the key assumptions used in the high level DCF model;

•

inquiries with the external financing party in order to gain a better understanding for the basis of the
loan granted to the company;

•

inquiries with the board of directors regarding the forecast and future plans of the patents related
business activities;

•

high level review of the external valuation report relating to the intended business combination used
as reference value by the board of directors;

•

review of the disclosures in the financial statements in accordance with IAS 36 – Impairment of
Assets.

We refer to note 4 critical estimates and judgements and 9 intangible assets in the consolidated financial
statements for further disclosure. We refer to note 4 and 9 in the consolidated financial statements for
further disclosure.

Going concern
The board of directors has prepared an assessment regarding the going concern basis of preparation of
the financial statements which is based on a cash flow forecast. A key assumption in the cash flow
forecast concerns the secured external financing of € 2 million obtained from the external financing party
in April 2021. We have examined the conditions and covenants of the finance agreement including the
creditworthiness of the borrower.

We refer to note 4 critical estimates and judgements for further disclosure of the risk and uncertainties
regarding the ability to continue as a going concern.
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Report on the other information included in the annual report
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon, the annual report contains other
information that consists of:
•

the management review report;

•

the corporate governance report;

•

other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code;

Based on the following procedures performed, we conclude that the other information:
•

is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements;

•

contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained through our
audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the other information
contains material misstatements.

By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil
Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is substantially less than the
scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.

The board of directors is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the
management review report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and other
information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.

Description of responsibilities regarding the financial statements
Responsibilities of the board of directors for the financial statements
The board of directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with EU-IFRS and with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code. Furthermore, the board of
directors is responsible for such internal control as the board of directors determines is necessary to
enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
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As part of the preparation of the financial statements, the board of directors is responsible for assessing
the company's ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial reporting frameworks
mentioned, the board of directors should prepare the financial statements using the going concern basis
of accounting, unless the board of directors either intends to liquidate the company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

The board of directors should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the
company's ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.

The board of directors is responsible for overseeing the company's financial reporting process.

Our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit engagement in a manner that allows us to obtain sufficient
and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.

Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means we may not
detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature, timing and extent of our audit
procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified misstatements on our opinion.

We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional scepticism throughout the
audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements and independence
requirements. Our audit included among others:
•

identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control;
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•

obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control;

•

evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the board of directors;

•

concluding on the appropriateness of the board of directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company's ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to
cease to continue as a going concern;

•

evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures; and

•

evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing, supervising
and performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature and extent of the audit
procedures to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size and/or the risk profile of the group
entities or operations. On this basis, we selected group entities for which an audit or review had to be
carried out on the complete set of financial information or specific items.

We communicate with the board of directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We provide the board of directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with the board of directors, we determine the key audit matters: those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements. We describe these matters
in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the matter is in the public interest.

Rotterdam, 31 May 2021

Mazars Accountants N.V.

Original has been signed by: O. Opzitter RA
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Section III – Consolidated financial statements
Consolidated balance sheet (*)
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)

Notes

2019

2018

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Non current assets

7
8
9

59.5
25.9
410.8
496.2

103.5
442.7
546.2

Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

11
12
13

13.6
110.7
446.4
570.7

9.2
779.4
2,152.0
2,940.6

1,066.9

3,486.8

ASSETS

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Reserves
Accumulated loss
Equity attributable to owners of IGEA Pharma N.V.
Non-controlling interests
Total shareholders' equity

14
15

296.5
4,838.9
(4,568.2)
567.2
(23.4)
543.8

296.5
4,938.6
(2,661.1)
2,574.0
(22.6)
2,551.4

Trade and other payables
Financial debts
Lease liabilities
Accruals
Current liabilities

16
17
8
18

257.0
45.2
27.2
193.7
523.1

620.6
314.8
935.4

1,066.9

3,486.8

Total equity and liabilities

(*)

After appropriation of result

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)

Notes
Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross result

19

2019

2018

1.4
(439.9)
(438.5)

5.9
(197.9)
(192.0)

Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Other income
Operating result

19
19
19
21

(122.1)
(528.7)
(841.1) (1,280.3)
0.6
4.9
(1,929.8) (1,467.4)

Finance income
Finance costs
Result before income tax

22
22

34.6
61.6
(12.7)
(22.1)
(1,907.9) (1,427.9)

Income tax expense
Result of the period

23

(1,907.9) (1,427.9)

Attributable to:
Owners of IGEA Pharma N.V.
Non-controlling interests

(1,907.1) (1,423.9)
(0.8)
(4.0)
(1,907.9) (1,427.9)
24

Basic and diluted loss per share (in USD units)

(0.076)

(0.062)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of other comprehensive income
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)

2019
Result of the period

2018

(1,907.9) (1,427.9)

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Other comprehensive result for the period, net of tax
Total comprehensive result for the period

(60.9)
(60.9)

(16.1)
(16.1)

(1,968.8) (1,444.0)

Attributable to:
Owners of IGEA Pharma N.V.
Non-controlling interests

(1,968.0) (1,440.0)
(0.8)
(4.0)
(1,968.8) (1,444.0)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)

Notes
Equity as at 1 January 2018

Attributable to owners of
IGEA Pharma N.V.
Non
Share
Retained controll.
capital Reserves earnings interest
235.3

(43.7)

Total

(873.9)

(327.0) (1,009.3)

- (1,423.9)
(16.1)
(16.1) (1,423.9)

(4.0) (1,427.9)
(16.1)
(4.0) (1,444.0)

Result of the period
Other comprehensive result for the period
Total comprehensive income

-

Issuance of shares, net of costs
Transaction in a subsidiary associated
with the share issue in the parent
Purchase (net of sales) of treasury shares
Purchase of minorities
Total transactions with owners

61.2

4,490.9

-

-

4,552.1

61.2

569.6
(46.4)
(15.7)
4,998.4

-

-

(363.3)
(363.3)

308.4
308.4

569.6
(46.4)
(70.6)
5,004.7

15

Equity as at 31 December 2018

296.5

4,938.6 (2,661.1)

(22.6)

2,551.4

Equity as at 1 January 2019

296.5

4,938.6 (2,661.1)

(22.6)

2,551.4

-

- (1,907.1)
(60.9)
(60.9) (1,907.1)

-

(39.4)
0.6
(38.8)

Result of the period
Other comprehensive result for the period
Total comprehensive income
Purchase (net of sale) of treasury shares
Discontinued subsidiary
Total transactions with owners

15
6

-

Equity as at 31 December 2019

296.5

(0.8) (1,907.9)
(60.9)
(0.8) (1,968.8)

-

-

-

-

(39.4)
0.6
(38.8)

4,838.9 (4,568.2)

(23.4)

543.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)

Notes
Cash generated from operations
Interest and income tax paid
Net cash flow from operating activities

25

Purchase of intangible assets
Cash flow from investing activities

9

Proceeds from issuance of shares, net of cost
Purchase (net of sale) of treasury shares
Proceeds from financial debts
Repayments of financial debts, including lease liabilities
Finance cost
Cash flow from financing activities

15
17
8

Net effect of currency translation
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

13

2019

2018

(1,436.4) (1,384.9)
(1,436.4) (1,384.9)
(175.2)
(175.2)

-

(39.4)
45.2
(60.6)
(6.8)
(61.6)

3,276.1
(46.4)
401.5
(58.9)
(17.1)
3,555.2

(32.4)
(1,705.6)

(30.7)
2,139.6

2,152.0
446.4

12.4
2,152.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 2019
1

General information

IGEA Pharma N.V. is incorporated under Dutch law (naamloze vennootschap) and registered with the trade register of the
Dutch Chamber of Commerce of Amsterdam (Kamer van Koophandel) under number 70212821. The Company
headquarter and registered office is in Siriusdreef 17, 2123 WT Hoofddorp, the Netherlands. The principal place of business
is in the US. The consolidated financial statements 2019 of the Company include the Company and its subsidiaries. Unless
the context indicates otherwise, all reference to ‘IGEA’ or the ‘Company’ or the ‘Group’ refer to IGEA Pharma N.V and
its consolidated subsidiaries.
IGEA focuses on health-tech and med-tech products and devices. Health-tech products are exclusively preventative. IGEA
commercializes an Alzheimer’s prevention set (which includes ’Alz1’, an at-home lab test kit to measure non-bound copper
in the blood and a natural dietary supplement branded ‘Alz1 Tab’ designed to reduce blood heavy metals content), and
expects to launch a diabetes type II prevention set in 2020. Non-ceruloplasmin bound copper is an expected Alzheimer’s
and diabetes type II associated biomarker. Determining and regulating non-bound copper can contribute to reduce the risk
of Alzheimer’s and diabetes type II. Med-tech products focuses on selected solutions and specialities. IGEA
commercializes dry aerosol generators for air and inanimate environmental surfaces sanitization and air sterilization and
purification devices and expects to start commercializing medical bags and other polymeric based specialty devices for
medical use during 2020.
The Group activities initiated in May 2015 and was operated by IGEA Research Corporation (‘IGEA Research’), a
company incorporated under the laws of the State of Florida, US. In 2017, IGEA Research and the newly formed IGEA
Pharma N.V. combined as entities under common control to manage the existing activities and to roll out in new markets
under a single entity. The resulting consolidated financial statements of IGEA were the continuation of IGEA Research’s
2017 financial statements restated pursuant to the first-time adoption of IFRS.
These Group consolidated financial statements have been approved for disclosure on 22 May 2020 and are subject to
approval of the general meeting.

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

The following are the principal accounting policies applied by the Group in preparing these consolidated financial
statements.
2.1

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRS EU) and Title 9 Chapter 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. The presentation currency is USD.
All figures included in these consolidated financial statements and notes are rounded to the USD thousands, except when
otherwise indicated.
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS EU requires the use of estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ
from those estimates. It also requires management to make judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the financial statements are disclosed in note 4.1 ‘Critical accounting estimates and judgements’ of these consolidated
financial statements.
2.2

Principles of consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has direct or indirect control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
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returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred
to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.
Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated.
Unrealized losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.
The following legal entities are subsidiaries of IGEA and together form the Group. The Group disposed IGEA Healthcare
Europe Srl on 28 May 2019, which is the date of loss of control:
Ownership interest
Name
Country
Consolid.
2019
2018
IGEA Pharma NV
Hoofddorp, the Netherlands
parent
parent
IGEA Research Corporation
Miami, United States
full
98.67%
98.67%
IGEA Healthcare Europe Srl
Tiene, Italy
100.00%
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the group. The difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value
of net assets of the subsidiary is recognized in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
2.3

Segment reporting

The Group operates in one segment, which is the commercialization of health-tech and med-tech products and devices. A
small management team that reports to the Chief Executive Officer comprehensively manages the entire business. The
operating decision-maker is the Chief Executive Officer who reviews the Group operations and makes decisions in the
segment. The activities of the Group are not affected by any significant seasonal effect. The Group is focused on the US
market and operates on other markets with an opportunistic approach, but the Group does not consider geographies to be
separate segments.
2.4

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in USD, which is IGEA’s presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are recognized in the statement of profit or
loss.
Group companies
Assets and liabilities of Group entities using a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency using year-end rates of exchange. Income and expenses and cash flows are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing
on the transaction dates, in which case they are translated at the dates of the transactions). All resulting translation
differences are recognized directly in other comprehensive income. On the divestment of a foreign entity, the identified
cumulative currency translation difference relating to that foreign entity is recognized in income as part of the gain or loss
on divestment. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
2.5

Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical costs include
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the assets’
carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. Gains and
losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the statement of profit
or loss. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate costs to residual values over each asset’s
estimated useful lives as follows:
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Leasehold improvements: over life of lease (at present: less than 1 year)
Lab equipment: 5 years
Furniture and fixtures: 7 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. Where the
carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount.
2.6

Leases

Until the 2018 financial year, lease of property, plant and equipment were classified as either finance or operating lease
based on a ‘risks and rewards’ principle. From 1 January 2019, nearly all contracts that convey the right to use an underlying
physical asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration are recognized as a right-of-use asset together with a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use, except for leases with a term of twelve
months or less (short-term leases) and low value leases. For these short-term and low value leases, the Group recognizes
the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. In determining the lease term,
management consider all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not
to exercise a termination option. Extension option are only considered if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended. The
assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances, that is
within the control of the lessees, occurs.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The lease liabilities include the
net present value of the future payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily
determinable, an incremental borrowing rate, being the rate that the Group would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary
to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset, in a similar economic environment. Lease payments are allocated
between principal and finance cost. The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises the amount of
the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, adjusted for any lease payments made at or prior to the
commencement date of the lease, any lease incentive received and any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, and
expected costs for obligations to dismantle and remove right-of-use assets when they are no longer used.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
Right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the balance sheet carrying amount may
not be recoverable using cash flow projections for the useful life.
2.7

Intangible assets

Separately acquired intangible assets are shown at cost. Intangible assets acquired through a business combination are
recognized at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised
on a straight-line basis over the useful economic life as follow, and assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication
that the intangible asset may be impaired:


Patents and similar rights: over life of the rights (at present: 13 years)

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognized.
2.8

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized for the amount
by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed
for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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2.9

Financial instruments

2.9.1

Financial assets

The classification of financial assets depends on the Group’s business model for holding the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. The Group has only one category of financial assets which is ‘Financial assets at
amortized cost’. Financial assets are initially recognized at fair value plus any directly related transaction costs if applicable
and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables. See
note 3 for more information.
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the
effective interest rate method. Due to their short-term nature, their carrying amount generally correspond to their fair value.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value. They only include deposits held at call with financial institutions
immediately available for use by the Group.
2.9.2

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. They are
subsequently stated at amortized cost.
Financial debts
Financial debts are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently stated at amortized
cost. Any difference between the proceeds received (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in
profit or loss over the debt period using the effective interest method. Financial debts are removed from the balance sheet
when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying
amount of a financial debt that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the consideration paid, including
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as other income.
Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized costs. Due to their
short-term nature, their carrying amount generally correspond to their fair value.
Lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities were included in financial debts until 31 December 2018. In adopting the new standard, liabilities
deriving from lease arrangements are classified separately.
2.10

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is the estimated market price less
applicable variable selling expenses. Inventories consist of health-tech products and devices in finished form ready to be
sold.
2.11

Share capital

Shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds and accounted for within equity. In cases where the costs of issuing new shares goes to the
benefit of all existing shares (listing), the issuance costs are reduced proportionally with a correction based on the issuance
parameters that occurred previously.
2.12

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments reacquired are recognized at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in the
statement of profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference
between the carrying amount and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized directly in share premium. Voting rights
related to treasury shares are nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them.
2.13

Non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a change of control as transactions with
equity owners of the group. The difference between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
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value of net assets of the subsidiary is recognized in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are
also recorded in equity.
2.14

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pretax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation.
2.15

Current versus non-current classification

The Group presents assets and liabilities in the balance sheet based on current/non-current classification. An asset is current
when the following is given. All other assets are classified as non-current:



It is expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle or to be realized within
twelve months after the reporting period;
Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting period.

A liability is current when the following is given. All other liabilities are classified as non-current:



2.16

It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle or it is due to be settled within twelve months after the
reporting period;
There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting
period.
Income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
The current income tax charge is calculated based on the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Deferred
income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the
related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred tax assets are recognised
only if it is probable that future taxable income will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax bases
of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities
and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
Tax is recognized in the statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it releases to items recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
2.17

Employee benefits

Short-term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related service
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are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Pension and other post-employment cost
The Group did not operate pension and other post-employment benefits schemes during the reporting period.
Share-based compensation
The Group did not operate equity incentive plans during the reporting period.
2.18

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, and represents amounts receivable for
products sold, stated net of discounts, cancellations and value added taxes, based in the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer.
The Group recognizes revenue when it transfers control of the product to a customer. For the test kits and dietary
supplements, products revenue is recognized when control of the goods has transferred, being when the goods have left the
warehouse of the Group for shipment to the customer.
2.19

Earnings per share

Basic earnings or losses per shares are calculated by dividing the net result of the period attributable to the equity holder s
of IGEA by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. The number of shares outstanding varied
as a result of different operations on the share capital structure of the Company. Diluted losses per share adjusts the figures
used in the determination of basic losses per share to take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted average number of additional ordinary
shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
2.20

Related party transactions

Transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. Please
refer to note 28 for additional details.

3

Changes in accounting policies

3.1.1

Changes

There were no changes in the accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements in
respect of those adopted in the previous year.
3.1.2

New standards and interpretations

IFRS 16
On 1 January 2019, IGEA adopted IFRS 16 ‘Leases’ (IFRS 16). IFRS 16 provides a single lessee accounting model,
requiring lessees to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for most leases, excluding short-term and low value
leases, in the balance sheet. IGEA adopted IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective method, with right-of-use assets
measured at an amount equal to the lease liability, eventually adjusted by the amount of the prepaid or accrued lease
payments relating to those leases recognized in the balance sheet immediately before the date of initial application. Prior
period’s figures were not restated. For further information on the impact of adoption and additional disclosure of IFRS 16,
see note 8.
Other Standards
The following new, revised or amended standards and interpretations which are mandatory for the financial periods
beginning on 1 January 2019 did not have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements:






IFRIC 23, Uncertainty over Income tax positions;
Amendments to IFRS 9, Prepayment features with negative compensation;
Amendments to IAS 28, Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures;
Amendments to IAS 19, Plan amendment, curtailment or settlement;
Various annual improvements to IFRS Standards, 2015-2017 Cycle.
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The following new, revised or amended standards and interpretations have been published but are not yet mandatory and
have not been adopted by the Group. They are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements:






Amendments to IFRS 3: Definition of a business (effective 1 January 2020);
Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8: Definition of material (effective 1 January 2020);
IFRS 17 Insurance contracts (effective 1 January 2021);
Various amendments to References to conceptual framework in IFRS Standards (effective 1 January 2020);
Amendments to IAS 1: Amendments to the classification of liabilities as current or non-current (effective 1 January
2022).

4

Critical estimates, judgements, and errors

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions concerning the future that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses, and related disclosures. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making the judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities or may have a significant impact on the reported results are described below:
Uncertainty and ability to continue operations. To date, IGEA has financed its cash requirements primarily from
share issuance. By end of 2019 and beginning 2020, IGEA pursued plans to raise additional funds through the issuance
of shares to mainly finance the commercial strengthening of Alz1 on the US market and diversify its product portfolio.
The sudden shutdown in the capital markets, the general downturn in market sentiment and the various governmentordered lockdown following the global spread of COVID-19 required IGEA to suspend and postpone this initiative.
Together with an extension of the distribution strategy to wholesale channels, as further described in the following
paragraph, having an overall positive impact on the cash needs, the Company entered into discussions with major
shareholders about alternative financing measures. With the signature of convertible loan agreements between end of
April and beginning of May 2020, the Group get granted the funds management requires essential to operate the
business as newly planned and to meet the Group obligations as they fall due through 31 December 2020, and hence
these consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. However, the ability of the Group
to start generating revenues and consistent cash flows to adequately support its operations is still uncertain, and this
exposes the Group to all the risks inherent in establishing a business.


Impairment on intangible assets. During 2019, the e-commerce-based retail distribution in the US of the health-tech
product Alz1, for which the Group hold certain rights to ensure protection and freedom to operate, did not grow as
expected and therefore the Group decided to amend its distribution strategy by diversifying to wholesale channels and
entering into partnerships by end of 2019, then finalized beginning of 2020.. This triggered for an impairment
assessment, the result of which is reported in note 9. Even if reasonable evidence exists that the carrying amount of
the intangible assets continue to be supported by the new distribution strategy of Alz1, it cannot be excluded that the
key assumptions made by the management will continue to exist as assumed also in the future, which may involve the
existence of a risk on the carrying value of the assets concerned.



Deferred tax assets and liabilities. The assessment as to whether deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carry-forwards
and temporary differences have to be recognized requires significant judgment, in particular on the future availability
of taxable profits. At 31 December 2019 the Group did not capitalize any deferred tax assets because the capitalization
criteria are not met. Deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carry-forwards and temporary differences that have not
been recognized are reported in note 23.

4.2

Correction of errors

Section 2.2.6 of the consolidated financial statements 2018 contained an error. The remaining economic useful life of the
intangible assets at the end of the reporting period was 14 years, instead of the reported 17 years. The error did not have
any other impact on the consolidated financial statements 2018.
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5

Segment information

5.1

Reportable segments

The Group has identified one single segment, related to the commercialization of health-tech and med-tech products and
devices.
5.2

Entity wide information

The geographical information about revenues, cost of revenues, operating expenses and assets is as follow. Revenues for
the year ended 31 December 2019 (same as in the previous year) are immaterial and still of casual nature only, and
accordingly, the Group renounce to a major customers analysis:
2019
2018
Revenues:
Netherlands
United States
Cost of revenues:
Netherlands
United States
Operating costs:
Netherlands
research and development
sales and marketing
general and administration
United States
research and development
sales and marketing
general and administration
Italy
general and administration
Assets:
Netherlands
non-current
current
United States
non-current
current
Italy
current

6

1.4
1.4

5.9
5.9

(178.2)
(261.7)
(439.9)

(14.3)
(183.6)
(197.9)

(80.2)
(447.1)
(716.0)

(1,097.8)

(41.8)
(81.7)
(125.1)

(170.6)

(1,491.9)

(11.9)
(1,280.3)

526.0

2,861.3

496.2
44.7

546.2
42.7

1,066.9

36.6
3,486.8

Business combinations and discontinued subsidiaries

On May 2019, the Group sold IGEA Healthcare Europe Srl, specifically formed in 2018 for acquiring and managing certain
intellectual property rights. The contractual arrangements with the supplier were amended few times and beginning of 2019
the intellectual property rights were finally taken over by IGEA Pharma N.V. Assets and liabilities of IGEA Healthcare Srl
disposed of were TUSD 1.1 and TUSD (1.1) respectively, with a resulting nil net assets value disposed of. The disposal
did not generate any cash inflow. A net gain of TUSD 0.6 from previously generated exchange differences was recognised
to profit or loss under ‘Other income’ (see note 21).
On November 2019, the Group announced the entry into a transaction agreement to acquire the spinoff of the med-tech
activities of privately held Meditalia Srl (Meditalia) concerning the distribution in Europe of medical bags and other
polymeric based specialties for medical use, the acquisition being expected to be closed by March 2020. IGEA proposed
to acquire 66% of the spinoff from certain of the current shareholders of Meditalia, such shareholders being entitled to
receive 12.2 million newly issued common shares of IGEA. The closing was subject to the satisfaction of certain customary
conditions for a transaction of this type as well as IGEA having secured additional funds by way of issuing equity
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instruments, for which the selling shareholders of Meditalia committed themselves for a maximum amount of up to EUR
1 million, subject to the overall placement result. The sudden shutdown in the capital markets, the general downturn in
market sentiment and the various government-ordered lockdown following the global spread of COVID-19 required a
suspension of the acquisition process. Given the contractual uncertainty resulting from this unusual situation, the parties
are currently evaluating and discussing different scenarios to find a solution of common interest. The Meditalia transaction
did in any case not have any impact on these consolidated financial statements.

7

Property, plant, and equipment
Leasehold
Furniture
improveLab
and fixtures
ments
equipment fixtures

Total

Year ended 31 December 2018:
Opening net book amount
Depreciation charges
Closing net book amount

25.8
(10.7)
15.1

111.6
(31.2)
80.4

10.0
(2.0)
8.0

147.4
(43.9)
103.5

Cost value
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net book amount

51.4
(36.3)
15.1

156.1
(75.7)
80.4

14.4
(6.4)
8.0

221.9
(118.4)
103.5

Year ended 31 December 2019:
Opening net book amount
Depreciation charges
Closing net book amount

15.1
(10.7)
4.4

80.4
(31.2)
49.2

8.0
(2.1)
5.9

103.5
(44.0)
59.5

Cost value
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net book amount

51.4
(47.0)
4.4

156.1
(106.9)
49.2

14.4
(8.5)
5.9

221.9
(162.4)
59.5

Depreciation charges of TUSD 44.0 (2018: TUSD 43.9) is included in ‘Cost of revenues’.

8

Leases

Notes 2 and 3 explain the new accounting policy and changes introduced on January 1, 2019 and resulting from the adoption
of the new accounting standards IFRS 16 –Leases. The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:
2019 1.1.2019*
Buildings
Right-of-use assets

25.9
25.9

87.8
87.8

Current lease liabilities
Lease liabilities

27.2
27.2

87.8
87.8

* In the previous year, the Group only recognized assets and liabilities in relation to leases that were classified as ‘finance leases’ under
IAS 17. The assets were presented in property, plant and equipment and the liabilities as part of the Group’s financial debts.

The Group has entered into lease agreements for laboratory and offices facilities in the US. The lease liability recorded on
1 January 2019 was TUSD 87.8, which is the lease commitment disclosed as at 31 December 2018 of TUSD 92.9 less
discounting effects for TUSD 5.1 (using an incremental borrowing rate of 9%). As a result of applying the modified
retrospective method at the date of implementation of IFRS 16, the right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal
to the lease liability. The right-of-use assets on 1 January 2019 comprises the underling class of buildings only. There was
no impact on retained earnings upon implementation of IFRS 16.
The right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the duration of the lease. The carrying value of the
right-of-use assets on 31 December 2019 is TUSD 25.9. Depreciation charges for TUSD 61.9 are included in ‘Cost of
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revenue’ for TUSD 30.9 and in ‘Sales and marketing’ and ‘General and administration’ for TUSD 15.5 each. There were
no additions to the right-to-use assets during 2019. The lease liability as of 31 December 2019 was TUSD 27.2, due within
one year. The interest expense for finance lease and the proceeds used for reducing the lease liability during the year ended
31 December 2019 amounts to TUSD 4.6 and TUSD 60.6, respectively.
The Group accounts for the expenses of short-term leases of twelve months or less and low value leases on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. The expense for the year ended 31 December 2019 related to these leases amounted to TUSD
26.1.

9

Intangible assets
Patent
and similar
rights

Year ended 31 December 2018:
Opening net book amount
Amortization charges
Closing net book amount

554.7
(112.0)
442.7

Cost value
Accumulated amortisation
Net book amount

554.7
(112.0)
442.7

Year ended 31 December 2019:
Opening net book amount
Additions
Amortization charges
Impairment charges
Currency translation effects
Closing net book amount

442.7
175.2
(40.3)
(166.9)
0.1
410.8

Cost value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

728.1
(317.3)
410.8

Amortization expenses of TUSD 40.3 (2018: TUSD 31.9) as well as impairment charges of TUSD 166.9 (2018: none) is
included in ‘Cost of revenues’. The impairment charge relates to certain rights for which the Group started negotiating
acquisition in January 2017. In June 2018, the previous agreed terms were reviewed, and the existing agreement mutually
terminated. The 2018 terms foresaw the option of the Group to definitively acquire the rights, for which a subsidiary was
expressly formed, against full settlement of the agreed price at listing of the IGEA’s shares, but not later than 30 November
2018. Then, between end of 2018 and beginning of 2019, a further new agreement was negotiated, substituting the previous
one, mutually withdrawn. The rights were definitively acquired by IGEA Pharma N.V. beginning of 2019 and the
previously formed subsidiary discontinued. The Group acquired the rights from Solosale S.r.l. (‘Solosale’), a privately held
company dealing in the cosmetic and nutraceutical industry and which was at the moment of the acquisition a related party
to the Group, being a manager of Solosale also a managing director of the discontinued subsidiary IGEA Healthcare S.r.l.
The Group has enough comfort on the arm’s length character of this transaction, which was based on an independent
valuation of the Group’s business made in the second half of 2018 for listing purposes. By end of 2019, the Group
anticipated its intention to discontinue the contract, which will imply the return of the intangible asset to Solosale.
Consequently, the carrying value of the rights acquired beginning of 2019 were fully impaired.
During 2019 there was a trigger for impairment of intangible assets in use acquired in July 2015 for TUSD 554.7 as
disclosed in note 4.1 subsection ‘Impairment on intangible assets’. Management performed the impairment analysis using
a risk-adjusted net present value model to determine the value in use of the intangible assets. Key assumptions used are (i)
a risk adjusted operating cash flow from the wholesale distribution of Alz1 based on the expected terms of the commercial
partnership. The Group will supply Alz1 and provide certain services including lab testing and users’ data capture and will
get a license fee determined pursuant to a shared risk-reward concept; (ii) a risk-adjusted operating cash-flow from the ecommerce-based retail distribution of Alz1, which mainly depends from the Group’s ability to raise further funds to support
the marketing costs related to such distribution; (iii) the expected annual capital expenditures to maintain the rights over
their useful life; (iv) the long-term growth rates used after a five-years period and until the useful life of the rights is reached
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and the cash-flows are expected to fall down to zero; and (v) a discount rate, for which a pre-tax weighted average cost of
capital is used.
The value in use determined by the management amounts to TUSD 1’361. A sensitivity to the discount rate and the risk
adjustment factor applied to the operating cash flows has been applied. The sensitivity is referred to the headroom between
the expected net present value and the carrying amount of the intangible assets. Possible changes at the reporting date of
the pre-tax weighted average cost of capital and the risk adjustment factor applied to the operating cash flows, holding
other assumptions constant, would have affected the headroom from TUSD 1’689 for a WACC of 10.5% and a risk
adjustment factor of 20%, with a value in use being therefore TUSD 2’101, to TUSD 397 for a WACC of 12.5% and a risk
adjustment factor of 60%, with a value in use being therefore TUSD 808, which reasonably leads management to consider
the carrying value of the intangible asset to be still supported by the new distribution strategy for Alz1 on the US market.

10

Financial instruments
2019

2018

Financial assets at amortized cost:
Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Total financial assets

446.4
446.4

503.3
2,151.9
2,655.2

Liabilities at amortized costs:
Financial debts
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Lease liabilities
Total financial liabilities

45.2
253.6
147.0
27.2
473.0

613.6
153.0
766.6

No fair value disclosure is presented for the financial instruments as their fair values approximate their carrying amounts.
The Group’s exposure to risks associated with the financial instruments is disclosed under note 26.

11

Inventories

Finished goods - at cost
Write-downs

2019

2018

45.1
(31.5)
13.6

9.2
9.2

The write-downs of inventories were recognized as an expense in 2019 an included in ‘Cost of revenues’ in the statement
of profit or loss.

12

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
less provision for doubtful accounts
Trade receivables - net
Called-up equity commitments from investors in settlement
Other receivables
Receivables towards tax authorities (for items not related to income tax)
Advance payments
Caution and other deposits
Trade and other receivables

2019

2018

89.8
20.9
110.7

3.9
(3.9)
469.0
34.3
46.5
57.2
172.4
779.4
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Trede receivables for TUSD 3.9 and the corresponding provision for doubful accounts were definitively written off during
2019.

13

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents refer to cash at banks exclusively and amount to TUSD 446.4 and TUSD 2’152 as at 31
December 2019 and 2018 respectively.

14

Share capital
Number of
shares
Amount

Balance at 1 January 2018
Issuance of shares
Year ended 31 December 2018

20,000,100
5,048,669
25,048,769

235.3
61.2
296.5

Year ended 31 December 2019

25,048,769

296.5

As at 31 December 2019, the Company has an issued share capital of USD 296’542, consisting of 25’048’769 fully paidup shares with a par value of EUR 0.01 each and 12’524’384 unissued authorized shares (same as previous year) the so
empowered Company body is authorized to issue within 14 December 2023.

15

Reserves
Share
premium

Balance at 1 January 2018

Other Translation
reserves reserve

Total

14.0

(57.6)

(0.1)

(43.7)

Currency translation differences
Issuance of shares
less transaction costs arising on share issues for listing
Unconditional debt waiver in a subsidiary
jointly with the issuance of new shares in the parent
Purchase (net of sales) of treasury shares
Purchase of minorities
Year ended 31 December 2018

4,991.0
(500.1)

-

(16.1)
-

(16.1)
4,991.0
(500.1)

(46.4)
4,458.5

569.6
(15.7)
496.3

(16.2)

569.6
(46.4)
(15.7)
4,938.6

Currency translation differences
Purchase (net of sale) of treasury shares
Discontinued subsidiary
Year ended 31 December 2019

(39.4)
4,419.1

496.3

(60.9)
0.6
(76.5)

(60.9)
(39.4)
0.6
4,838.9

As of 31 December 2019. the Company held 35’405 treasury shares (previous year: 15’774). Treasury shares were
commercialized starting December 2018 by an independent third party that traded in the Company’s shares in the meaning
of a stock price stabilization services agreement. The agreement terminated in December 2019 and since then the Company
does no further actively trade in own shares.
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16

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Trade payables towards third parties
Payablew to employees
Other
Trade and other payables

17

2019

2018

245.7
7.9
3.4
257.0

607.2
6.3
7.1
620.6

Financial debts

On December 2018, IGEA and Ambrogest SpA, Milano (‘Ambrogest’) entered into an agreement ruling the right of the
Company to call for unsecured loan instalments on a month-by-month basis up to a maximum of TEUR 500, 4% interest,
and to call for conversion, at any time within 31 December 2019, of the so cumulated debt (interest included) into shares
of the Company at a strike price being the higher between EUR 3.33 and the average stock market price during the month
preceding the conversion request. The loan instalments were subject to an adjustment in the same percentage as the stock
market price of the IGEA’s shares varied negatively in respect of EUR 3.33. From January 2019 ongoing, IGEA called up
monthly for the loan instalments without any response from Ambrogest. IGEA evaluated the ability of Ambrogest to faces
its obligations as well as the opportunity to file a lawsuit as inconsistent and consequently no actions were started. In May
2019, Ambrogest unexpectedly wired TEUR 38.4, which is the face value of the loan, and since then, no further loan
instalments were given. IGEA renounced to call for conversion due to cost matters. The loan is supposed to expire on 30
June 2020.

18

Accruals
2019

2018

147.0
43.7
3.0
193.7

297.4
6.4
11.0
314.8

2019

2018

Products and services
Travel expenses
Corpoprate services
Facilities, rent and other occupancy expenses
General and administration
Depreciation
Amortisation
Impairment charges on intangible assets
Addition to provision for doubtful accounts
Employee benefit expenses
Total

(844.7)
(63.9)
(512.5)
(27.6)
(14.1)
(105.9)
(40.3)
(166.8)
(125.6)
(1,901.4)

(41.4)
(47.8)
(1,035.1)
(77.8)
(46.2)
(44.1)
(31.9)
(3.9)
(150.0)
(1,478.2)

Reported as:
Cost of revenues
Research and development
Sales and Marketing
General and administration
Total

(439.8)
(91.7)
(528.8)
(841.1)
(1,901.4)

(197.9)
(1,280.3)
(1,478.2)

Corporate services
Other
Facilities, rent and other occupancy costs
Total

19

Breakdown of expenses by nature
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The Group discloses all costs directly related to the revenue generation – regardless of the actual revenue level - as ‘Cost
of revenues’. They mainly include the costs for having an authorized laboratory in the US ready to operate, the cost of
maintaining freedom to operate from third party rights and the costs of the products and services sold, and are relevant
because of their fixed character in respect of the actual reduced revenue level.

20

Employee benefit expenses

Wages and salaries
Social security charges
Pension contributions
Total

2019

2018

(116.6)
(9.0)
(125.6)

(129.6)
(17.2)
(3.2)
(150.0)

As of 31 December 2019, the Group employed a total of 2 persons (full time equivalent). During 2019, the Group’s average
number of employees was 2 (previous year: 2.75). All employees work outside of the Netherlands.

21

Other income

Net loss from derecognition of financial debts
Net gain from derecognition of other liabilities
Gain on sales of a subsidiary (note 6)
Total

22

2019

2018

0.6
0.6

(7.3)
12.2
4.9

2019

2018

34.6
34.6

61.6
61.6

(2.2)
(4.6)
(5.9)
(12.7)

(13.7)
(3.4)
(5.0)
(22.1)

21.9

39.5

Finance income and costs

Foreign exchange gains
Finance income
Interest on financial debts
Interest on lease
Foreign exchange losses
Finance costs
Finance result, net

23

Taxes

23.1

Income taxes

The average applicable tax rate of the Group is 25.2% (2018: 26.2%) and was determined using the domestic tax rates
applicable to results in the countries concerned including the Netherlands (25%), the US (27%) and Italy (35%). The
reconciliation of the Group’s income tax is as follow:
2019
2018
Net loss before income taxes
Tax income at the domestic rates applicable in the country concerned
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognized
Total income tax charged to statement of profit or loss

(1,907.9)

(1,427.9)

(484.1)
484.1
-

(374.1)
374.1
-
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23.2

Deferred taxes

The Group did not capitalize any deferred tax asset relating to tax loss carry-forwards since the criteria for recognition are
unmet. The gross value of unused tax losses which have not been capitalized as deferred tax asset amount to USD 5.3
million (2018: 3.46 million) and will expire between 2 and 5 years for USD 1.86 million (2018: none) and in more than 5
years for USD 3.44 (2018: 3.46 million). The Group did not recognize deferred tax liabilities on temporary differences
(2019: USD 1.64 million; 2018: 1.59 million) associated with investments in subsidiaries. Other temporary differences do
not have any material impact on these consolidated financial statements (same as previous year).

24

Losses per share

Basic and diluted loss per share is as follow:
2019
Net loss attributable to owners of IGEA
Weighted average number of shares outstanding

(1,907.1)
(1,423.9)
25,017,123 22,930,571

Basic and diluted loss per share

25

Cash flow information

25.1

Net cash flow from operations

Result before income tax, including discontinued operations
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of intangible assets
Movement in provision for doubtful accounts
Exchange gain on sale of subsidiaries
Unrealized foreign currency gains
Other items without cash effect
Items with cash effects of financing nature
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Cash flow from operations

25.2

2018

(0.076)

(0.062)

2019

2018

(1,907.9)

(1,427.9)

146.2
166.9
(0.6)
(27.3)
6.8

75.9
3.9
(61.6)
(4.9)
30.9

(4.4)
653.8
(353.8)
(116.1)
(1,436.4)

0.9
(761.9)
479.3
280.5
(1,384.9)

2019

2018

-

94.6
267.5
362.1
914.0
1,276.1

Non-cash transactions

Following non cash transactions were not included in the cash-flow statement:

Financial debts assumed from IGEA Research and converted
Own financial debts converted
Financial debts converted into equity instruments of IGEA
Financial debts exchanged against equity instruments of IGEA

26

Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to following financial risks, controlled pursuant to the Group’s risk management rules. The Group
does not hold derivative financial instruments.
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26.1

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will face difficulties to meet obligations when due. Liquidity risk management
implies maintaining enough liquidity in adequate form to meet financial obligations when due. The liquidity sources of the
Group are represented by its cash and cash equivalents position of TUSD 446.4 (2018: TUSD 2’152.0) and the additional
funds the Group was able to ensure as further described in note 4.1, granting herewith the necessary liquidity reserve until
revenues will reach – if ever - such an adequate level to generate cash in the manner necessary to sustain the Group
operation. Consequently, the Group is exposed to significant liquidity risk. The management maintain detailed financial
forecasts and monitors actual results on a regular basis so that measures can be taken to ensure the Group remains solvent.
The tables below show the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities at reporting date:
0-6
months

6-12
months

Financial debts
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Lease liabilities
As at 31 December 2019

165.1
147.0
27.2
339.3

45.2
88.5
133.7

Trade and other payables
Accruals
As at 31 December 2018

514.1
153.0
667.1

99.5
99.5

26.2

1-2
years

3-5
years

over
5 years

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial losses to the Group if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual
obligations and arises mainly from the Group’s bank receivables. The creditworthiness of the bank institution is reviewed
periodically. The maximum credit risk exposure of the Group is limited to the carrying amounts of its financial assets,
amounting at the reporting date to TUSD 446.4 (previous year: TUSD 2'655.2).
26.3

Capital risk

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to grant the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to get
return for shareholders and to maintain a capital structure that optimize cost of capital. The instruments for achieving an
optimal capital structure depends for the time being on external factors not entirely under the Group’s control. The Group
explore constantly the market conditions for opportunities to raise funds and optimally structure its capital. Neither the
Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
26.4

Market risk

Foreign exchange
Foreign exchange risk arises from future transactions and recognized financial assets and liabilities not denominated in the
Group’s functional currency. The actual level of the Group activities does not require an active management of the foreign
exchange risks different from maintaining currency correlation between financial asset and liabilities and the Group does
not considers shifts in the exchange rates of all involved currencies as a realistic scenario.
The Group net exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period was as follow:
2019
USD
Total financial assets
Total financial liabilities
Net

14.8
73.4
(58.6)

EUR
415.3
316.3
99.0

GBP
20.8
(20.8)

CHF
15.8
(15.8)

USD
17.3
39.1
(21.8)

2018
EUR

CHF

1,896.0
581.4
1,314.6

45.3
(45.3)

Variations in all Group currencies in respect of the USD would have an immaterial impact compared to the year-end 2019
status (2018: a EUR/USD variation of 5% impacted positively/negatively for TUSD 75.2).
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27

Commitments

27.1

Capital commitments

The Group does not have capital expenditures contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognized as
liabilities (previous year: TUSD 503.3 for intangible assets).
27.2

Non-cancellable operating leases

The Group leases laboratories and offices facilities under non-cancellable operating leases. From 1 January 2019, the Group
has recognized right-of-use assets for those leases except for short-term and low-value leases - see note 8 for further
information. The expenses for those leases in 2018 amounted to TUSD 57.3

28

Related party transactions

Related parties include members of the Supervisory Board, of the Management Board and as well as key management of
the Group. The following transactions were carried out with related parties:
28.1

Supervisory board, management board and key management compensation

Compensation of supervisory and management board members
Compensation of key management
Total

2019

2018

(209.7)
(39.1)
(248.8)

(3.0)
(3.0)

The detailed compensation disclosures are provided in the remuneration report on pages 16 to 17 of this Annual Report.
None of the Supervisory Board and Management Board members as well as the key management is an employee of the
Group and services are delivered under consulting contracts. Vincenzo Moccia as well as Patrick Pozzorini deliver their
consulting services through MVY Ltd and nbp AG respectively. Diego Mortillaro (who left the Group on 1 October 2019)
delivered his consulting services through dmh S.r.l. The Group has a net liability towards the management of TUSD 7.9 at
31 December 2019 (2018: none), as disclosed hereunder (section 28.3).
28.2

Transactions with other related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Purchase of intellectual property rights in IGEA Pharma N.V.
Research and development services in IGEA Pharma N.V.
Losses from derecognition of financial debts in IGEA Research Corporation
Interest expense in IGEA Pharma N.V. and IGEA Research Corporation
Total

2019

2018

(175.2)
(39.2)
(214.4)

(12.9)
(2.8)
(15.7)

The intellectual property rights were purchased from Solosale. Please refer to note 9 for details on this transaction.
28.3

Year-end balances arising from purchase of products and services

Trade and other receivables in IGEA Healthcare Europe Srl
Total assets
Trade and other payables in IGEA Pharma N.V.
Total liabilities

29

2019

2018

-

34.3
34.3

7.9
7.9

-

Group companies

IGEA Pharma N.V. as a holding company for the Group owns the following companies. The Group disposed IGEA
Healthcare Europe Srl on 28 May 2019, which is the date of loss of control:
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Legal entity
IGEA Research Corporation,
Miami, United States
IGEA Healthcare Europe,
Thiene (VI), Italy

30

Business

Capital

Commercial

USD 0

Holding of rights

EUR 10'000

Interest in capital
and votes, in %
2019
2018
98.67%
-

98.67%
100.00%

Auditor’s fees

Mazars Accountans N.V.
Audit of the financial statements
Tax advisory services
Other Mazars members firms and affiliates
Audit of the financial statements
Tax advisory services

Audit of the financial statements
Tax advisory services

2019

2018

67.9
20.4

82.0
-

25.0
5.0
118.3

25.0
7.5
114.5

92.9
25.4
118.3

107.0
7.5
114.5

The total of the auditing fees for the year 2019 amounts to TUSD 92.9, of which Mazars, including network firms, in their
capacity as Group auditors, receive the full amount. Additional fee for TUSD 25.4 were charged by Mazars for tax matters
related services.

31

Events after the balance sheet date



See note 4.1 ‘Uncertainty and ability to continue operations’;



See note 6 – ‘Meditalia transaction’;



On February 2020, the Group announced its intention to acquire a majority stake in privately held Medical Jet Srl
(Medical Jet), a company specialized in pathogens’ decontamination of air and inanimate environmental surfaces and
in air sterilization and purification. Medical Jet commercializes proprietary dry aerosol generators for a non-wet
dispersion of pathogens decontaminants and proprietary air sterilization and purification devices using multiple
filtering processes combined with germicidal UV-C ray technology. A memorandum of understanding was signed and
subject to the satisfaction of certain customary conditions for a transaction of this type, IGEA expected to close the
acquisition by June 2020. The sudden shutdown in the capital markets, the general downturn in market sentiment and
the various government-ordered lockdown following the global spread of COVID-19 required a suspension of this
acquisition. The parties are currently discussing a possible transaction agreement to rule this acquisition that the Group
expect not to be performed before end of 2020;



Given the gradual easing of the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions as well as the programs of several governments to
return economic activities to normal levels, at the date of the approval of these financial statements, the Group is not
aware of any particular potentially adverse effect COVID-19 could have on the Group’s activities during 2020. The
Group concluded that there is no material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern;



As a result of the discussions entered in with certain major shareholders about alternative financing measures, as
mentioned in note 4.1 ‘Uncertainty and ability to continue operations’, two convertible loan agreements were signed
between and of April and beginning of May 2020, granting herewith the funds management requires essential to
operate the business as planned. The loans are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and not redeemable and grant the loan
holder, at any time starting from 1 October 2020, the option to convert the loan, in full only, into shares in the capital
of IGEA at the strike price of EUR 0.70 per share. Furthermore, one of the agreements contains a 20 days’ right of
first refusal on the further issue of convertible loans or convertible bonds by the Company that - if exercised - will
grant the loan holder the right to subscribe for those newly issued instruments at the same above mentioned conditions.
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Section IV – Company-only financial statements
Balance sheet (*)
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)

Notes

2019

2018

Intangible assets
Financial assets
Non current assets

3
4

397.7
397.7

482.8
482.8

Other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

5
6

94.4
431.5
525.9

728.3
2,133.0
2,861.3

923.6

3,344.1

296.5
4,979.3
(4,708.6)
567.2

296.5
5,051.0
(2,773.5)
2,574.0

151.0
45.2
160.2
356.4

505.6
264.5
770.1

923.6

3,344.1

ASSETS

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital
Reserves
Accumulated loss
Total shareholders' equity

7

Trade and other payables
Financial debts
Accruals
Current liabilities

8
9
10

Total equity and liabilities
(*)

After appropriation of result
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Income statement
(in thousand USD, unless otherwise stated)

Notes
Revenues
Cost of revenues
Gross profit

11

1.12.17
2019 31.12.18
2.4
(178.1)
(175.7)

2.4
(14.4)
(12.0)

Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Other rincome
Operating result

11
11
11

(80.2)
(447.1)
(718.4) (1,110.6)
1.0
(1,421.4) (1,121.6)

Finance result, net
Result before income tax

12

140.3
(5.4)
(1,281.1) (1,127.0)

Income tax
Share in result of investments
Result of the period

4

(654.0) (1,646.5)
(1,935.1) (2,773.5)
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements
1

General Information

Please refer to note 1 and 29 of the consolidated financial statements.

2

Basis of preparation

The company’s financial statements of IGEA have been prepared in accordance with Part 9, Book 2 of the DCC with the
application of sub 8 of article 362 allowing the use of the same accounting principles as applied for the consolidated
financial statements. These accounting principles are described in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern and on a historical cost basis. The presentation currency
is USD. All figures included in these financial statements and notes are rounded (to the first decimal) to the nearest thousand
USD unit except when otherwise indicated.
In these company-only financial statements, consolidated subsidiaries are valued using the equity method. However,
goodwill on subsidiaries is presented separately under intangible assets. The carrying values of investments with a negative
equity are deducted from any long-term loan towards the related subsidiary. Provisions are formed for subsidiaries with
negative net asset value in the amount the negative net asset value exceed the value of the financial assets.
In case no other policies are mentioned, please refer to the accounting policies as described in the summary of significant
accounting policies in the consolidated financial statements of IGEA presented elsewhere in this Annual Report. For an
appropriate interpretation, the Company financial statements should be read in conjunction with these consolidated
financial statements.

3

Intangible assets
Patent
and similar
rights

Year ended 31 December 2019:
Additions
Amortization charges
Impairment charges
Currency translation effects
Closing net book amount

175.2
(8.4)
(166.9)
0.1
-

Cost value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

173.4
(173.4)
-

Amortization expenses of TUSD 8.4 (2018: none) as well as impairment charges of TUSD 166.9 (2018: none) is included
in ‘Cost of revenues’. The impairment charge relates to certain rights for which the Group started negotiating acquisition
in January 2017. In June 2018, the previous agreed terms were reviewed, and the existing agreement mutually terminated.
The 2018 terms foresaw the option of the Group to definitively acquire the rights, for which a subsidiary was expressly
formed, against full settlement of the agreed price at listing of the IGEA’s shares, but not later than 30 November 2018.
Then, between end of 2018 and beginning of 2019, a further new agreement was negotiated, substituting the previous one,
mutually withdrawn. The rights were definitively acquired by IGEA Pharma N.V. beginning of 2019 and the previously
formed subsidiary discontinued. By end of 2019, the Group anticipated its intention to discontinue the contract, which will
imply the return of the intangible asset. Consequently, the carrying value of the rights acquired were fully impaired.
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4

Financial assets

IGEA Research Corporation, Miami, Florida, US
IGEA Healthcare Europe Srl, Thiene (VI), Italy
Movements in net asset value

2019

2018

2,035.4
(1,637.7)
397.7

1,465.8
40.0
(1,023.0)
482.8

Movement in financial assets is as follows:

1.12.17
31.12.18

2019
At beginning of period
Purchase of equity in subsidiaries
Formation/sale of subsidiaries
Purchase of borrowings in subsidiaries against own equity instruments
Unconditional bebt waiver in subsidiary jointly with the issuance of shares in the parent
Borrowings to subsidiaries, net
Interests on borrowings capitalized
Share in result of investments
Exchange differences
Balance as at 31 December 2018

5

70.7
12.3
1,149.3
569.6
334.0
(1,646.5)
(6.6)
482.8

2019

2018

89.8
4.6
94.4

2.8
(2.8)
469.0
45.9
57.2
156.2
728.3

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
less provision for doubtful trade receivables
Trade receivables - net
Called up equity commitments from investors in settlement
Receivables towards tax authorities (for items not related to income tax)
Advance payments
Caution and other deposits

6

482.8
437.0
141.1
(654.0)
(9.2)
397.7

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents refer to cash at banks exclusively, amounting to TUSD 431.5 (2018: TUSD 2’133.0).
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Shareholder’s equity
Share
Accum.
capital Reserves
loss

Result of the period
Currency translation differences
Issuance of shares December 2017, net of costs
Issuance of shares April 2018, net of costs
Issuance of shares November/December 2018,
less transaction costs arising on share issues
Unconditional bebt waiver in subsidiary
jointly with the issuance of shares in the parent
Repurchase of treasury shares
Balance at 31 December 2018

Result of the period
Currency translation differences
Repurchase of treasury shares
Balance at 31 December 2019

235.3
49.3
11.9
-

22.7
14.0
1,037.4
3,953.6
(500.0)

Total

(2,773.5)
-

(2,773.5)
22.7
249.3
1,086.7
3,965.5
(500.0)

296.5

569.7
(46.4)
5,051.0 (2,773.5)

569.7
(46.4)
2,574.0

296.5

- (1,935.1)
(32.2)
(39.5)
4,979.3 (4,708.6)

(1,935.1)
(32.2)
(39.5)
567.2

Please refer to note 14 and 15 of the consolidated financial statements of the Company. Certain equity components in the
consolidated financial statements are not recognized in equity at company-only level, reason why the results of the period
differ slightly.

8

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Trade payables towards related parties
Social security and other employment related payables
Tax authorities (for items not related to income tax)
Payables to employees
Total

9

2019

2018

143.1
7.9
151.0

494.9
2.5
1.9
6.3
505.6

2019

2018

120.8
39.4
160.2

258.1
6.4
264.5

Financial debts

Please refer to note 17 of the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

10

Accruals

Corporate services
Other services
Total
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Breakdown of expenses by nature
1.12.17
31.12.18

2019
Products and services
Travel expenses
Corporate services
Facilities, rent and other occupancy expenses
General & administraiton
Amortisation
Impairment charges on intangible assets
Addition to provision for doubtful accounts
Employee benefit expenses
Total

(653.3)
(11.5)
(61.9)
(44.4)
(507.0) (1,002.7)
(26.1)
(16.1)
(0.3)
(3.1)
(8.4)
(166.8)
(2.9)
(44.3)
(1,423.8) (1,125.0)

Reported as:
Cost of revenues
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Total

(178.1)
(14.4)
(80.2)
(447.1)
(718.4) (1,110.6)
(1,423.8) (1,125.0)

12

Financial result, net
1.12.17
31.12.18

2019
Interest income
Foreign exchange gains
Finance income

141.2
4.9
146.1

0.5
0.5

Interest expense
Foreign exchange losses
Finance cost

(2.2)
(3.6)
(5.8)

(1.0)
(4.9)
(5.9)

140.3

(5.4)

Finance result, net

13

Auditor’s fee

Please refer to note 30 of the consolidated financial statements of the Company.

14

Related party transactions

Related parties include members of the Supervisory Board, of the Management Board as well as key management of the
Company. The following transactions were carried out with related parties:

Page 51 of 59
IGEA Pharma N.V.

www.igeapharma.nl

F-71

14.1

Compensation of Management Board and Supervisory Board members

1.12.17
2019 31.12.18
Compensation of supervisory board members
Compensation of management board members
Total

(7.6)
(197.1)
(204.7)

-

Please refer to note 28.1 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements and to the detailed compensation disclosures
provided in the remuneration report on pages 16 to 17 of this Annual Report for additional details.
14.2

Compensation of the key management

1.12.17
2019 31.12.18
Compensation of key management
Total

(39.1)
(39.1)

-

Please refer to note 28.1 of the company’s consolidated financial statements and to the detailed compensation disclosures
provided in the remuneration report on pages 16 to 17 of this Annual Report for additional details.
14.3

Transactions with other related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Purchase of intellectual property rights
Research and development services
Total

14.4

2019

1.12.17
2018

(175.2)
(39.2)
(214.4)

-

2019

2018

-

-

7.9
7.9

-

Year-end balances arising from purchase of products and services

Total assets
Trade and other payables
Total liabilities

15

Events after the balance sheet date

Please refer to note 30 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

16

Proposed appropriation of result for the year

The Board of Directors proposes to carry forward the loss of the year.

17

Signing of the financial statements

These financial statements have been signed by the members of the Board of Directors on 22 May 2020.
Francesco Mario Patrocollo
Chairman of the Board, non-executive director

Givanni Ferraio
Non-executive director
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Mark de Simone
Non-executive director

Camillo Ricordi
Non-executive director

Barth A. Green
Non-executive director

Vincenzo Moccia
CEO, executive director

Rosanna Squitti
Executive director

Marco Seniga
Executive director
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Section V – Other information
1

Other disclosures in accordance with Dutch law requirements

1.1

Profit appropriation according to the Articles

The Board of Directors proposes to carry forward the loss of the year.
Distribution of dividends pursuant to article 10.1 will take place after the adoption of the Annual Accounts which shows
that the distribution is allowed.
The company may make distribution on Shares only to the extent that its shareholder’s equity exceeds the sum of the paidup and called-up part of the capital and the reserves which must be maintained by law or the Articles.
The Board may resolve to reserve the profits or part of the profits.
The profit remaining after application of article 10.1.3 will be at the disposal of the General Meeting.
1.2

Branch establishments

The Company has a branch establishment registered under Italian law with trade name ‘IGEA Pharma BV’.

2

Independent auditor’s report
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the shareholders and supervisory board of
IGEA Pharma N.V.
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2019
INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
OUR QUALIFIED OPINION
We have audited the financial statements 2019 of IGEA Pharma N.V., based in Hoofddorp.
The financial statements include the consolidated financial statements and the company
financial statements.
In our opinion:

except for the possible effects of the matter described in the 'Basis for our qualified
opinion' section, the accompanying consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of IGEA Pharma N.V. as at 31 December 2019, and of its
result and its cash flows for 2019 in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union (EU-IFRS) and with Part 9 of Book 2 of
the Dutch Civil Code;

except for the possible effects of the matter described in the 'Basis for our qualified
opinion' section, the accompanying company financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of IGEA Pharma N.V. as at 31 December 2019, and of its
result for 2019 in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
The consolidated financial statements comprise:
1. the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019;
2. the following statements for 2019: the consolidated income statement, the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows; and
3. the notes comprising a summary of the significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.
The company financial statements comprise:
1. the company balance sheet as at 31 December 2019;
2. the company profit and loss account for 2019; and
3. the notes comprising a summary of the accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

BASIS FOR OUR QUALIFIED OPINION
The intangible assets representing patents and similar rights are included in the balance
sheet of 2019 for USD 410,800. During 2019 there was a trigger for impairment of intangible
assets in use. We have not been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence
regarding the valuation of the intangible assets because of the lack of reliable market data
input for the impairment analysis. As a result, we were unable to determine whether any
corrections were necessary with regard to the aforementioned amounts.
Watermanweg 80 - P.O. Box 23123 - 3001 KC Rotterdam
Tel: +31 (0)88 27 71 392 – onno.opzitter@mazars.nl
Mazars Accountants N.V.
With its registered office in Rotterdam (KvK Rotterdam nr. 24402415).
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We conducted our audit in accordance with Dutch law, including the Dutch Standards on
Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Our
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report.
We are independent of IGEA Pharma N.V. in accordance with the Wet toezicht accountantsorganisaties (Wta, Audit firms supervision act), the Verordening inzake de onafhankelijkheid van accountants bij assurance-opdrachten (ViO, Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants, a regulation with respect to independence) and other relevant independence
regulations in the Netherlands. Furthermore we have complied with the Verordening gedragsen beroepsregels accountants (VGBA, Dutch Code of Ethics).
We believe the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our qualified opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN
We draw attention to the going concern paragraph in the notes on page 34 of the financial
statements which indicates that the company’s ability to continue as going concern depends
on cash to be received from new financing agreements and generating revenues before the
end 2020 from selling Alz1 products. These conditions indicate the existence of a material
uncertainty which may cast significant doubt about the company's ability to continue as a
going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

MATERIALITY
Based on our professional judgement we determined the materiality for the financial
statements as a whole at USD 16,000. The materiality is based on 1.5% of total assets. We
have also taken into account misstatements and/or possible misstatements that in our opinion
are material for the users of the financial statements for qualitative reasons.
We agreed with the supervisory board that misstatements in excess of USD 480, which are
identified during the audit, would be reported to them, as well as smaller misstatements that
in our view must be reported on qualitative grounds.

SCOPE OF THE GROUP AUDIT
IGEA Pharma N.V. is at the head of a group of entities. The financial information of this group
is included in the consolidated financial statements of IGEA Pharma N.V.
Our group audit mainly focused on significant group entities. We have:

performed audit procedures ourselves at group entity IGEA Pharma N.V.;

used the work of Mazars USA when auditing entity IGEA Research Corporation;

performed analytical review procedures at other group entities.
By performing the procedures mentioned above at group entities, together with additional
procedures at group level, we have been able to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit
evidence about the group’s financial information to provide an opinion about the consolidated
financial statements.
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OUR KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most
significance in our audit of the financial statements. We have communicated the key audit
matters to the supervisory board. The key audit matters are not a comprehensive reflection
of all matters discussed.
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a
whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

VALUATION OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS
The intangible assets consist of patents, which has been valued at cost and amortized over
the lifetime period. The book value of the intangible assets amounts to USD 410,800. The
valuation of the intangible assets is important since the Group acquired these patents from a
related party and the patents will be used to set-up the business activities of the Group in the
next coming years. The revenues and profitability of the future business activities are still
uncertain.
As described in the ‘basis for our qualified opinion’ section we have not been able to obtain
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence regarding the valuation of the intangible assets
because of the lack of reliable market data input for the impairment analysis.
We refer to note 9 in the consolidated financial statements for further disclosure.
REPORT ON THE OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT
In addition to the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon, the annual report
contains other information that consists of:

the management review report;

the corporate governance report;

other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code;
Except for the possible effects of the matter described in the 'Basis for our qualified opinion'
section, we conclude, based on the following procedures performed, that the other
information:

is consistent with the financial statements and does not contain material misstatements;

contains the information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
We have read the other information. Based on our knowledge and understanding obtained
through our audit of the financial statements or otherwise, we have considered whether the
other information contains material misstatements.
By performing these procedures, we comply with the requirements of Part 9 of Book 2 of the
Dutch Civil Code and the Dutch Standard 720. The scope of the procedures performed is
substantially less than the scope of those performed in our audit of the financial statements.
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Management is responsible for the preparation of the other information, including the
management board’s report in accordance with Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code and
other information as required by Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
DESCRIPTION OF RESPONSIBILITIES REGARDING THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THE SUPERVISORY BOARD
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial
statements in accordance with EU-IFRS and Part 9 of Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code.
Furthermore, management is responsible for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
As part of the preparation of the financial statements, management is responsible for
assessing the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Based on the financial
reporting frameworks mentioned, management should prepare the financial statements using
the going concern basis of accounting, unless management either intends to liquidate the
company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Management
should disclose events and circumstances that may cast significant doubt on the company's
ability to continue as a going concern in the financial statements.
The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the company’s financial reporting
process.

OUR RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objective is to plan and perform the audit assignment in a manner that allows us to obtain
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence for our opinion.
Our audit has been performed with a high, but not absolute, level of assurance, which means
we may not detect all material errors and fraud during our audit.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these financial statements. The materiality affects the nature,
timing and extent of our audit procedures and the evaluation of the effect of identified
misstatements on our opinion.
We have exercised professional judgement and have maintained professional skepticism
throughout the audit, in accordance with Dutch Standards on Auditing, ethical requirements
and independence requirements. Our audit included among others:

identifying and assessing the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, designing and performing audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtaining audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;
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obtaining an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control;
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management;
concluding on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting, and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause a company to cease to continue
as a going concern;
evaluating the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures; and
evaluating whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Because we are ultimately responsible for the opinion, we are also responsible for directing,
supervising and performing the group audit. In this respect we have determined the nature
and extent of the audit procedures to be carried out for group entities. Decisive were the size
and/or the risk profile of the group entities or operations. On this basis, we selected group
entities for which an audit or review had to be carried out on the complete set of financial
information or specific items.
We communicate with the supervisory board regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant findings
in internal control that we identify during our audit.
We provide the supervisory board with a statement that we have complied with relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the supervisory board, we determine the key audit
matters: those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements.
We describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, not communicating the
matter is in the public interest.
Rotterdam, 31 May 2020
MAZARS ACCOUNTANTS N.V.

Original has been signed by: O. Opzitter RA
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Via Toscana, 1
00187 Roma
Tel: +39 06 833 65 900
www.mazars.it

Independent auditor’s report

To the Shareholders of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD.

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31/12/2020, the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flows statement for the year then
ended and the explanatory notes.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31/12/2020, and of the consolidated result of its operations and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the section of this report titled Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements. We are independent of Blue Sky
Natural Resources LTD (the Group) pursuant to the regulations and standards on ethics and
independence applicable to audits of financial statements under applicable standards. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Responsibilities of the directors and board of statutory auditors for the consolidated financial
statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and, according to the terms prescribed by law, for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
The directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and for
the appropriateness of the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, and for appropriate disclosure thereof. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors use the going concern basis of accounting unless directors either intend to
liquidate the parent company Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD or to cease operations or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Mazars Italia S.p.A.
Capitale sociale deliberato, sottoscritto e versato € 120.000,00 - Sede legale: Via Ceresio, 7 - 20154 Milano
Rea MI-2076227 - Cod. Fisc. e P. Iva 11176691001
Iscrizione al Registro dei Revisori Legali n. 163788 con D.M. del 14/07/2011 G.U. n. 57 del 19/07/2011
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain a reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit performed in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
As part of the audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA), we exercised
professional judgement and maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit. Furthermore:
•

we identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error; we designed and performed audit procedures in
response to those risks; we obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on which to
base our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control;

•

we obtained an understanding of the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design the
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;

•

we evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;

•

we concluded on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Where a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention, in our auditor’s report, to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
subsequent events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern;

•

we evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in such a manner as to give a true and fair
view;

•

we obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial
statements.

We communicated to those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by
ISA, among other matters, the scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our audit.
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We also provided those charged with governance with a statement that we complied with the
regulations and standards on ethics and independence applicable under standards and communicated
to them any circumstances that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.
Rome, 27 luglio 2021

Raffaello Lombardi
Partner
Mazars Italia S.p.A.
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Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD
Consolidated Financial Statements 2020

Mauro Grandinetti, Director
London 27th July 2021
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)
Notes
Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross result

6

Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Other income
Other expenses
Operating result

8.1
8.1

2020

2019

107.0
(141.8)
(34.8)

21.6
(81.2)
(59.6)

(117.4)
(342.8)
(12.3)
(2.3)
(463.4) (1,400.1)
120.4
243.4
(198.2)
(507.5) (1,759.6)

Finance income
Finance costs
Finance costs - net

8.3
8.3

(95.2)
(95.2)

1.9
(21.6)
(19.7)

Share of net result of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
Result before income tax

20.2

(285.0)
(887.7)

(260.1)
(2,039.4)

9

(887.7)

(1.6)
(2,041.0)

(887.7)
(887.7)

(2,040.9)
(0.1)
(2,041.0)

(0.009)
(0.008)
(0.008)
(0.009)
(0.005)
(0.521)
(0.523)
(0.543)
(0.604)
(0.624)
(1.099)
(0.884)

(0.028)
(0.023)
(0.033)
(0.026)
(0.024)
(9.157)
(9.188)
(9.554)
(10.616)
(10.962)
na
na

Income tax expense
Result of the period
Attributable to:
Owners of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD
Non-controlling interests
Basic and diluted loss per classes of shares (in GBP units):
Class 'Ordinary'
Class 'A'
Class 'B'
Class 'C'
Class 'D'
Class 'E'
Class 'F'
Class 'G'
Class 'H'
Class 'I'
Class 'J'
Class 'K'

23
23
23
23
23
23
23
23
23
23
23
23

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
Page 3 of 32
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD

www.blueskynr.co.uk

F-87

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)
Notes
Result of the period
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Share of other comprehensive result of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method
Other comprehensive result for the period
Total comprehensive result for the period
Attributable to:
Owners of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD
Non-controlling interests

16

2020

2019

(887.7)

(2,041.0)

16.0

(10.4)

(11.1)
4.9

(0.8)
(11.2)

(882.8)

(2,052.2)

(882.8)
(882.8)

(2,052.1)
(0.1)
(2,052.2)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)
Notes

2020

2019

Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Non current assets

10
11
20.2

906.1
906.1

174.3
224.2
398.5

Inventories
Trade receivables
Other assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

13
12.1
14
12.3
12.2

821.7
1.4
93.3
357.2
79.6
1,353.2

805.9
115.8
46.6
923.6
54.4
1,946.3

2,259.3

2,344.8

ASSETS

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital and premium
Reserves
Accumulated loss
Equity attributable to owners of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD
Non-controlling interests
Total shareholders' equity

15
16

3,859.7
3,301.7
293.1
288.3
(3,734.3) (2,846.6)
418.5
743.4
(0.1)
418.5
743.3

Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities
Non-current liabilities

12.4
10

934.6
934.6

927.3
148.7
1,076.0

Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities
Accruals
Current liabilities

12.5
12.4
10
12.6

617.3
133.2
155.7
906.2

388.8
5.0
25.8
105.9
525.5

2,259.3

2,344.8

Total equity and liabilities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)
Attributable to owners of
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD
Share
capital and Other Retained
Notes premium Reserves earnings Total
Equity as at 1 January 2019

1,392.4

Result of the period
Other comprehensive result for the period
Total comprehensive income
Transactions with owners:
Issuance of shares, net of cost

15

299.5

Total
equity

886.2

-

886.2

- (2,040.9) (2,040.9)
(11.2)
(11.2)
(11.2) (2,040.9) (2,052.1)

(0.1)
(0.1)

(2,041.0)
(11.2)
(2,052.2)

1,909.3
1,909.3

-

(805.7)

Non
controll.
interest

-

1,909.3
1,909.3

-

1,909.3
1,909.3

Equity as at 31 December 2019

3,301.7

288.3 (2,846.6)

743.4

(0.1)

743.3

Equity as at 1 January 2020

3,301.7

288.3 (2,846.6)

743.4

(0.1)

743.3

Result of the period
Other comprehensive result for the period
Total comprehensive income
Transactions with owners:
Issuance of shares, net of cost
Transactions with minorities

16

15
16

Equity as at 31 December 2020

-

4.9
4.9

(887.7)
(887.7)

(887.7)
4.9
(882.8)

-

(887.7)
4.9
(882.8)

558.0
558.0

(0.1)
(0.1)

-

558.0
(0.1)
557.9

0.1
0.1

558.0
558.0

293.1 (3,734.3)

418.5

-

418.5

3,859.7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)
Notes
Cash generated from operations
Interest and income tax paid
Net cash flow from operating activities

17.1

Payments for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for the acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Investments in associated and joint ventures
Payments for financial assets
Finance income
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from issuance of shares, net of cost
Proceeds from calls of shares and calls in arrears
Proceeds from financial debts
Repayment of financial debts
Repayments of lease liabilities
Finance cost
Cash flow from financing activities

19
20.2

16
16
10

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Net effect of currency translation
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
Non-cash transactions

2020

2019

(177.2)
(177.2)

(1,339.2)
(1,339.2)

(13.8)
(962.4)
(976.2)

(218.8)
218.8
(209.8)
(486.5)
(1.9)
1.9
(696.3)

557.9
566.4
164.8
(123.1)
(11.1)
(48.1)
1,106.8

1,276.4
284.8
567.4
(36.5)
(20.5)
2,071.6

(46.6)
54.4
71.8
79.6

36.1
14.7
3.6
54.4

17.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1

General information

Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD is a private company limited by shares incorporated under the law of England and
registered under company number 10142949 with the Registrar of Companies of England and Wales. The Company
headquarter and registered office is in 10 Philpot Lane EC3M BAA, London, England. The principal place of business is in
England. The consolidated financial statements 2019 of the Company include the Company and its subsidiaries. Unless
the context indicates otherwise, all reference to ‘Blue Sky’ or the ‘Company’ or the ‘Group’ refer to Blue Sky Natural
Resources LTD and its consolidated subsidiaries.
The Group focuses on highly controlled vegetable matrices and their industrial processing to extract cannabidiol,
terpenes, polycosanol and other valuable components and in the distribution of food supplements and functional food.
Blue Sky was incorporated on 22 April 2016 and was dormant until November 2017, when a first share capital increase
took place and operations started progressively with the exploration of opportunities and the implementation of activities
leading to a first agricultural campaign and to the development of own transformation processes during 2019. Those
activities continued also in 2020.
These Group consolidated financial statements have been approved for disclosure by the board of directors of the
Company on 27 July 2021.

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements to the extent they have not already been disclosed in the other notes above. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
2.1

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).
They have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except (a) certain financial assets measured at fair value; and (b)
defined benefit pension plans, for which plan assets were measured at fair value, and are presented in GBP. All figures
included in these consolidated financial statements and notes have been rounded to the nearest GBP thousand unit
except when otherwise indicated.
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates
are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those
estimates. It also requires management to make judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the financial statements are disclosed in section 2.2 of this note 0 and note 3 of these consolidated financial
statements.
2.2

Uncertainty and ability to continue operations

To date, Blue Sky has financed its cash requirements primarily from share issuance and this will continue to apply until
the Group will be able – if ever - to start generating revenues and consistent cash flows to adequately support its
operations.
In 2021, the Group’s activities will be focused on the set-up and start of the industrial processing for CBD, terpenes,
policosanol, and other vegetable matrices-based extraction as well as the market launch of the offered solutions. The
industrial processing activities are carried-out in Blue Sky Swisse SA, a joint venture in which the Group has an ownership
interest of 50% jointly with Pharma Tech Holding SA, which holds the remaining 50% and which is also a relevant
shareholder in Blue Sky. The joint venture activities will generate a cash need of GBP 10 million, covered by borrowing
and other grants for at least GBP 3.1 million. The remaining GBP 6.9 million will be covered by the two joint venturers to
the extent of 50% each, resulting in a commitment by the Group to provide funding for the joint venture’s capital of GBP
3.5 million. The Group then expects further GBP 0.5 million to be required for general working capital purposes, for a
total need until end of 2021 of GBP 4 million.
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On August 2020, the Group announced the entrance in a business combination transaction with IGEA Pharma N.V. (IGEA),
a SIX listed company existing under Dutch law, as further described under note 24 (the Combination). The Combination
has been structured through a contribution in-kind by the Blue Sky shareholders of their Blue Sky shares into IGEA by
subscribing IGEA’s newly issued shares. On 28 April 2021, the extraordinary general meeting of IGEA approved the
Combination as required by Dutch law and resolved to appoint the board of IGEA to issue new IGEA’s shares at par,
reserved for issuance to the shareholders of Blue Sky only. On 30 June 2021, IGEA launched an all equity offer to the Blue
Sky shareholders and on 26 July 2021 IGEA disclosed the unconditional acceptance of the offer with reference to the
minimum threshold of 75% of the shares and the votes required to definitively combine the two businesses. Through the
Combination, the Group will have access to funds for up to GBP 7.2 million (EUR 8) already secured by IGEA in April 2021
in a 24-month convertible bond agreement with Negma group.
The Group therefore will have granted the funds management requires essential to operate the business as expected and
to meet its obligations as they fall due at least through 31 December 2021, and hence these consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. However, the ability of the Group to start generating revenues
and consistent cash flows to adequately support its operations remains still uncertain, and this exposes the Group to all
the risks inherent in establishing a business.
2.3

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has direct or indirect control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. The acquisition
method of accounting is used to account for business combinations (see note 2.11). Inter-company transactions, balances
and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is generally
the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.
Joint ventures
Under IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal
structure of the joint arrangement. The Group does only have joint ventures. Interests in joint ventures are accounted
for using the equity method, after initially being recognised at cost.
Equity method
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the other entity. Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates
and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group. The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in note 2.12.
Changes in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the group. A change in ownership interests result in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognized in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of Blue Sky.
When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of control, joint control or
significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount
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recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained
by the Group, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
2.4

Segment reporting

A small team of managers that reports to the Chief Executive Officer comprehensively manages the entire business and
has defined from a product and operations perspective view reportable segments. The operating decision-maker is the
Chief Executive Officer who reviews the Group operations and makes decisions in the segments. The activities of the
Group are not affected by any significant seasonal effect. The Group intends to focus on the EU market and operates on
other markets on an opportunistic approach, but geographies are not considered to be separate segments.
2.5

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in GBP, which is Blue Sky’s presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are recognized in the statement of profit
or loss. They are deferred in equity if they are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation
Group companies
Assets and liabilities of Group entities using a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency using year-end rates of exchange. Income and expenses and cash flows are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case they are translated at the dates of the transactions). All resulting
translation differences are recognized directly in other comprehensive income. On the divestment of a foreign entity, the
identified cumulative currency translation difference relating to that foreign entity is recognized in income as part of the
gain or loss on divestment. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
2.6

Revenue recognition

Industrial processing
The Group did not yet recognize any revenue from the industrial processing of highly controlled vegetable matrices and
the sale of their extracts (cannabidiol, terpenes, polycosanol, and other valuable components) in the wholesale market.
Distribution
The Group sells on a wholesale and e-commerce basis food supplements and functional food products. Revenue is
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when the products have left the warehouse for shipment
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products and measured at the
fair value of the consideration received or receivable, stated net of discount, cancellations and value added taxes. The
Group does not offer an acceptance provision.
The group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods to the
customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. Consequently, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.
2.7

Income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
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The current income tax charge is calculated based on the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable income will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Tax is recognized in the statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it releases to items recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
2.8

Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical costs include
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the assets’
carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. Gains
and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the statement
of profit or loss. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate costs to residual values over each
asset’s estimated useful lives. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each balance sheet date. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount. To date, the Group does not own property, plant, and equipment.
2.9

Leases

All contracts that convey the right to use an underlying physical asset for a time in exchange for consideration are
recognized as a right-of-use asset together with a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available
for use, except for leases with a term of twelve months or less and low value leases. For these short-term and low value
leases, the Group recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the
lease. In determining the lease term, management consider all facts and circumstances that create an economic incentive
to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option. Extension option are only considered if the lease
is reasonably certain to be extended. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant event or a
significant change in circumstances, that is within the control of the lessees, occurs.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The lease liabilities include the
net present value of the future payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily
determinable, an incremental borrowing rate, being the rate that the Group would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset, in a similar economic environment. Lease payments
are allocated between principal and finance cost. The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises
the amount of the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, adjusted for any lease payments made at or
prior to the commencement date of the lease, any lease incentive received, and any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group, and expected costs for obligations to dismantle and remove right-of-use assets when they are no longer used.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
Right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the balance sheet carrying amount
may not be recoverable using cash flow projections for the useful life.
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2.10

Intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as described in note 2.11. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is not amortised, but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and
losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. Goodwill is allocated
to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or
groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.
The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes.
Trademarks, licenses, and other similar rights
Separately acquired trademarks, licenses or other similar rights are shown at historical cost. Trademarks, licenses, and
other similar rights acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a
finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortization methods and periods
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired.
2.11

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises:
−
−
−
−
−

the fair values of the assets transferred;
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;
the equity interests issued by the group;
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and
the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of:
−
−
−

the consideration transferred;
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity; and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recognized as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair
value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase.
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their
present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the
rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are
subsequently remeasured at amortized cost.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
2.12

Impairment of assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other
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assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cashgenerating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
2.13

Financial assets

2.13.1

Investments and other financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
−

At amortised cost. Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss;

−

At fair value through other comprehensive income. Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) in
finance result and impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss;

−

At fair value through profit or loss. Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a financial asset that is
subsequently measured consequently is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other gains/(losses) in
the period in which it arises.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of
the cash flows. For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The Group reclassifies investments when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, being the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership.
At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. Subsequent
measurement of financial assets depends on the group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset.
Equity instruments are measured at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the group’s right to receive payments is established. Changes in
the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement
of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.
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The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss associated with its investments and other financial
assets carried at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For trade receivables, the group applies
the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables (see note 18 for further details).
2.13.2

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method. Due to their short-term nature, their carrying amount generally correspond to their fair value. The
group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.
2.13.3

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value. They only include deposits held at call with financial institutions
immediately available for use by the Group.
2.14

Financial liabilities

2.14.1

Financial debts

Financial debts are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently stated at
amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds received (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised in profit or loss over the debt period using the effective interest method.
Financial debts are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled,
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial debt that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised
in profit or loss as other income.
2.14.2

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized costs. Due to their
short-term nature, their carrying amount generally correspond to their fair value.
2.14.3

Lease liabilities

Pursuant to IFRS 16, liabilities deriving from lease arrangements (see note 2.9) are classified separately.
2.15

Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods and goods for resale are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost comprises direct materials and direct labour. An appropriate proportion of overhead expenditure is allocated
only in case a normal operating capacity is reached. Net realizable value is the estimated market price less applicable
variable selling expenses.
2.16

Contributed equity

Shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds and accounted for within equity.
Own shares held are recognized at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue, or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount
and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized directly in share premium. Voting rights related to treasury shares are
nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them.
2.17

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the obligation.

Page 14 of 32
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD

www.blueskynr.co.uk

F-98

2.18

Employee benefits

Short-term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Pension and other post-employment cost
The Group did not operate pension and other post-employment benefits schemes during the reporting period or
terminated any pension and other post-employment benefits schemes during or immediately after end of the reporting
period, without any material influence on these consolidated financial statements.
Share-based compensation
The Group did not operate equity incentive plans during the reporting period.
2.19

Earnings per share

Basic earnings or losses per shares are calculated by dividing the net result of the period attributable to the equity holders
of Blue Sky by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. The number of shares outstanding
varied as a result of different operations on the share capital structure of the Company. Diluted losses per share adjusts
the figures used in the determination of basic losses per share to take into account the after-income tax effect of interest
and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted average number of
additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.
2.20

Related party transactions

Transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. Please
refer to note 22 for additional details.

3

Changes in accounting policies

3.1

Changes

There were no changes in the accounting policies used in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements in
respect of those adopted in the previous year.
3.2

New standards and interpretations

The following new, revised or amended standards and interpretations which are mandatory for the financial periods
beginning on 1 January 2020 did not have any material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements:
−
−
−
−

IAS 1 and IAS 8: definition of material
IFRS 3: definition of a business
IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 17: interest rate benchmark reform
Revised conceptual framework for financial reporting.

Certain new, revised or amended standards and interpretations have been published but are not yet mandatory and have
not been adopted by the Group. They are not expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.

4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions concerning the future
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses, and related
disclosures. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making the judgments
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities or may have a significant impact on the reported results are described below:
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−

Uncertainty and ability to continue operations. The uncertainty and ability of the Group to continue operations is
disclosed under note 2.2 ‘Uncertainty and ability to continue operations’;

−

Impairment of goodwill deriving from a business combination. The acquisition in October 2020 of 100% of the
equity instruments of Blue Sky Lycopene SRL, previously held at 20% and accounted for as an associate, as further
disclosed under note 19, generated a goodwill of TGBP 91.5. The delay experimented by the Group in setting-up the
extraction of lycopene from industrial tomato waste was considered a trigger for impairment, based on which the
management decided to fully impair the goodwill;

−

Interest in a joint venture. In 2019, the Group entered a joint venture (please refer to note 20.2 for further details)
with Pharma Tech Holding SA, which is also a relevant shareholder of the Group, specifically formed for setting-up
and operate the industrial processes for cannabidiol, terpenes, polycosanol and other valuable components
extraction from their vegetable matrices. The setting-up of the industrial extraction activities required relevant funds
that the two joint venturers, owning 50% each of the interest in equity and votes of Blue Sky Swisse SA, were so far
able to provide even if not in an equal way, which contributed to generate to date a loss from the share in the result
of the joint venture of TGBP 545.1 (see note 7 and 20.2). Further relevant investments are required to complete the
set-up of the industrial infrastructure of Blue Sky Swisse SA. This is expected to happen from 2021 onward, as still
described under note 2.2. However, it cannot be excluded that the assumptions made by the management about
compliance of covenants of both joint venturers and performance of the joint venture will continue to exist also in
the future and this exposes the Group to the risk of sharing additional losses in the joint venture;

−

Financial liabilities from contingent considerations. The liabilities from contingent considerations generated in the
acquisition of Equilibrium Food Sagl in 2019 relates to earn-outs understandings on the expected future revenues of
the subsidiary and to a put option of the seller to sell back over a certain period, at a defined strike price, a certain
amount of the shares the Group issued for consideration. It cannot be excluded that the assumptions made by the
management in recognizing and measuring the liabilities from contingent considerations, in particular the estimated
cash-flows, will continue to exist also in the future, which would lead to an adjustment of the amortized cost of the
liabilities;

−

Deferred tax assets and liabilities. The assessment as to whether deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carryforwards and temporary differences have to be recognized requires significant judgment, in particular on the future
availability of taxable profits. At 31 December 2020 the Group did not capitalize any deferred tax assets because the
capitalization criteria are not met. Deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carry-forwards and temporary differences
that have not been recognized are reported in note 9.

5

Segment information

5.1

Reportable segments

The Group strategic steering committee, consisting of the Chief Executive Officer and a small team of managers, has
identified the following three segments of its business:
−

Industrial processing. This part of the business deals with the provision of highly controlled vegetable matrices and
their industrial process for extracting cannabidiol, terpenes, polycosanol and other valuable components intended
for wholesale distribution mainly to the pharma and cosmeceutical industry;

−

Distribution. This segment deals with the distribution, on a wholesale and e-commerce basis, of food supplements
and functional food products focusing on artisanal processing methods, traceability and transparency of the supply
chain, absence of induced genetic manipulation, and control over pollutants;

−

Corporate. Results of activities of financial nature as well as revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities which cannot
be allocated reliably to another segment are reported under the caption ‘Corporate’.
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The 2020 and 2019 segments’ figures were as follow:

As at 31 December 2020
Industrial Distriprocess. bution Corporate Total
Revenues from external customers

-

107.0

-

107.0

(7.1)
(14.5)

(41.0)
-

-

(48.1)
(14.5)

Interest revenue
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Other material non-cash items
- impairment of financial assets
- prodit of loss of associated and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method

(91.5)

-

-

(91.5)

(285.0)

-

-

(285.0)

Segment result

(531.2)

(95.8)

(260.7)

(887.7)

Total segment assets
Total segment liabilities

1,871.2
538.3

2.7
477.8

385.4
824.7

2,259.3
1,840.8

6

Revenues

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods at a point in time in the segment ‘Distribution’ only. To date, the
Group did not recognize revenue in the segment ‘Industrial processing’. The Group did not disaggregate revenue. There
were no asset and liabilities related to contract with customers.

7

Material profit or loss items

The Group has identified and listed separately the following items due to the significance of their nature and/or amounts
to provide a better understanding of the financial performance for 2020 and 2019:
2020
2019

Impairment losses
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Share of net result of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
Net gain/(loss) from early termination of lease agreements
Total material items from continuing operations
−

(91.5)
(740.8)
(1.9)
(285.0)
(260.1)
3.4
(90.7)
(373.1) (1,093.5)

Impairment losses. The acquisition in October 2020 of 100% of the equity instruments of Blue Sky Lycopene SRL,
previously held at 20% and accounted for as an associate, as further disclosed under note 19, generated a goodwill
of TGBP 91.5 which has been fully impaired due to the delays experimented by the Group in setting up the required
activities for the processing of industrial tomato waste to lycopene. The impairment loss is included in general and
administration expenses (previous year: the goodwill of TGBP 740.8 derived from the acquisition of Equilibrium Food
Sagl has also been fully impaired).
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−

Share of net result of associates and joint ventures. In 2020, the share in the net result of Blue Sky Swisse SA, a joint
venture the Group entered together with Pharma Tech Holding SA in 2019, generated a further loss of TGBP 285.0
(previous year: TGBP 260.1).

8

Other income and expense items

8.1

Other income and expenses

2020

2019

Other income from associates
Other income from related parties
Derecognition of lease liabilities from early-termination of lease agreements
Other income
Income from a sole transaction with related parties
Total other income

80.8
34.5
3.5
1.6
120.4

26.0
5.0
11.3
201.1
243.4

Expenses related to a sole transaction with related parties
Losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (see note 13.3)
Total other expenses

-

(196.3)
(1.9)
(198.2)

2020

2019

Products and services
Travel expenses
Corporate services
Facilities, rent and other occupancy expenses
General and administration
Depreciation
Impairment charges
Employee benefit expenses
Total cost of sales,

(192.0)
(29.6)
(270.0)
(28.7)
(16.6)
(14.5)
(91.5)
(92.0)
(734.9)

(398.2)
(80.4)
(290.7)
(143.0)
(24.1)
(39.8)
(740.8)
(109.4)
(1,826.4)

Reported as:
Cost of sales
Research and development
Sales and Marketing
General and administration
Total

(141.8)
(117.4)
(12.3)
(463.4)
(734.9)

(81.2)
(342.8)
(2.3)
(1,400.1)
(1,826.4)

2020

2019

-

1.9
1.9

Interest on financial liabilities
Interest on lease liabilities
Net exchange loss on foreign currencies
Finance costs

(41.0)
(7.1)
(47.1)
(95.2)

(7.1)
(13.4)
(1.1)
(21.6)

Finance result, net

(95.2)

(19.7)

8.2

8.3

Breakdown of expenses by nature

Finance income and costs

Interest on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Finance income
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9

Taxes

9.1

Income taxes

Income tax charged to profit or loss is as follow:

Current tax on profits for the period
Deferred income tax from increase in deferred tax liabilities
Total income tax

2020

2019

-

(1.6)
(1.6)

The average applicable tax rate of the Group is 21.0% (2019: 19.8%) and was determined using the domestic tax rates
applicable to results in the countries concerned including England (19%), Switzerland (19%) and Italy (35%). The
reconciliation of the Group’s income tax is as follow:
2020
2019

Net loss before income taxes

(887.7)

(2,039.4)

Tax income at the domestic rates applicable in the country concerned
Tax effect of expense not deductible for tax purposes
Utilization of previous not recognized deferred tax losses
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognized
Total income tax charged to statement of profit or loss

(190.3)
17.4
(17.8)
190.7
-

(402.6)
140.8
263.4
(1.6)

9.2

Deferred taxes

The Group did not capitalize any deferred tax asset relating to tax loss carry-forwards and temporary differences since
the criteria for recognition are unmet. The gross value of unused tax losses which have not been capitalized as deferred
tax asset amount to TGBP 1,409.3 (2019: TGBP 875.1) and will expire between 2 and 5 years for TGBP 485.1 (2018: TGBP
222.6) and in more than 5 years for TGBP 924.2 (2019: TGBP 652.5). The gross value of not recognize deferred tax assets
on temporary differences amount to TGBP 433.8 (2019: TGBP 313.5). Furthermore, the Group did not recognize deferred
tax liabilities on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries for TGBP 88.9 (2019: TGBP 43.8).

10

Leases

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2020

2019

Industrial space, Italy
Vehicles, Switzerland
Right-of-use assets

-

143.9
30.4
174.3

Non-current lease liabilities
Current lease liabilities
Lease liabilities

-

148.7
25.8
174.5

2020

2019

(15.0)
(7.1)
(35.5)

(39.6)
(13.4)
(117.4)

The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Depreciation charges on rights-of-use assets
Interests expense for leases
Expenses related to short-term (less thant 12 month) and low value leases

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease agreement or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate (10%) if the
former cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for space leases. Lease payments are allocated between
principal and finance cost. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost which is generally the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the duration of the lease.
The Group entered lease agreements for industrial spaces in Italy and for vehicles in Switzerland respectively in 2019,
with an original duration of 4 to 5 years. In February and June 2020, all agreements were mutually terminated, and all
leases derecognized consequently. There is no more carrying value of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities as at 31
December 2020 (previous periods: TGBP 174.3 and TGBP 174.5 respectively). Depreciation charges for TGBP 15 are
included in ‘Research and development’ for TGBP 13.0 (2019: TGBP 26.4) and in ‘General and administration’ for TGBP
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2.0 (2019: TGBP 13.2). The interest expense for lease and the proceeds used to reduce the lease liability during the year
2020 were TGBP 7.1 (2019: TGBP 13.4) and TGBP 11.1 (2019: TGBP 36.5) respectively.
The Group accounts for the expenses of short-term leases of twelve months or less and low value leases on a straightline basis over the lease term. The expense for the year 2020 related to these leases amounted to TGBP 35.5 (2019: TGBP
117.4, including TGBP 90.7 deriving from the early termination of an ‘equity for services’ settled lease agreement).

11

Intangible assets
Patents,
and other
similar
rights Goodwill

Year ended 31 December 2019:
Opening net book amount
Additions
Amortization charges
Impairment charges
Closing net book amount
Cost value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

-

740.0
(740.0)
-

740.0
(740.0)
-

127.4
(127.4)
-

740.0
(740.0)
-

867.4
(867.4)
-

-

91.5
(91.5)
-

91.5
(91.5)
-

127.4
(127.4)
-

832.3
(832.3)
-

959.7
(959.7)
-

Year ended 31 December 2020:
Opening net book amount
Additions
Amortization charges
Impairment charges
Closing net book amount
Cost value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

Total

The acquisition in October 2020 of 100% of the equity instruments of Blue Sky Lycopene SRL, previously held at 20% and
accounted for as an associate, as further disclosed under note 19, generated a goodwill of TGBP 91.5 which has been fully
impaired due to the delays experimented by the Group in financing and setting up the required activities for the industrial
processing of tomato industrial waste to lycopene. The impairment loss is included in general and administration
expenses.

12

Financial instruments
Notes

2020

2019

Financial assets at amortized cost
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Total financial assets

12.1
12.2
12.3

1.4
79.6
357.2
438.2

115.8
54.4
923.6
1,093.8

Liabilities at amortized costs:
Financial debts
Trade and other payables*
Accruals*
Lease liabilities
Total financial liabilities

12.4
12.5
12.6
10

1,067.8
97.4
145.7
1,310.9

932.3
253.6
97.5
174.5
1,457.9

* Excluding non-financial components

The Group’s exposure to the risks associated with the financial instruments is disclosed in note 18.
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12.1

Trade receivables

Trade receivables
Trade receivables towards related parties
Loss allowance
Trade receivables, net

2020

2019

14.5
(13.1)
1.4

20.5
106.6
(11.3)
115.8

Due to the short-term nature of the trade receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair
value.
12.2

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents refer to cash at banks exclusively and amount to TGBP 79.6 and TGBP 54.4 as at 31 December
2020 and 2019 respectively.
12.3

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss include the following:

2020

2019

Unpaid share capital and premium from related parties (see note 22)
Unlisted equity instruments
Debt instruments toward associates
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

357.2
357.2

923.6
923.6

Reported as:
non-current
current
Total

357.2
357.2

923.6
923.6

In 2020, there were no amounts recognized in profit or loss deriving from financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (2019: fair value loss of TGBP 1.9). Fair value considerations are disclosed under note 12.7.
12.4

Financial liabilities

2020

2019

Loans from related parties (see note 22)
Loans acquired in a business combination (see note 20)
Liabilities from contingent considerations
Fixed rate loans under the UK 'Bounce Back Loan' scheme
Non-current liabilities

437.1
93.8
436.9
100.0
1,067.8

560.2
372.1
932.3

Reported as:
non-current
current
Total

934.6
133.2
1,067.8

927.3
5.0
932.3

2020

2019

97.4
6.5
22.6
490.8
617.3

250.1
3.5
8.7
0.8
17.1
108.6
388.8

12.5

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Other payables towards related parties
Payables to social securities/insurances
Payables to tax authorities (for items not related to income tax)
Payables to employees
Advances received for future issuance of equity instruments
Trade and other payables

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid between 30 and 90 days of recognition. The fair value of trade payables
is considered to be the same as their carrying amounts, due to their short-term nature.
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12.6

Accruals

Products and services
Corporate services
Other
Total

2020

2019

5.7
140.0
10.0
155.7

12.5
85.0
8.4
105.9

Accruals are usually settled within 90 days from recognition and their carrying amounts is considered to be the same as
their fair values due to their short-term nature.
12.7

Fair value considerations

The Group has classified its financial instruments measured at fair value into the three levels prescribed under the
standards:
−

Level 1. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end
of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1;

−

Level 2. The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation
techniques which maximize the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2;

−

Level 3. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included
in level 3.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is the only category of financial instruments the Group subsequently
measures at fair value and qualifies of level 3. The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for the reporting
period:
Debt
Unlisted instrum.
Not pai-in equity
towards
equity instrum. associates Total

Opening balance 1 January 2019

761.1

-

-

761.1

Acquisitions
Disposals/settlements
Losses recognized to profit or loss
Closing balance 31 December 2019

453.4
(290.9)
923.6

-

1.9
(1.9)
-

455.3
(290.9)
(1.9)
923.6

Disposals/settlements
Losses recognized to profit or loss
Closing balance 31 December 2020

(566.4)
357.2

-

-

(566.4)
357.2

2020

2019

784.3
81.1
(43.7)
821.7

771.1
75.9
(41.1)
805.9

13

Inventories

Raw materials
Products for resale
Write-down

Raw materials refer to vegetable matrices, mainly frozen hemp flowers, ready to be industrially treated for extraction OF
cannabidiol and other components. Products for resale refer to newly developed supplements for TGBP 43.7 and
functional food products and ingredients of the segment ’Distribution’ for TGBP 37.4. The newly developed supplements
were fully written down in 2019 due to the delay the Group experimented in the launch of the new activities in the
segment.

Page 22 of 32
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD

www.blueskynr.co.uk

F-106

14

Other assets

Receivables towards tax authorities (for items not related to income tax)
Advance payments
Other
Trade and other receivables

15

2020

2019

90.1
3.2
93.3

43.5
2.1
1.0
46.6

Share capital and premium
Number of
shares*

Balance as at 1 January 2019

Par
value

Share
premium

Total

29,441

26.5

1,365.9

1,392.4

Issuance of 'C-Ordinary' shares
Issuance of 'Ordinary' shares
Issuance of 'D-Ordinary' shares
Share split 1:1000 and change of the name of the existing share classes'
Issuance of 'B' shares
Issuance of 'E' shares
Issuance of 'F' shares
Issuance of 'G' shares
Issuance of 'H' shares
Issuance of 'I' shares
Year ended 31 December 2019

1,000
1,319
20
31,748,220
1,500,000
56,000
141,000
152,000
143,000
259,000
34,031,000

1.0
1.3
1.3
3.4
8.5
9.5
9.9
18.6
80.0

395.7
6.1
452.1
44.8
112.8
123.8
251.2
469.3
3,221.7

1.0
397.0
6.1
453.4
48.2
121.3
133.3
261.1
487.9
3,301.7

Issuance of 'J' shares
Issuance of K' shares
Year ended 31 December 2020

144,500
60,000
34,235,500

13.5
5.6
99.1

379.8
159.1
3,760.6

393.3
164.7
3,859.7

* Each share within a class has full rights in the company with respect to voting, dividends, and distributions.

Share capital and premium as at 1 January 2019
At 1 January 2019, the share capital of the Company was TGBP 26.5, consisting of 29’441 shares, of which 1’941 ‘Ordinary’
shares, 25’000 ‘A Ordinary’ shares and 2’500 ‘B Ordinary’ shares. The share premium was TGBP 1’365.9, for a total share
capital and premium of TGBP 1’392.4.
Share capital and premium as at 31 December 2019
During the first quarter of 2019, the Company’s share capital was increased by TGBP 2.3 through issuance of newly 1’000
‘C-Ordinary’ shares with a nominal value of GBP 1 each and used by the Company for an equity-settlement transactions
with related parties other than employees, 1’319 ‘Ordinary’ shares (issued at GBP 301/share), and newly 20 ‘D-Ordinary’
shares with a nominal value of CHF 1 each (issued at CHF 401/share). The overall share premium of those issuances was
TGBP 401.8.
On 17 April 2019, the Company decided to split 1:1’000 the nominal value of all share classes issued so far and to rename
the share classes except the ‘Ordinary’ class: the ‘A-Ordinary’ became the ‘A’ shares, the ‘B-Ordinary’ became the ‘B’
shares and so on.
From April 2019 to December 2019, the share capital of the Company was increased by TGBP 51.2 through issuance of
1’500’000 ‘B’ shares (issued at EUR 0.35/share), newly 56’000 ‘E’ shares with a nominal value of GBP 0.06 each (issued at
GBP 0.86/share), newly 141’000 ‘F’ shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.07 each (issued at EUR 0.86/share), newly
152’000 ‘G’ shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.08 each (issued at CHF 0.96/share), newly 143’000 ‘H’ shares with a
nominal value of EUR 0.08 each (issued at EUR 2.10/share), and newly 259’000 ‘I’ shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.09
each (issued at CHF 2.36/share). The overall share premium of those issuances was TGBP 1,454,0.
As at 31 December 2019, the Company had an issued share capital of TGBP 80.0 consisting of 34’031’000 shares, of which
3’260’000 ‘Ordinary’ shares, 25’000’000 ‘A’ shares, 4’000’000 ‘B’ shares, 1’000’000 ‘C’ shares, 20’000 ‘D’ shares, 56’000
‘E’ shares, 141’000 ‘F’ shares, 152’000 ‘G’ shares, 143’000 ‘H’ shares, and 259’000 ‘I’ shares. The share premium was TGBP
3,221.7, for a total share capital and premium of TGBP 3’301.7.
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Share capital and premium as at 31 December 2020
During 2020, the share capital of the Company was increased by TGBP 19.1 through issuance of newly 144’500 ‘J’ shares
with a nominal value of EUR 0.11 each (issued at EUR 3.09/share) and newly 60’000 ‘K’ shares with a nominal value of
CHF 0.12 each (issued at CHF 3.4/share). The overall share premium of those issuances was TGBP 538.9.
As at 31 December 2020, the Company had an issued share capital of TGBP 99.1 consisting of 34’235’500 shares, of which
3’260’000 ‘Ordinary’ shares, 25’000’000 ‘A’ shares, 4’000’000 ‘B’ shares, 1’000’000 ‘C’ shares, 20’000 ‘D’ shares, 56’000
‘E’ shares, 141’000 ‘F’ shares, 152’000 ‘G’ shares, 143’000 ‘H’ shares, 259’000 ‘I’ shares, 144’500 ‘J’ shares and 60’000 ‘K’
shares. The share premium was TGBP 3,760.6, for a total share capital and premium of TGBP 3’859.7.

16

Reserves
ShareTransForeign
based
actions currency
payments with NCI translat.

Total

Balance as at 1 January 2019

300.0

(0.5)

-

299.5

Currency translation differences
Year ended 31 December 2019

300.0

(0.5)

(11.2)
(11.2)

(11.2)
288.3

Transaction with non-controlling interests
Currency translation differences
Year ended 31 December 2020

300.0

(0.1)
(0.6)

4.9
(6.3)

(0.1)
4.9
293.1

2020

2019

(887.7)

(2,041.0)

15.0
91.5
285.0
(3.5)
(14.8)
48.1

39.6
740.8
1.9
260.1
(3.8)
(1.3)
(1.9)
20.5

17

Cash flow information

17.1

Net cash flow from operations

Result before income tax, including discontinued operations
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of intangible assets (including goodwill)
Impairment of financial assets
Share of loss of associates and joint ventures
Other items without cash effect
Unrealized exchange differences
Items with cash effects of investing nature
Items with cash effects of financing nature
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other assets
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase in accruals
Cash flow from operations
17.2

(30.8)
(774.5)
106.4
(98.8)
(49.7)
75.3
214.5
358.5
48.8
85.4
(177.2) (1,339.2)

Non-cash transactions

Following non cash transactions were not included in the cash-flow statement:

Issuance of equity instruments for settlement of acquisition of minorities
Issuance of equity instruments for settlement in a business combination
Non-cash transactions

18

2020

2019

0.1
0.1

184.5
184.5

Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to following financial risks. Given a certain simplicity, the Group does still not dispose of a risk
management framework. Where necessary, the risks are predominantly controlled by the CEO and the board of directors
with targeted and ad-hoc actions. The Group does not hold derivative financial instruments.
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18.1

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, as well as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, mainly represented by subscribed but not yet paid-in capital which includes a relevant share premium.
The actual Group activity does not require the maintenance of an active risk management. The maximum credit risk
exposure of the Group is limited to the carrying amounts of its financial assets, amounting at the reporting date to TGBP
438.2 (2019: TGBP 1,093.8). The risk on sales to wholesale customers is limited and of no material relevance and is for
the time being not assessed or monitored. E-commerce sales are generally settled using major credit cards, mitigating
credit risk. Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is mitigated using relationships with primary banks. Credit risk on
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is under control, the debtor being Blue Sky Angel Lab SRL, a company
which is a related party to the Group (see note 22).
The Group did not amend any principles in determining its credit risk exposures.
18.2

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the exposure of the Group from financial liabilities. The Group measures its liquidity risk by
rolling financial and cash flow forecasts and the risk management consists in maintaining enough liquidity in adequate
form to meet financial obligations when due. The liquidity sources of the Group are represented by its financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss and the additional funds the Group expects to be able to ensure as further described in
note 2.2, granting herewith the necessary liquidity reserve until revenues will reach – if ever - such an adequate level to
generate cash in the manner necessary to sustain the Group operation.
The tables below show the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities:

0-6
6-12
months months

1-2
years

3-5
years

Total
over
contract. Carrying
5 years cash flows amount

Financial debts
Trade and other payables
Accruals
As at 31 December 2020

148.3
97.4
145.7
391.4

13.4
13.4

363.1
363.1

47.8
47.8

544.2
544.2

1,116.8
97.4
145.7
1,359.9

1,067.8
97.4
145.7
1,310.9

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Lease liabilities
As at 31 December 2019

6.9
253.6
97.5
19.8
377.8

3.7
19.8
23.5

293.2
79.2
372.4

158.4
78.9
237.3

560.2
22.1
582.3

1,022.4
253.6
97.5
219.9
1,593.4

932.3
253.6
97.5
174.5
1,457.9

2020

2019

562.8
562.8

439.7
439.7

The Group had access to undrawn borrowing facilities as follow:

Expiring with in one year (borrowing from a related party)
Expiring beyond one year (borrowing from a related party)
Non-cash transactions
18.3

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk
The Group net exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period was as follow:

2020
GBP
Total financial assets
Total financial liabilities
Net

55.9
739.7
(683.8)

EUR
457.5
131.5
326.0

CHF

GBP

2019
EUR

CHF

2.0
546.1
(544.1)

3.5
731.2
(727.7)

1,192.8
332.5
860.3

65.5
579.0
(513.5)

The sensitivity of profit or loss to exchanges in the exchange rates indicates that a variation of 5% in the GBP/EUR and
GBP/CHF ratio compared to the 2020 year-end status would have an impact of +/- TGBP 20.7 on the financial assets and
of +/- TGBP 28.6 on the financial liabilities (compared to an impact of +/- TGBP 53.3 on the financial assets and +/- TGBP
36.8 on the financial liabilities had the same variation been applied on the year-end status 2019). The management
considers that the actual level of the Group activities does not require an active management of the foreign exchange
risks and that a relevant shift in the exchange rates of the involved currencies is not a realistic scenario.
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Other market risks
The Group is not exposed to interest rate, security prices or any other market derived risk.
18.4

Capital risk

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to grant the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to get
return for shareholders and to maintain a capital structure that optimize cost of capital. The instruments for achieving an
optimal capital structure depends for the time being on external factors not entirely under the Group’s control. The Group
explore constantly the market conditions for opportunities to raise funds and optimally structure its capital. Except for
Equilibrium Food Sagl, the Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

19

Business combinations

On October 2020, the Group acquired an additional 80% of the issued equity instruments of Blue Sky Lycopene SRL, a
company focusing the industrial extraction of lycopene from tomato industrial waste. There were no relevant acquisitionrelated costs.
The details of the purchase consideration, the net asset acquired, and goodwill are as follow (in TGBP):
Fair value of previously held investment
Cash paid
Total purchase consideration
The assets and liabilities recognized as a result of the acquisition are as follow:
Cash
Current assets
Financial liabilities
Current liabilities
Net identifiable assets acquired
Goodwill
Net asset acquired

14.6
14.6

0.8
20.0
(94.0)
(3.7)
(76.9)
91.5
14.6

The goodwill is not attributable to any net assets acquired. It will not be deductible for tax purposes.
The cash outflow to acquire the subsidiary, net of cash acquired, is as follow:
Cash consideration
Less balances acquired: cash
Net outflow of cash - investing activities

20

Interests in other entities

20.1

Group subsidiaries

14.6
(0.8)
13.8

The Group’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital
consisting of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the portion of ownership interests equals the voting
rights:
Interest in capital
and votes, %
Name
Business
Capital
2020
2019
Universal Trade Elite LTD, UK
Industrial production GBP
8,820
100.00%
99.99%
Equilibrium Food Sagl, Switzerland
Distribution
CHF
20,000
100.00% 100.00%
Blue Sky Lycopene SRL, Italy
Industrial know-how EUR
20,000
100.00%
-
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20.2

Interests in associates and joint ventures

Set out below are the associates and joint ventures of the group as at 31 December 2019. The entities have share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group. The country of incorporation or registration is
also their principal place of business, and the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting
rights held:
Ownership
Nature of
interest
relationCarrying amount
Name
2020
2019 ship
2020
2019
Blue Sky Swiss SA, Switzerland
50.0%
50.0% Joint Venture
906.1
224.2
Other*
Total equity accounted investments
906.1
224.2
* In 2018, the Group invested TGBP 4.1 against 51% of the equity of Blue Sky Ecotopia S.A.S., Dakar, a company under the Law of Senegal. The Group does
not have any control over this entity and consequently, the entity is not consolidated as a subsidiary but treated as an associate. Furthermore, no financial
information on Blue Sky Ecotopia S.A.S. exists or is available to the Group. The Group expects that there are no net assets available in Blue Sky Ecotopia
S.A.S. and the carrying amount of the investment has been adjusted consequently.

The reconciliation of the aggregate carrying value from opening to closing balance is as follow:

Opening balance
Investment in associates and joint ventures
Share of results
Share of other comprehensive result
Exchange differences effect
Closing balance

2020

2019

224.2
962.4
(285.0)
(11.1)
15.6
906.1

486.5
(260.1)
(0.8)
(1.4)
224.2

Commitments in respect of associates and joint ventures
The Group’s industrial processing activities are carried-out in Blue Sky Swisse SA, in which the Group has an ownership
interest of 50%. For 2021, the joint venture activities are expected to generate a cash need of GBP 10 million. GBP 3.1
million will be financed by way of borrowings, including a mortgage loan for GBP 2.7 million, and the remaining GBP 6.9
million will be covered by the two joint venturers to the extent of 50% each, resulting in a commitment by the Group to
provide funding for the joint venture’s capital of GBP 3.5 million (previous period: none or not defined commitment).
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Summarized financial information for associates and joint ventures
The tables below provide the summarised financial information for associates and joint ventures that are material to the
Group. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant associates
and joint ventures and not the Group’s share of those amounts. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made
by the entity when using the equity method, including fair value adjustments and modifications for differences in
accounting policy:
Blue Sky Swisse SA

Summarized balance sheet

2020

2019

Property, plant and equipments
Intangible assets
Non current assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Other assets
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

1,530.4
31.8
1,562.2
1,012.4
10.1
156.9
32.0
1,211.4

348.2
26.0
374.2
76.1
22.6
3.7
102.4

Financial liabilities
Non current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Accruals
Current liabilities
Net assets

863.8
41.6
56.0
961.4
1,812.2

9.5
18.8
28.3
448.3

Reconciliation to carrying value:
Net assets beginning of period
Increase/(decrease) of net assets
Result of the period
Other comprehensive result for the period
Closing net assets

448.3
1,794.0
(407.9)
(22.2)
1,812.2

569.5
(119.6)
(1.6)
448.3

50.0%
906.1
906.1

50.0%
224.2
224.2

(26.9)
(27.0)
-

(36.0)
-

Result from continuing operations
Result from discontinued operations

(407.9)
-

(119.6)
-

Result of the period
Other comprehensive result of the period
Total comprehensive result

(407.9)
(22.2)
(430.1)

(119.6)
(1.6)
(121.2)

Group's share in %
Group's share
Carrying amount
Summarized statement of comprehensive income
Revenue
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment charges
Interest income
Interest expense
Income tax expense

21

Contingent liabilities

21.1

Contingent liabilities

For contingent liabilities relating to associates and joint ventures, refer to note 20.2.
21.2

Capital commitments

The Group does not have capital expenditures contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognized as
liabilities.
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21.3

Non-cancellable operating leases

The Group has recognized right-of-use assets for those leases except for short-term and low value leases - see note 10
for further information. The expenses for short-term and low value leases were TGBP 35.5 and TGBP 117.4 in 2020 and
2019 respectively.

22

Related party transactions

Related parties include members of the Board of directors as well as key management of the Group. The following
transactions were carried out with related parties:
22.1

Key management compensation

Compensation of board members
Compensation of other key management
Total
22.2

2020

2019

(12.0)
(22.0)
(34.0)

(30.0)
(163.8)
(193.8)

2020

2019

33.6

227.1

108.0

94.2

21.3

25.7

566.4

284.8

(123.1)

560.3

562.8

439.7

Transactions with other related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Sale and purchase of goods and services
Sale of products and services to entities controlled
by board members and/or other key management
Purchase of management services from entities controlled
by board members and/or other key management
Rent services from entities controlled
by board members and/or other key management
Other transactions
Call on partly paid 'B' shares (formerly 'B-Ordinary') issued to entities
controlled by board members and/or other key management
Drawdowns/(reimbursements) of borrowing from entities controlled by
board members and/or other key management
Undrawn borrowing facility towards entities controlled by
board members and/or other key management
22.3

Year-end balances arising from purchase of products and services

The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with related parties:

2020

2019

Trade receivables
Issued, but still not paid-in share capital and premium
Total assets

357.2
357.2

106.6
923.6
1,030.2

Financial liabilities
Other payables
Total liabilities

437.2
437.2

560.3
3.5
563.8
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Loans and/or other financial instruments to/from related parties are as follow:

2020

2019

Financial assets toward entities controlled by board members and/or key management
Beginning of year
Subscription for newly issued 'B' (formerly 'B-Ordinary) shares
Calls on partly paid 'B' (formerly 'B-Ordinary') shares
Interest charged
Interest paid
End of year

923.6
(566.4)
357.2

755.0
453.4
(284.8)
923.6

Loans from entities controlled by board members and/or key management
Beginning of year
Drawdown/(reimbursement) of borrowing facility
Interest charged
Interest paid
End of year

560.3
(123.1)
437.2

560.3
560.3
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23

Loss per share

Basic and diluted loss per classes of share is as follow:

2020
Class 'Ordinary'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'A'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'B'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'C'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Share class 'D'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'E'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'F'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'G'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'H'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'I'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'J'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'K'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share

2019

(28.3)

(83.1)

3,260,000

3,010,487

(0.009)

(0.028)

(193.5)

(568.8)

25,000,000 25,000,000

(0.008)

(0.023)

(30.6)

(90.0)

4,000,000

2,750,685

(0.008)

(0.033)

(8.7)

(25.5)

1,000,000

997,260

(0.009)

(0.026)

(0.1)

(0.4)

20,000

16,548

(0.005)

(0.024)

(29.2)

(85.7)

56,000

9,359

(0.521)

(9.157)

(73.7)

(216.5)

141,000

23,564

(0.523)

(9.188)

(82.6)

(242.7)

152,000

25,403

(0.543)

(9.554)

(86.4)

(253.7)

143,000

23,899

(0.604)

(10.616)

(161.6)

(474.5)

259,000

43,285

(0.624)

(10.962)

(144.3)
131,281

(1.099)

na

(48.7)
55,068

(0.884)

na
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Events after the balance sheet date

−

See note 2.2 ‘Uncertainty and ability to continue operations’;

−

On August 2020, the Group announced the entering into a business combination with IGEA Pharma N.V. (IGEA), a
SIX listed company existing under Dutch law focused on preventative health-tech products and devices (the
Combination). IGEA commercializes an Alzheimer’s prevention set (which includes ’Alz1’, an at-home lab test kit to
measure non-bound copper in the blood and a natural dietary supplement branded ‘Alz1 Tab’ designed to reduce
blood heavy metals content) and expects to integrate the non-bound copper detection-based pipeline with a
diabetes type II prevention set in 2021. Non-bound copper is an expected Alzheimer’s and diabetes type II associated
biomarker. Controlling non-bound copper can contribute to reduce the risk of Alzheimer’s and diabetes type II. Key
elements of the Combination strategy include establishing market acceptance and position of the offered solutions,
leverage commercial capabilities and capitalize on the financial leverage and operational synergies to improve return
on capital and achieve profitability. The Combination aims to create an EU headquartered company with an
innovative early-stage commercial portfolio of nutraceutical, health prevention, pharma, and cosmeceutical
solutions focused on industrial extraction and high quality featured cannabidiol (CBD), terpenes, policosanol, and
plant sterols.
The Combination has been structured through a contribution in-kind by the Blue Sky shareholders of their ownership
in Blue Sky into IGEA by subscribing IGEA’s newly issued shares. The reference value of Blue Sky has been set by the
board of directors of IGEA in CHF 186 million (on a fully diluted and post-money basis) and is based on a valuation
report of Blue Sky issued by PKF Italy. On 28 April 2021, the extraordinary general meeting of IGEA approved the
Combination as required by Dutch law and resolved to appoint the board of IGEA to issue up to a maximum of
309,600,000 new shares of IGEA at par, reserved for issuance to the shareholders of Blue Sky only, to finalize the
Combination. On 30 June 2021, IGEA launched an all equity offer to the Blue Sky shareholders and on 26 July 2021
IGEA disclosed the unconditional acceptance of the offer with reference to the minimum threshold of 75% of the
shares and the votes required to definitively combine the two businesses.
The Combination will qualify as a reverse acquisition, with the consolidated financial statements of IGEA after 1
January 2021 being the continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Blue Sky including IGEA from the
executed Combination onward.
The Group’s 2021 activity will be focused on the accomplishment of the Combination and the set-up and start of the
industrial activities for CBD, terpenes, policosanol, and other vegetable matrices-based extractions as well as the
market launch of the offered solutions;

−

Given the gradual easing of the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions as well as the programs of several governments to
return economic activities to normal levels, at the date of the approval of these financial statements, the Group is
not aware of any particular potentially adverse effect COVID-19 could have on the Group’s activities during 2021.
The Group concluded that there is no material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt upon the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern.

***
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Independent auditor’s report

To the Shareholders of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD.

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31/12/2019, the
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity, the consolidated cash flows statement for the year then
ended and the explanatory notes.
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31/12/2019, and of the consolidated result of its operations and
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).
Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the section of this report titled Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements. We are independent of Blue Sky
Natural Resources LTD (the Group) pursuant to the regulations and standards on ethics and
independence applicable to audits of financial statements under applicable standards. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Responsibilities of the directors and board of statutory auditors for the consolidated financial
statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and, according to the terms prescribed by law, for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
The directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and for
the appropriateness of the use of the going concern assumption in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements, and for appropriate disclosure thereof. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the directors use the going concern basis of accounting unless directors either intend to
liquidate the parent company Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD or to cease operations or has no
realistic alternative but to do so.

Mazars Italia S.p.A.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain a reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit performed in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA)
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.
As part of the audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA), we exercised
professional judgement and maintained professional scepticism throughout the audit. Furthermore:
•

we identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error; we designed and performed audit procedures in
response to those risks; we obtained sufficient and appropriate audit evidence on which to
base our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations or the override of internal control;

•

we obtained an understanding of the internal control relevant to the audit in order to design the
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control;

•

we evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;

•

we concluded on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. Where a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention, in our auditor’s report, to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
subsequent events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern;

•

we evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in such a manner as to give a true and fair
view;

•

we obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the
entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial
statements.

We communicated to those charged with governance, identified at an appropriate level as required by
ISA, among other matters, the scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our audit.
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We also provided those charged with governance with a statement that we complied with the
regulations and standards on ethics and independence applicable under standards and communicated
to them any circumstances that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence and, where
applicable, related safeguards.
Rome, 27 luglio 2021

Raffaello Lombardi
Partner
Mazars Italia S.p.A.
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Consolidated statement of profit or loss
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)

Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross result
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Other income
Other expenses
Operating result

Notes

2019

2018

6

21.6
(81.2)
(59.6)

-

(342.8)
(2.3)
(1,400.1)
243.4
(198.2)
(1,759.6)

(273.3)
(429.6)
(60.1)
(763.0)

8.1
8.1

Finance income
Finance costs
Finance costs - net

8.3
8.3

1.9
(21.6)
(19.7)

(6.8)
(6.8)

Share of net result of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
Result before income tax

22.2

(260.1)
(2,039.4)

(27.5)
(797.3)

9

(1.6)
(2,041.0)

(797.3)

(2,040.9)
(0.1)
(2,041.0)

(797.3)
(797.3)

(0.028)
(0.023)
(0.033)
(0.026)
(0.024)
(9.157)
(9.188)
(9.554)
(10.616)
(10.962)

(0.047)
(0.027)
(1.121)
na
na
na
na
na
na
na

Income tax expense
Result of the period
Attributable to:
Owners of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD
Non-controlling interests
Basic and diluted loss per classes of shares (in GBP units):
Class 'Ordinary'
Class 'A'
Class 'B'
Class 'C'
Class 'D'
Class 'E'
Class 'F'
Class 'G'
Class 'H'
Class 'I'

25
25
25
25
25
25
25
25
25
25

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)
Notes

2019

2018

(2,041.0)

(797.3)

17

(10.4)

-

17

(0.8)
(11.2)

-

(2,052.2)

(797.3)

(2,052.1)
(0.1)
(2,052.2)

(797.3)
(797.3)

Result of the period
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method
Other comprehensive result for the period
Total comprehensive result for the period
Attributable to:
Owners of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD
Non-controlling interests

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)
Notes

2019

2018

01-Jan
2018

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Non current assets

10
11
12
22.2

174.3
224.2
398.5

98.6
98.6

-

Inventories
Trade receivables
Other assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

14
13.1
15
13.3
13.2

805.9
115.8
46.6
923.6
54.4
1,946.3

123.7
761.1
14.7
899.5

8.7
8.3
17.0

2,344.8

998.1

17.0

3,301.7
288.3
(2,846.6)
743.4
(0.1)
743.3

1,392.4
299.5
(805.7)
886.2
886.2

22.3
(8.4)
13.9
1.4
15.3

ASSETS

Total assets
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital and premium
Reserves
Retained earnings
Equity attributable to owners of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD
Non-controlling interests
Total shareholders' equity

16
17

Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities
Non-current liabilities

13.4
11

927.3
148.7
1,076.0

81.3
81.3

-

Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities
Accruals
Current liabilities

13.5
13.4
11
13.6

388.8
5.0
25.8
105.9
525.5

11.4
19.2
30.6

1.7
1.7

2,344.8

998.1

17.0

Total equity and liabilities

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)
Attributable to owners of
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD
Share
capital and Other Retained
Notes premium reserves earnings Total
As at 1 January 2018

Non
controll.
interest

Total
equity

22.3

-

(8.4)

13.9

1.4

15.3

-

-

(797.3)
(797.3)

(797.3)
(797.3)

-

(797.3)
(797.3)

16

1,370.1

-

-

1,370.1

-

1,370.1

17;18

1,370.1

300.0
(0.5)
299.5

-

300.0
(0.5)
1,669.6

(1.4)
(1.4)

300.0
(1.9)
1,668.2

At 31 December 2018

1,392.4

299.5

(805.7)

886.2

-

886.2

As at 1 January 2019

1,392.4

299.5

(805.7)

886.2

-

886.2

- (2,040.9) (2,040.9)
(11.2)
(11.2)
(11.2) (2,040.9) (2,052.1)

(0.1)
(0.1)

(2,041.0)
(11.2)
(2,052.2)

Result of the period
Other comprehensive result for the period
Total comprehensive income
Transactions with owners:
Issuance of shares, net of cost
Equity settled transaction with parties
other than employees
Transactions with minorities

Result of the period
Other comprehensive result for the period
Total comprehensive income
Transactions with owners:
Issuance of shares, net of cost
At 31 December 2019

16

1,909.3
1,909.3
3,301.7

-

-

1,909.3
1,909.3

-

1,909.3
1,909.3

288.3 (2,846.6)

743.4

(0.1)

743.3

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)
Notes

2019

2018

Cash generated from operations
Interest and income tax paid
Net cash flow from operating activities

19.1

(1,339.2)
(1,339.2)

(238.1)
(238.1)

Payments for property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Payments for intangible assets
Payments for the acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Investments in associates and joint ventures
Payments for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Finance income
Cash flow from investing activities

10
10
12
21
22.2

(218.8)
218.8
(209.8)
(486.5)
(1.9)
1.9
(696.3)

(127.4)
(27.5)
(60.1)
(215.0)

16

1,276.4
284.8
567.4
(36.5)
(20.5)
2,071.6

467.2
8.7
(11.3)
(5.1)
459.5

36.1
14.7
3.6
54.4

6.4
8.3
14.7

Proceeds from issuance of shares
Proceeds from calls of shares and calls in arrears
Proceeds from financial debts
Repayments of lease liabilities
Finance cost
Cash flow from financing activities

11

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Net effect of currency translation
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

13.2

Non-cash transactions

19.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
1

General information

Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD is a private company limited by shares incorporated under the law of England and
registered under company number 10142949 with the Registrar of Companies of England and Wales. The Company
headquarter and registered office is in 10 Philpot Lane EC3M BAA, London, England. The principal place of business is in
England. The consolidated financial statements 2019 of the Company include the Company and its subsidiaries. Unless
the context indicates otherwise, all reference to ‘Blue Sky’ or the ‘Company’ or the ‘Group’ refer to Blue Sky Natural
Resources LTD and its consolidated subsidiaries.
The Group focuses on highly controlled vegetable matrices and their industrial processing to extract cannabidiol,
terpenes, polycosanol and other valuable components and in the distribution of food supplements and functional food.
Blue Sky was incorporated on 22 April 2016 and was dormant until November 2017, when a first share capital increase
took place and operations started progressively with the exploration of opportunities and the implementation of activities
leading to a first agricultural campaign and to the development of own transformation processes during 2019.
The Company decided to firstly adopt IFRS for the year ended 31 December 2019. These Group consolidated financial
statements have been approved for disclosure by the board of directors of the Company on 27 July 2021.

2

Summary of significant accounting policies

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted by the Group in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements to the extent they have not already been disclosed in the other notes above. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.
2.1

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) applicable to
companies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements comply with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB).
They have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except (a) certain financial assets measured at fair value; and (b)
defined benefit pension plans, for which plan assets were measured at fair value, and are presented in GBP. All figures
included in these consolidated financial statements and notes have been rounded to the nearest GBP thousand unit
except when otherwise indicated.
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Although these estimates
are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those
estimates. It also requires management to make judgements in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.
The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant
to the financial statements are disclosed in section 2.2 of this note 2 and note 3 of these consolidated financial
statements.
2.2

Uncertainty and ability to continue operations

This note must be read in conjunction with note 2.2 ‘Uncertainty and ability to continue operations’ of the consolidated
financial statements 2020.
To date, Blue Sky has financed its cash requirements primarily from share issuance and this will continue to apply until
the Group will be able – if ever - to start generating revenues and consistent cash flows to adequately support its
operations.
In 2021, the Group’s activities will be focused on the set-up and start of the industrial processing for CBD, terpenes,
policosanol, and other vegetable matrices-based extraction as well as the market launch of the offered solutions. The
industrial processing activities are carried-out in Blue Sky Swisse SA, a joint venture in which the Group has an ownership
interest of 50% jointly with Pharma Tech Holding SA, which holds the remaining 50% and which is also a relevant
shareholder in Blue Sky. The joint venture activities will generate a cash need of GBP 10 million, covered by borrowing
and other grants for at least GBP 3.1 million. The remaining GBP 6.9 million will be covered by the two joint venturers to
the extent of 50% each, resulting in a commitment by the Group to provide funding for the joint venture’s capital of GBP
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3.5 million. The Group then expects further GBP 0.5 million to be required for general working capital purposes, for a
total need until end of 2021 of GBP 4 million.
On August 2020, the Group announced the entrance in a business combination transaction with IGEA Pharma N.V. (IGEA),
a SIX listed company existing under Dutch law, as further described under note 26 (the Combination). The Combination
has been structured through a contribution in-kind by the Blue Sky shareholders of their Blue Sky shares into IGEA by
subscribing IGEA’s newly issued shares. On 28 April 2021, the extraordinary general meeting of IGEA approved the
Combination as required by Dutch law and resolved to appoint the board of IGEA to issue new IGEA’s shares at par,
reserved for issuance to the shareholders of Blue Sky only. On 30 June 2021, IGEA launched an all equity offer to the Blue
Sky shareholders and on 26 July 2021 IGEA disclosed the unconditional acceptance of the offer with reference to the
minimum threshold of 75% of the shares and the votes required to definitively combine the two businesses. Through the
Combination, the Group will have access to funds for up to GBP 7.2 million (EUR 8) already secured by IGEA in April 2021
in a 24-month convertible bond agreement with Negma group.
The Group therefore will have granted the funds management requires essential to operate the business as expected and
to meet its obligations as they fall due at least through 31 December 2021, and hence these consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. However, the ability of the Group to start generating revenues
and consistent cash flows to adequately support its operations remains still uncertain, and this exposes the Group to all
the risks inherent in establishing a business.

2.3

Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Company has direct or indirect control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. The acquisition
method of accounting is used to account for business combinations (see note 2.11). Inter-company transactions, balances
and unrealized gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or joint control. This is generally
the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for
using the equity method of accounting, after initially being recognised at cost.
Joint ventures
Under IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements, investments in joint arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and obligations of each investor, rather than the legal
structure of the joint arrangement. The Group does only have joint ventures. Interests in joint ventures are accounted
for using the equity method, after initially being recognised at cost.
Equity method
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to
recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share
of movements in other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or
receivable from associates and joint ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.
Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations
or made payments on behalf of the other entity. Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates
and joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
equity-accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group. The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy
described in section 2.12 of this note 2.
Changes in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with
equity owners of the group. A change in ownership interests result in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of
the controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
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the amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognized in a
separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of Blue Sky.
When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss of control, joint control or
significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value, with the change in carrying amount
recognised in profit or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.
If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained
by the Group, only a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
2.4

Segment reporting

A small team of managers that reports to the Chief Executive Officer comprehensively manages the entire business and
has defined from a product and operations perspective view reportable segments. The operating decision-maker is the
Chief Executive Officer who reviews the Group operations and makes decisions in the segments. The activities of the
Group are not affected by any significant seasonal effect. The Group intends to focus on the EU market and operates on
other markets on an opportunistic approach, but geographies are not considered to be separate segments.
2.5

Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the ‘functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in GBP, which is Blue Sky’s presentation currency.
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the dates
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies are recognized in the statement of profit
or loss. They are deferred in equity if they are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation
Group companies
Assets and liabilities of Group entities using a functional currency different from the presentation currency are translated
into the presentation currency using year-end rates of exchange. Income and expenses and cash flows are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case they are translated at the dates of the transactions). All resulting
translation differences are recognized directly in other comprehensive income. On the divestment of a foreign entity, the
identified cumulative currency translation difference relating to that foreign entity is recognized in income as part of the
gain or loss on divestment. Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated
as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate.
2.6

Revenue recognition

Industrial processing
The Group did not yet recognize any revenue from the industrial processing of highly controlled vegetable matrices and
the sale of their extracts (cannabidiol, terpenes, polycosanol, and other valuable components) in the wholesale market.
Distribution
The Group sells on a wholesale and e-commerce basis food supplements and functional food products. Revenue is
recognised when control of the products has transferred, being when the products have left the warehouse for shipment
and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products and measured at the
fair value of the consideration received or receivable, stated net of discount, cancellations and value added taxes. The
Group does not offer an acceptance provision.
The group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the promised goods to the
customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. Consequently, the Group does not adjust any of the
transaction prices for the time value of money.

Page 10 of 35
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD

www.blueskynr.co.uk

F-131

2.7

Income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.
The current income tax charge is calculated based on the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the
reporting period in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised, or the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable income will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
Tax is recognized in the statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it releases to items recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
2.8

Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Historical costs include
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the assets’
carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged to the statement of profit or loss during the financial period in which they are incurred. Gains
and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in the statement
of profit or loss. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate costs to residual values over each
asset’s estimated useful lives. The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at
each balance sheet date. Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount. To date, the Group does not own property, plant, and equipment.
2.9

Leases

The Group has adopted IFRS 16 – Leases retrospectively. All contracts that convey the right to use an underlying physical
asset for a time in exchange for consideration are recognized as a right-of-use asset together with a corresponding liability
at the date at which the leased asset is available for use, except for leases with a term of twelve months or less and low
value leases. For these short-term and low value leases, the Group recognizes the lease payments as an operating expense
on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. In determining the lease term, management consider all facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not to exercise a termination option.
Extension option are only considered if the lease is reasonably certain to be extended. The assessment of reasonable
certainty is only revised if a significant event or a significant change in circumstances, that is within the control of the
lessees, occurs.
Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The lease liabilities include the
net present value of the future payments, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if not readily
determinable, an incremental borrowing rate, being the rate that the Group would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset, in a similar economic environment. Lease payments
are allocated between principal and finance cost. The right-of-use assets are initially recognized at cost, which comprises
the amount of the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, adjusted for any lease payments made at or
prior to the commencement date of the lease, any lease incentive received, and any initial direct costs incurred by the
Group, and expected costs for obligations to dismantle and remove right-of-use assets when they are no longer used.
Page 11 of 35
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD

www.blueskynr.co.uk

F-132

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
Right-of-use assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the balance sheet carrying amount
may not be recoverable using cash flow projections for the useful life.
2.10

Intangible assets

Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as described in note 2.11. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is not amortised, but it is tested for impairment annually, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that it might be impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and
losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. Goodwill is allocated
to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or
groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.
The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management
purposes.
Trademarks, licenses, and other similar rights
Separately acquired trademarks, licenses or other similar rights are shown at historical cost. Trademarks, licenses, and
other similar rights acquired in a business combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a
finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.
Amortization methods and periods
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
amortised on a straight-line basis over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired.
2.11

Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless of whether equity
instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary comprises:
−
−
−
−
−

the fair values of the assets transferred;
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business;
the equity interests issued by the group;
the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement; and
the fair value of any pre-existing equity interest.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
The excess of:
−
−
−

the consideration transferred;
the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity; and
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recognized as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair
value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is recognised directly in profit or loss as a
bargain purchase.
Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are discounted to their
present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the
rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions.
Contingent consideration is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability are
subsequently remeasured at amortized cost.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.
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2.12

Impairment of assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. Other
assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cashgenerating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.
2.13

Financial assets

2.13.1

Investments and other financial assets

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:
−

At amortised cost. Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows, where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are measured at amortised cost. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other gains/(losses) together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss;

−

At fair value through other comprehensive income. Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
for selling the financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. Movements in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income and foreign
exchange gains and losses, which are recognised in profit or loss. When the financial asset is derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from equity to profit or
loss and recognised in other gains/(losses). Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in other gains/(losses) in
finance result and impairment losses are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss;

−

At fair value through profit or loss. Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a financial asset that is
subsequently measured consequently is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other gains/(losses) in
the period in which it arises.

The classification depends on the Group’s business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of
the cash flows. For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on whether
the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair
value through other comprehensive income. The Group reclassifies investments when and only when its business model
for managing those assets changes.
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date, being the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership.
At initial recognition, the group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss. Subsequent
measurement of financial assets depends on the group’s business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset.
Equity instruments are measured at fair value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair value gains
and losses on equity investments in other comprehensive income, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value
gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue
to be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the group’s right to receive payments is established. Changes in
the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in other gains/(losses) in the statement
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of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not reported separately from other changes in fair value.
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit loss associated with its investments and other financial
assets carried at amortised cost and fair value through other comprehensive income. The impairment methodology
applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. For trade receivables, the group applies
the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial
recognition of the receivables (see note 20 for further details).
2.13.2

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective
interest rate method. Due to their short-term nature, their carrying amount generally correspond to their fair value. The
group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables.
2.13.3

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are stated at nominal value. They only include deposits held at call with financial institutions
immediately available for use by the Group.
2.14

Financial liabilities

2.14.1

Financial debts

Financial debts are initially recognized at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently stated at
amortized cost. Any difference between the proceeds received (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is
recognised in profit or loss over the debt period using the effective interest method.
Financial debts are removed from the balance sheet when the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled,
or expired. The difference between the carrying amount of a financial debt that has been extinguished or transferred to
another party and the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised
in profit or loss as other income.
2.14.2

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized costs. Due to their
short-term nature, their carrying amount generally correspond to their fair value.
2.14.3

Lease liabilities

In early adopting IFRS 16, liabilities deriving from lease arrangements (see section 2.9 of this note 2) are classified
separately.
2.15

Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods and goods for resale are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost comprises direct materials and direct labour. An appropriate proportion of overhead expenditure is allocated
only in case a normal operating capacity is reached. Net realizable value is the estimated market price less applicable
variable selling expenses.
2.16

Contributed equity

Shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown as a deduction,
net of tax, from the proceeds and accounted for within equity.
Own shares held are recognized at cost and deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss on the
purchase, sale, issue, or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments. Any difference between the carrying amount
and the consideration, if reissued, is recognized directly in share premium. Voting rights related to treasury shares are
nullified for the Group and no dividends are allocated to them.
2.17

Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the
Page 14 of 35
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD

www.blueskynr.co.uk

F-135

obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the obligation.
2.18

Employee benefits

Short-term obligations
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulated sick leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
Pension and other post-employment cost
The Group did not operate pension and other post-employment benefits schemes during the reporting period or
terminated any pension and other post-employment benefits schemes during or immediately after end of the reporting
period, without any material influence on these consolidated financial statements.
Share-based compensation
The Group did not operate equity incentive plans during the reporting period.
2.19

Earnings per share

Basic earnings or losses per shares are calculated by dividing the net result of the period attributable to the equity holders
of Blue Sky by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period. The number of shares outstanding
varied as a result of different operations on the share capital structure of the Company. Diluted losses per share adjusts
the figures used in the determination of basic losses per share to take into account the after-income tax effect of interest
and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and the weighted average number of
additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares.
2.20

Related party transactions

Transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. Please
refer to note 24 for additional details.

3

Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions concerning the future
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income, expenses, and related
disclosures. The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and various other factors that
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making the judgments
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ
from these estimates.
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities or may have a significant impact on the reported results are described below:
−

Uncertainty and ability to continue operations. The uncertainty and ability of the Group to continue operations is
disclosed under note 2.2 ‘Uncertainty and ability to continue operations’;

−

Impairment of goodwill deriving from a business combination. The acquisition of Equilibrium Food Sagl in October
2019, as further disclosed under note 21, generated a goodwill of TGBP 740.8. The delay experimented by the Group
in implementing the sales and marketing activities to launch the ‘Distribution’ segment as expected was considered
a trigger for impairment, based on which the management decided to fully impair the goodwill;

−

Interest in a joint venture. In 2019, the Group entered a joint venture (please refer to notes 22.2 for further details)
with Pharma Tech Holding SA, which is also a relevant shareholder of the Group, specifically formed for setting-up
and operate the industrial processes for cannabidiol, terpenes, polycosanol and other valuable components
extraction from their vegetable matrices. The setting-up of the industrial extraction activities required relevant funds
that the two joint venturers, owning 50% each of the interest in equity and votes of Blue Sky Swisse SA, were so far
able to provide even if not in an equal way, which contributed to generate to date a loss from the share in the result
of the joint venture of TGBP 260.1 (see note 0 and 22.2). Further relevant investments are required to complete the
set-up of the industrial infrastructure of Blue Sky Swisse SA. This is expected to happen from 2021 onward, as still
described under note 2.2. However, it cannot be excluded that the assumptions made by the management about
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compliance of covenants of both joint venturers and performance of the joint venture will continue to exist also in
the future and this exposes the Group to the risk of sharing additional losses in the joint venture;
−

Fair value measurement of contingent considerations. The acquisition of Equilibrium Food Sagl (please refer to note
21 for further details) included certain contingent considerations related to earn-outs understandings on the
expected revenues 2019-2023 of the subsidiary and a put option of the seller, exercisable in three tranches between
January 2021 and January 2023, to sell back 75’000 of the 100’000 ‘I’ shares the Group issued for consideration at a
strike of CHF 6.90 per share. The initial recognition of those contingent considerations was TGBP 38.5 and TGBP
327.1 respectively. The fair value of the earn-outs related consideration was estimated by calculating the present
value of the future expected cash flows using a discount rate of 17.5% and assumed sales over the period and the
fair value of the contingent consideration deriving from the put option was estimated using an incremental
borrowing rate of 10%;

−

Deferred tax assets and liabilities. The assessment as to whether deferred tax assets relating to tax losses carryforwards and temporary differences have to be recognized requires significant judgment, in particular on the future
availability of taxable profits. At 31 December 2019 the Group did not capitalize any deferred tax assets because the
capitalization criteria are not met. Deferred tax assets relating to tax loss carry-forwards and temporary differences
that have not been recognized are reported in note 9.

4

First time adoption

These consolidated financial statements are the first the Group has been prepared in accordance with IFRS. Blue Sky was
incorporated on 22 April 2016 with a share capital on GBP 1 and for the period up to 31 December 2018 the Company
prepared company-only financial statements in accordance with local generally accepted accounting principles (Local
GAAP) as follow:
−
−
−

on 30 April 2017, the Company disclosed first unaudited statutory financial statements pursuant to Local GAAP in
the form of micro-entity accounts;
on 30 April 2018, the Company disclosed the second unaudited statutory financial statements under exemption for
small entities pursuant to Local GAAP;
beginning of 2019, the Company decided to shorten the accounting reference period ending 30 April 2019 so as to
end on 31 December 2018 and disclosed consequently unaudited statutory financial statements for the period
beginning 1 May 2018 and ending 31 December 2018.

Accordingly, the Group has prepared financial statements that comply with IFRS applicable as at 31 December 2019,
together with the comparative period data for the year ended 31 December 2018, as described in the summary of
significant accounting policies. In preparing the financial statements, the Group’s opening balance sheet was prepared as
at 1 January 2018, the Group’s date of transition to IFRS. The reconciliation of equity as at 1 January 2018 has been made
starting from the statutory balance sheet as disclosed by the Company pursuant to Local GAAP as at 30 April 2018, cleared
of operations from 1 January 2018 to 30 April 2018, then reclassified and remeasured consequently.
This note explains the principal adjustments made by the Group in restating its Local GAAP financial statements, including
the balance sheet as at 1 January 2018 and the financial statements as of, and for, the year ended 31 December 2018.
The Group did not apply for any exemption under first-time adoption.
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4.1

Group reconciliation of equity as at 1 January 2018 (date of transition to IFRS)

Notes

Reclassifications and
Local
remeasuGAAP* rements

IFRS

ASSETS
Investments
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Non current assets

A;B
B

9.4
9.4

(9.4)
(9.4)

-

Debtors
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

C;D
D
E

8.9
5.1
14.0

(8.9)
8.7
3.2
3.0

8.7
8.3
17.0

23.4

(6.4)

17.0

22.3
(0.6)
21.7
21.7

(7.8)
(7.8)
1.4
(6.4)

22.3
(8.4)
13.9
1.4
15.3

1.7
1.7

-

1.7
1.7

23.4

(6.4)

17.0

Total assets
LIABILITIES
Share capital and premium
Retained earnings
Equity attributable to owners of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD
Non-controlling interests
Total shareholders' equity

F

Trade and other payables
Current liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

* The figures refer to the unaudited, statutory financial statements for the twelve months ended 30 April 2018 pursuant to Local GAAP, from which the
transactions for the period 1 January - 30 April 2018 were removed. The result pursuant to Local GAAP for this period evidences a loss of TGBP 2.2 and
consequently, no further detail is presented because of no material relevance for the disclosed reconciliation to IFRS.

4.2

Group reconciliation of total comprehensive result for the year ended 31 December 2018

Notes
Gross result

Reclassifications and
Local
remeasuGAAP* rements

IFRS

-

-

-

(125.7)
(125.7)

(273.3)
(305.2)
(60.1)
(638.6)

(273.3)
(430.9)
(60.1)
(764.3)

12.0
(1.9)
10.1

(12.0)
(3.6)
(15.6)

(5.5)
(5.5)

(115.6)

(27.5)
(681.7)

(27.5)
(797.3)

Income tax expense
Result of the period
Other comprehensive result for the period

(115.6)
-

(681.7)
-

(797.3)
-

Total comprehensive result for the period

(115.6)

(681.7)

(797.3)

Research and development
General and administration
Other expenses
Operating result

G
H
I

Finance income
Finance costs
Finance costs - net

J

Share of net result of associated and JV accounted at equity
Result before income tax

B

* Beginning of 2019, the Company decided to shorten the accounting reference period ending 30 April 2019 so as to end on 31 December 2018 and disclosed
unaudited financial statements for the eight months ended 31 December 2018 only. The results pursuant to Local GAAP for the period 1 January - 30 April
2018, evidencing a loss of TGBP 2.2, were therefore consequently integrated in the Local GAAP figures.
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4.3

Group reconciliation of equity as at 31 December 2018

Notes

Reclassifications and
Local
remeasuGAAP
rements

IFRS

ASSETS
Investments
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Non current assets

O
G;K
B
L

Debtors
Other assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

B;D;K;L;M;N
N
D
E

Total assets

45.7
45.7

(45.7)
98.6
52.9

98.6
98.6

1,221.7 (1,221.7)
123.7
761.1
10.3
4.4
1,232.0
(332.5)

123.7
761.1
14.7
899.5

1,277.7

(279.6)

998.1

26.4
1,366.0
1,367.5 (1,068.0)
(116.2)
(689.5)
1,277.7
(391.5)
1,277.7
(391.5)

1,392.4
299.5
(805.7)
886.2
886.2

LIABILITIES
Share capital and premium
Reserves
Retained earnings
Equity attributable to owners of Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD
Non-controlling interests
Total shareholders' equity

F

Lease liabilities
Non-current liabilities

O

-

81.3
81.3

81.3
81.3

Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
Current liabilities

E
O

-

11.4
19.2
30.6

11.4
19.2
30.6

1,277.7

(279.6)

998.1

Total equity and liabilities
4.4

Notes to the reconciliation of equity as at 1 January and 31 December 2018 and result 2018

A

Under Local GAAP, the Group accounted for investments and capitalised expenses in a generic way. Pursuant to
IFRS, the interest in associates (Blue Sky Lycopene SRL) for TGBP 3.5 has been reclassified as accounted for using
the equity method and remeasured by applying a corresponding loss to reflect the carrying value of the associate.
The equity holding in subsidiaries (Universal Trade Elite LTD) for TGBP 2.7 has been eliminated due to consolidation
and further TGBP 3.2 did not meet any recognition criteria for capitalization and were fully expensed;

B

During 2018, the Group further invested in associates for TGBP 27.5 (of which TGBP 23.4 in ‘Blue Sky Lycopene SRL’
and TGBP 4.1 in ‘Blue Sky Ecotopia SAS’). The investments have been reclassified as accounted for using the equity
method and fully recognized to profit or loss during 2018 to reflect the carrying value of the associates concerned;

C

Borrowings for TGBP 0.2 toward Universal Trade Elite LTD were eliminated due to consolidation and TGBP 8.7 were
reclassified pursuant to item D;

D

Under Local GAAP, the not paid-in share capital and share premium was generally accounted for as a credit.
Pursuant to IFRS, TGBP 8.7 and TGBP 761.1 as at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 respectively has been
reclassified as financial asset at fair value through profit or loss, which is the principle the Group elected to uses to
subsequently measure the subscription price of issued shares committed but not yet paid-in in full;

E

Under Local GAAP, no consolidated financial statements were disclosed. TGBP 3.2 and TGBP 4.4 have been
recognized in cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2018 and 31 December 2018 respectively as well as trade and
other payables as at 31 December 2018 for TGBP 11.4 due to the consolidation of Universal Trade Elite LTD;
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F

The adoption of IFRS has changed the Group accounting for equity. Non-controlling interest has been recognized in
Universal Trade Elite LTD as at 1 January 2018 for TGBP 1.4. The subsidiary was a dormant company without any
business until end of 2017, with assets represented by not-paid-in share capital for TGBP 4.6 and cash for TGBP 4.2
and share capital of TGBP 8.8. The Group acquired 63.99% of the subsidiary in October 2017 by paying TGBP 1.1
and committing for the not paid-in share capital of TGBP 4.6. A further 17.9% for TGBP 1.6 and 18.1% for TGBP 1.8
were acquired in December 2017 and December 2018 respectively, the consideration paid corresponding roughly
to the carrying value of the net assets acquired (except for a global difference of TGBP 0.5). Recognition of and
transactions with minorities resulted in a non-controlling interest of TGBP 1.4 and TGBP 0.0 as at 1 January 2018
and 31 December 2018 respectively. The result 2018 attributable to the minorities is immaterial;

G

The remeasurement of TGBP 273.3 refers to the recognition of costs from the consolidation of Universal Trade Elite
LTD and includes TGBP 127.4 deriving from the full impairment of intangible assets recognized pursuant to Local
GAAP in 2018 but for which the supplier has not completed development and for which the use is highly improbable
and further TGBP 106.1 due to the recognition to cost of previously capitalized expenses pursuant to Local GAAP
but for which the recognition criteria were not met;

H

From TGBP 305.2 remeasured, TGBP 8.4 refers to costs recognized from consolidating Universal Trade Elite LTD and
TGBP 300 refers to the recognition, not required under Local GAAP, of an equity-settled transaction with parties
other than employees at the fair value of the equity instruments issued. The further net expenses reduction of TGBP
3.2 is due to the recognition of lease pursuant to IFRS, which reduces the impact of rent (only partially offset by the
increased depreciation);

I

TGBP 60.1 refers to the fair value loss on investments accounted for pursuant to Local GAAP in a generic way and
elected by the Group to be treated as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (as further described in
item L);

J

Finance income reduction for TGBP 12.0 refers to interests on intercompany financings that has been eliminated
due to consolidation purposes and finance cost increase for TGBP 3.6 refers mainly to interests deriving from the
recognition of lease contracts for TGBP 5.1 and to minor positive exchange differences effects of TGBP 1.5, for a net
finance loss of TGBP 15.6;

K

Fully impaired intangible assets for TGBP 127.4 were recognized by consolidating Universal Trade Elite LTD, as
previously described under item G;

L

The Group recognized investments in the associate ‘Blue Sky Ecotopia SAS’ for TGBP 32.4 and in ‘Moocho, Inc.’ for
TGBP 28.9 generically as ‘debtors’ under Local GAAP. Under IFRS, the financial assets have been treated at fair value
though profit or loss because the criteria for a different treatment were not given and consequently reclassified.
For both investments, a fair value loss of TGBP 60.1 as previously described in item I. Additional TGBP 1.2 were
recognized as cost because the recognition criteria as a financial asset was not met;

M

Debtors for TGBP 279.6 referred to intercompany transactions and has been eliminated due to consolidation. TGBP
761.1 were treated pursuant to item D. TGBP 123.7 were treated as described under item N and TGBP 23.4 and
TGBP 32.4 as described under item B and L. Further TGBP 1.5 refers to minor remeasurements;

N

In 2018, the Group entered an ‘equity for services’ transaction for the lease of a five years’ office space in London.
Under IFRS, the equity instruments issued has been recognized as advance payment against which future monthly
lease settlements had to be offset and classified as other asset. The lease has been treated as further described in
item O;

O

Lease liabilities and right-of-use assets were not recognized under Local GAAP.

5

Segment information

5.1

Reportable segments

The Group strategic steering committee, consisting of the Chief Executive Officer and a small team of managers, has
identified the following three segments of its business:
−

Industrial processing. This part of the business deals with the provision of highly controlled vegetable matrices and
their industrial process for extracting cannabidiol, terpenes, polycosanol and other valuable components intended
for wholesale distribution mainly to the pharma and cosmeceutical industry;
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−

Distribution. This segment deals with the distribution, on a wholesale and e-commerce basis, of food supplements
and functional food products focusing on artisanal processing methods, traceability and transparency of the supply
chain, absence of induced genetic manipulation, and control over pollutants;

−

Corporate. Results of activities of financial nature as well as revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities which cannot
be allocated reliably to another segment are reported under the caption ‘Corporate’.

The 2019 and 2018 segments’ figures were as follow:

As at 31 December 2019
Industrial Distriprocess. bution Corporate Total
Revenues from external customers
Interest revenue
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Other material non-cash items
- impairment of intangible assets
- fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at fair value TPL
- share of profit of loss of associated and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method
Segment result
Total segment assets
Total segment liabilities

-

21.6

-

21.6

1.9
(4.5)
(17.4)

(7.2)
-

(8.8)
(22.3)

1.9
(20.5)
(39.7)

(1.9)

(740.8)
-

-

(740.8)
(1.9)

(260.1)

-

-

(260.1)

(1,274.4)

(574.6)

(192.0)

(2,041.0)

1,214.7
538.5

187.3
634.5

942.8
428.5

2,344.8
1,601.5

As at 31 December 2018
Industrial Distriprocess. bution Corporate Total
Revenues from external customers

-

-

-

-

Interest revenue
Interest expense
Depreciation and amortization
Other material non-cash items
- impairment of intangible assets
- fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at fair value TPL
- share of profit of loss of associated and joint ventures
accounted for using the equity method

-

-

(5.1)
(13.2)

(5.1)
(13.2)

(127.4)
(60.1)

-

-

(127.4)
(60.1)

(27.5)

-

-

(27.5)

(681.5)

-

(115.8)

(797.3)

14.7
11.4

-

983.4
100.5

998.1
111.9

Segment result
Total segment assets
Total segment liabilities

6

Revenues

The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods at a point in time in the segment ‘Distribution’ only. To date, the
Group did not recognize revenue in the segment ‘Industrial processing’. The Group did not disaggregate revenue. There
were no asset and liabilities related to contract with customers.

Page 20 of 35
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD

www.blueskynr.co.uk

F-141

7

Material profit or loss items

The Group has identified and listed separately the following items due to the significance of their nature and/or amounts
to provide a better understanding of the financial performance for 2019 and 2018:

Impairment losses
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Share of net result of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the equity method
Net loss from early-termination of lease agreements
Equity-settled transactions with parties other than employees
Total material profit or loss items

2019

2018

(740.8)
(1.9)
(260.1)
(90.7)
(1,093.5)

(127.4)
(60.1)
(27.5)
(300.0)
(515.0)

−

Impairment losses. The acquisition of Equilibrium Food Sagl in October 2019 (see note 21) generated a goodwill of
TGBP 740.8 which has been fully impaired as further described in note 3. Furthermore, intangible assets recognized
in 2018 for TGBP 127.4, for which the supplier has not completed development and use is herewith highly
improbable, were also fully impaired;

−

Fair value losses. Losses for TGBP 1.9 and TGBP 60.1 were recognized in 2019 and 2018 respectively as fair value
adjustment on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;

−

Share of net result of associates and joint ventures. In 2019, the Group entered a joint venture (see note 3 and 22.2
for further description) with Pharma Tech Holding SA, which is also a relevant shareholder of the Group, by
subscribing 50% of the interest in the capital and votes of Blue Sky Swisse SA. The share in the net result of the joint
venture generated a loss of TGBP 260.1. The shares in net result of associates in 2018 generated instead a loss of
TGBP 27.5 (no further losses then in 2019);

−

Net loss from early termination of lease agreements. In May 2018, the Company entered an ‘equity for services’
transaction for a five year’s office lease in London, but in December 2019 the Company moved its registered office
elsewhere and furthermore, with effect as per 31 December 2019, the parties definitively and irrevocably released
themselves from any right and obligation of the lease agreement. Consequently, the advance payment arising from
the recognition of the ‘equity for services’ transaction, against which any future monthly lease settlements had to
be offset over the entire duration of the lease, amounting to TGBP 95.7 as at 31 December 2019, has been fully
recognized as lease expense to profit or loss (general and administration expenses) and the lease liability and the
right-to-use assets consequently derecognized, generating a gain of TGBP 5.0 (included in ‘Other income’ – see note
8.1), the net result of the early termination being a loss of net TGBP 90.7;

−

Equity-settled transaction. In 2018, the Group recognized an equity-settled transaction for TGBP 300.0 with Pharma
Elite SRL, a party other than employees controlled by board members and/or other key management (see note 24).
The fair value of the services received could not be measured reliably and consequently the services received were
measured at the fair value of the equity instruments issued.

8

Other income and expense items

8.1

Other income and expenses

Income from a sole transaction with related parties (see note 24)
Other income from related parties (see note 24)
Other income
Derecognition of lease liabilities from early-termination of lease agreements
Total other income
Expenses related to a sole transaction with related parties
Losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Total other expenses

2019

2018

201.1
26.0
11.3
5.0
243.4

-

(196.3)
(1.9)
(198.2)

(60.1)
(60.1)
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8.2

Breakdown of expenses by nature

2019

2018

Products and services
Travel expenses
Corporate services
Facilities, rent and other occupancy expenses
General and administration
Depreciation
Impairment charges
Employee benefit expenses
Total cost of sales,

(398.2)
(80.4)
(290.7)
(143.0)
(24.1)
(39.8)
(740.8)
(109.4)
(1,826.4)

(477.1)
(20.9)
(55.4)
(3.5)
(5.4)
(13.2)
(127.4)
(702.9)

Reported as:
Cost of sales
Research and development
Sales and Marketing
General and administration
Total

(81.2)
(342.8)
(2.3)
(1,400.1)
(1,826.4)

(273.3)
(429.6)
(702.9)

2019

2018

1.9
1.9

-

Interest on financial liabilities
Interest on lease liabilities
Net exchange losses on foreign currencies
Finance costs

(7.1)
(13.4)
(1.1)
(21.6)

(5.1)
(1.7)
(6.8)

Finance costs, net

(19.7)

(6.8)

2019

2018

(1.6)
(1.6)

-

8.3

Finance income and costs

Interest on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Finance income

9

Taxes

9.1

Income taxes

Income tax charged to profit or loss is as follow:

Current tax on profits for the period
Deferred income tax from increase in deferred tax liabilities
Total income tax

The average applicable tax rate of the Group is 19.8% (2018: 19.0%) and was determined using the domestic tax rates
applicable to results in the countries concerned including England (19%), Switzerland (19%) and Italy (35%). The
reconciliation of the Group’s income tax is as follow:
2019
2018

Net loss before income taxes
Tax income at the domestic rates applicable in the country concerned
Tax effect of expense not deductible for tax purposes
Tax losses for which no deferred income tax asset was recognized
Total income tax charged to statement of profit or loss
9.2

(2,039.4)

(797.3)

(402.7)
140.8
263.5
(1.6)

(151.5)
151.5
-

Deferred taxes

The Group did not capitalize any deferred tax asset relating to tax loss carry-forwards and temporary differences since
the criteria for recognition are unmet. The gross value of unused tax losses which have not been capitalized as deferred
tax asset amount to TGBP 875.1 (2018: 175.7) and will expire between 2 and 5 years for TGBP 222.6 (2018: none) and in
more than 5 years for TGBP 652.5 (2018: 175.7). The gross value of not recognize deferred tax assets on temporary
differences amount to TGBP 313.5 (2018: none or without any material impact). The Group did not recognize deferred
tax liabilities on temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries (2019: TGBP 43.8; 2018: none or
without any material impact).
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10

Property, plant, and equipment
Advance
payments

Year ended 31 December 2019:
Opening net book amount
Increase
Decrease
Closing net book amount
Cost value
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Net book amount

Total

217.8
(217.8)
-

217.8
(217.8)
-

-

-

In September 2019, the Group entered agreements for the acquisition of certain machines to be used for the industrial
extraction, paying advances of TGBP 217.8. These agreements were then assigned in December 2019 to Blue Sky Swisse
SA, on which the Group held 50% in joint venture with Pharma Tech Holding SA. The Group has sufficient comfort that
the transaction took place at arm’s length.

11

Leases

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

2019

2018

01-Jan
2018

Office space, UK
Industrial space, Italy
Vehicles
Right-of-use assets

143.9
30.4
174.3

98.6
98.6

-

Lease liabilities - non-current
Lease liabilities - current
Lease liabilities

148.7
25.8
174.5

81.3
19.2
100.5

-

2019

2018

(39.6)
(13.4)
(117.4)

(13.2)
(5.1)
(3.5)

The statement of profit or loss shows the following amounts relating to leases:

Depreciation charges on rights-of-use assets
Interests expense (included in finance cost)
Expenses related to short-term and low value leases

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease agreement or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate (10%) if the
former cannot be readily determined, which is generally the case for space leases. Lease payments are allocated between
principal and finance cost. Right-of-use assets are measured at cost which is generally the amount of the initial
measurement of the lease liability and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the duration of the lease.
The Group entered lease agreements for office space in the UK in 2018 and for industrial spaces in Italy and for vehicles
in Switzerland respectively in 2019, with an original duration of 4 to 5 years. With effect as at 31 December 2019, the
office space agreement in the UK has been mutually terminated and the lease derecognized consequently. The carrying
value of the right-of-use assets on 31 December 2019 is TGBP 174.3 (previous periods: TGBP 98.6). Depreciation charges
for TGBP 39.6 are included in ‘Research and development’ for TGBP 8.6 and in ‘General and administration’ for TGBP 31.0
(previous year: TGBP 13.2 included in ‘General and administration’). The lease liability as of 31 December 2019 was TGBP
174.5 (2018: TGBP 100.5). The interest expense for lease and the proceeds used to reduce the lease liability during the
year ended 31 December 2019 amounts to TGBP 13.4 and TGBP 36.5 respectively (2018: interest expense and proceeds
used to reduce the lease liability amounted to TGBP 5.1 and TGBP 11.3 respectively).
The Group accounts for the expenses of short-term leases of twelve months or less and low value leases on a straightline basis over the lease term. The expense for the year ended 31 December 2019 related to these leases amounted to
TGBP 117.4 and includes TGBP 95.7 deriving from the early termination of the ‘equity for services’ settled lease agreement
in the UK (previous year: TGBP 3.5).
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12

Intangible assets
Patents,
and other
similar
rights Goodwill

Total

Year ended 31 December 2018:
Opening net book amount
Additions
Impairment charges
Closing net book amount

127.4
(127.4)
-

-

127.4
(127.4)
-

Cost value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

127.4
(127.4)
-

-

127.4
(127.4)
-

-

740.8
(740.8)
-

740.8
(740.8)
-

127.4
(127.4)
-

740.8
(740.8)
-

868.2
(868.2)
-

Year ended 31 December 2019:
Opening net book amount
Additions
Impairment charges
Closing net book amount
Cost value
Accumulated amortisation and impairment
Net book amount

Impairment charges of TGBP 127.4 in 2018 is included in ‘Research and development’ and relates to the impairment of
certain rights the Group recognized in 2018 but for which the supplier has not completed development, which make the
use herewith highly improbable. The acquisition of Equilibrium Food Sagl in October 2019 (as further described under
note 21) generated a goodwill of TGBP 740.8 which has been fully impaired. The impairment loss in included in general
and administration expenses.

13

Financial instruments
Notes

2019

2018

01-Jan
2018

Financial assets at amortized cost
Trade receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Total financial assets

13.1
13.2
13.3

115.8
54.4
923.6
1,093.8

14.7
761.1
775.8

8.3
8.7
17.0

Liabilities at amortized costs:
Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables*
Accruals*
Lease liabilities
Total financial liabilities

13.4
13.5
13.6
11

932.3
253.6
97.5
174.5
1,457.9

11.4
100.5
111.9

1.7
1.7

2019

2018

01-Jan
2018

20.5
106.6
(11.3)
115.8

-

-

* Excluding non-financial components

The Group’s exposure to the risks associated with financial instruments is disclosed in note 20.
13.1

Trade receivables

Trade receivables
Trade receivables towards related parties (see note 24)
Loss allowance (see note 20.1)
Trade receivables, net

Due to the short-term nature of the trade receivables, their carrying amount is considered to be the same as their fair
value.
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13.2

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents refer to cash at banks exclusively and amount to TGBP 54.4, TGBP 14.7 and TGBP 8.3 as at 31
December 2019, 31 December 2018 and as at 1 January 2018 respectively.
13.3

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss include the following:

2019

2018

01-Jan
2018

Unpaid share capital and premium
Unpaid share capital and premium from related parties (see note 24)
Unlisted equity instruments
Debt instruments toward associates
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

923.6
923.6

6.0
755.1
761.1

8.7
8.7

Reported as:
non-current
current
Total

923.6
923.6

761.1
761.1

8.7
8.7

2019

2018

(1.9)
(1.9)

(29.0)
(31.1)
(60.1)

2019

2018

01-Jan
2018

Loan from related party (see note 24)
Liabilities from contingent considerations in a business combination
Financial liabilities

560.2
372.1
932.3

-

-

Reported as:
non-current
current
Total

927.3
5.0
932.3

-

-

2019

2018

01-Jan
2018

250.1
3.5
8.7
0.8
17.1
108.6
388.8

11.4
11.4

1.7
1.7

The amounts recognized in profit or loss under ‘Other expenses’ were as follow:

Fair value loss on equity investments
Fair value loss on debt instruments towards associates
Total
Fair value considerations are disclosed under note 13.7.
13.4

13.5

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables

Trade payables
Other payables towards related parties (see note 24)
Payables for social security and insurances
Payables to tax authorities (for items not related to income tax)
Payables to employees
Advances received for future issuance of equity instruments
Trade and other payables

Trade payables are unsecured and are usually paid between 30 and 90 days of recognition. The fair value of trade payables
is considered to be the same as their carrying amounts, due to their short-term nature.
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13.6

Accruals

Products and services
Corporate services
Other
Total

2019

2018

01-Jan
2018

12.5
85.0
8.4
105.9

-

-

Accruals are usually settled within 90 days from recognition and their carrying amounts is considered to be the same as
their fair values due to their short-term nature.
13.7

Fair value considerations

The Group has classified its financial instruments measured at fair value into the three levels prescribed under the
standards:
−
−

−

Level 1. The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the end
of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in level 1;
Level 2. The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation
techniques which maximize the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2;
Level 3. If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included
in level 3.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is the only category of financial instruments the Group subsequently
measures at fair value and qualifies of level 3. The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for the reporting
period:
Debt
Unlisted instrum.
Not pai-in equity
towards
equity instrum. associates Total

Opening balance 1 January 2018

8.7

-

-

8.7

Acquisitions
Disposals/settlements
Losses recognized to profit or loss
Closing balance 31 December 2018

761.1
(8.7)
761.1

29.0
(29.0)
-

31.1
(31.1)
-

821.2
(8.7)
(60.1)
761.1

Acquisitions
Disposals/settlements
Losses recognized to profit or loss
Closing balance 31 December 2019

453.4
(290.9)
923.6

-

1.9
(1.9)
-

455.3
(290.9)
(1.9)
923.6

2019

2018

01-Jan
2018

771.1
75.9
(41.1)
805.9

-

-

14

Inventories

Raw materials
Products for resale
Write-down

Raw materials refer to vegetable matrices, mainly frozen hemp flowers, ready to be industrially treated for extraction OF
cannabidiol and other components. Products for resale refer to newly developed supplements for TGBP 41.1 and
functional food products and ingredients of the segment ’Distribution’ for TGBP 34.8. The newly developed supplements
were fully written down due to the delays the Group experimented in the launch of the new activities in the segment.
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15

Other assets

Receivables towards tax authorities (for items not related to income tax)
Advance payments
Other
Trade and other receivables

16

2019

2018

01-Jan
2018

43.5
2.1
1.0
46.6

2.4
121.3
123.7

-

Share capital and premium
Number of
shares*

Par
value

Share
premium

Total

Balance as at 1 January 2018

25,001

22.3

-

22.3

Issuance of 'Ordinary' shares
Issuance of 'B-Ordinary' shares
Year ended 31 December 2018

1,940
2,500
29,441

1.9
2.3
26.5

582.0
783.9
1,365.9

583.9
786.2
1,392.4

1,000
1,319
20
31,748,220
1,500,000
56,000
141,000
152,000
143,000
259,000
34,031,000

1.0
1.3
1.3
3.4
8.5
9.5
9.9
18.6
80.0

395.7
6.1
452.1
44.8
112.8
123.8
251.2
469.3
3,221.7

1.0
397.0
6.1
453.4
48.2
121.3
133.3
261.1
487.9
3,301.7

Issuance of 'C-Ordinary' shares
Issuance of 'Ordinary' shares
Issuance of 'D-Ordinary' shares
Share split 1:1000 and change of the name of the existing share classes
Issuance of 'B' shares
Issuance of 'E' shares
Issuance of 'F' shares
Issuance of 'G' shares
Issuance of 'H' shares
Issuance of 'I' shares**
Year ended 31 December 2019

* Each share within a class has full rights in the company with respect to voting, dividends, and distributions.
** 100’000 of the 259’000 issued ‘I’ shares were used as purchase consideration in acquiring a subsidiary (see note 21).

Share capital and premium as at 1 January 2018
At 1 January 2018, the share capital of the Company was TGBP 22.3, consisting of 25’001 shares, of which 1 ‘Ordinary’
share with a nominal value of GBP 1 and 25’000 ‘A-Ordinary’ shares with a par value of EUR 1. All shares were issued at
par without any premium.
Share capital and premium as at 31 December 2018
During 2018, the share capital of the Company was increased from TGBP 22.3 to TGBP 26.5 through issuance of 1’940
‘Ordinary’ shares (issued at GBP 301/share) and newly 2’500 ‘B-Ordinary’ shares with a nominal value of EUR 1 each
(issued at EUR 351/share). The share premium of those issuances was TGBP 1’365.9.
At 31 December 2018, the share capital of the Company was TGBP 26.5, consisting of 29’441 shares, of which 1’941
‘Ordinary’ shares, 25’000 ‘A Ordinary’ shares and 2’500 ‘B Ordinary’ shares. The share premium was TGBP 1’365.9, for a
total share capital and premium of TGBP 1’392.4.
Share capital and premium as at 31 December 2019
During the first quarter of 2019, the Company’s share capital was increased by TGBP 2.3 through issuance of newly 1’000
‘C-Ordinary’ shares with a nominal value of GBP 1 each and used by the Company for an equity-settlement transactions
with related parties (see note 24) other than employees and further described in note 18, 1’319 ‘Ordinary’ shares (issued
at GBP 301/share), and newly 20 ‘D-Ordinary’ shares with a nominal value of CHF 1 each (issued at CHF 401/share). The
overall share premium of those issuances was TGBP 401.8.
On 17 April 2019, the Company decided to split 1:1’000 the nominal value of all share classes issued so far and to rename
the share classes except the ‘Ordinary’ class: the ‘A-Ordinary’ became the ‘A’ shares, the ‘B-Ordinary’ became the ‘B’
shares and so on.
From April 2019 to December 2019, the share capital of the Company was increased by TGBP 51.2 through issuance of
1’500’000 ‘B’ shares (issued at EUR 0.35/share), newly 56’000 ‘E’ shares with a nominal value of GBP 0.06 each (issued at
GBP 0.86/share), newly 141’000 ‘F’ shares with a nominal value of EUR 0.07 each (issued at EUR 0.86/share), newly
152’000 ‘G’ shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.08 each (issued at CHF 0.96/share), newly 143’000 ‘H’ shares with a
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nominal value of EUR 0.08 each (issued at EUR 2.10/share), and newly 259’000 ‘I’ shares with a nominal value of CHF 0.09
each (issued at CHF 2.36/share). The overall share premium of those issuances was TGBP 1,454,0.
As at 31 December 2019, the Company had an issued share capital of TGBP 80.0 consisting of 34’031’000 shares, of which
3’260’000 ‘Ordinary’ shares, 25’000’000 ‘A’ shares, 4’000’000 ‘B’ shares, 1’000’000 ‘C’ shares, 20’000 ‘D’ shares, 56’000
‘E’ shares, 141’000 ‘F’ shares, 152’000 ‘G’ shares, 143’000 ‘H’ shares, and 259’000 ‘I’ shares. The share premium was TGBP
3,221.7, for a total share capital and premium of TGBP 3’301.7.

17

Reserves
ShareTransForeign
based
actions currency
payments with NCI translat.

Balance as at 1 January 2018

Total

-

-

-

-

Equity settled share-based payment transaction with
parties other than employees (see note 18 and 24)
Purchase of minorities
Year ended 31 December 2018

300.0
300.0

(0.5)
(0.5)

-

300.0
(0.5)
299.5

Currency translation differences
Year ended 31 December 2019

300.0

(0.5)

(11.2)
(11.2)

(11.2)
288.3

18

Equity-settled transactions

On 1 January 2019, the Group issued 1’000 ‘C-Ordinary’ share at par to Pharma Elite SRL, which is a party controlled by
board members and/or other key management, in exchange for services rendered. This issuance has been recognized in
2018 as an equity-settled transaction with parties other than employees for TGBP 300.0. The fair value of the services
received could not be measured and thus the Group measured the services received at the fair value of the equity
instruments issued.

19

Cash flow information

19.1

Net cash flow from operations

Result before income tax, including discontinued operations
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of intangible assets (including goodwill)
Fair value (gains)/losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Share of loss of associates and joint ventures
Other items without cash effect
Unrealized exchange differences
Items with cash effects of investing nature
Items with cash effects of financing nature
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) in inventories
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables
(Increase)/decrease in other assets
Increase in trade and other payables
Increase in accruals
Cash flow from operations
19.2

2019

2018

(2,041.0)

(797.3)

39.6
740.8
1.9
260.1
(3.8)
(1.3)
(1.9)
20.5

13.2
127.4
60.1
27.5
300.0
5.1

(774.5)
(98.8)
75.3
358.5
85.4
(1,339.2)

16.3
9.6
(238.1)

2019

2018

184.5
184.5

1.8
140.0
141.8

Non-cash transactions

Following non cash transactions were not included in the cash-flow statement:

Issuance of equity instruments for settlement of acquisition of minorities
Issuance of equity instruments for settlement of office lease expenses
Issuance of equity instruments for consideration in a business combination
Non-cash transactions
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20

Financial risk management

The Group is exposed to following financial risks. Given a certain simplicity, the Group does still not dispose of a risk
management framework. Where necessary, the risks are predominantly controlled by the CEO and the board of directors
with targeted and ad-hoc actions. The Group does not hold derivative financial instruments.
20.1

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, as well as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, mainly represented by subscribed but not yet paid-in capital which includes a relevant share premium.
The actual Group activity does not require the maintenance of an active risk management. The maximum credit risk
exposure of the Group is limited to the carrying amounts of its financial assets, amounting at the reporting date to TGBP
1,093.8 (2018: TGBP 775.8). Credit risk on sales to wholesale customers is limited and of no material relevance and is for
the time being not assessed or monitored. E-commerce sales are generally settled using major credit cards, mitigating
credit risk. The loss allowance recognized during 2019 refers mainly to the assessed credit risk exposures in Equilibrium
Food Sagl determined at the business combination. Credit risk on cash and cash equivalents is mitigated using
relationships with primary banks. Credit risk on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is under control, the
debtor being Blue Sky Angel Lab SRL, a company which is a related party to the Group (see note 24).
20.2

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the exposure of the Group to financial liabilities. The Group measures its liquidity risk by rolling
financial and cash flow forecasts and the risk management consists in maintaining enough liquidity in adequate form to
meet financial obligations when due. The liquidity sources of the Group are represented by its financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, undrawn borrowing facilities with shareholders, and the additional funds the Group expects to be
able to ensure as further described in note 2.2, granting herewith the necessary liquidity reserve until revenues will reach
– if ever - such an adequate level to generate cash in the manner necessary to sustain the Group operation.
The tables below show the contractual maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities:

0-6
6-12
months months

1-2
years

Total
over
contract. Carrying
5 years cash flows amount

3-5
years

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Lease liabilities
As at 31 December 2019

6.9
253.6
97.5
19.8
377.8

3.7
19.8
23.5

293.2
79.2
372.4

158.4
78.9
237.3

560.2
22.1
582.3

1,022.4
253.6
97.5
219.9
1,593.4

932.3
253.6
97.5
174.5
1,457.9

Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities
As at 31 December 2018

11.4
14.0
25.4

14.0
14.0

56.0
56.0

39.7
39.7

-

11.4
123.7
135.1

11.4
100.5
111.9

Trade and other payables
As at 1 January 2018

1.7
1.7

-

-

-

-

1.7
1.7

1.7
1.7

The Group had access to undrawn borrowing facilities with Pharma Tech Holding SA, which is a relevant shareholder of
the Group, as follow:
2019
2018

Expiring with in one year (from a related party)
Expiring beyond one year (from a related party)

20.3

439.7
439.7

-

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk
The Group net exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period was as follow:

Total financial assets
Total financial liabilities
Net

GBP

2019
EUR

CHF

2018

3.5
731.2
(727.7)

1,192.8
332.5
860.3

65.5
579.0
(513.5)

GBP

EUR

18.8
100.5
(81.7)

844.8
12.6
832.2
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The sensitivity of profit or loss to exchanges in the exchange rates indicates that a variation of 5% in the GBP/EUR and
GBP/CHF ratio compared to the 2019 year-end status would have an impact of +/- TGBP 53.3 on the financial assets and
of +/- TGBP 36.8 on the financial liabilities (compared to an impact of +/- TGBP 38.1 on the financial assets and no or only
marginal impact on the financial liabilities had the same variation been applied on the year-end status 2018). The
management considers that the actual level of the Group activities does not require an active management of the foreign
exchange risks and that a relevant shift in the exchange rates of the involved currencies is not a realistic scenario.
Other market risks
The Group is not exposed to interest rate, security prices or any other market derived risk.
20.4

Capital risk

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to grant the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to get
return for shareholders and to maintain a capital structure that optimize cost of capital. The instruments for achieving an
optimal capital structure depends for the time being on external factors not entirely under the Group’s control. The Group
explore constantly the market conditions for opportunities to raise funds and optimally structure its capital. Except for
Equilibrium Food Sagl, the Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

21

Business combinations and discontinued subsidiaries

In October 2019, the Group acquired 100% of the issued equity instruments of Equilibrium Food Sagl, a company existing
under Swiss law specialized in the distribution of supplements and functional food products with focus on artisanal
processing methods, traceable and transparent supply chains, absence of induced genetic manipulation, and control over
pollutants. There were no relevant acquisition-related costs.
During 2019, the Group discontinued the 2018 formed and dormant entity Blue Sky Ecotopia LTD because activities never
started. There was no net asset disposed, no disposal consideration and no gain or loss on disposal.
The details of the purchase consideration, the net asset acquired, and goodwill of Equilibrium Food Sagl are as follow (in
TGBP):
Cash paid
250.7
Share issued
184.5
Contingent considerations
365.6
Total purchase consideration
800.8
The fair value of the 100’000 class ‘I’ shares issued as part of the consideration paid by Blue Sky was based on the price
paid by third parties for subscribing the same class of equity instruments in the same period.
The assets and liabilities recognized in Equilibrium food Sagl as a result of the acquisition are as follow:
Cash
Inventories
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Net identifiable assets acquired
Goodwill
Net asset acquired

40.9
31.4
17.0
(19.1)
(10.2)
60.0
740.8
800.8

The goodwill is not attributable to any net assets acquired. It will not be deductible for tax purposes.
The cash outflow to acquire the subsidiary, net of cash acquired, is as follow:
Cash consideration
Less balances acquired: cash
Net outflow of cash - investing activities

250.7
(40.9)
209.8

Page 30 of 35
Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD

www.blueskynr.co.uk

F-151

22

Interests in other entities

22.1

Group subsidiaries

The Group’s subsidiaries at 31 December 2019 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital
consisting of ordinary shares that are held directly by the Group, and the portion of ownership interests equals the voting
rights:
Interest in capital and votes, %
01-Jan
Name
Business
Capital
2019
2018
2018
Universal Trade Elite LTD, UK
Industrial production GBP
8,820
99.99%
99.99%
81.99%
Equilibrium Food Sagl, Switzerland
Distribution
CHF
20,000 100.00%
Other*
- 100.00%
* In 2018 the Group formed Blue Sky Ecotopia LTD with a not paid-in share capital of GBP 600. The entity was dormant until 2019, when the Group decided
to terminate and close the entity. There were no net assets disposed, no disposal consideration nor any gain or loss on disposal.

22.2

Interests in associates and joint ventures

Set out below are the associates and joint ventures of the Group as at 31 December 2019. The entities have share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group. The country of incorporation or registration is
also their principal place of business, and the proportion of ownership interest is the same as the proportion of voting
rights held:
Ownership interest
Carrying amount
Nature of
01-Jan relation01-Jan
Name
2019
2018
2018 ship
2019
2018
2018
Blue Sky Swiss SA, Switzerland
50.0%
- JV
224.2
Blue Sky Lycopene SRL, Italy
20.0%
20.0%
20.0% Associated
Other*
Total equity-accounted investments
224.2
* In 2018, the Group invested TGBP 4.1 against 51% of the equity of Blue Sky Ecotopia S.A.S., Dakar, a company under the Law of Senegal. The Group does
not have any control over this entity and consequently, the entity is not consolidated as a subsidiary but treated as an associate. Furthermore, no financial
information on Blue Sky Ecotopia S.A.S. exists or is available to the Group. The Group expects that there are no net assets available in Blue Sky Ecotopia
S.A.S. and the carrying amount of the investment has been adjusted consequently.

The reconciliation of the aggregate carrying value from opening to closing balance is as follow:

Opening balance
Investment in associates and joint ventures
Share of results
Share of other comprehensive result
Exchange differences
Closing balance

2019

2018

486.5
(260.1)
(0.8)
(1.4)
224.2

27.5
(27.5)
-

Commitments in respect of associates and joint ventures
The Group does not have any defined commitment to provide funds for the capital commitments of associates and joint
ventures.
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Summarized financial information for associates and joint ventures
The tables below provide the summarised financial information for associates and joint ventures that are material to the
Group. The information disclosed reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the relevant associates
and joint ventures and not the Group’s share of those amounts. They have been amended to reflect adjustments made
by the entity when using the equity method, including fair value adjustments and modifications for differences in
accounting policy:
Blue Sky
Blue Sky
Swiss SA
Lycopene SRL
01-Jan
Summarized balance sheet
2019
2019
2018
2018

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Non current assets
Trade receivables
Other assets
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

348.2
26.0
374.2
76.1
22.6
3.7
102.4

19.0

19.1

17.5

4.5
23.5

23.4
42.5

17.5

Financial liabilities
Non current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Accruals
Current liabilities
Net assets

9.5
18.8
28.3
448.3

88.9
88.9
5.5
0.2
5.7
(71.1)

93.7
93.7
6.0
0.2
6.2
(57.4)

17.5

569.5
(119.6)
(1.6)
448.3

(57.4)
(17.2)
3.5
(71.1)

17.5
23.4
(97.5)
(0.8)
(57.4)

17.8
(0.3)
17.5

50.0%
224.2
224.2

20.0%
(14.2)
(14.2)

20.0%
(11.5)
(11.5)

20.0%
3.5
3.5

(36.0)
-

-

-

-

Result from continuing operations
Result from discontinued operations

(119.6)
-

(17.2)
-

(97.5)
-

-

Result of the period
Other comprehensive result of the period
Total comprehensive result

(119.6)
(1.6)
(121.2)

(17.2)
3.5
(13.7)

(97.5)
(0.8)
(98.3)

(0.3)
(0.3)

Reconciliation to carrying value:
Net assets beginning of period
Increase/(decrease) of net assets
Result of the period
Other comprehensive result for the period
Closing net assets
Group's share in %
Group's share
Carrying amount
Summarized statement of comprehensive result
Revenue
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment charges
Interest income
Interest expense
Income tax expense

23

Contingent liabilities

23.1

Contingent liabilities

The Group does not have any contingent liabilities.
23.2

Capital commitments

The Group does not have capital expenditures contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognized as
liabilities.
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23.3

Non-cancellable operating leases

The Group has recognized right-of-use assets for those leases except for short-term and low value leases - see note 11
for further information. The expenses for short-term and low value leases were TGBP 117.4 (which includes the cost of
an early termination of a lease agreement for TGBP 95.7 as further stated in note 0) and TGBP 3.5 in 2019 and 2018
respectively.

24

Related party transactions

Related parties include members of the Board of directors as well as key management of the Group. The following
transactions were carried out with related parties:
24.1

Key management compensation

Compensation of board members
Compensation of other key management
Total
24.2

2019

2018

(30.0)
(163.8)
(193.8)

(25.6)
(44.6)
(70.2)

2019

2018

227.1

-

94.2

300.0

25.7

-

-

8.7

284.8

-

560.3

-

439.7

-

Transactions with other related parties

The following transactions occurred with related parties:

Sale and purchase of goods and services
Sale of products and services to entities controlled
by board members and/or other key management
Purchase of management services from entities controlled
by board members and/or other key management
Rent services from entities controlled
by board members and/or other key management
Other transactions
Final call on partly paid 'A' (formerly 'A-Ordinary') shares issued to entities
controlled by board members and/or other key management
Call on partly paid 'B' (formerly 'B-Ordinary') shares issued to entities
controlled by board members and/or other key management
Drawdown of borrowing from entities controlled by
board members and/or other key management
Undrawn borrowing facilities towards entities controlled by
board members and/or other key management expiring beyond one year
24.3

Year-end balances arising from purchase of products and services

The following balances are outstanding at the end of the reporting period in relation to transactions with related parties:

Trade receivables
Issued, but still not fully paid-in share capital and premium
Total assets
Financial liabilities
Other payables
Total liabilities

2019

2018

106.6
923.6
1,030.2

755.1
755.1

560.3
3.5
563.8

-

2019

2018

755.0
453.4
(284.8)
923.6

786.2
(31.2)
755.0

Loans and/or other financial instruments to/from related parties are as follow:

Financial assets toward entities controlled by board members and/or key management
Beginning of year
Subscription for newly issued 'B' (formerly 'B-Ordinary) shares
Call on partly paid 'B' (formerly 'B-Ordinary') shares
Interest charged
Interest paid
End of year
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Loans from entities controlled by board members and/or key management
Beginning of year
Drawdowns of borrowing facility
Interest charged
Interest paid
End of year

25

2019

2018

560.3
560.3

-

2019

2018

Loss per share

Basic and diluted loss per classes of share is as follow:

Class 'Ordinary'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'A'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'B'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'C'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'D'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'E'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'F'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'G'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'H'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share
Class 'I'
net loss attributable to the class
weighted average number of shares outstanding in the class
basic and diluted loss per share

(83.1)

(58.3)

3,010,487

1,229,115

(0.028)

(0.047)

(568.8)

(669.9)

25,000,000 25,000,000

(0.023)

(0.027)

(90.0)

(69.1)

2,750,685

61,644

(0.033)

(1.121)

(25.5)
997,260

(0.026)

na

(0.4)
16,548

(0.024)

na

(85.7)
9,359

(9.157)

na

(216.5)
23,564

(9.188)

na

(242.7)
25,403

(9.554)

na

(253.7)
23,899

(10.616)

na

(474.5)
43,285

(10.962)

na
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26

Events after the balance sheet date

−

See note 2.2 ‘Uncertainty and ability to continue operations’;

−

On August 2020, the Group announced the entering into a business combination with IGEA Pharma N.V. (IGEA), a
SIX listed company existing under Dutch law focused on preventative health-tech products and devices (the
Combination). IGEA commercializes an Alzheimer’s prevention set (which includes ’Alz1’, an at-home lab test kit to
measure non-bound copper in the blood and a natural dietary supplement branded ‘Alz1 Tab’ designed to reduce
blood heavy metals content) and expects to integrate the non-bound copper detection-based pipeline with a
diabetes type II prevention set in 2021. Non-bound copper is an expected Alzheimer’s and diabetes type II associated
biomarker. Controlling non-bound copper can contribute to reduce the risk of Alzheimer’s and diabetes type II. Key
elements of the Combination strategy include establishing market acceptance and position of the offered solutions,
leverage commercial capabilities and capitalize on the financial leverage and operational synergies to improve return
on capital and achieve profitability. The Combination aims to create an EU headquartered company with an
innovative early-stage commercial portfolio of nutraceutical, health prevention, pharma, and cosmeceutical
solutions focused on industrial extraction and high quality featured cannabidiol (CBD), terpenes, policosanol, and
plant sterols.
The Combination has been structured through a contribution in-kind by the Blue Sky shareholders of their ownership
in Blue Sky into IGEA by subscribing IGEA’s newly issued shares. The reference value of Blue Sky has been set by the
board of directors of IGEA in CHF 186 million (on a fully diluted and post-money basis) and is based on a valuation
report of Blue Sky issued by PKF Italy. On 28 April 2021, the extraordinary general meeting of IGEA approved the
Combination as required by Dutch law and resolved to appoint the board of IGEA to issue up to a maximum of
309,600,000 new shares of IGEA at par, reserved for issuance to the shareholders of Blue Sky only, to finalize the
Combination. On 30 June 2021, IGEA launched an all equity offer to the Blue Sky shareholders and on 26 July 2021
IGEA disclosed the unconditional acceptance of the offer with reference to the minimum threshold of 75% of the
shares and the votes required to definitively combine the two businesses.
The Combination will qualify as a reverse acquisition, with the consolidated financial statements of IGEA after 1
January 2021 being the continuation of the consolidated financial statements of Blue Sky including IGEA from the
executed Combination onward.
The Group’s 2021 activity will be focused on the accomplishment of the Combination and the set-up and start of the
industrial activities for CBD, terpenes, policosanol, and other vegetable matrices-based extractions as well as the
market launch of the offered solutions;

−

Given the gradual easing of the COVID-19 lockdown restrictions as well as the programs of several governments to
return economic activities to normal levels, at the date of the approval of these financial statements, the Group is
not aware of any particular potentially adverse effect COVID-19 could have on the Group’s activities during 2020 and
2021. The Group concluded that there is no material uncertainty that may cast a significant doubt upon the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

***
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Via Toscana, 1
00187 Roma
Tel: +39 06 833 65 900
www.mazars.it

Assurance report on the compilation of pro forma financial information included
in a prospectus
To the Board of Directors of IGEA Pharma N.V.

We have completed our assurance engagement to report on the compilation of pro forma financial
information of IGEA Pharma N.V. (the “Company”) by the Board of Directors. The pro forma financial
information consists of the pro forma balance sheet as at December 31, 2020, the pro forma income
statement for the year ended December 31, 2020 and related notes as set out on in the offering
memorandum issued by the Company. The applicable criteria on the basis of which the Board of
Directors has compiled the pro forma financial information are specified in the SIX Swiss Exchange
Directive on the Presentation of a Complex Financial History in the Listing Prospectus and described
in the notes (applicable criteria).
The pro forma financial information has been compiled by the Board of Directors to illustrate the
impact of the transaction as set out in the “Notes to the pro forma financial information 2020” and the
related business combination (“Transaction”) on the Company’s
► financial position as at December 31, 2020, as if the Transaction had taken place at January 1,
2020 and
► financial performance for the year ended December 31, 2020, as if the Transaction had taken
place at January 1, 2020.
As part of this process, information about the Company’s financial position and financial performance
has been extracted by the Board of Directors from the Company’s consolidated financial statements
for the year ended December 31, 2020, on which an audit report has been published.

The Board of Directors’ responsibility for the pro forma financial information
The Board of Directors is responsible for compiling the pro forma financial information on the basis of
the applicable criteria.

Independence and quality control
We have complied with the independence and other ethical requirements of the Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants, which is
founded on fundamental principles of integrity, objectivity, professional competence and due care,
confidentiality and professional behaviour.
Our firm applies International Standard on Quality Control 1 and accordingly maintains a
comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures regarding
compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory
requirements.

Practitioner’s responsibilities
Our responsibility is to express an opinion, as required by the SIX Swiss Exchange Directive on the
Presentation of a Complex Financial History in the Listing Prospectus, about whether the pro forma
financial information has been compiled, in all material respects, by the Board of Directors on the basis
of the applicable criteria.

Mazars Italia S.p.A.
Capitale sociale deliberato, sottoscritto e versato € 120.000,00 - Sede legale: Via Ceresio, 7 - 20154 Milano
Rea MI-2076227 - Cod. Fisc. e P. Iva 11176691001
Iscrizione al Registro dei Revisori Legali n. 163788 con D.M. del 14/07/2011 G.U. n. 57 del 19/07/2011
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We conducted our engagement in accordance with International Standard on Assurance
Engagements (ISAE) 3420, Assurance Engagements to Report on the Compilation of Pro Forma
Financial Information Included in a Prospectus, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance
Standards Board. This standard requires that the practitioner plan and perform procedures to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the Board of Directors has compiled, in all material respects, the
pro forma financial information on the basis of the applicable criteria.
For purposes of this engagement, we are not responsible for updating or reissuing any reports or
opinions on any historical financial information used in compiling the pro forma financial information,
nor have we, in the course of this engagement, performed an audit or review of the financial
information used in compiling the pro forma financial information.
The purpose of pro forma financial information included in a prospectus is solely to illustrate the impact
of a significant event or transaction on unadjusted financial information of the entity as if the event had
occurred or the transaction had been undertaken at an earlier date selected for purposes of the
illustration. Accordingly, we do not provide any assurance that the actual outcome of the Transactions
at January 1, 2020 would have been as presented.
A reasonable assurance engagement to report on whether the pro forma financial information has
been compiled, in all material respects, on the basis of the applicable criteria involves performing
procedures to assess whether the applicable criteria used by the Board of Directors in the compilation
of the pro forma financial information provide a reasonable basis for presenting the significant effects
directly attributable to the event or transaction, and to obtain sufficient appropriate evidence about
whether:
► the related pro forma adjustments give appropriate effect to those criteria; and
► the pro forma financial information reflects the proper application of those adjustments to the
unadjusted financial information.
The procedures selected depend on the practitioner’s judgment, having regard to the practitioner’s
understanding of the nature of the Company, the event or transaction in respect of which the pro forma
financial information has been compiled, and other relevant engagement circumstances.
The engagement also involves evaluating the overall presentation of the pro forma financial
information.
We believe that the evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the pro forma financial information has been compiled, in all material respects, on the
basis of the applicable criteria and such basis is consistent with the accounting policies of IGEA
Pharma N.V..
Rome, September 20, 2021
Mazars Italia S.p.A.
Raffaello Lombardi
Socio - Revisore Legale
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Unaudited pro forma statement of profit or loss 2020
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)

BSNR

Audited

IGEA
under
Pro Forma Combipresent.
nation
(note 3)
(note 4)
in TGBP
Unaudited Unaudited

Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross result

107.0
(141.8)
(34.8)

59.3
(217.6)
(158.3)

Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Other income
Other expenses
Operating result

(117.4)
(12.3)
(463.4)
120.4
(507.5)

(44.4)
(131.9)
(427.7)
240.5
(200.1)
(721.9)

(95.2)
(95.2)

Share of net result of associates and joint ventures accounted at equity
Result before income tax
Income tax expense
Result of the period

Finance income
Finance costs
Finance costs - net

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

IGEA
under
Pro Forma
Financial
Inform.

-

Unaudited
166.3
(359.4)
(193.1)

(250.0)

(161.8)
(144.2)
(1,141.1)
360.9
(200.1)
(1,479.4)

(129.6)
(129.6)

-

(224.8)
(224.8)

(285.0)
(887.7)

(851.5)

(250.0)

(285.0)
(1,989.2)

(887.7)

(1.4)
(852.9)

(250.0)

(1.4)
(1,990.6)

(887.7)
(887.7)

(845.7)
(7.2)
(852.9)

(250.0)
(250.0)

(1,983.4)
(7.2)
(1,990.6)

(250.0)
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Unaudited pro forma balance sheet 2020
(in thousand GBP, unless otherwise stated)

BSNR

Audited

IGEA
under
Pro Forma Combipresent.
nation
(note 3)
(note 4)
in TGBP

IGEA
under
Pro Forma
Financial
Inform.

Unaudited Unaudited

Unaudited

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investments accounted for using the equity method
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Non current assets

906.1
906.1

17.5
306.5
324.0

7,794.1

17.5
8,100.6
906.1
9,024.2

Inventories
Trade receivables
Other assets
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

821.7
1.4
93.3
357.2
79.6
1,353.2

16.7
32.1
64.9
98.7
212.4

-

838.4
33.5
158.2
357.2
178.3
1,565.6

Total assets

2,259.3

536.4

7,794.1

10,589.8

3,859.7
293.1
(3,734.3)
418.5
418.5

3,459.8
897.4
(4,197.4)
159.8
(24.4)
135.4

4,494.1
(897.4)
3,947.4
7,544.1
7,544.1

11,813.6
293.1
(3,984.3)
8,122.4
(24.4)
8,098.0

Financial liabilities
Non-current liabilities

934.6
934.6

17.9
17.9

-

952.5
952.5

Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Accruals
Current liabilities

617.3
133.2
155.7
906.2

161.0
105.7
116.4
383.1

250.0
250.0

778.3
238.9
522.1
1,539.3

2,259.3

536.4

7,794.1

10,589.8

7,794.1

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital and premium
Reserves
Accumulated loss
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total shareholders' equity

Total equity and liabilities
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Notes to the pro forma financial information 2020
1

General information

In August 2020, IGEA Pharma N.V. (IGEA Pharma N.V. and its consolidated subsidiaries being ‘IGEA’) entered a letter
of intent, binding in terms, with Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD (Blue Sky Natural Resources LTD and its consolidated
subsidiaries being ‘BSNR’), to combine the two companies’ businesses (‘Combination’). The Combination has been
structured through a contribution in-kind by the BSNR shareholders of their ownership in BSNR into IGEA by subscribing
IGEA’s newly issued shares. On 28 April 2021, the extraordinary general meeting of IGEA approved the Combination as
required by Dutch law and resolved to appoint the board of IGEA to issue new IGEA’s shares at par, reserved for issuance
to the shareholders of Blue Sky only. On 30 June 2021, IGEA launched an all equity offer to the Blue Sky shareholders
and on 26 July 2021 IGEA disclosed the unconditional acceptance of the offer with reference to the minimum threshold of
75% of the shares and the votes required to definitively combine the two businesses.
The Combination will qualify as a reverse merger of BSNR over IGEA pursuant to IFRS 3 - ‘Business Combination’, with
the consolidated financial statements of IGEA after 1 January 2021 being the continuation of the consolidated financial
statements of BSNR including IGEA from the executed Combination onward and will have a significant impact on and
substantially affect the results of operations of IGEA going forward.
As mandatory under SIX Swiss Exchange rules, IGEA has prepared unaudited pro forma financial information for 2020
for the purpose of the listing prospectus (‘Prospectus’) in connection with the listing of the newly shares IGEA will issue
in the Combination solely, to illustrate the effect of the Combination on IGEA’s consolidated statement of profit or loss
and balance sheet by giving effect to the Combination as if it had occurred on January 1, 2020. The Unaudited Pro Forma
Financial Information 2020 does not include all of the information required for financial statements under IFRS. Moreover,
the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information 2020 is for illustrative purposes only and may not necessarily reflect
IGEA’s results of operations and the financial condition that would have been attained had the Combination been completed
on such earlier date, and such pro forma financial information should not be considered to be indicative of IGEA’s results
of operations for any future period. Accordingly, potential readers of the Prospectus should not place undue reliance on the
Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information 2020. Furthermore, the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information 2020
should be read in conjunction with the information and the historical consolidated financial statements included elsewhere
in the Prospectus.

2

Basis of preparation

2.1

Historical financial information

The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information 2020 consists of the unaudited pro forma statement of profit or loss 2020
(Unaudited pro forma statement of profit or loss 2020), the unaudited pro forma balance sheet 2020 (Unaudited pro forma
balance sheet 2020), and related notes and is presented in thousands of GBP (TGBP).
The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information 2020 illustrates the effect of the Combination as if it had occurred on
January 1, 2020 and has been prepared solely for the purpose of the Prospectus prepared by IGEA in connection with the
listing on the SIX Swiss Exchange of the newly shares IGEA will issue in the Combination.
The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information 2020 is based on the historical financial information of IGEA and BSNR
as follows:
−
−
−
−

2.2

the historical financial information of IGEA is derived from IGEA’s audited consolidated financial statements 2020
prepared in accordance with IFRS and included elsewhere in this Prospectus;
the historical financial information of BSNR is derived from BSNR’s audited consolidated financial statements 2020
prepared in accordance with IFRS and included elsewhere in this Prospectus;
adjustments have been made to reclassify certain line items of the consolidated financial statements to conform
presentations, as detailed in note 3;
IGEA’s consolidated financial statements, which are presented in UDS, were translated under the pro forma
presentation into GBP. These adjustments are detailed in note 3.
The Combination related assumptions

The Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information 2020 reflects a hypothetical situation and is presented exclusively for
illustrative purposes. As such, it does not provide for an indication of the results of operations or the financial position of
IGEA that would have been obtained for the year 2020 had the Combination been completed on 1 January 2020. Similarly,
it does not provide for an indication of the future results of operations or financial position of IGEA.
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The Combination is treated as a reverse merger with BSNR being the acquirer of IGEA applying IFRS 3 - ‘Business
Combinations’ and the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information 2020 has been prepared reflecting acquisition
accounting. The excess of the consideration transferred over the fair value of the net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill
on a preliminary basis only.
The pro forma adjustments are based on available information and certain assumptions that are believed to be reasonable
and are detailed in note 3 and 4. Only pro forma adjustments that are directly attributable to the Combination, that are
factually supportable and that can be estimated reliably have been taken into account. For instance, the Unaudited Pro
Forma Financial Information 2020 does neither reflect any restructuring or integration expenses that may be incurred
following the Combination nor any potential synergies or cost savings that could result from the Combination. Further
adjustments or reclassification may prove to be necessary in course of the Combination due to the preliminary purchase
price allocation.

3

Adjustments made to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and the consolidated
balance sheet of IGEA

For the purpose of this Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information 2020, adjustments have been made to IGEA’s audited
consolidated financial statements 2020 to present IGEA historical financial information in line with pro forma presentation.
3.1

Reclassifications to conform presentation

The consolidated financial statements under pro forma presentation for the year 2020 of IGEA have been structurally
adjusted to conform presentation structure.
3.2

Currency translation

The consolidated financial statements 2020 of IGEA under pro forma presentation have been translated into GBP. The
following foreign exchange rates have been applied. The exchange differences resulting from the translation are recognized
within equity:
−
−

Profit or loss 2020: 0.748164 GBP/USD
Balance sheet 1 January 2020: 0.762631 GBP/USD. Balance sheet 31 December 2020: 0.733697 GBP/USD
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3.3

Unaudited, adjusted pro forma profit or loss of IGEA for 2020
IGEA
under
Pro Forma
IGEA
IGEA
present.
in TUSD Reclassific. in TUSD in TGBP
Audited

Revenues
Cost of sales
Gross result

79.2
(290.9)
(211.7)

Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administration
Other income
Other expenses
Operating result

Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

-

79.2
(290.9)
(211.7)

59.3
(217.6)
(158.3)

(59.3)
(176.3)
(571.7)
321.4
(267.5)
(965.1)

-

(59.3)
(176.3)
(571.7)
321.4
(267.5)
(965.1)

(44.4)
(131.9)
(427.7)
240.5
(200.1)
(721.9)

Finance income
Finance costs
Result before income tax

14.8
(188.0)
(1,138.3)

(14.8)
14.8
-

(173.2)
(1,138.3)

(129.6)
(851.5)

Income tax expense
Result of the period

(1.9)
(1,140.2)

-

(1.9)
(1,140.2)

(1.4)
(852.9)

(1,130.6)
(9.6)
(1,140.2)

-

(1,130.6)
(9.6)
(1,140.2)

(845.7)
(7.2)
(852.9)

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

Notes: exchange gains for TUSD 14.8 have been reclassified against exchange losses to present net results.
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3.4

Unaudited, adjusted pro forma balance sheet of IGEA as 31 December 2020
IGEA
under
Pro Forma
IGEA
IGEA
present.
in TUSD Reclassific. in TUSD in TGBP
Audited

Unaudited Unaudited Unaudited

ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Non current assets

23.9
417.7
441.6

-

23.9
417.7
441.6

17.5
306.5
324.0

Inventories
Trade receivables
Other assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Current assets

22.7
43.8
88.5
134.5
289.5

-

22.7
43.8
88.5
134.5
289.5

16.7
32.1
64.9
98.7
212.4

Total assets

731.1

-

731.1

536.4

296.5
5,619.8
(5,698.8)
217.5
(33.0)
184.5

4,419.1
(4,419.1)

-

4,715.6
1,200.7
(5,698.8)
217.5
(33.0)
184.5

3,459.8
897.4
(4,197.4)
159.8
(24.4)
135.4

-

24.4
24.4

17.9
17.9
161.0
105.7
116.4
383.1
536.4

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Share capital and premium
Reserves
Accumulated loss
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total shareholders' equity

-

Financial liabilities
Non-current liabilities

24.4
24.4

Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Accruals
Current liabilities

219.5
144.0
158.7
522.2

-

219.5
144.0
158.7
522.2

Total equity and liabilities

731.1

-

731.1

Notes: TUSD 4,491.1 is share premium and has been reclassified correspondingly from reserves to share capital and
premium.

4

Combination

The column of the Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information 2020 called “Combination” includes the following main
effects of the transaction.
4.1

Purchase price allocation

The principles applied to account for the Combination are those defined in IFRS 3 – ‘Business Combinations’. The
consideration transferred has been measured in TGBP 7,953.9 and is based on the most reliable market price of the entity
acquired, which is IGEA (SIX stock closing price on 4 August 2021: CHF 0.40; exchange rate CHF/GBP 17:10 CEST:
0.793839).
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The difference between the purchase consideration transferred over the preliminary fair value of the net assets acquired is
recognized as goodwill:
TGBP
Cash and cash equivalents
Tangible and intangible assets
Other current assets
Financial liabilities
Trade, other payables and accruals
Net identifieble assets acquired
Plus: non-controllin interests
Goodwill
Total purchase considereation

98.7
324.0
113.7
(123.6)
(277.4)
135.4
24.4
7,794.1
7,953.9

As previously stated elsewhere in this Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information 2020, pro forma financial information
is for illustrative purposes only and may not necessarily reflect IGEA’s results of operations and financial condition that
would have been attained had the Combination been completed on such earlier date, nor should this pro forma financial
information be considered to be indicative of IGEA’s results of operations for any future period. Consequently, a purchase
price allocation will be required at the completion of the Combination, as a result of which there may be significant changes
in respect of this pro forma financial information. The goodwill of TGBP 7,794.1, provisionally determined for pro forma
information purposes as the excess of the purchase consideration over the fair value of the net assets acquired, could change
significantly at the effective due date of the Combination (in respect to the different fair value of the equity instruments
and as a result of the net assets fair value allocation) and a risk of impairment could exist.
4.2

Other adjustments

Under this pro forma financial information, it was assumed that all of the equity holder of BSNR exchanged their equity
instruments in BSNR against equity instruments of IGEA. Acquisition-related costs of estimated TGBP 250 were
recognized for pro forma information purposes.

5

Unaudited pro forma basic and diluted loss per share

The unaudited pro forma basic and diluted loss per share is calculated by dividing the unaudited pro forma results 2020
attributable to the equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of shares determined under pro forma
financial information:
IGEA
under
Pro Forma
Financial
Inform.
Unaudited
(1,983.4)
333,004,910
755,675

Net loss attributable to the owners of the parent
Weighted average number of shares outstanding
Adjustment for potential future option rights
Basic loss per share (in GBP)
Diluted loss per share (in GBP)

(0.00596)
(0.00594)

***

Page 8 of 8
IGEA Pharma N.V.

www.igeapharma.nl

F-167

